
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Ron Schrieber, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01235 422524

E-mail: ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 5 September 2017

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Scrutiny Committee

WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 13 SEPTEMBER 2017 AT 6.30 PM

THE AUDITORIUM, CORNERSTONE ARTS CENTRE, 25 STATION ROAD, 
DIDCOT, OX11 7NE

Members of the Committee:
Richard Pullen (Chairman)
Elaine Hornsby
David Turner
John Walsh (Vice-
Chairman)

Ian White
Steve Connel
Pat Dawe

Anna Badcock
Anthony Dearlove

Substitutes

Sue Lawson
Toby Newman
Stefan Gawrysiak

Charles Bailey
David Dodds
Will Hall

Lorraine Hillier
Mocky Khan

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  
These include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For 
this or any other special requirements (such as access facilities) 
please contact the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as 
much notice as possible before the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

Venue and Directions

This meeting will take place at the Cornerstone in Didcot, postcode OX11 7NE. A 
link to the venue’s website with further directions and maps can be found by 
following this link: https://www.cornerstone-arts.org/directions-and-maps

1 Apologies for absence  

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.  

2 Minutes  (Pages 7 - 10)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Scrutiny Committee minutes of the 
meeting held on 25 July 2017.  

3 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on 
the agenda for this meeting.  

4 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  

To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.  

5 Public participation  

To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have 
registered to speak.  

Anyone wishing to speak should contact democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk 
by 5.00 pm on Tuesday 12 September. Full information about the speaking rules 
can be found on page 47 of the Council’s constitution which can be accessed by 
following this link: 
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/s11870/ConstitutionJune2017.pdf

https://www.cornerstone-arts.org/directions-and-maps
mailto:democratic.services@southandvale.gov.uk
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/documents/s11870/ConstitutionJune2017.pdf


3

REPORTS AND ISSUES FOR THE CONSIDERATION OF THE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

6 Local Plan  (Pages 11 - 456)

To receive the report of the head of planning.

Due to the length of the appendices to this report, some will only be available online. 
However, there will be a hard copy available at the council’s offices in Milton Park 
and at the meeting for consultation purposes.

Appendices as follows:
1a and 1b: Local Plan 2011 – 2013 October 2017 version (omitted from paper 
pack).
2: Key proposed changes from the previous version (omitted from paper pack).
3: Consultation Report September 2017 (omitted from paper pack).
4: Technical note: Local Plan HRA progress (included).
5: Technical note: Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal (included).

7 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny 
meetings  (Pages 457 - 460)

To review the attached scrutiny work schedule. Please note, although the dates are 
confirmed, the items under consideration are subject to being withdrawn, added to 
or rearranged without further notice.



4

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services



5



6



1

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Scrutiny Committee

HELD ON TUESDAY 25 JULY 2017 AT 6.30 PM

MEETING ROOM 1, 135 MILTON PARK

Present:

Richard Pullen (Chairman)

Steve Connel, Anthony Dearlove, Elaine Hornsby, David Turner, John Walsh, Ian 
White and Sue Lawson (as substitute for Pat Dawe)

Apologies:

Pat Dawe tendered apologies. 

Officers:

Gerry Brough, Phil Ealey, Helen Novelle, Ron Schrieber, Mark Stone and Sally 
Truman

Also present: 

Councillors John Cotton and Lynn Lloyd

1 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 April 2017 were agreed as an accurate record 
and were signed by the Chairman.

2 Declarations of interest 

None.

3 Urgent business and chairman's announcements 

None.

4 Public participation 

None.

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



2

5 Corporate delivery plan 

The committee considered the report of the head of HR, IT and technical services on 
the council’s corporate delivery plan which detailed the actions to be taken to deliver 
the council’s corporate objectives and priorities for the period 2016-2020 as set out in 
the corporate plan.

Councillor John Cotton, Leader and Cabinet member for corporate strategy, 
introduced this item. Also present to answer questions were Sally Truman, policy and 
partnerships manager and Mark Stone, acting chief executive.

In response to questions and issues raised by the committee, it was reported that:

 Once agreed, the corporate delivery plan would form the basis of six-monthly 
progress reports to the committee. Progress would be red, amber, green 
(RAG) rated.

 The leader and the acting chief executive acknowledged that there were 
currently capacity issues at head of service level and outlined the steps being 
taken to address this matter.  Although the heads of service were the named 
individuals responsible for ensuring that the actions in the corporate delivery 
plan were implemented, much of the work would be undertaken by other 
officers.

 Many of the vacancies in planning had been or would be filled. Despite limited 
resources the overall response rates on neighbourhood plans had improved 
continuously. 

 Whilst the council would do all it could to help charitable groups supporting 
vulnerable young people, it did not have the financial resources to step in 
whenever the County Council had withdrawn or reduced funding. 

 The figure for the percentage of residents volunteering was derived from the 
biennial residents’ survey and was currently in the region of 25%.

 Further detail regarding the direct delivery of affordable rented accommodation 
was set out in the joint housing strategy submitted to this meeting (Minute 7 
refers).

 An announcement regarding the future of the Crowmarsh Gifford site would be 
made in the next few weeks.

 The leader had requested the acting chief executive to investigate the 
feasibility of installing a council chamber and additional member facilities at 
Milton Park.

A member expressed the view that the committee should receive progress reports 
more frequently than currently proposed.  However most members felt that there was 
no need for more frequent reports at this stage.  It was noted that the committee 
could review the frequency of progress reports at a later date and, should the RAG 
rating identify specific concerns, detailed reports could be requested to the following 
meeting.

RESOLVED: to note the corporate delivery plan.

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



3

6 Temporary accommodation provision 2017-2022 

The committee considered the report of the head of development and housing on the 
provision of temporary accommodation 2017-2022. The report detailed how best to 
meet the future demand for temporary housing accommodation in South Oxfordshire 
and recommended the purchase of two units of temporary accommodation in Didcot 
(Option b). The committee’s views were requested prior to the submission of the 
report to Cabinet.

Councillor Lynn Lloyd, Cabinet member for housing, introduced this item. Also 
present to answer questions were Phil Ealey, housing needs manager and Mark 
Stone, acting chief executive.

In response to questions and issues raised by the committee, it was reported that:

 The report recommended that at least one of the two units of accommodation 
to be purchased should be wheelchair accessible but both could be.

 Should the required capital provision be approved by full Council in October, it 
was intended to purchase the units as soon as possible.

 The purchase of the two properties could save the council approximately 
£48,000 per annum in hotel bills. The properties would also generate an 
annual rental income of approximately £14,000.

The committee welcomed the report for the significant, positive and proactive way in 
which it sought to meet the future demand for temporary accommodation. 

RESOLVED: to commend the report to Cabinet and to recommend that Option b), 
the purchase of two units of temporary accommodation in Didcot, be approved.

7 Joint housing strategy 

The committee considered the report of the head of development and housing on a 
joint South and Vale housing strategy 2017-2027. The strategy detailed how both 
councils will work towards achieving the challenging housing targets set by 
government whilst aiming to deliver an appropriate range of housing that will meet 
the needs of people living and working in the districts.

Councillor Lynn Lloyd, Cabinet member for housing, introduced this item. Also 
present to answer questions were Helen Novelle, principal development officer and 
Mark Stone, acting chief executive.

In response to questions and issues raised by the committee, it was reported that:

 The aim of the strategy was not to challenge the housing targets set out in the 
strategic housing market assessment but to identify how to meet this and any 
revised target.

 Whilst the council was seeking to persuade and encourage housebuilders to 
build more sustainable houses, more affordable housing and more properties 
suitable for the elderly (thereby freeing up larger homes), it could not compel 
them to do so. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



4

RESOLVED: to recommend to Cabinet that the joint housing strategy be approved, 
subject to the outcome of the public consultation.

8 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny 
meetings 

The committee was advised that a confidential report on staffing matters would be 
submitted to a future meeting. 

A member expressed the view that the current process of considering a financial 
outturn report each September did not enable the committee to carry out proper 
scrutiny of the Council’s revenue and capital expenditure. Accordingly he requested 
that the committee receive quarterly budget monitoring reports. The acting chief 
executive agreed to investigate the feasibility of producing monitoring reports more 
frequently but advised the committee that quarterly reports had not been submitted 
for a number of years.

It was agreed to circulate to members the date when the practice of submitting 
quarterly budget monitoring reports to the committee ended.  

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Chairman Date

Page 10

Agenda Item 2



Committee

Report of Head of Planning Services
Author: Holly Jones
Telephone: 07801 203563
Textphone: 
E-mail: holly.jones@southandvale.gov.uk 
Cabinet member responsible: Cllr. John Cotton
Tel: 01865 408105
E-mail: leader@southoxon.gov.uk 
To: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
DATE: 13/09/2017

Local Plan – Publication 

Recommendation

(a) To provide comments to Cabinet on the Publication version of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan and supporting documentation.

(b) To consider the petition received in respect of the proposed development at 
Culham and provide comments to Cabinet.

Purpose of Report

1. To inform Members of the key proposed changes to the emerging Local Plan for 
South Oxfordshire and to provide Members with the opportunity to explore these 
prior to Cabinet and Council meetings.

2. To inform Members of the petition received in respect of the proposed 
development at Culham prior to this being debated at Cabinet and Council 
meetings.

Strategic Objectives 

3. The delivery of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan will contribute towards four of 
the Council’s six strategic objectives. 

4. The Local Plan has a key role to play in delivering the District’s future as it sets 
out the level and distribution of development to 2033, which will help to shape 
the future of South Oxfordshire.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:holly.jones@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:leader@southoxon.gov.uk


5. The potential of Didcot, is a strategic objective, which is supported by the 
retention of the existing allocations of land at Didcot for residential and 
employment related development. To further support this, additional allocations 
for residential development have been proposed which reflect extant planning 
permissions.

6. A key role of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan is to identify sufficient 
employment and housing land for existing and future communities. This directly 
supports the strategic objective to deliver ‘homes and jobs for everyone.’

7. The other strategic objective which the emerging Local Plan relates to is to ‘build 
thriving communities’. In addition to the provision for different land uses, the 
policies within the plan will ensure that developers provide the necessary 
infrastructure to support the new communities

Background

8. All local authorities are under a statutory obligation to prepare a local plan. The 
current Development Plan for South Oxfordshire comprises saved policies of the 
Adopted Local Plan, Adopted Core Strategy and made Neighbourhood 
Development Plans. The emerging Local Plan will replace both the existing 
‘saved’ policies of the Adopted Local Plan to 2011 and Adopted Core Strategy 
(2012).

9. We have previously consulted at the following stages

Issues and Scope – June 2014

Refined Options – February 2015

Preferred Options – June 2016 

Second Preferred Options – March 2017

10. The first two stages of consultation were based on a plan period up to 2031. We 
are required to ensure that, once the plan is adopted, it has a life of 15 years 
from the date of adoption so that it provides an effective plan for future 
development. Our work programme indicates that the plan is likely to be adopted 
in 2018, therefore the plan period is to 2033. 

11. The June 2016 Preferred Option version of the Local Plan did not contain all of 
the policies which would be used in the determination of planning applications.  

12. The March 2017 Second Preferred Options version of the Local Plan 
complemented these earlier consultations and updated the Plan in terms of its 
evidence base and in response to representations made. It also included a full 
set of Development Management policies which would be used to determine 
planning applications.

13. The version of the Local Plan subject to this report is the Publication version of 
the Local Plan. It represents the version of the Local Plan which the Council 
intends to submit to the Secretary of State for examination.  

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



14. Publication or ‘regulation 19’ public consultation is the first stage in the process 
of examining the Local Plan. It differs from previous consultations in that it is part 
of the Local Plan examination and the comments made are considered by the 
examining inspector rather than the council. The council does not need to 
formally consider or respond to them directly, although they will clearly be of 
interest and reviewed for information.

15. The council cannot make substantive changes to the Local Plan at this stage 
unless it chooses to withdraw the Plan from examination, modify, re-consult and 
re-submit. This might happen if a significant unforeseen matter arose through or 
during pre-submission consultation. It can make minor clarification or corrections, 
which is suggested to be delegated to the Head of Planning in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Planning.

16. Following pre-submission consultation, the council would submit the Local Plan 
in its current form to the Secretary of State for independent examination, 
together with the supporting evidence base studies and reports. The supporting 
material would include a summary of the representations made to the pre-
submission consultation.

17. We intend to submit the Local Plan for examination at the end of the calendar 
year. As set out in the Local Development Scheme we anticipate that the Local 
Plan would be examined in Spring 2018 and adopted in Autumn 2018.

18. Following the examination, the inspector may recommend changes to the Local 
Plan, which the council would then consider (and usually accept unless there 
was a good Planning reason not to). A ‘Modifications’ version of the Local Plan 
would then be published for consultation, incorporating any recommended 
changes the council agrees. The Local Plan would then be finalised and 
adopted.

19. The publication version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan will be supported by 
a further iteration of the Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations 
Assessment and a consultation report into the previous stage of the Local Plan. 

Consultation responses to the Second Preferred Options & Petition

20. We received approximately 7,666 responses from 1,369 individuals and 
organisations to the Second Preferred Options version of the Local Plan. These 
responses were largely focussed on the following key issues;

 Duty to Cooperate matters

 Housing numbers

 Proposed strategic allocations

 Infrastructure

21. A consultation report which provides details of the comments received is 
attached at Appendix 3.

22. Outside of the Local Plan consultation period, but linked to consultation on the 
Didcot Garden Town Delivery Plan, a petition was received by the Council on 2 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



August 2017 requesting that the Council “Protect the Green Belt at Culham from 
loss, shrinkage or relocation through future development.” As the petition has in 
excess of 500 signatures it is entitled to a debate at Council, in accordance with 
the Council’s Constitution. The Garden Town Consultation Report was 
considered at a Joint Scrutiny meeting on 12 September 2017. 

23. Given that the removal of land from the Green Belt at Culham and development 
of a strategic allocation comprising 3,500 new homes and a net increase of 2 
hectares of employment alongside Gypsy and Traveller provision is proposed in 
the Local Plan, it is logical to consider the request of this petition alongside the 
next stage of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan process.

24. The Council within its planning framework does have the opportunity to 
designate land as it feels appropriate and such designations are then tested 
through public consultation and wider stakeholder engagement and through 
public inquiry.

25. The proposed strategic allocation at Culham is one of four proposed in the 
emerging Local Plan. It accords with the overall spatial strategy for the 
distribution of development in South Oxfordshire, in particular, the focus of 
development within Science Vale. 

26. It is considered to be suitable, available and achievable in the Council’s 
assessment of land availability. It has capacity to provide circa 3,500 new 
homes, including affordable homes, which is a considerable contribution towards 
the overall housing needs of the district.

27. The site is one of three allocations proposed within the existing Green Belt. 
Culham Science Centre and the No.1 sites are major developed sites in the 
Green Belt. The land to the west, subject of the proposed allocation, does not 
perform strongly against all the purposes of including land within the Green Belt 
and this land was recommended to be considered for expansion and further 
assessment in the South Oxfordshire Green Belt report.

28. The relationship of the site to the rail station and existing employment use is 
recognised to be a further positive to weigh in favour of development taking 
place at this location. Development at this location also has the potential to 
support the delivery of strategic infrastructure.

29. It is considered that the positive benefits of this proposed development provide 
the exceptional circumstances to remove this land from the Green Belt and 
allocate the site for a large residential led scheme. It is recommended that this 
proposed strategic allocation remains in the Local Plan and the request of the 
petition is not agreed. 

What level of development are we planning for? 

Housing (Objectively Assessed Need OAN)

30. In April 2014, the councils across Oxfordshire published a Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA), and this identified that South Oxfordshire needs 
additional housing beyond that which is planned for in the existing Core Strategy. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



31. As well as this, Oxford City Council indicated that they would have difficulties in 
meeting their identified housing need entirely within the city boundary and that 
other districts across the county could be asked to consider taking some of this 
“unmet housing need.”

32. In response, we decided that we needed to review our existing plan and consider 
how we can plan for additional growth in the most advantageous and positive 
way. 

33. The SHMA made recommendations in terms of a housing range that we should 
be planning for which recognised that the affordable housing evidence provided 
a basis for considering higher housing provision. This was presented in the form 
of a range which identifies a total need for between 14,500 and 16,500 homes 
for South Oxfordshire over the twenty-year period 2011-2031. This would equate 
to an annual provision of between 725-825 new homes. 

34. Given that we anticipate that the adoption of this Local Plan will be towards the 
end of 2018 as set out in the published Local Development Scheme and that 
Government guidance requires Local Plans to have a time span of 15 years from 
the point of adoption, the annual requirement for housing has been rolled on for 
the additional two years. 

35. Officers have advised that there is a risk in not adopting the upper end of the 
range set out in the SHMA of 825 homes per year. However, it is noted that the 
other planning authorities in the housing market area have progressed their 
Local Plans on the basis of the mid-point and have been found sound

36. The SHMA evidence considers that the provision of 750 dwellings a year would 
support economic growth in South Oxfordshire. This is primarily to meet the 
needs of our existing businesses wishing to expand and to allow for new 
business formation at similar rates to the past.  A proportion of this provision 
would also meet the need for affordable housing in the district.

37. We have previously consulted upon making provision for 17,050 new homes to 
be delivered to meet the District’s own needs during the plan period (2011 to 
2033). This equates to 775 homes a year, which reflects the midpoint of the 
recommended range in the SHMA. This is considered to be an appropriate 
response to meeting our housing needs, not only does this go beyond the 
committed economic growth housing requirement for South Oxfordshire, but also 
provides an uplift to deliver affordable housing identified in the Oxfordshire 
Strategic Housing Market assessment (SHMA).

38. The midpoint of the SHMA has been selected as the Objectively Assessed Need 
for housing which represents an appropriate and sound basis for the amount of 
new housing we need to plan for.  This equates to 775 homes a year and a plan 
period total of 17,050 homes. 

Employment

39. The South Oxfordshire Employment Land Review Addendum projects an 
increase of 12,403 jobs from 2011 to 2033, including an increase of up to 6,734 
jobs in the office, manufacturing and distribution sectors (B class uses). This has 
been translated into land requirements and identifies a need for between 33.2 to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



35.9 hectares of employment land to be provided in the plan period. We have 
proposed land allocations to accommodate at the upper end of this range.

Duty to Cooperate

40. Section 110 of the 2011 Localism Act inserts the Duty to Co‐operate as a new 
Section 33A into the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Section 33A 
came into effect 15 November 2011. It is not retrospective.   Section 110 of the 
Localism Act sets out the new ‘Duty to Co‐operate’. The duty:   

- Relates to sustainable development or use of land that would have a 
significant impact on at least two local planning areas or on a planning matter 
that fall within the remit of a County Council; 

- Requires that Councils set out planning policies to address such issues; 

- Requires that Councils and public bodies ‘engage constructively, actively and 
on an ongoing basis’ to develop strategic policies; and

- Requires Councils to consider joint approaches to plan making.   

41. It imposes a duty on all planning authorities to work with neighbouring authorities 
and other prescribed bodies when preparing their development plan documents 
for ‘strategic matters’. In particular, the duty states that the Duty to Co‐operate 
applies to Local Planning Authorities, County Councils and other prescribed 
bodies.

42. The local planning authorities in Oxfordshire have a history of working together 
and have continued to work closely together at all levels through the Oxfordshire 
Growth Board. Most recently the Growth Board has coordinated the preparation 
of the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment and the work following 
this, including the preparation of an Oxfordshire wide Infrastructure Strategy.

43. Oxford City Council indicated that they would have difficulties in meeting their 
housing need set out in the SHMA and that other districts across the county 
could be asked to consider taking some of this “unmet housing need.”

44. The extent of the unmet housing need has yet to be tested as the Oxford City 
Local Plan has not yet advanced to its examination stage. The Oxfordshire 
Growth Board proposed a working figure of 15,000 as the unmet housing need. 
The Growth Board also undertook an exercise to explore how this overall figure 
could be met by identifying a series of potential sites across Oxfordshire and to 
arrive at an apportionment approach. 

45. South Oxfordshire did not agree to this apportionment approach and has sought 
to determine which sites to bring forward in the Local Plan to meet its own 
housing need and also to make contributions towards Oxford City’s unmet 
housing need. It is not within the remit of the Oxfordshire Growth Board or 
another local planning authority to determine the location of land to be allocated 
in South Oxfordshire.    

46. It should be noted that the approach South Oxfordshire has proposed to date, 
contained in the Second Preferred Options, has not met with the support of 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Oxford City, Cherwell and West Oxfordshire and will likely be the subject of early 
debate at the Local Plan examination. 

47. The Publication Local Plan does contain provision to meet a quarter of the unmet 
housing need from Oxford City. This is based upon the Oxfordshire Growth 
Board working figure of 15,000 homes to be addressed on a County wide basis 
shared between the four local planning authorities. 

48. We are proposing to make contributions through the Duty to Cooperate to Oxford 
City to help meet some of their yet undetermined unmet housing need. We 
propose to make these contributions from 2021 onwards as part of a ‘stepped’ 
housing trajectory which reflects the build out rates associated with the strategic 
allocations proposed in our Local Plan. We do not identify any one site or 
location from where this unmet need will be delivered as this can be met across 
the housing market area. Identifying a particular site or location could constrain 
our ability to make housing contributions and reduce the flexibility to support the 
City’s unmet housing need.

49. We have included a specific Local Plan Policy STRAT3 – ‘The unmet housing 
requirements from Oxford City’ to make contributions of 3,750 homes towards 
Oxford city’s unmet housing needs and make a commitment to undertake a 
partial review of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan at such time as the Oxford City 
Local Plan is adopted and the level of unmet homes is known. 

50. We consider that this is an appropriate and reasonable response to this matter 
pending completion of the Oxford City Local Plan. 

51. A detailed schedule outlining all the actions taken in relation to the duty to co-
operate is in preparation and will be submitted, along with the Local Plan, to the 
Secretary of State. In some instances, Officers aim to formalise more detailed 
arrangements through the drawing up Memoranda of Understanding - for 
example with the Local Enterprise Partnership and Oxfordshire County Council.

Strategic Sites and proposed development

52. In order to meet the level of housing required, there are a number of sources of 
housing supply which will ensure housing delivery across the plan period, and 
these include:

 Strategic allocations proposed in this plan

 Retained core strategy allocations

 Existing planning commitments

 Small scale (non-strategic sites) to be identified though neighbourhood plans or 
identified in this plan

 Sites not yet identified that will come forward through the development 
management process in accordance with the policies in this plan, known as 
windfalls.

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



53. There are four proposed strategic allocations, Chalgrove Airfield (c.3,000), Land 
adjacent Culham Science Centre (c.3,500) Berinsfield (up to 1,700) and Oxford 
Brookes University, Wheatley (c.300). 

Chalgrove Airfield

54. Land at Chalgrove Airfield has been proposed for mixed use development, 
comprising approximately 3,000 new homes, 5 hectares of employment land and 
up to 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers. This land is partially previously 
developed in nature and is flat and relatively free from constraints. It is not within 
the AONB, Green Belt and is within Flood Zone 1. It lies adjacent to a registered 
historic battlefield and the site is currently used by Martin Baker Ltd and owned 
by the Homes and Communities Agency. 

Culham 

55. Land adjacent to Culham Science Centres is proposed to deliver approximately 
3,500 new homes, a net increase of employment land with the adjacent science 
centre and up to 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers. The site lies within the 
existing Oxfordshire Green Belt and it is proposed that this land be removed 
through the preparation of this Local Plan and a new inset boundary created. 
The exceptional circumstances to release this land from the Green Belt are set 
out in the Local Plan. 

56. Oxfordshire County Council have raised concerns in respect of additional homes 
in the Science Vale area without the delivery of strategic transport infrastructure. 
This could impact upon the number of new homes that can be delivered at the 
strategic allocation at Culham during the Local Plan period to 2033. 

Berinsfield

57. Land at Berinsfield is proposed for development only to support the regeneration 
of the existing settlement. The proposal is to deliver up to 1,700 new homes and 
5 hectares of employment land. Berinsfield itself and the land identified for 
regeneration purposes lies within the existing Oxfordshire Green Belt and it is 
proposed that all of this land be removed through the preparation of this Local 
Plan and a new inset boundary created. The exceptional circumstances to 
release this land from the Green Belt are set out in the Local Plan. 

Oxford Brookes University, Wheatley

58. Oxford Brookes University plan to relocate their existing uses at the Wheatley 
Campus into an existing site within Oxford City, leaving the site at Wheatley 
available for redevelopment. The strategic allocation is expected to deliver at 
least 300 new homes at this location.

59. The whole site is washed over by the Green Belt, however the redevelopment of 
a previously developed site in the Green Belt is not considered inappropriate 
development, where it would not have a greater impact on the openness of the 
Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the existing 
development. 

60. Notwithstanding the above, officers still recommend that the land at the Oxford 
Brookes University Wheatley campus be removed from the Green Belt as part of 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



the strategic allocation and advise that there are exceptional circumstances to 
support this and that it provides a consistent approach to removing land to 
support proposed strategic allocations from the Green Belt. It is recognised that 
Cabinet has resisted this approach to date as it is considered that removing land 
from the Green Belt is not necessary as development can take place anyway 
and such a change would likely not be supported in the Publication version of the 
Local Plan. 

Site allocations

61. The market towns and larger villages across the district are expected to 
accommodate 15% growth in homes from that which existed at 2011. The market 
towns are expected to deliver 1,155 additional new homes to 2033 and larger 
villages are to accommodate an additional 1,041 new homes. These are 
expected to be delivered through their Neighbourhood Development Plans and 
the Local Plan does not seek to make site allocations where these are in 
preparation. 

62. The Local Plan also includes site allocations at Nettlebed where there is not a 
Neighbourhood Development Plan in preparation.

 Land to the West of Priests Close, Nettlebed for 19 dwellings 

 Land at Joyce Grove, Nettlebed for 20 dwellings

 Land to the west and south of the filling station, Nettlebed for 15 dwellings

Infrastructure 

63. The Local Plan includes proposals to safeguard land for infrastructure which may 
be required during the lifetime of the Local Plan. This provides the opportunity to 
support the delivery of a number of identified transport schemes and is set out at 
Policy TRANS3.  

64. The Local Plan is supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan which sets outs 
the infrastructure which is required to support the delivery of the Local Plan. 

65. Each of the strategic allocations include details of the infrastructure required to 
support their delivery – this is updated through the schedule of changes attached 
at Appendix 2. 

Key changes proposed to the emerging Local Plan
66. In response to consultation responses received to the Second Preferred Options 

version of the Local Plan and also to the updated evidence base, a number of 
changes to the emerging Local Plan are proposed. A list of these proposed 
changes are attached as an appendix to this report. Some of the changes 
necessary are minor and relate to typographical errors and to improve reader 
clarity which have not been included in Appendix 1. However there are several 
more significant changes proposed as below. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



67. The proposed strategic allocation at Berinsfield has been reduced from up to 
2,100 houses to up to 1,700 new homes. This change arises from the updated 
work of the Berinsfield project team. 

68. The delivery of new homes in the plan period on land adjacent to the Culham 
Science Centre has been reduced. The overall allocation of land remains for 
approximately 3,500 dwellings.

69. The proposed site allocations at Crowmarsh Gifford have been removed from the 
Local Plan as a Neighbourhood Development Plan is now proposed to be 
produced for the settlement.

70. We have identified a further site allocation at Nettlebed for housing development 
on land to the west and south of the filling station for an additional 15 dwellings. 

71. The implications of these changes and those set out in the section on strategic 
allocations have been carried forward in the supply of new homes to come 
forward in the table below. The completions to 2017 have been updated 
alongside the commitments figure. 

Supply of new homes to come forward Net number of 
dwellings

Completions 2011-2017 3,397
Commitments as at 31 March 2017 – sites under construction, with 
planning permission or resolution to grant planning permission and 
allocations carries forward from the Core Strategy (This will be 
amended 

9,343

New strategic allocations 6,975*
New Henley, Thame and Wallingford allocations 1,155
New allocations in the Larger Villages 1,041
Sites in the smaller villages (Neighbourhood Plans and infill sites) and 

windfall sites
500

Total 22,411
*strategic allocations continue to deliver beyond the plan period. 

72. This has reduced the overall source of housing supply from 23,468 to 22,411 
dwellings. Whilst this still exceeds our objectively assessed need figure and the 
contribution towards meeting some of Oxford City’s unmet housing need, there 
are likely to be challenges to this through this examination and the reduced 
figure could have a limiting factor on our ability to respond quickly to potential 
recommendations from the Planning Inspector. 

73. We no longer propose to remove land from the Green Belt at Wheatley for the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Under current regulations Neighbourhood Planning Groups 
cannot review the Green Belt through the preparation of their Plans and this 
remains the responsibility of the Local Planning authority. Discussions earlier in 
the year with Wheatley Neighbourhood Planning Group indicated that they 
wished to explore the potential of developing land within the existing Green Belt. 
In response, we consulted upon removing this land but requested that the 
Neighbourhood Development group provided the exceptional circumstances and 

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



full proposals of development they wished to allocate. In the absence of this, the 
proposed removal of land is withdrawn.

Other 

74. We propose to make changes to the Green Belt to accommodate the strategic 
allocations identified at Culham and Berinsfield.  

75. We propose to safeguard existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
sites and propose additional sites to meet the identified need. Further to the 
revised evidence regarding Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople need, 
there is a reduction in the quantum of pitches and plots required which has been 
updated in the Publication version of the Local Plan. 

76. The policies in Chapter 10: Town Centres and Shopping have been revised to 
reflect the updated evidence for comparison and convenience shopping need in 
South Oxfordshire. 

77. The emerging Local Plan includes a full suite of development management 
policies to be used in the determination of planning applications, including those 
related to design, landscape, sports provision, town centres, water resources etc.

78. The Publication version of the Local Plan will be supported by a full Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats Regulations Assessment for the formal decision making 
process. Technical notes are provided in the appendices to this report for 
Scrutiny Committee. 

Engagement

79. To provide information to Councillors and disseminate evidence that has been 
complied, we have held a series of round table sessions. These sessions have 
proven extremely helpful to support the drafting of the plan from an officer 
perspective and to challenge the presentation of material.

Public consultation

80. The Local Plan will be published and available for consultation for six weeks (11 
October – 22 November) and we are holding some drop-in events to support this 
process and to assist those who wish to make representations on the Local Plan. 
Details on the procedures and the tests of soundness will be provided to guide 
consultees.

81. This marks the start of a very different stage of the Local Plan preparation 
process where comments are only sought on issues of soundness and legal 
compliance. Unlike the earlier consultations, the Regulation 19 stage is not an 
opportunity for new ideas or new development proposals to be put forward for 
consideration. Officers have prepared guidance on the process, and a bespoke 
form for the submission of representations. Any person may make 
representations on the Plan and those made in accordance with the 
representation procedure will be forwarded to the Inspector to consider as part of 
the formal examination process. Representations may be made that relate 
directly to the following (all taken from the NPPF):

• Legal compliance

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



• Duty to co-operate

• Soundness

82. This means that the Plan must be:

• Positively prepared - based on a strategy which seeks to meet objectively 
assessed development and infrastructure requirements.

• Justified - should be the most appropriate strategy when considered against 
the reasonable alternatives.

• Effective - should be deliverable over the Plan period and based on effective 
joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities.

• Consistent with national policy - should enable the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

83. The publication period will be published in accordance with the Local Planning 
Regulations and the Council’s adopted Statement of Community Involvement. A 
full engagement strategy is being prepared to support this stage. 

84. The next steps in the process are as below

 Consultation on Publication Local Plan (Regulation 19) October 2017 
 Submission to Secretary of State (Regulation 22) Winter 2017 
 Examination in Public (Regulation 24) Spring 2018 
 Inspector’s report (Regulation 25) Summer 2018 
 Adoption (Regulation 26) Summer 2018 

85. A Consultation Statement, which sets out all of the consultation activities that 
have been carried out during the course of preparing the Plan, is being produced 
and will be submitted to the Secretary of State. The comments received 
throughout the process, along with the additional evidence prepared, have all 
been considered, as well as any changes to national policy and guidance.

Next Steps

86. Following publication, officers will consider representations received and, where 
appropriate, and with approval of the Cabinet Member, make minor changes to 
the Local Plan prior to submission to the Secretary of State for examination. At 
that stage, there will be the option to make minor changes to the Plan; however, 
in line with the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Policy Guidance 
and statutory regulations, the Council should not be making significant changes, 
as to do so would necessitate a further stage(s) of consultation. 

87. Unless there are any materially significant new issues raised during that period, it 
is anticipated that the Submission South Oxfordshire Local Plan, including any 
minor modifications, will be formally submitted to the Secretary of State, via the 
Planning Inspectorate, in December 2017.

Page 22

Agenda Item 6



Financial Implications

88. The preparation of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan is undertaken by officers 
within the Planning Policy team and is supported by an extensive evidence base. 
The activities of this team are met from the existing Planning Policy budget. 

Legal Implications

89. The Publication version of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan has been produced 
for publication under regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (“Local Planning Regulations”).

90. Local authorities are required by law to prepare a development plan for their 
administrative area and the process for doing that is governed by statute. The 
regulations require local authorities to notify and invite comments from a range of 
specified persons and organisations on their development plan proposals.

91. In the absence of an up to date Local Plan, South Oxfordshire remains 
vulnerable to challenge given that they are unable to demonstrate a robust five 
year housing land supply (HLS). In the absence of a five year HLS, local 
authorities are having imposed upon them by decision of the Secretary of State, 
planning permissions which need not necessarily comply with the current or 
emerging Local Plan. It is therefore essential that the Local Plan is progressed 
expeditiously if the threat of adverse planning decisions is to be avoided.

92. Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as inserted by 
the s110 of the Localism Act 2011) (“s33A”) provides that local planning 
authorities must co-operate with other local planning authorities in maximising 
the effectiveness with which activities such as the preparation of local 
plan/development plan documents are undertaken so far as they relate to 
strategic matters. This ‘duty to cooperate’ requires the local authority to engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis in any process by means of 
which activities such as the preparation of Local Plan are undertaken. 

93. If the person appointed to carry out the independent examination considers that 
the South Oxfordshire has not complied with its duty under s33A in relation to the 
preparation of its Local Plan the person can neither recommend adoption nor 
modifications and in such cases, South Oxfordshire cannot then adopt the Local 
Plan.

Equalities Impact Assessment

94. The Second Preferred Options version of the Local Plan was subject to an 
Equalities Impact Assessment which identified a number of minor changes to be 
made to the Local Plan. These have been incorporated within the Publication 
version of the Local Plan. 

95. The council has reviewed the Publication version of the Local Plan to ensure that 
the objectives and policies have been prepared in line with our public sector 
equality duties to have due regard to the need to:

 eliminate any potential for unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Act 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 advance equality of opportunity in service delivery and employment between 
people who share a protected characteristic1 and those who do not

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not 2.

96. The equalities officer has reviewed the objectives and policies, making 
suggestions to strengthen the policies where appropriate to take account of the 
needs people protected by the Act.  Policy officers have considered these and 
where possible the policy has been updated to reflect the feedback.  A copy of 
the Equality Impact Assessment can be found at appendix 4.

Risks

97. Failure to progress a Local Plan that identifies future development requirements 
for the area and strategic locations where these requirements can be 
accommodated will result in a policy vacuum, increasing the risk of ad hoc 
development proposals being submitted and potentially, to decisions being 
secured by appeal.

98. The absence of a Local Plan could result in an uncoordinated approach to 
development, leading to inappropriate and incremental development being 
allowed on appeal that does not take account of cumulative implications and 
requirements for supporting infrastructure, with the potential for adverse 
environmental impacts. 

99. The Council is currently in a position where it cannot demonstrate a sufficient 
level of land for housing and there are planning applications pending which have 
been submitted on this basis. It is therefore critical that progress is made on 
agreeing the emerging Local Plan. Any delay in progressing the Local Plan to 
submission and examination increases the risk of inappropriate development and 
lack of delivery of key infrastructure.

Conclusion

100. Comments are sought on this version of the emerging South Oxfordshire Local 
Plan to help shape this formal stage of plan making. The Publication version of 
the Local Plan is the one which the Council will publish and submit to the 
Secretary of State for examination. At that stage there will be the option to make 
minor changes to the Local Plan, however in line with the NPPF, PPG and 
statutory regulations the Councils should not be making significant changes. 
Review of the representations received to the Publication Local Plan will be 
managed through existing programme arrangements and representations 
packaged and passed to the Inspector considering the examination of the Local 
Plan.

1 A’ protected characteristic’ under the Act is colour, race, nationality, ethnic or national origin, disability, 
age, sex, gender reassignment, sexual orientation, religion, belief, marriage or civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity 

2 Bullets two and three do not apply to the protected characteristic of marriage and civil partnership

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



Background Papers

South Oxfordshire Local Plan
 Issues and Scope – June 2014
 Refined Options – February 2015
 Preferred Options – June 2016 
 Second Preferred Options – March 2017

Supporting documents
 Sustainability Appraisal 
 Habitats Regulations Assessment
 Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment
 Assessment of Land Availability reports
 Viability Assessment
 Equality and human rights impact check
 Equalities Impact Assessment
 Infrastructure Delivery Plan
 Water Cycle Study
 Hotel Needs Assessment
 Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment
 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
 Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Assessment
 Topic Paper: Housing need and supply
 Topic Paper: Transport
 Topic Paper: Employment
 Employment Land Review
 Retail Assessment
 Leisure Studies
 Green Belt Report
 Evaluation of Transport Impacts
 Sustainable Transport Study
 Landscape Capacity Assessment
 Green Infrastructure Study
 Settlement Assessment 

Appendices

1. South Oxfordshire Local Plan – Publication document (draft)
2. Key proposed changes to the Local Plan
3. Summary report on the responses received to the Reg. 18 Local plan document –

Second Preferred Options March 2017
4. Equalities Impact Assessment
5. Technical note – Habitats Regulation Assessment
6. Technical note – Sustainability Appraisal

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

I

South Oxfordshire 

LOCAL PLAN 2011-2033 
PUBLICATION VERSION

OCTOBER 2017

www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan Page 27

Agenda Item 6



II

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

1

Table of Contents. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1

Policy List . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2

Foreword . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5

Chapter 1  INTRODUCTION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7

Chapter 2  THE PUBLICATION VERSION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15

Chapter 3  VISION AND OBJECTIVES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19

Chapter 4  OUR SPATIAL STRATEGY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25

Chapter 5  DELIVERING NEW HOMES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57

Chapter 6  EMPLOYMENT AND ECONOMY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 89

Chapter 7  INFRASTRUCTURE. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 111

Chapter 8 NATURAL AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT . . . . . . . . . . 129

Chapter 9 BUILT ENVIRONMENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 157

Chapter 10 TOWN CENTRES AND RETAILING . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 171

Chapter 11 COMMUNITY AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES . . . . . . 181

Chapter 12 MONITORING AND REVIEW . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 187

Appendix 1 Glossary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 197

Appendix 2 Strategic Allocation Maps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 209

Appendix 3  Site Allocations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212

Appendix 4  Green Belt Proposed Changes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 216

Appendix 5  Safeguarding Maps. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219

Appendix 6  Didcot Garden Town Principles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 232

Appendix 7  Settlement Hierarchy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 234

Table of Contents

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



2

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy Ref Policy Title

STRATEGY

STRAT1 The Overall Strategy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28

STRAT2 The Need for New Development in South Oxfordshire . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32

STRAT3 The unmet housing requirements from Oxford City . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33

STRAT4 Didcot Garden Town . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36

STRAT5 Strategic Allocations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37

STRAT6 Culham Science Centre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40

STRAT7 Land adjacent Culham Science Centre. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41

STRAT8 Land at Berinsfield. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43

STRAT9 Land at Chalgrove Airfield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48

STRAT10 Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50

SETTLEMENTS AND HOUSING

HEN1 The Strategy for Henley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52

TH1 The Strategy for Thame . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53

WAL1 The Strategy for Wallingford . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55

H1  Delivering new homes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60

H2 New Housing in Didcot . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 61

H2i Didcot A . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62

H2ii Didcot Gateway . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62

H2iii Hadden Hill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 62

H3 Housing in the Market Towns . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64

H4 Housing in Larger Villages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67

H5 Land to the west of Priests Close, Nettlebed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68

H6 Joyce Grove, Nettlebed Housing in Henley. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 69

H7 Housing in the Smaller Villages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70

H8 Affordable Housing  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 71

H9 Exception Sites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72

H10 Meeting Housing Needs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74

H11 Self-Build and Custom Housing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77

H12 Specialist Housing for Older People . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78

H13 Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79

H14 Safeguarding Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80

H15 Infill Development  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82

H16 Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83

H17 Replacement Dwellings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84

Policy List

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

3

H18 Extensions to Dwellings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86

H19 Loss of Existing Residential Accommodation in Town Centres . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87

EMPLOYMENT

EMP1 The amount and distribution of new B-class employment land . . . . . . . . . . . . 94

EMP2 Range, Size and Mix of Employment Premises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95

EMP3 Retention of Employment Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96

EMP4  Employment Land in Didcot. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 97

EMP5  New Employment Land in Henley . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 98

EMP6  New Employment Land in Thame . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 98

EMP7  New Employment Land in Wallingford. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99

EMP8  New Employment Land in Crowmarsh Gifford . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 99

EMP9  Employment at Culham Science Centre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100

EMP10  New Employment Land at Chalgrove. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100

EMP11 Community Employment Plans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 102

EMP12  Development in the Countryside and Rural Areas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103

EMP13  Tourism . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 104

EMP14  Caravan and camping sites . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105

EMP15  Visitor Accommodation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 107

INFRASTRUCTURE

INF1 Infrastructure Provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113

TRANS1 Supporting Strategic Transport Investment. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 115

TRANS2 Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 116

TRANS3 Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118

TRANS4 Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans  . . . . . . . . . . . 120

TRANS5 Consideration of development proposals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 121

TRANS6 Rail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122

TRANS7 Development Generating new Lorry Movements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123

INF2 Electronic Communications . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 123

INF3 Telecommunications Technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124

INF4 Water Resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125

ENVIRONMENT

ENV1 Landscape and Countryside. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 131

ENV2 Biodiversity – Designated Sites, Priority Habitats and Species . . . . . . . . . . . . . 134

ENV3 Biodiversity – Non designated sites, habitats and species . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 135

ENV4 Watercourses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 136

ENV5 Green Infrastructure in new developments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139

ENV6 Historic Environment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



4

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

ENV7 Listed Buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142

ENV8 Conservation Areas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 144

ENV9 Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 145

ENV10 Historic Battlefields, Registered Parks and Gardens and Historic Landscapes. . 147

ENV11 Pollution - Impact from Existing and/or Previous Land Uses on New Development 
(Potential Receptors of Pollution) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148

ENV12 Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
 Environment and/or Local Amenity (Sources) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 149

EP1 Air Quality. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 151

EP2 Hazardous substances . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 151

EP3 Waste Collection and Recylcing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 152

EP4 Flood Risk . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 153

EP5 Minerals Safeguarding Areas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 155

DESIGN

DES1 Delivering High Quality Development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 158

DES2 Enhancing Local Character . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 159

DES3 Design and Access Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160

DES4 Masterplans for allocated sites and major development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 161

DES5 Outdoor Amenity Space . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 162

DES6 Residential Amenity. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 163

DES7 Public Art . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 164

DES8 Efficient use of resources . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 164

DES9 Promoting sustainable design . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 166

DES10 Renewable Energy. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 168

DES11 Rural Worker’s Dwellings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 169

DES12 Re-use of rural buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 170

TOWN CENTRES

TC1 Retail in towns and villages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 174

TC2 Amount and location of new retail floorspace  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 177

TC6 Retail frontages and town centre boundaries. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 179

COMMUNITY FACILITIES

CF1 Safeguarding Community Facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 182

CF2 Provision of Community Facilities and Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 183

CF3 New Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 183

CF4 Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184

CF5 Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new residential development . . . . . . . . 185

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

5

Welcome to our Publication version of the Local Plan for South Oxfordshire. It is an 

important document because it sets out the identified need and location for housing 

and employment, and supporting infrastructure, in our area up to 2033. 

This document has been prepared following several rounds of consultation with 

yourselves and gathering of evidence to inform our decisions. 

There are competing issues that we must respond to and the need for new homes 

and to provide new land for jobs must be considered against any environmental or 

other impacts. These decisions have not been made lightly and look to strengthen the 

heart of the District. 

I know that many are concerned about the impact on their lives of new houses being 

built near them. However, I also talk to people who are equally worried about the 

prospects of homes for their children if we don’t address the shortfalls that we face. 

This plan seeks to balance those tensions. 

What I hope you will find particularly striking about the plan is our desire to let more 

of the decisions be made by communities for themselves. South Oxfordshire has been 

in the vanguard of neighbourhood planning and, with your backing, our proposals 

can keep us there.

Foreword 
by John Cotton

John Cotton

Leader of the Council and Cabinet member for corporate 

strategy, and strategic policy (including the local plan)

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



6

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

7

1.1 South Oxfordshire District Council has been working on a new Local Plan 

to shape the future of our District. We are committed to involving our 

communities in preparing the new plan, and we would now like your views.

What is the Local Plan for?

1.2 Planning has a key role in enabling us to meet the challenges that the District 

faces whilst protecting what we value about the District, and also builds on 

opportunities to make it an even better place.

1.3 The Local Plan sets out how development will be planned and delivered 

across South Oxfordshire to 2033. It sets out our vision, shows how we have 

developed a strategy which responds to that vision and how we will deliver it 

working in partnership with everyone with a stake in the future of the District. 

It also includes policies that are used when the Council is determining planning 

applications. 

1.4 The Local Plan sets out policies for change and includes a strategy for 

delivering growth from 2011 to 2033. It identifies appropriate areas and sites 

for development, such as new homes, offices, shops and community facilities. 

It sets out how valuable historic and natural environments will be protected 

and enhanced. The policies in this plan will be used to help make decisions 

on planning applications in the District. It also identifies circumstances where 

development will not be appropriate.

1.5 In preparing the new plan we are:

•	 Exploring how much land is likely to be needed for different uses

•	 Identifying the right areas and sites to make sure that we have a healthy 

supply of developable land

•	 Working with our neighbouring councils and the County Council, expert 

advisors (such as the Environment Agency and Natural England) and 

infrastructure providers (such as Thames Water) to look at how the impacts 

of development and growth can be managed across South Oxfordshire 

and beyond

INTRODUCTION

Have your say on development 
in South Oxfordshire

1

7

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



8

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

•	 Supporting parish and town councils who are working on community-led 

plans and Neighbourhood Development Plans; and

•	 Listening to our residents, businesses and communities.

The plan will guide 
development of 

the District, in 
strategic terms, 

over the length of 
the plan period

What have we done to date?

1.6 We have previously consulted at the following stages

•	 Issues and Scope – June 2014

•	 Refined Options – February 2015

•	 Preferred Options – June 2016

•	 Second Preferred Options – April 2017 

 1.7 The first two stages of consultation were based on a plan that ran until 2031. 

We are required to ensure that, once the plan is adopted, it has a life of 15 

years from the date of adoption so that it provides an effective plan for future 

development. 

1.8 Our work programme indicates that the plan is likely to be adopted in 2018, 

therefore the plan must run to at least 2033. 

1.9 The June 2016 Preferred Options version of the Local Plan did not contain 

all of the policies which would be used in the determination of planning 

applications. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

9

What is in the new Local Plan?

1.10 The plan guides development of the District, in strategic terms, over the length 

of the plan period. It provides the basis for growth, through setting out the 

distribution of new housing, employment and retail development and it also 

provides the framework for protecting the District’s important natural and built 

environment.

1.11 The plan covers the whole of South Oxfordshire, and we have and will 

continue to work with our neighbours to plan for cross-boundary issues, such 

as how to accommodate the unmet housing needs of Oxford and where new 

strategic transport and utilities infrastructure is needed.

1.12 Whilst the Local Plan provides the broad strategic framework for growth, much 

of the detail, such as the specific sites to be allocated for housing, will be 

finalised at the local level, through Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs).

Why are we preparing a new Local Plan?

1.13 In April 2014, the councils across Oxfordshire published a Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment (SHMA), and this identified that South Oxfordshire needs 

additional housing beyond that which is planned for in the existing Core 

Strategy. 

1.14 As well as this, Oxford City Council indicated that they would have difficulties 

in meeting their identified housing need entirely within the city boundary and 

that other districts across the county could be asked to consider taking some of 

this “unmet housing need”.

1.15 In response we decided that we need to review our existing plan and consider 

how we can plan for additional growth in the most advantageous and positive 

way. 

1.16 By preparing a new Local Plan now we will ensure that we can plan where, 

how and when new development takes place, and that we can plan for all 

needs in the best way.

 

Saved
Supplementary

Planning

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



10

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

The Development Plan

1.17 The South Oxfordshire development plan is the starting point in making 

decisions on planning applications. All planning applications will be determined 

in accordance with the “Development Plan” unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise. The development plan comprises:

•	 The existing Core Strategy (including the “saved policies” of the South 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011) until it is replaced by the Local Plan 2033

•	 “Made” (adopted) Neighbourhood Development Plans prepared by local 

communities

•	 Any Development Planning Documents relating to minerals and waste 

prepared by Oxfordshire County Council.

Local
Development

Scheme  

Statement of
Community

Involvement 

Authority’s
Monitoring

Reports  

Evidence
Base 

Sustainability
Appraisal

Affordable
Housing

Development
Briefs

CIL Charging
Schedule 

South
Oxfordshire

Design
Guide

Developer
Contributions 

Didcot Town
Centre 

Saved
Supplementary

Planning
Guidance  

Th
e 

D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

Pl
an

Minerals
& Waste Local

Plan  
Neighbourhood

Plans

Local Plan
2033

Didcot
Garden
Town

Development
Management

Policies

Adopted 
Local Plan 

2011

The Local Plan

 Process and Monitoring

 Supplementary Documents and Guidance

The D
evelo

p
m

en
t Plan

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

11

Neighbourhood Development Plans

1.18 In South Oxfordshire, Neighbourhood Development Plans can be prepared 

by either town or parish councils, or a neighbourhood forum. Once “made” 

(adopted) they form part of the development plan. They set out in more detail 

how a community wishes to see its area develop. Where Neighbourhood 

Development Plans are prepared, they must be in general conformity with the 

Local Plan.

1.19 The Council will continue to support communities who wish to prepare 

Neighbourhood Development Plans. Details of how the Council can help 

with the preparation of Neighbourhood Development Plans are set out on 

the Council’s website.

Neighbourhood 
Development 
Plans form 
part of the 
development 
plan

What we have done so far

1.20 The process started in June and July 2014, when we held a Local Plan Issues 

and Scope public consultation, which was the first public stage of preparing 

the new Local Plan. It asked a number of questions about how we could 

approach planning for additional housing, where business and job growth 

could be located, and how we can improve transport, infrastructure, shopping 

and community facilities. You can see the consultation document on the 

Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk/issuesandscope.

1.21 We received nearly 4,000 comments from the Issues and Scope consultation, 

from almost 800 individuals and organisations. Our Issues and Scope 

Consultation Report is available at www.southoxon.gov.uk/issuesandscope 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



12

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Plan 
Preparation 

Process

South 
Development 
Plan

Issues and 
Options 

Refined 
Options

Preferred 
Options

Proposed 
Submission
Document

Local Plan 
2033

The Plan Preparation Process

and this provides a detailed summary of the main themes arising from the 

responses. 

1.22 The comments received informed the more detailed Refined Options 

consultation, which was held between 19 February and 2 April 2015. This was 

effectively a part two of the Issues and Scope work, which helped us refine the 

wide range of issues in the previous consultation before moving to this more 

formal Preferred Options stage. The consultation document can be seen on 

the website at www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-

building/planning-policy/local-plan-2032/local-plan-2032-consultati.

1.23 Over 3,200 responses were received from 750 individuals and organisations. 

The Refined Options Consultation Report provides a detailed summary of 

the main themes, and can be found at www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/

default/files/2015%2006%2001%20FINAL%20LP2031%20Refined%20

Options%20Consultation%20Report%20+%20cover_0.pdf. The responses 

received from this second consultation have informed the first Preferred 

Options document.

1.24 The third stage in the process was a Preferred Options version of the Local Plan. 

Consultation on this document was undertaken between June and August 

2016. This stage of the Local Plan preparation set out our preferred approach 

in respect of a number of issues. The first Preferred Options version of the Local 

Plan did not include any development management policies. The consultation 

document can be seen on the website at the following location www.

southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/SODC%20LP2032%20preferred%20

options%20low-res.pdf.

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

13

AdoptionExaminationSubmission

1.25 7,893 comments were received in response to this consultation stage from 

1,331 individuals and organisations. The Preferred Options consultation 

report provides a summary of these issues and our response to them. The 

consultation responses covered a number of areas of support and objection to 

the emerging Local Plan. There was support for the emerging spatial strategy 

and distribution, though others considered that development should have a 

greater focus at Didcot and also at Oxford. Some of the responses received 

were unclear as to why so many homes were being proposed, though there 

were representations from the development industry which argued that the 

Local Plan did not deliver enough new homes. Some respondents considered 

the rural areas should help to deliver more housing, whilst others indicated that 

there was insufficient infrastructure to support this. Common themes included 

planning for infrastructure and ensuring that roads could accommodate the 

increase in traffic. Site specific issues were raised in relation to proposed 

development at Chalgrove and also suggestions were made as to other 

locations where development could be located, such as at Culham.

1.26 The preparation of this second Preferred Options Report has been informed by 

the previous consultation stages and from the development of the evidence 

base to support and justify the policies and allocations contained within this 

document. 

1.27 Public consultation is, however, only one method by which we collect 

evidence and information to help us prepare our new Local Plan. We have 

also carried out or commissioned a range of other studies to provide us with 

a comprehensive picture of the opportunities and constraints in the District. 

Completed studies are available on the evidence page of our website www.

southoxon.gov.uk/evidence.

The Preferred 
Options 
consultation 
report provides 
a summary of 
these issues and 
our response to 
them

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



14

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Local Plan 
2033

Water
Cycle Study

Evaluation 
of Transport 
Impact Study

Public 
Consultation

Sustainability 
Appraisal

Green Belt 
Study

Landscape 
Capacity 

Assessment

Green 
Infrastructure 

Study

Strategic 
Housing Land 

Availability 
Assessment

Strategic 
Housing 
Market 

Assessment
Employment 
Land Review

Hotel Needs 
Assessment

Retail Study

Recreation 
and Leisure 

Facilities 
Study

Habitats 
Regulation 
Assessment

Gypsy and 
Traveller 

Accommodation 
Assessment and 

Pitch Delivery 
Report

Studies which set out requirements – these 

provide evidence of the level of need we 

should plan for, including for housing, 

employment, shopping and leisure.

Studies which look at the suitability of sites 

and places for development – these provide 

information about which places might be 

most appropriate for development.

Studies which look at the impacts of 

development – these provide information 

about how development will affect roads, 

water supply and so on, and what might need 

to be done to deal with these impacts.

Public consultation – this plan will go through 

at least fi ve stages of public consultation 

(of which this is the fourth) and a public 

examination before it can be adopted as the 

development plan for the District.

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

15

THE PUBLICATION VERSION

2.1 This document sets out the Council’s draft Local Plan and is subject to formal 

public consultation. We are asking for your views as to whether the plan is 

sound prior to its submission to the Secretary of State. 

2.2 The relevant soundness criteria are whether the Local Plan is:

i) Positively prepared: based on a strategy that seeks to meet objectively 

assessed development and infrastructure requirements, including unmet 

requirements from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do 

so and consistent with achieving sustainable development;

ii) Justified: the most appropriate strategy when considered against the 

reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence;

iii) Effective: the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on 

effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic priorities;

iv) Consistent with national policy: the plan should enable the delivery of 

sustainable development in accordance with the policies in the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

2.3 This draft Local Plan will be independently examined by an appointed Inspector 

from the Planning Inspectorate. 

What does the Preferred Options document do?

2.4 The Draft Local Plan document has been informed by builds on four earlier 

stages of public consultation. It takes account of the comments and ideas 

received. It also takes account of the growing evidence base that the council 

has produced which provides information on a wide range of background 

topics and issues. We have then used this wealth of information, evidence and 

comment to produce this more detailed set of proposals which indicate the 

council’s preferred levels of growth, where this should broadly be located and 

the range of policies that will be required to guide and shape this development 

and protect our natural and built environment.

2.5 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan – Publication Version contains:

•	 A vision for South Oxfordshire in 2033;

•	 Objectives and a strategy for showing how we will achieve our vision;

•	 A distribution of sites for development where these are needed; and

•	 Policies which will be used to assess planning proposals and applications. 

2

15

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



16

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

How can you take part?

2.6 The Local Plan is a plan for everyone with an interest in South Oxfordshire, 

but particularly residents, businesses and the local communities. It is therefore 

essential that we have sought the views and thoughts of as many of these 

groups as possible in the preparation to inform this Draft Local Plan.

2.7 To help achieve this, we are undertaking extensive public consultation and 

engagement over a 7-week period between 29 March 2017 and 17 May 2017.

2.8 We will be holding a series of “roadshow” events across the District during 

the consultation period. Full details of the consultation programme can be 

found at the Council’s website www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/

planning-and-building/planning-policy/emerging-local-plan.

What happens next?

2.9 The development of the Local Plan follows a number of different stages which 

are defined by legislation (see page 12). The legal requirements are set out in 

the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

2.10 The three consultation exercises to date, and the consultation embarked 

upon for this document, have been undertaken under Regulation 18 of the 

legislation. This Regulation enables the Council to undertake one or more 

consultation on matters that it considers appropriate – i.e. the form of the 

consultation is not prescribed in law. We have therefore undertaken the three 

stages so far under this Regulation.

2.11 This version of the Local Plan contains development management policies to be 

used in the determination of planning applications

2.12 Once the Preferred Options stage is completed, and the Council wishes to 

progress the Local Plan towards adoption, then it will publish a Proposed 

Submission version of the Plan (Regulation 19). At this stage, we will again 

notify all appropriate parties, which will include those we have consulted in the 

process to date. 

2.13 The appropriate parties are then able to make formal representation on the 

Proposed Submission Document. This will be the “Draft Local Plan.” Any 

person may make representations to a local planning authority about a local 

plan which the local planning authority propose to submit to the Secretary of 

State.

This version of the 
Local Plan contains 

development 
management 
policies to be 

used in the 
determination 

of planning 
applications

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

17

2.14 It is currently expected that the Regulation 19 stage (the Proposed Submission 

Document) will be reached in Autumn 2017.

2.15 Once the Council has consulted upon its Proposed Submission Document, the 

Council will then formally submit the Local Plan to the Secretary of State. It is 

anticipated that this will be achieved towards the end of 2017.

2.16 All representations received will be considered by an independent Inspector, 

appointed by the Secretary of State through the Planning Inspectorate (PINS). 

Having considered all representations, the Inspector will then conduct a 

formal independent examination into the Local Plan. The Inspector will make 

recommendations in respect of the Local Plan and, for the Plan to proceed 

to adoption, the Inspector must find the Local Plan to be “sound.” It is 

anticipated that the examination is likely to be conducted in the spring of 

2018.

2.17 Once a Local Plan is found to be “sound’, it can proceed to adoption. In the 

case of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan, this is expected to be in the summer 

of 2018. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



18

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

19

3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES

3.1 South Oxfordshire is a beautiful and prosperous place with many strengths: 

its natural environment, picturesque towns and villages, and a buoyant 

and successful economy. There are challenges in ensuring that we plan for 

development in a way that protects and enhances all that is special about our 

District. In our vision for 2033 we set out how we see the District evolving 

whilst building on our strengths. 

3.2 A set of strategic objectives defi ne what the Local Plan 2033 will focus on to 

deliver our stated vision. Our strategy is an evolution of that developed for the 

Core Strategy 2012, as we believe it is still appropriate and sustainable, and it 

refl ects valued input from the community. 

Our Vision for 2033

3.3 South Oxfordshire will remain a beautiful and prosperous place 

to live. It will be an attractive place for people to work and spend 

their leisure time.

3.4 By meeting our housing and employment need and the creation of new, 

sustainable and vibrant places, we will have provided enough homes and 

jobs for those wishing to live and work here. By planning for housing in our 

four towns of Didcot, Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford and in our 

villages, we will have ensured that all our communities thrive and that everyone 

has access to services within a short distance. New development meets the 

highest standards of design with necessary associated infrastructure. 

3.5 We continue to direct development to the towns and larger villages. We will 

also strengthen the heart of the District by allocating new development at 

three strategic locations. This growth will support employment opportunities 

and deliver regeneration and infrastructure.

 

3.6 Science Vale1 will have continued to grow as a world-renowned science, research 

and innovation led hub that attracts business and creates job opportunities, and 

delivers housing growth. Didcot will be a fl ourishing Garden Town, being both 

the gateway to and the heart of Science Vale. Roads and rail links will have been 

improved and pedestrian and cycle networks will have made it easier for people 

to get around, in particular to major employment sites.

1 Science Vale is an area in 

Southern Oxfordshire, crossing 

the border of South Oxfordshire 

and the Vale of White Horse. 

It is one of the most successful 

science clusters in the UK. This 

activity is concentrated around 

the three centres for science 

at Harwell Campus, Culham 

Science Centre, and Milton Park, 

but is supported by a number of 

important settlements including 

Didcot, Wantage and Grove.

19

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



20

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

3.7 Through careful management of the Oxford Green Belt we will have protected 

the important setting of Oxford whilst also making appropriate provision for 

housing, business growth and urban and rural regeneration. The North Wessex 

Downs and Chilterns Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty will be protected 

and enhanced, whilst also allowing for appropriate and sustainable growth in 

places. Our rich and varied history is celebrated, protected and enhanced for 

the benefit of residents and visitors. 

3.8 We will plan for new development at three strategic locations; Chalgrove, 

Culham and Berinsfield.

3.9 We will exceed people’s high expectations in terms of healthy living, sustainable 

travel and the design of buildings, homes and public spaces. Everyone will have 

access to high quality leisure, retail and cultural facilities which will also attract 

visitors. South Oxfordshire will be a top tourist destination, helping our towns 

and villages to remain vibrant and prosperous. Communities will thrive, and 

through neighbourhood planning and community engagement, they will have 

their say on how their local area is shaped. 

 Our rich and 
varied history 
is celebrated, 

protected and 
enhanced for 

the benefit of 
residents and 

visitors 

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

21

Strategic Objectives
3.10 There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should 

not be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of 

objectives. A balance needs to be struck between the core pillars of sustainable 

development, including the protection of the environment and the need to 

provide sufficient development to meet the needs of the existing and future 

population. 

Objective 1 - Settlements 

OBJ 1.1  Support the settlement hierarchy, the growth and development of Didcot 

Garden Town, the delivery of new development in the heart of the District, 

the growth of our market towns and the vitality of our villages. 

OBJ 1.2 Support rural communities and “their way of life’, recognising that this is 

what attracts people to the District. 

OBJ 1.3 Meet identified housing needs by delivering high-quality, sustainable, 

attractive places for people to live and work. 

OBJ 1.4 Focus growth in Science Vale through delivering homes and jobs, retail and 

leisure facilities and enhanced transport infrastructure.

Objective 2 - Housing 

OBJ 2.1  Deliver a wide range of housing options to cater for the housing needs of 

our community (including self-build and older person’s accommodation).

OBJ 2.2 Support the regeneration of housing and facilities to strengthen 

communities, and address identified poverty and social exclusion.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



22

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

OBJ 2.3 Support meeting the economic and housing needs of the county as a 

whole, reflecting the special character of South Oxfordshire. 

Objective 3 - Economy

OBJ 3.1 Improve employment opportunities and employment land provision, 

providing high quality local jobs to help retain more of its skilled residents 

in the local workforce. 

OBJ 3.2 Support business growth, especially in locations close to existing business 

areas, transport connections and broadband provision and which provide 

the opportunity to reduce commuting distances.

 

OBJ 3.3 Ensure economic and housing growth are balanced, to support sustainable 

journeys to work, recognising we cannot determine where people work 

–some of whom will choose to travel to employment locations beyond our 

district, such as London, Reading and Oxford.

OBJ 3.4 Support the retail and service sectors as well as low and high-tech 

industries. 

OBJ 3.5 Create the conditions whereby world-renowned and cutting edge 

industries choose to locate and grow their businesses here, contributing to 

a strong and successful economy, in line with the Strategic Economic Plan 

for Oxfordshire. 

OBJ 3.6 Inspire the next generation of workers by planning for high quality 

education facilities. 

OBJ 3.7 Encourage tourism by protecting our built and natural assets, such as the 

Thames, and providing services and facilities for visitors. 

Objective 4 - Infrastructure 

OBJ 4.1 Ensure that essential infrastructure is delivered to support our existing 

residents and services as well as growth. 

OBJ 4.2 Make sustainable transport, walking and cycling an attractive and viable 

choice for people, whilst recognising that car travel and parking provision 

will continue to be important in this rural District.

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

23

Objective 5 - Design

OBJ 5.1 Deliver high quality, innovative, well designed and locally distinctive 

developments in sustainable locations in accordance with the South 

Oxfordshire Design Guide.

OBJ 5.2 Support development that respects the scale and character of our towns 

and villages, enhancing the special character of our historic settlements 

and the surrounding countryside.

Objective 6 - Community

OBJ 6.1 Champion neighbourhood planning, empowering local communities 

to direct development within their area and provide support to ensure 

Neighbourhood Development Plans are deliverable, achievable and 

sustainable.

OBJ 6.2 Provide access to high quality leisure, recreation, cultural, community and 

health facilities. 

OBJ 6.3 Ensure all communities have access to the services and facilities they value, 

supporting access to sport and recreation and the health and wellbeing of 

everyone.

Objective 7 - Natural and Built environment

OBJ 7.1 Protect and enhance the natural environment, including biodiversity, the 

landscape, green infrastructure and our waterways, placing particular 

importance on the value of the Oxford Green Belt, our two Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty and the River Thames. 

OBJ 7.2 Conserve and enhance our rich and varied historic assets and their 

settings, celebrating these as some of our strongest attributes. 

Objective 8 - Climate change

OBJ 8.2 Minimise carbon emissions and other pollution such as water, air, noise 

and light, and increase our resilience to the likely impact of climate 

change, especially flooding.

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



24

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 52

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

25

4   OUR SPATIAL STRATEGY

Introduction
4.1 The Local Plan updates the spatial strategy set out in the South Oxfordshire 

Core Strategy adopted in December 2012, to ensure that we meet the 

requirement set out in national policy to meet our housing needs. The strategy 

sets out how we will deliver the vision and objectives set out in Chapter 3. 

It identifies the roles that Science Vale, including Didcot Garden Town and 

Culham, the market towns, the villages and the countryside will play in the 

future. It shows where new homes will be built, where opportunities to 

provide new jobs will be created, and where infrastructure and services will be 

required. It shows how we will work in partnership to deliver the strategy with 

those responsible for key services, including healthcare, education, transport, 

water supply and community safety and with others such as affordable housing 

providers.

4.2 Local planning authorities have a responsibility to plan positively and work 

collaboratively. We cannot plan in isolation, and South Oxfordshire has been 

working with, and continues to work with the other Oxfordshire authorities, 

supported by the Oxfordshire Growth Board, Local Enterprise Partnership, key 

stakeholders, our parish and town councils and infrastructure providers.

4.3 The plan seeks to meet needs identified for South Oxfordshire as well as some 

of the needs arising from our neighbour Oxford City. At present a joint work 

programme with the other Oxfordshire authorities2 is still progressing on the 

scale of Oxford City’s unmet needs and how they can best be met. 

4.4  All allocations made in the core strategy are retained and new allocations are 

made to meet additional housing requirements identified in the Oxfordshire 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014. The strategy has been 

updated to help address the key challenges facing the District now and to 

make best use of available opportunities.

4.5 Significant weight is attached to ensuring our strategy delivers sustainable 

development supporting the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 

Development set out in national policy.

2 Cherwell District Council, 

Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire 

County Council, Vale of White 

Horse District Council, West 

Oxfordshire District Council

25

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



26

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

The Strategy
4.6 Historically, growth in South Oxfordshire has been largely focussed upon Didcot 

and the market towns of Thames, Wallingford and Henley on Thames. Other 

than Wallingford, these towns are located towards the boundary of our District 

and the continued focus on the periphery of the District has led to a reduction 

in development to support the investment in services and infrastructure within 

the heart of South Oxfordshire. 

4.7 The issues and options version of the Local Plan presented a series of potential 

options for the distribution of development within the District.

i) Core Strategy approach

ii) Science vale and “sustainable settlements’

iii) All in Science Vale

iv) All in single new settlement

v) Dispersal

vi) Next to neighbouring major urban areas (Reading/Oxford)

vii) Raising densities (from 25dph)

viii) Locating development in settlements where it could help fund projects.

4.8 Each of these options have been consulted upon and tested through the 

Sustainability Appraisal work. The preferred option for the Council is a blend 

of some of these options rather than favouring any one scenario in isolation. 

The strategy draws together the Core Strategy approach with development at 

Science Vale. It is also complemented by the identification of new settlements 

and the location of development to fund regeneration. Drawing on a 

combined approach to the distribution of new housing development enables a 

series of benefits to be delivered through the Local Plan.

4.9 Our preferred strategy supports the delivery of new housing and economic 

growth and translates our vision and objectives under inter-related spatial 

themes to:

•	 Support a strong network of vibrant settlements including the 

regeneration of town centres, making the whole District more sustainable, 

recognising the rural nature of South Oxfordshire and the impact of nearby 

major centres 

•	 Support a movement strategy that strengthens connections to key places 

and enables initiatives to prosper, allows a choice of transport modes and 

manages traffic to improve environmental quality

•	 Create a thriving economy in urban and rural areas with a range of work 

opportunities including more high value jobs and enable the up-skilling of 

our workforce to support existing and new firms

Drawing on 
a combined 

approach to the 
distribution of 

new housing 
development 

enables a series 
of benefits to 
be delivered 
through the 

Local Plan

Page 54

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

27

•	 Deliver sufficient new homes to meet the needs of our communities and 

economy supported by appropriate infrastructure, services and facilities

•	 Maintain and enhance the built and natural environment and ensure good 

quality developments and change.

4.10 The Local Plan seeks to build upon the existing settlement hierarchy and 

actively create a pattern of development central to the area. It identifies 

strategic levels of growth at three locations connecting through the central 

area of the District at Culham, Chalgrove and Berinsfield.

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



28

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Strengthening the heart of 
South Oxfordshire

Policy STRAT1 The Overall Strategy 

Proposals for development in South Oxfordshire will be assessed using 

national policy and guidance and the whole of the development plan* 

and should be consistent with the overall strategy of:

• Focusing major new development in Science Vale including Didcot 

Garden Town and Culham so that this area can play an enhanced 

role in providing homes, jobs and services with improved transport 

connectivity

• Providing for major development at Chalgrove and Berinsfi eld, 

including necessary infrastructure and community facilities

• Supporting and enhancing the economic and social dependencies 

between our towns and villages

• Supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and Wallingford by 

maintaining and improving the attractiveness of their town centres 

through measures that include environmental improvements 

and mixed-use developments and by providing new homes, jobs, 

services and infrastructure

• Supporting and enhancing the roles of the larger villages Benson, 

Berinsfi eld, Chalgrove, Chinnor, Cholsey, Crowmarsh Gifford, 

Goring, Nettlebed, Sonning Common, Watlington, Wheatley and 

Woodcote as local service centres

• Supporting smaller and other villages by allowing for limited 

amounts of housing and employment to help secure the provision 

and retention of services

• Protecting and enhancing the countryside and particularly those areas 

within the two AONB and Oxford Green Belt by ensuring that outside 

towns and villages any change relates to very specifi c needs such as 

those of the agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.

*The development plan is outlined in paragraph 1.17

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 & 7.

4.11 Understanding the nature of our towns and villages and how they inter-

relate and link with places outside the District is a vital part of our strategy. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

29

Movement patterns are complex and vary with the purpose of the journey. 

Some key services such as main hospitals and regional shopping centres will 

continue to be provided outside the District, particularly in Oxford and Reading. 

4.12 The strategy can influence how services and employment are accessed and 

where new development is located within the District. It can support and 

influence where and how service providers deliver their services and encourage 

different and improved ways of delivery.

4.13 South Oxfordshire has around 140 settlements, although some are just isolated 

groups of houses with no community facilities. These vary considerably in size 

and character reflecting their natural setting and historical development. The 

settlements in the District have been categorised by the services and facilities 

they offer and a hierarchy of policies has been established on this basis. We 

looked at these against a range of criteria on employment opportunities, 

schools, health services, recreation and leisure opportunities, shops accessibility 

and population to prepare a settlement assessment and hierarchy3. Villages 

have been categorised as being either “larger villages”, with a wide range of 

services and facilities in sustainable locations, and “smaller villages” that have a 

more limited range of services. There is a clear distinction between the villages 

in the settlement hierarchy but will be directing development through this plan 

to the most sustainable locations. We are directing development to the larger 

villages to support the spatial strategy and will support those Neighbourhood 

Development Plan groups who wish to promote development in the smaller 

villages. In addition, there are “other villages” which lie at the bottom of the 

settlement hierarchy, being hamlets or very small settlements with very limited 

or no services. Our strategy reflects the status of settlements in this assessment.

4.14 Our vision and objectives for South Oxfordshire recognise the rural nature of 

our District and the importance of our rural settlements in contributing to what 

makes South Oxfordshire such a beautiful and prosperous place to live. Our 

strategy for the Local Plan is to continue to ensure that all our communities thrive 

and that everyone has access to services within a short distance. This is achieved 

through our network of settlements and the settlement hierarchy, which ensures 

development takes place within the more sustainable locations of the District.

Meeting our housing and 
employment needs
4.15 National Planning Policy is clear that local planning authorities should ensure that 

they meet the full, Objectively Assessed Needs (OAN) for market and affordable 

South 
Oxfordshire 
has around 140 
settlements

3 Settlement Assessment 

Background Paper, South 

Oxfordshire June 2016 

Settlement Assessment 

Background Paper, South 

Oxfordshire June 2016

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



30

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

housing in the Housing Market Area (HMA). The Housing Market Area within 

which South Oxfordshire sits is defined as the County of Oxfordshire.

4.16 In 2014, together with the other Oxfordshire authorities, and using Government 

guidance, we prepared a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) to 

understand how many new homes we need to provide. The SHMA looked at 

both the expected growth in population, the anticipated economic growth 

between 2011 and 2031 and the need to support affordable housing provision. 

4.17 In South Oxfordshire, the evidence considers that the provision of 750 

dwellings a year would support economic growth. This is primarily to meet 

the needs of our existing businesses wishing to expand and to allow for new 

business formation at similar rates to the past. A proportion of this provision 

would also meet the need for affordable housing in the District.

4.18 However, based on these assessments, the SHMA made recommendations in 

terms of a housing range that we should be planning for which recognised 

that the affordable housing evidence provided a basis for considering higher 

housing provision. This was presented in the form of a range which identifies a 

total need for between 14,500 and 16,500 homes for South Oxfordshire over 

the twenty-year period 2011-2031. This would equate to an annual provision 

of between 725-825 new homes. 

4.19 We anticipate that the adoption of this Local Plan will be towards the end of 

2018 as set out in the published Local Development Scheme. Government 

guidance requires Local Plans to have a time span of 15 years from the point 

of adoption, so it is proposed that the annual requirement for housing is rolled 

on for the additional two years, thereby giving us an overall OAN for South 

Oxfordshire up to 2033 of 15,950-18,150. 

4.20 We will make provision for 17,050 new homes to be delivered to meet the District’s 

own needs during the plan period (2011 to 2033). This equates to 775 homes a 

year, which reflects the midpoint of the recommended range in the SHMA. This 

is considered to be an appropriate response to meeting our housing needs. Not 

only does this go beyond the committed economic growth housing requirement 

for South Oxfordshire, but also provides an uplift to deliver affordable housing 

identified in the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). 

4.21 We commissioned a study, referred to as the Employment Land Review, 

which assesses the amount and potential location of future requirements for 

employment land. This study identifies a need for between 16 and 25 hectares of 

We anticipate 
that the 

adoption of this 
Local Plan will 

be towards the 
end of 2018 as 

set out in the 
published Local 

Development 
Scheme

Page 58

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

31

employment land (in addition to the approximate figure of about 5 hectares that 

is already allocated in Didcot and Wallingford) to 2031. We have identified broad 

locations for around 20 hectares of employment land in the adopted core strategy:

 i)  At Culham Science Centre

 ii)  At Didcot, albeit in the Vale of White Horse

 iii)  At Thame, as allocated in their NDP

 iv)  At Wallingford, at the Hithercroft industrial estate; and

 v)  At the larger villages to be identified in NDP.

 Therefore we will need to allocate at least another 5 hectares of land. Taking 

the commitments, core strategy provision and additional requirements together 

totals 30 hectares of land. 

4.22 Between 6 and 7 hectares of the total requirement is needed for offices, 

with strongest demand likely to be at Culham, with some demand in Henley, 

Thame and Wallingford. Some demand could be met at Didcot which has not 

previously been a popular office location. The study supports our allocation 

of a substantial amount of floorspace at Culham Science Centre and suggests 

the remainder should be allocated in the Didcot station area and adjacent to 

Monument Business Park at Chalgrove with the residual floorspace provided in 

Henley, Thame and Wallingford town centres. There is a need for some smaller 

and flexible offices which could well be provided in our market towns. 

4.23 Between 10.5 and 17.7 hectares of the total requirement is needed for 

industry and warehousing, the main areas of demand are in Science Vale at 

Culham and Didcot. Wallingford and Thame are also areas of demand.

4.24 In order to allow employment opportunities to flourish, this plan will identify a 

provision for at least 35.9 hectares of employment land over the plan period, 

including the safeguarding of 5 hectares of employment land.

4.25 The overall strategy (policy STRAT1) supports a range of development 

opportunities at different scales and types of settlements and sites.  Some 

development sites will be easier to deliver than others.  Any large-scale 

development site will be more challenging to prepare for development and serve 

with appropriate infrastructure.  This challenge will be engaged with and reflected 

in our infrastructure delivery plan (IDP) and this plan’s supporting development 

trajectory.  We, also, recognise that some of our ambitious plans will continue to 

deliver after 2033 so land will be identified in this plan that may also continue 

to be built out after this plan period. Further detail of when and how this 

development will be delivered is given in the housing and employment chapters.

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



32

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy STRAT2 The Need for New Development in South 
Oxfordshire

During the plan period, provision will be made to meet the need for at 

least 17,050 new homes and 35.9 hectares of employment land. This 

is to be delivered in accordance with the spatial strategy which seeks 

to strengthen the heart of South Oxfordshire. The broad locations and 

trajectory for this development is identifi ed in policies H1 and EMP1.

The appropriate level of new housing and employment will be 

monitored and a review undertaken fi ve years following the adoption 

of the Local Plan and periodically thereafter, taking into account the 

most up-to-date evidence available at that time.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2 & 3.

Wider Housing Market Area
 

4.26 Oxford City Council has identifi ed that it will have diffi culty in meeting its own 

identifi ed housing needs and the City Council have asked the other Oxfordshire 

authorities to assist in the provision of housing. South Oxfordshire District 

Council has worked closely with all the authorities in Oxfordshire under the 

Duty to Cooperate to identify the scale of unmet need and how Oxford City’s 

housing requirement should be distributed across the county. 

4.27 The preparation of the Oxford City Local Plan is at a relatively early stage and 

adoption is not anticipated until 2019. At this point in time, it is not possible 

to accurately identify the precise extent of Oxford City’s unmet need. The 

SHMA recommends a range of 24,000 – 32,000 new homes for Oxford city. 

There exists a working assumption of the unmet housing need for the city of 

15,000 new homes. This is to be shared between the remaining four districts.

4.28 The South Oxfordshire Local Plan makes provision for additional homes to 

help meet Oxford City’s needs.  This provision will be added to our own 

needs and be met in a way that supports our spatial strategy.  The housing 

and employment chapters provide further detail about when and where 

development will occur.  

Through 
the South 

Oxfordshire 
Local Plan it is 

proposed to 
make provision 

for additional 
homes to help 

meet Oxford 
City’s needs

Page 60

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

33

4.29 We will continue to work with the other districts in the Housing Market Area 

to support and plan for unmet housing needs and other strategic matters, 

recognising the different stages of plan making which have been reached.

4.30 It is recognised that there is signifi cant uncertainty regarding the precise level of 

unmet need which Oxford City may fi nd on the conclusion and adoption of their 

own Local Plan. We will review our Local Plan once Oxford City have adopted their 

plan to address their examined unmet need and ensure that our plan responds 

positively to this. We consider that this is the most appropriate and responsible 

manner in which to plan for additional homes until the full extent is known. 

Policy STRAT3 The unmet housing requirements from 
Oxford City

During the plan period, provision will be made to help meet part of 

Oxford City’s unmet housing need for around 3,750 new homes. This is 

to be delivered in accordance with the spatial strategy which seeks to 

strengthen the heart of South Oxfordshire and is not identifi ed at any 

one site or location. 

The appropriate level of unmet housing need for Oxford City will be 

monitored and a partial review of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 

undertaken on adoption of the Local Plan for Oxford City, taking into 

account the most up-to-date evidence available at that time.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1 & 2.

Didcot and Science Vale 
4.31 Science Vale is already an international location for science and technology. 

From this strong starting point, we need to capitalise on Science Vale’s 

opportunity to provide an even better environment for business to fl ourish. 

Science Vale is one of the most successful science clusters in the UK. This 

activity is concentrated around the three centres for science at Harwell 

Campus, Culham Science Centre and Milton Park, but is supported by a 

number of important settlements. Didcot is at the heart of Science Vale – it 

makes the fi rst and leaves the last impression on anyone travelling to Science 

Vale from elsewhere in the UK or from across the globe and it provides the 

ideal opportunity to act both as a gateway and a hub.

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



34

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

4.32 Our vision for Science Vale in 2033 is grounded in continuing this story of economic 

success and channelling this prosperity into improved social and environmental 

wellbeing: the area will consist of thriving communities that have benefited from 

sustainable growth and the successful delivery of major infrastructure.

4.33 One of the priorities for Science Vale is to provide an environment in which 

science led business can flourish. Part of this is ensuring that we have an 

attractive and diverse housing offer, set in an area with good transport and 

communications networks, links to university research, “big science’, the 

space sector and cutting edge technology. Clustering development in one 

area gives a critical mass of economic, social and cultural activity to support 

the delivery of infrastructure and sustain vibrant town centres. Although some 

of the land is in the Oxford Green Belt and some in the North Wessex Downs 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, overall Science Vale is less constrained for 

planning purposes than much of South Oxfordshire. It also has well established 

road and rail networks, which are already the subject of investment and 

improvement.

4.34 Didcot is the gateway to Science Vale. It connects Science Vale with the rest 

of the UK through direct train services to Oxford, London, and Bristol. Yet 

the economic and social links between Didcot and the rest of Science Vale 

remain weak. An important part of our strategy for Science Vale is to improve 

and strengthen its relationship with Didcot, and realise Didcot’s full potential 

as a thriving and attractive location to live, work and visit. We will do this by 

providing the homes, jobs, skills, and infrastructure needed to turn Didcot into 

a successful and sustainable town in its own right, and a vital part of a thriving 

Science Vale. 

The Strategy for Science Vale

4.35 Our strategic approach for Science Vale: 

•	 Excellent design embedded in development throughout Science Vale 

•	 Protection for the distinctive character and heritage of Science Vale’s 

market towns, villages and countryside 

•	 A range of new homes, to balance the new jobs 

•	 Opportunities for people to build their own homes in appropriate locations 

•	 Didcot transformed into a well serviced and well connected high quality 

urban hub, including new social infrastructure (such as schools and 

medical facilities and a new leisure centre) to support the growing 

population

•	 A “step change” in travel choices away from car travel towards public 

transport, cycling and walking with Didcot at the heart of a fully 

Page 62

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

35

connected Science Vale

•	 Didcot’s role as a major rail interchange strengthened, including aspirations 

for rail services direct from Grove and Wantage  

•	 New innovative housing to be provided linked to the existing Culham 

Science Centre

•	 Culham railway station to be improved and transformed into a focal point 

for the new community

•	 A cycle strategy for Science Vale that enables people to reliably travel 

between their homes and their jobs by means other than the private car 

linking Didcot with the key employment centres at Culham Science Centre, 

Milton Park, and Harwell

•	 Improved access onto the A34

•	 Aspirations for Superfast Broadband across all of Science Vale by 2033.

Didcot Garden Town 

4.36 In December 2015, the Government announced that Didcot would become 

a Garden Town delivering 15,050 homes and 20,000 high-tech jobs in the 

greater Didcot area. Garden Towns are locally-led and ambitious proposals for 

new communities that work as self-sustaining places and should have high 

quality and good design embedded from the outset4. 

 

4.37 The designation of Didcot as a Garden Town is an exciting opportunity. Both 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils are working closely 

together and in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and other key 

stakeholders to develop a joined up vision and delivery strategy for the area. 

 

4.38 It is important the area realises its potential as a thriving and attractive location 

to live, work and visit and in particular to provide a high quality service 

centre at the heart of Science Vale. This will allow Science Vale’s international 

reputation for science and technology to support continued and accelerated 

growth of businesses in these sectors. 

4 DCLG 2016. Locally-led 

Garden Villages, Towns and 

Cities.

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



36

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

4.39 The Garden Town initiative will help to shape growth already identifi ed through 

the Local Plan for housing, employment and infrastructure. 

4.40 To support the successful implementation of the Garden Town initiative, six 

high level principles have been developed to help shape development proposals 

that come forward. Proposals for development within the Garden Town 

Masterplan Area will be expected to demonstrate how they comply with these 

principles in accordance with policy STRAT4.

STRAT4: Didcot Garden Town

Proposals for development within the Didcot Garden Town Masterplan 

Area will be expected to demonstrate how they positively contribute 

to the achievement of the Didcot Garden Town Principles as set out in 

Appendix 6. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objective 1,2,3,4,5,6, 7 & 8.

4.41 More detailed planning policy, including a masterplan, is currently being 

developed for the Didcot Garden Town area in line with the Garden Town 

Principles set out here. Garden Town policy will support the long-term 

achievement of the sustainable Garden Town vision and principles through: 

engaging with local people and businesses; forming part of a strategic and 

integrated investment plan; maximising social and environmental opportunities; 

and supporting long-term sustainability goals.

4.42 Additional planning policy for the Garden Town will complement and support 

the Local Plan. Garden Town policy is likely to come forward as an additional 

planning document for the Garden Town Area: possibly as a Development 

Planning Document (such as an Area Action Plan) or as a Supplementary 

Page 64

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

37

Planning Document. Because Didcot spans both the Vale of White Horse and 

South Oxfordshire District Council areas, the Garden Town planning policy 

document will be developed in joint working and adopted by both Councils.

Strengthening the Heart of the 
District

STRAT5 Strategic Development

New development will be provided within Strategic Allocations in order 

to deliver the scale and distribution of development set out in Policies 

STRAT1, STRAT2, STRAT3 and STRAT4.

 

Development proposals should enable a comprehensive scheme to be 

delivered across the developable area within each Strategic Allocation. 

Developers must ensure that the sites provide an appropriate scale and 

mix of uses, in suitable locations, to create sustainable developments 

that support and complement the role of existing settlements and 

communities. 

Proposals must be accompanied by a comprehensive masterplan for 

the entire Strategic Allocation. This should demonstrate how new 

development will integrate with and complement its surroundings in 

an appropriate manner.

Proposals must ensure that relevant supporting infrastructure is 

provided. Developers must engage with relevant infrastructure providers 

to ensure the implementation of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Proposals to deliver strategic development need to be supported by:

i) A visual impact assessment

ii) A Health Impact Assessment

iii) A Transport Assessment

iv) An Air Quality Assessment

v) An arboriculture survey 

vi) A Heritage Impact Assessment

vii) An archaeological assessment to include a written scheme

Page 65

Agenda Item 6



38

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Each development will be expected to provide:

viii) A scheme of an appropriate scale, layout and form which respects 

the surrounding character and setting

ix) High quality public transport facilities and connections within 

and adjacent the site

x) Appropriate vehicular, cycle and pedestrian access including safe 

and attractive connections with nearby communities

xi) Investigation and mitigation by the developer of any former land 

uses on the site which may give rise to contamination

xii) A Noise Assessment including noise during construction and 

noise insulation of development

xiii) A Landscape Management Plan to provide appropriate 

landscaping and an integrated network of green infrastructure

xiv) An Ecological and Landscape Management Plan to be provided to 

manage habitats onsite

xv) An integrated water management plan

This policy will also be used to determine proposals for large scale 

major development.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Land at Culham Science Centre
4.43 Culham Science Centre (CSC) is owned by the United Kingdom Atomic Energy 

Authority (UKAEA) and is located within ‘Science Vale’. The site hosts the Culham 

Centre for Fusion Energy which includes the Joint European Torus (JET) project. It 

is the leading UK centre for fusion research and technology and is of international 

importance. The site also hosts a number of related businesses. The UKAEA aims 

to redevelop the CSC buildings within the next fi ve years as the current stock is 

outdated. Although the European fusion project (ITER) is being moved to France, 

the JET facility will continue to operate for some time and it is possible that 

Culham may be selected for further facilities linked to fusion research.

4.44 We recognise the key role of the CSC site and support and encourage its 

redevelopment. The site is proposed to be inset from the Green Belt. The 

Council will work with the owners of the site to agree a masterplan that will 

consider the future of the whole site. This approach to Culham is consistent 

with the objective to increase the number of high quality jobs in the District. 

 
Page 66

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

39

4.45 We will continue to support the redevelopment and intensification of the 

Culham Science Centre for research and science based business. At the 

adjacent “No. 1 site” we will plan for a mixed use development including the 

retention of employment land but with improved premises. On land to the 

west of the railway there is an opportunity to provide significant development 

in a sustainable location. We propose development here that will have access 

to employment opportunities and public transport at the railway station. We 

envisage a community at the heart of Science Vale that can make the most 

of advancing technologies such as clean heat and power generation and 

autonomous vehicles. This development will include a variety of services and 

facilities to support a new community including schools and health care and 

will help enable the Council to realise its ambitions to deliver much needed 

road infrastructure in the area.         

4.46 We propose to inset Culham Science Centre and land adjacent to it from the 

Green Belt. The site is at the outer edge of the Green Belt. This location is also 

at a distance from the special historic setting of the City of Oxford and does 

not make a significant contribution towards the purposes of including land in 

the Green Belt to check the unrestricted sprawl of Oxford City. The exceptional 

circumstances justifying a review of the Green Belt in this area because:

•	 The Science Centre and the No.1 site were previously identified as “major 

development sites in the Green Belt” and there is significant development 

on the two sites and the land surrounding them is suburban in nature

•	 The additional land provides an opportunity to deliver housing adjacent to 

one of the major employers in southern Oxfordshire

•	 Development here would make the most of a sustainable transport 

opportunity at the railway station

•	 Development in this location is at the heart of Science Vale and support 

the delivery of significant strategic infrastructure 

•	 The definable boundaries avoid coalescence with other settlements.

4.47 We support delivery of a new Thames road crossing between Culham and 

Didcot Garden Town, as identified in Policy TRANS 1. This crossing has strategic 

transport benefits and is required to support development proposed in the 

emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan, as well as development allocated in the 

Vale Local Plan Part 1, and development proposed in the emerging Vale Local 

Plan Part 2. It is also part of a package of transport infrastructure in this area as 

identified in the Science Vale Area Transport Strategy in the Oxfordshire Local 

Plan, which includes the Clifton Hampden Bypass and the Didcot Northern 

Perimeter Road. We recognise that the timing of delivery of this infrastructure 

linked to proposed new development is complex, particularly given that 

funding for this package is expected to come from a variety of sources 

Page 67

Agenda Item 6



40

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

including developer funding, Garden Town and other government funds not 

yet confi rmed. We also recognise that there is a signifi cant amount of further 

more detailed transport modelling and transport assessment work to support 

development and delivery of these schemes, including the Culham Crossing. 

This work, including development of a more detailed Micro-simulation 

transport model for Didcot Garden Town, is being progressed and funded in 

partnership with the County Council and Vale of White Horse, and will give 

an understanding in more detail of the impact and phasing of homes and jobs 

in the area linked to required infrastructure. This evidence will used alongside 

other evidence, including the outputs of Transport Assessments from proposed 

new development, to inform any limitations on the level of homes at the site 

linked to infrastructure funding to be set down at planning application stage. 

STRAT6 - Culham Science Centre 

Green Belt inset area: 73 hectares Developable area: 73 hectares

Proposals for the redevelopment and intensifi cation of the Culham 

Science Centre will be supported where this does not have an 

unacceptable visual impact, particularly on the openness of the 

surrounding Green Belt and the Registered Parkland associated with 

Nuneham House.

In combination with the adjacent strategic development site (policy 

STRAT7) this site will deliver at least a net increase in employment land 

of 7.3 hectares (with the existing 10 hectares of the No.1 site retained 

but redistributed across the two sites).  The exact siting and phasing 

of the employment development will be agreed through the master 

planning and planning application process.

Opportunities that support job growth and appropriate diversifi cation 

or enterprise “clustering” will be explored to complement the wider 

development proposed in the area. In order to deliver any potential 

proposal, we will work proactively with the UK Atomic energy 

Authority and development partners to create an agreed masterplan 

that facilitates this growth.

The Culham Science Centre is proposed to be removed from the Green 

Belt and inset as shown in the Green Belt Inset Plan (Appendix 4) to 

enable this development to be brought forward. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1 & 3.

Page 68

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

41

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre

Green Belt inset area: 242 hectares Developable area: 189 hectares

Land within the developable area identifi ed adjacent to Culham 

Science Centre, will be developed to deliver approximately 3,500 new 

homes, a net increase of employment land in combination with the 

adjacent Science Centre, up to 4 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and 

supporting services and facilities.

The strategic allocation will be expected to deliver:

i)  A signifi cant contribution towards the delivery of the new Didcot 

to Culham river crossing and the Clifton Hampden by-pass 

ii)  In combination with the adjacent Science Centre a net increase of 

employment land of 7.3 hectares (with the existing 10 hectares of 

the No.1 site retained but redistributed across the two sites).  The 

exact siting and phasing of the employment development will be 

agreed through the planning application process

iii)  Provide 2000m2 of convenience retail fl oorspace (food) and 

1700m2 of comparison retail fl oorspace (non-food)

iv)  A layout and form that respects the setting of the heritage assets 

within and beyond the site; in particular the Listed Buildings 

& structures (the Culham railway station and rail bridges and 

“Schola Europaea”) and the Registered Parkland associated with 

Nuneham House

v)  An integrated network of green infrastructure that links locally 

important wildlife and biodiverse sites

vi)  Appropriate landscaping throughout the site and in particular 

along the boundaries of the strategic allocation which allow 

limited through views, that preserve and enhance the surrounding 

Green Belt and the River Thames long distance footpath

vii)  Where feasible, opportunities for district heating and low carbon 

on site energy generation

The number and phasing of homes to be permitted at Culham and 

the timing of housing delivery linked to the planned infrastructure 

will need to be informed by further evidence.  This will include the 

requirements of Policy TRANS4. This will be set down (and potentially 

conditioned) through the planning application process, in consultation 

with the Highway Authority. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 5 & 6.

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



42

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Land at Berinsfield
4.48 The village of Berinsfield is currently ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt. We 

propose to inset the built up area of the village and an area of greenfield land 

to the east of the village from the Green Belt.  

4.49 We consider that delivering both growth and regeneration together at 

Berinsfield promotes a sustainable pattern of development that cannot be 

achieved by developing elsewhere in the District.

4.50 In April 2016, the Council confirmed its Community Investment Scheme for 

Berinsfield. This initiative identified the challenges that the village is currently 

facing and set out a range of objectives intended to address these challenges. 

In particular, it recognised that the village is currently home to a number of 

community facilities that are of real importance to local residents. However, the 

long-term sustainability of many of these facilities is not assured and, without 

significant investment, could be lost from the village. This would have adverse 

effects on a population which is already affected by relatively high levels of 

deprivation compared to the rest of the District.

4.51 Given this, the exceptional circumstances for releasing land from the Green Belt 

at Berinsfield are as follows:

•	 Areas of and community facilities within Berinsfield need regeneration and 

the current Green Belt policy is inhibiting this

•	 The mix of housing in Berinsfield is more unbalanced than in other parts 

of the District. Releasing land for development could help to rebalance the 

mix as well as  provide further opportunities for employment and service 

provision

•	 Berinsfield is a local service centre and some further development would 

be consistent with the overall spatial strategy of this Plan

•	 The location is also at a distance from the special historic setting of the 

city of Oxford and does not make a significant contribution toward the 

purposes of including land in the Green Belt to check the unrestricted 

sprawl of Oxford city.

4.52 We consider that delivering both growth and regeneration together at 

Berinsfield promotes a sustainable pattern of development and will help to 

address the key issues currently facing the village. Ultimately, development at 

Berinsfield should deliver the necessary and specific benefits that cannot be 

achieved by developing elsewhere in the District.

A number of 
studies have 

been undertaken 
by the Council 
which indicate 

that Berinsfield 
would benefit 

from investment 
and regeneration

Page 70

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

43

STRAT8 – Land at Berinsfi eld

Land within the developable area identifi ed at Berinsfi eld, will 

be developed to provide up to 1,700 new homes, 5 hectares of 

employment land and supporting services and facilities. The new 

homes should demonstrably support the regeneration of Berinsfi eld 

and the delivery of the necessary social infrastructure. 

Proposals to develop land at Berinsfi eld will be expected to:

i) Deliver a scheme in accordance with an agreed comprehensive 

masterplan and strategy for the regeneration of Berinsfi eld

ii) Meet the entire cost of the necessary regeneration package, 

including social, environmental, recreation, housing and public 

services infrastructure

iii) Have no greater land-take than is necessary to deliver the required 

regeneration.  Any part of the developable area that is not 

required for housing or related infrastructure should provide green 

infrastructure including planting to contain the settlement edge

iv) Provide an integrated network of green infrastructure

v) Provide appropriate landscaping throughout the site and in 

particular along the boundaries of the developable area to 

contain and redefi ne the settlement edge; and 

vi) Provide high quality public transport facilities and connections 

within the village and to and from the surrounding area

vii) Provide 2500m2 of retail fl oorspace comprising 1200m2  of comparison 

goods (non-food) and 1300m2  of convenience goods (food)

Planning permission will only be granted where all the items set out at 

points (i) to (vi) above are secured.  To meet the requirements of point 

(ii), any proposal must provide at least the following:

• New premises for Berinsfi eld Children’s Centre

• New and expanded premises for Abbey Woods Academy

• New premises for the Adult Learning Centre

• New and expanded premises for a health centre

• New premises for the Abbey Sports Centre, including a replacement 

swimming pool of regulation length and a four-court sports hall

• A ‘Community Hub’ building – a fl exible community space that 

enables the co-location of a range of different users and groups

• Improvements to existing open spaces and the provision of new 

open spaces to meet the needs of new resident population

• An appropriate mix of housing tenures and sizes

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



44

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Land at Berinsfi eld is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt and 

inset as a settlement as shown on the policies map only and specifi cally 

to enable this development to be brought forward. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 5 & 6.

4.53 The expansion of Berinsfi eld is considered acceptable only if it will lead directly 

to the implementation of the masterplan for the regeneration of the village 

and the funding of the entire cost of the regeneration package identifi ed by 

the Council through the Community Investment Scheme. The regeneration of 

Berinsfi eld has strong community support and this policy seeks to achieve a 

unique solution which could not otherwise be realised. 

4.54 A number of studies have been undertaken by the Council which indicate that 

Berinsfi eld requires investment and regeneration. This is to be supported by 

further work commissioned by the Council to explore detailed solutions for 

the regeneration of Berinsfi eld in accordance with this policy. This further work 

will identify the form that development should take in order to deliver the 

regeneration package identifi ed.

4.55 The South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (Adopted 2012) explained the Exceptional 

Circumstances warranting a review of the Green Belt boundary at Berinsfi eld. 

These were supported by the Inspector at its examination. In line with the 

Exceptional Circumstances warranting the review, the examining Inspector 

considered that the review of the Green Belt boundary at Berinsfi eld should not 

be confi ned to drawing a tight boundary around the built up area. 

4.56 The proposed release of Green Belt land follows a study that undertook a 

detailed assessment of the settlement edge of Berinsfi eld in order to identify 

land that does not meet the fi ve purposes of the Green Belt set out in 

paragraph 80 of the NPPF.  The study identifi ed land to the east of Berinsfi eld 

as a potential area to be inset along with the existing built-up area of the 

village. However, it recognised that substantial planting would be required 

to the north, south and east of the land inset to contain and redefi ne the 

settlement edge. 

4.57 The area to be released from the Green Belt at Berinsfi eld allows for clear 

and recognisable Green Belt boundaries to be provided and would be 

suffi cient in size to accommodate up to 1,700 new homes to be delivered. It 

is acknowledged that not all of this land will be required for development and 

Page 72

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

45

the on-going work being undertaken by the Council’s consultants will identify 

the particular constraints and areas where development would, and would 

not, be appropriately located. Any part of the developable area not required 

for development as part of the Berinsfield Community Investment Scheme will 

provide green infrastructure, including planting to contain and redefine the 

settlement edge. 

4.58 Given that the existing village of Berinsfield will be inset from the Green Belt 

we also propose to allocate the important open space within the centre of the 

village as Local Green Space.

 

4.59 New premises for the Children’s Centre 

 The existing Children’s Centre provides a valuable local service to Berinsfield 

parents by bringing together a range of services such as family support, 

healthcare and education in order to give children the best start in life. 

Children’s Centres also tend to provide childcare, information and support 

across the local community. The local community has shown a strong desire 

to retain this service in Berinsfield by working with us, the Employment Action 

Group (EAG), and local businesses to prepare a business plan which enables 

the Centre to operate from its current site for the next five years. However, its 

long-term future remains uncertain. It is envisaged that new premises for the 

Children’s Centre could be based within the new community hub for the village 

– co-located with other facilities and services. This would support the Centre’s 

longer-term viability, which is considered important to achieving our objectives 

for Berinsfield, given the need to tackle higher levels of deprivation and lower 

levels of educational achievement.

4.60 New and expanded premises for Abbey Woods Academy

 Abbey Woods Academy currently operates from premises that are not 

considered to be fit for purpose. The physical condition of the building is poor 

and deteriorating and significant investment is required to meet basic statutory 

standards.  Furthermore, the school’s layout is inefficient and does not meet 

the school’s operational needs. At present, Key Stages 1 and 2 are split and 

the presence of the Adult Learning Centre within the school boundary means 

that safeguarding arrangements can be compromised. The level of spending 

required to improve the quality of the current offer means renovation is not 

a cost effective option and new buildings would be a more effective use of 

money. New premises would also allow the layout deficiencies to be addressed. 

Improving educational attainment is a key objective for Berinsfield and 

given the limitations of the existing school buildings this cannot be properly 

addressed without new premises.

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



46

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

4.61 New premises for Berinsfield Adult Learning Centre

 The current location of the Berinsfield Adult Learning Centre means it cannot 

operate to its full potential. Its position within the grounds of the primary 

school creates safeguarding issues for the school and limits visibility of the 

centre from the road meaning that it cannot provide the welcoming and 

informal ‘front door’ it would like in order to attract users. The College is keen 

to broaden its offer and presence in the village and would benefit from new 

premises to facilitate this. The College would suit being co-located with other 

services and facilities and, therefore, the community hub proposed as part of 

any regeneration proposals for Berinsfield must take account of the needs of 

the College. Improving educational attainment across all ages is a key objective 

for Berinsfield and enabling the Adult Learning Centre to improve the quality 

and quantity of its offer will not only contribute to educational attainment 

but could also improve residents’ potential to access higher value employment 

opportunities.

4.62 New premises for the health centre

 The existing four-GP surgery at Fane Drive is considered by the Oxfordshire 

Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) to be too small to be sustainable in 

the long term.  The model of healthcare provision is moving toward larger 

practices and a surgery with a minimum of six to eight GPs is necessary if it is 

to be sustainable. Recruitment of GPs for practices smaller than this is difficult. 

Also the current premises are unable to offer the standard of accommodation 

required for other ancillary healthcare services such as physiotherapy, podiatry 

and audiology. 

 

4.63 In addition to this, patient numbers at the Centre are expected to increase over 

the coming years due to population growth in the wider area and the expected 

closure of other practices. 

4.64 OCCG is keen for a healthcare presence to remain in Berinsfield but for the 

reasons above, require new premises that can accommodate between six to 

eight GPs. A new and expanded healthcare facility would help to secure the 

long-term future of healthcare provision in the village, help meet the needs of 

the growing elderly population, and directly meet the objective of improving 

the quality and sustainability of community facilities.

4.65 New premises for the leisure centre

 The Abbey Sports Centre is coming to the end of its operational life and 

will require significant investment in the short term to bring it up to modern 

standards. The Centre currently operates at a loss – figures show it is only 

being used at around a third of its potential capacity – and is subsidised 

by SODC to ensure it remains open. Any new provision should meet Sport 

Page 74

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

47

England design guidance standards and provide at least the same range of 

facilities as is currently available with improved quality. Therefore, provision 

should look to include: a 25 metre swimming pool with a minimum of 4 

lanes and a moveable floor, making it suitable for all community groups and 

for competitions; studio space for exercise classes; a gym; and a four-court 

sports hall. There may also be opportunities to provide a commercial use such 

as a café within the Centre and/or for the Centre to be co-located with other 

services such as the library, health centre and flexible community space. This 

facility would support the objective to improve the quality and sustainability of 

the social infrastructure offer in the village.

4.66 Community hub

 Berinsfield is currently home to a range of community facilities which provide 

a base for numerous community groups and services. As with other social 

infrastructure in the village, a number of these facilities are coming to the end 

of their operational lives and do not meet modern building standards. This can 

limit the services they are able to provide and makes their future uncertain. 

There is a desire to consolidate these facilities at a single site to better secure 

their long-term sustainability and financial viability. A community hub building 

which includes flexible space in order to meet the needs of a range of different 

groups and organisations would help to achieve this.

4.67 Proposals for the expansion of Berinsfield should include a community hub 

building that responds to the requirements of different groups – in particular 

Employment Action Group (EAG), the Children’s Centre, Berinsfield Adult 

Learning Centre, Berinsfield Library, social club, Berinsfield Information and 

Volunteer Centre (BIVC), and youth club.  This would contribute to the 

objective to improve the quality and sustainability of social infrastructure in the 

village.

Land at Chalgrove Airfield
4.68 Chalgrove Airfield is a former Second World War airfield located directly north 

of the village of Chalgrove, north east of the B480, approximately 11 miles to 

the east of central Oxford and approximately 5 miles south of junction 7 of the 

M40 motorway. 

4.69 The airfield opened in 1943 and was closed in July 1946 when it was leased 

to the Martin-Baker company for development and testing of aircraft ejection 

seats. The site contains three runways and a perimeter track surrounded by 

security fencing, with managed grass across the rest of the site. Buildings 

including the war-time T-2 hangers are located to the east of the site. The 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



48

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

site is currently used by Martin-Baker Ltd. Chalgrove Airfi eld has a CAA 

Ordinary Licence (Number P683) that allows fl ights for the public transport of 

passengers or for fl ying instruction as authorised by the licensee (Martin-Baker 

(Engineering) Limited). The site of the Monument Industrial Estate site to the 

southeast of the airfi eld was once part of the airfi eld.

4.70 The airfi eld is fl at and largely free from constraints. The runway elements of the 

site constitute “previously developed land”. There are no known archaeological 

or ecological constraints. “Chalgrove Field 1643”, a registered historic 

battlefi eld, is located adjacent to the site to the east. The Martin Baker facility 

is located on part of this historic battlefi eld.

4.71 The site is located outside fl ood zones 2 and 3, the AONB and the Green Belt. 

The site is centrally placed in South Oxfordshire.

STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfi eld 

Whole site:  255 hectares Developable area: 107 hectares

Land within the developable area identifi ed at Chalgrove Airfi eld, will 

be developed to deliver approximately 3,000 new homes, 5 hectares 

of employment land, up to 4 plots for travelling showpeople and 

supporting services and facilities.

The strategic allocation will be expected to deliver;

i)  A layout and form that respects the setting of the Listed Buildings 

(particularly Rofford Hall and Rofford Manor) and the Registered 

Battlefi eld (Battle of Chalgrove 1643) beyond the site,

ii)  A scheme that delivers specifi c mitigation and management of 

surface water and runoff, 

iii)  Cycling and walking links through the site and to adjacent 

employment and into the village of Chalgrove

iv)  2000m2  of convenience retail fl oorspace (food) Provide 1700m2 of 

comparison retail fl oorspace (non-food)

v)  Appropriate landscaping and an integrated network of green 

infrastructure

vi)  Where feasible, opportunities for district heating and low carbon 

on site energy generation

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 76

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

49

Land at Wheatley Campus
4.72 Oxford Brookes University are in the process of a refurbishment project at 

their Headington Campus in Oxford City. As part of this refurbishment, Oxford 

Brookes University intends to relocate the existing uses at the Wheatley 

Campus to the Headington Campus which would leave a vacant previously 

developed site in the Green Belt. The surrounding uses are predominantly 

residential and there is some scope to develop part of the site for residential 

development.

 Additional housing here could help sustain the current bus service provision 

on the A40/Oxford corridor and other village facilities. The A40 is a potential 

barrier to movement by sustainable modes; there will be a need for good cycle 

and walking links to the village centre and primary school to encourage travel 

by active and healthy travel modes

4.73 The existing village and built form of Wheatley is largely inset within the Green 

Belt. Wheatley Campus is entirely within the Green Belt, but notwithstanding 

this we recognise that:

•	 The Wheatley Campus site is a partially developed site in the Green Belt

•	 The existing use is relocating to an alternative location in Oxford City and 

the site will become redundant within the plan period

•	 The redevelopment of the site will provide residential development and 

help meet the housing needs identified

•	 There is an opportunity to plan positively for its future use.

 

4.74 The principle of redeveloping previously developed sites is set out in national 

policy. Proposals for redevelopment should not have a greater impact on the 

openness of the Green Belt than the existing development.

4.75 Land to the west of the site performs an important function in terms of 

providing a buffer between an existing Scheduled Monument and built form. 

Beyond the site is a Listed Building, which has views across the undeveloped 

land at the Wheatley Campus.

4.76 At least 300 new homes are expected to be delivered at this location, which 

largely reflects the existing pattern of built development. The existing built 

form provides a significant level of footprint and volume which can be taken 

into account in the determination of any planning application.

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



50

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

4.77 The redevelopment of this site must be supported by a Visual Impact 

Assessment which demonstrates that the proposals have no greater impact 

than the existing development on the openness of the Green Belt and the 

purposes of including land within it, and where possible, have less impact. 

We recognise that, replacement buildings may be desired elsewhere on a 

site. Sometimes this can have a greater or lesser impact on the perception 

of openness, dependent on their location. In these cases we will assess the 

existing site and the impact of any existing building. If the new position would 

not be in keeping with its surroundings, would be less in keeping or would 

have a greater impact upon the openness of the Green Belt, the proposal is less 

likely to be acceptable. However, if it is considered to have less impact upon 

openness, this is likely to weigh in favour of the application.

4.78 A large part of the wider site is subject to existing constraints associated with 

the listed building and Scheduled Monument and its proximity to Registered 

Parks and Gardens. 

4.79 The existing level of playing fi eld provision should be retained and a wider 

community use should be explored through any planning application. An 

equivalent quantum of sports provision should be incorporated within any 

proposal. 

4.80 The noise assessment required to support this proposal must pay careful 

attention to the relationship of the site to the A40 and the impact of noise to 

the southern area of the site and appropriate mitigation must be incorporated 

within the proposal. 

STRAT10 – Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes 
University

Site area: 22 hectares      Existing development footprint: 12 hectares

Land at Wheatley Campus, will be developed to deliver approximately 

300 new homes. Proposals to develop land at Wheatley Campus will be 

expected to deliver:

i)  A scheme of an appropriate scale and layout in a form that 

respects the listed buildings and structures (in particular of Holton 

Park) and their setting

ii)  A layout and form which provides an appropriate buffer to 

protect the Scheduled Monuments (in particular the Moated site 

Page 78

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

51

of Holton House and its associated ice house adjacent to the site 

and Moated site 580m south west of Church Farm)

iii)  The retention of the quantum of existing sports pitches in the 

north west of the site

iv)  Appropriate landscaping, including buffers along the A40

v)  Any necessary additional school capacity arising from the proposal

vi)  Cycling and walking links to the centres of Holton and Wheatley 

and primary school

vii)  Pedestrian and vehicular access to the east, with at least 

emergency and pedestrian access to the west of the site

viii)  A comprehensive survey of above and below ground archaeology 

and the listed buildings to determine the extent and signifi cance 

of archaeological remains and the signifi cance of the buildings 

and their setting, on and adjacent to the site, to inform and guide 

the development proposals, with appropriate mitigation

ix)  Provide 1200m2 of retail fl oorspace comprising 500m2 of comparison 

goods (non-food) and 700m2 of convenience goods (food)

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Henley-on-Thames
Introduction

4.81 Henley-on-Thames has a population of around 11,600. The town lies in the 

south-east of the district and acts as an important service centre for nearby 

areas in South Oxfordshire and Berkshire. Henley’s shopping centre is the 

largest of our market towns with a good range of shops and services to serve 

local residents and visitors alike. Tourism, based on the town’s riverside setting, 

its legacy of historic buildings and the festivals and events that take place, are 

important to the economy and vitality of Henley.

4.82 Henley’s strengths:

•	 A beautiful market town

•	 Riverside setting with excellent opportunities for enjoying the river Thames

•	 Access to the surrounding Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

•	 A range of shops, cafes, pubs and restaurants

•	 Host of the world renowned Henley Regatta

•	 Venue for numerous festivals and events

•	 A well preserved centre with many historic buildings and features

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



52

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

•	 A range of employment opportunities 

•	 A train station with services to Twyford.

4.83 The joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Development Plan was made 

in April 2016 and sets out planning policies for the town, including housing 

allocations. 

4.84 Specifi c policies relating to housing, employment and retail for Henley are 

covered in chapters 5 (Delivering New Homes), 6 (Employment and Economy) 

and 10 (Town Centres and Retailing) of this Plan.

Policy HEN1 – The Strategy for Henley

We will support development proposals that:

i) Are in accordance with the Joint Henley and Harpsden 

Neighbourhood Development Plan

ii)  Strengthen the retail offer in the town centre

iii)  Enhance the town’s environment and conserve and enhance the 

town’s heritage assets

iv)  Strengthen and improve the attraction of Henley for visitors and 

provide leisure opportunities

vi)  Improve accessibility, car parking in the town centre, and 

pedestrian and cycle links

v) Enhance the town’s environment

vi) Improve the attraction of Henley for visitors

vii) Improve accessibility, car parking, pedestrian and cycle links

viii)  Improve employment opportunities at existing employment sites 

and identify new sites for employment

ix)  Address air quality issues

x) Support Henley College and Gillotts School to meet their 

accommodation needs

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

53

Thame
Introduction

4.85 Thame is an award winning market town, located on the northeast edge of our 

district. It has a population of approximately 11,500 and is an important local 

centre for nearby villages both in Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire. Thame 

has a strong agricultural base with regular cattle markets and farmers markets 

held in the town. A good range of independent shops, pubs and eateries and 

events such as the Thame Food Festival attract visitors to the town.

4.86 Thame’s strengths:

•	 Thriving traditional market town with regular cattle market and farmers 

markets

•	 Finalist in the Great British High Street competition 

•	 Well preserved historic High Street and market place

•	 A calendar of popular events that attract visitors

•	 A range of shops, cafes, pubs and restaurants

•	 Employment opportunities. 

4.87 Thame was one of the fi rst places in the country to have a neighbourhood 

plan, with their plan made in July 2013. 

4.88 Specifi c policies relating to housing, employment and retail for Thame are 

covered in chapters 5 (Delivering New Homes), 6 (Employment and Economy) 

and 10 (Town Centres and Retailing) of this Plan.

Policy TH1 – The Strategy for Thame

We will support development proposals that:

i) Are in accordance with the Thame Neighbourhood Development 

Plan

ii)  Strengthen the retail offer in the town centre

iii) Improve the attraction of Thame for visitors and businesses

iv) Improve accessibility, car parking, pedestrian and cycle links

v) Support schemes that enhance the quality of the town’s 

environment and conserve and enhance the town’s heritage assets

vi)  Provide new employment opportunities and improve the stock of 

existing employment areas

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 81

Agenda Item 6



54

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Wallingford
Introduction

4.89 Wallingford is the smallest market town in the district, with a population 

of around 8,000. Wallingford is an important local service centre for the 

surrounding villages providing retail, education, health, sports and leisure 

facilities. Wallingford has a long and rich history that is reflected in its urban 

form and open spaces. Of particular significance are Wallingford Castle and the 

Castle gardens and meadows.  Wallingford has a good range of independent 

shops, antique shops and eateries. Events such as Bunkfest, the heritage 

railway and as the setting for a number of television programmes attract 

visitors to the town. 

4.90 Wallingford’s strengths:

•	 Riverside setting with excellent opportunities for enjoying the river Thames

•	 Access to the surrounding Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

•	 Well preserved historic features including a compact medieval centre 

•	  Attractive market place that holds regular markets

•	 Wallingford Castle and Meadows 

•	 A good range of facilities in terms of schools, health and recreation

•	 A range of employment opportunities

•	 A number of independent shops and restaurants

•	 A calendar of events that draw visitors including markets, festivals and 

rowing events.

4.91 Wallingford are in the process of preparing a neighbourhood plan that will 

contain planning policies for the town including allocation of sites for housing. 

The neighbourhood plan is likely to be made in 2018.  Like all planning policy 

documents, the neighbourhood plan will gather increasing weight as a material 

consideration, the further it gets through the process. Full weight can be given 

to the plan when it is made. 

4.92 Specific policies relating to housing, employment and retail for Thame are 

covered in chapters 5 (Delivering New Homes), 6 (Employment and Economy) 

and 10 (Town Centres and Retailing) of this Plan.

Page 82

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

55

Policy WAL1 – The Strategy for Wallingford

We will support development proposals that:

i) That have regard to the Wallingford Neighbourhood Development 

Plan appropriate to its stage in the plan making process

ii) Support measures that improve the attraction of Wallingford 

for visitors with emphasis on the River Thames and the towns’ 

heritage

iii)  Support the market place as a focal hub

iv)  Improve accessibility, car parking in the town centre, pedestrian 

and cycle links

v)  Strengthen the retail offer 

vi)  Provide new employment opportunities and improve the stock of 

existing employment areas

vii)  Support schemes that enhance the town’s natural and historic 

environment and conserve and enhance the town’s heritage 

assets

viii) Address air quality issues in the town centre

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

 

4.93 The weight given to the policies in a Neighbourhood Development Plan, 

including the review of a made Neighbourhood Development Plan, will depend 

on how far along it is in the plan making process. The further advanced the 

Plan is, the more weight it will be given.

 

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



56

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 84

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

57

DELIVERING NEW HOMES

5.1 One of our main objectives of this plan is to deliver new homes in places where 

people want to live and that they can afford. In chapter 4 we have set out 

where we think these houses will go in a sustainable and achievable manner. 

This chapter provides details of the houses built so far and provides a forecast 

of future house building in the District. This chapter also contains policy 

direction for neighbourhood development plans and a contingency if they fail 

to deliver, and polices for affordable housing, our preferred tenure mix and 

policies for infilling and extensions. 

Sources of housing supply

5.2 There are a number of sources of housing supply which will ensure housing 

delivery across the plan period, and these include:

•	 Strategic allocations made in this plan

•	 Retained core strategy allocations

•	 Existing planning commitments

•	 Small scale (non-strategic sites) to be identified though Neighbourhood 

Development Plans or identified in this plan

•	 Sites not yet identified that will come forward through the development 

management process in accordance with the policies in this plan, known 

as windfalls.

5.3 The strategic allocations are central to the delivery of the Local Plan and 

to the achievement of our vision and objectives. As set out in our spatial 

strategy chapter we propose three large scale developments and a brown field 

5

57

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



58

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

redevelopment opportunity all with the ambition to help strengthen the heart 

of South Oxfordshire. Together these sites have a potential capacity for around 

8,900 new homes, however, we do not expect these to all be built before 2033 

and therefore we are only counting 8,475 towards the plan target. 

5.4 We have already made provision for around 12,000 new homes through 

allocations in our adopted Core Strategy, commitments in made 

Neighbourhood Development Plans and the granting of planning permissions. 

Some of these 12,000 new homes have been built since 2011.

5.5 The previously allocated sites of the Core Strategy will continue to be safeguard 

until their completion (some of these sites are currently under construction or 

complete, whilst others have yet to start) as below. 

 

 Table 5a: Previously allocated sites 

 Allocation Net number of dwellings

 Great Western Park 2,587

 Ladygrove East 642

 Vauxhall Barracks 300

 North East Didcot  2,030

 Orchard Centre Phase 2  300

 Mongewell Park 166

 Wallingford greenfield neighbourhood  555

 Townlands Hospital, Henley 62

 

5.6 At the time of publication Neighbourhood Development Plans have been 

made at Henley and Harpsden, Thame, Sonning Common and Woodcote. The 

Council continues to support the creation of Neighbourhood Development 

Plans across the District. The made plans allocate new homes as follows:

 Table 5b: Neighbourhood Development Plan allocations  

 Neighbourhood Development Plan Net number of dwellings

 Henley 500

 Thame 775

 Sonning Common  195 (+34)*

 Woodcote  76

 *to include reserve sites

 

5.7 Based on the SHMA evidence, to meet our own housing need we need to plan 

for approximately 5,050 additional new homes over the 2011—2033 period. 

We are also planning to help meet some of Oxford City’s unmet housing need, 

therefore the total we will need to plan for is 8,800 new homes to 2033. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

59

5.8 In total this equates to the provision of 20,800 new homes in the plan period. 

The expected sources of supply of housing is shown below:

 

 Table 5c: Expected sources of housing supply 

 Supply of new homes to come 

 forward 2011-2033 Net number of dwellings

 Completions 2011-2016 2,647

 Commitments as at 31 March 2016 – sites under construction,  9,369

 with planning permission or resolution to grant planning 

 permission and allocations carried forward from the Core Strategy 

 New strategic allocations 8,475*

 New Henley, Thame and Wallingford allocations 1,355

 New allocations in the Larger Villages 1,122

 Sites in the smaller villages (Neighbourhood Development Plans  500

 and infill sites) and windfall sites 

 Total 23,468

 *strategic allocations continue to deliver beyond the plan period. 

5.9 Within South Oxfordshire, new housing will be planned in order to deliver 

the scale and distribution of housing development set out in Chapter 4: Our 

Spatial Strategy. Whilst the overall level of development required to support 

the existing and future needs of South Oxfordshire, and a proportion to assist 

Oxford City’s unmet needs amounts to 20,800 new homes, we are providing 

development to exceed this requirement. This provides additional flexibility to 

enable the management of our housing land supply trajectory going forwards 

and to respond to changing circumstances.

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



60

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy H1 Delivering new homes

Housing development (including general market housing and 

affordable housing – land use class C3 – and accommodation for older 

people – land use class C2 – where need is demonstrated) will be 

permitted at Strategic Allocations and on sites that are allocated by 

Neighbourhood Development Plans. 

The development plan contains a range of site types and sizes that will 

be developed with different time scales and that are dependent on 

different infrastructure. We have developed a detailed development 

trajectory (shown at appendix *X*) that will provide the annual 

delivery targets for this plan period.     

On sites that are not allocated, housing development and conversions 

to housing will be permitted on previously-developed land in and 

adjacent to the existing built-up areas of towns and larger villages. In 

other locations, the potential to develop previously developed land will 

be balanced against other policies of the Development Plan, particularly 

with reference to safe and sustainable access to services and facilities.

Housing development on other sites will only be permitted where: 

i) It is for affordable housing on a rural exception site in accordance 

with Policy H12, or 

ii) It is infi lling within the existing built up areas of towns, larger, 

smaller and other villages as defi ned in the settlement hierarchy 

(shown in appendix 7), or

iii) It is brought forward through a Community Right to Build Order, or

iv) There are other specifi c exceptions/circumstances defi ned in 

a Neighbourhood Development Plans and/or Neighbourhood 

Development Orders, or 

v) It is a proposal involving the sensitive, adaptive re-use of vacant 

or redundant building(s).

Proposals that will bring empty housing back into residential use will 

also be encouraged. 

We will support development which provides for the residential 

needs for all parts of our community, including Gypsies, Travellers, 

Travelling Showpeople and caravan dwellers. Proposals for new 

residential caravan and mobile home sites will be considered in 

accordance with the housing policies of the plan. Permission for single 

Page 88

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

61

residential caravans or mobile homes will only be given in exceptional 

circumstances on a temporary and personal basis.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2,4, 6 & 7.

5.10 Infi ll development is defi ned as the fi lling of a small gap in an otherwise 

continuous built-up frontage or on other sites within settlements where the 

site is closely surrounded by buildings. The scale of infi ll should be appropriate 

to its location and this will be directed, in part, by the settlement hierarchy. The 

following table should be used as guidance: 

 Settlement type Infi ll

 Towns / larger villages No limit

 Smaller Villages Sites of up to 0.2Ha 

  (equivalent to 5-6 homes)

 Other Villages Sites of up to 0.1Ha 

  (equivalent to 2-3 homes)

 All other places not listed No normally acceptable

 

Didcot

Policy H2 – New Housing in Didcot

At Didcot, provision will be made for at least 6,500* new homes 

between 2011 and 2033. This provision will be at the sites listed in 

table 5d.

 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4, 6 & 7.

*Some of the dwellings proposed in policy H2 have already been completed 

since 2011 and some are on sites that have consent (including at outline or with 

a resolution to grant). Policy H2 safeguards sites that were allocated in previous 

development plans and introduces three new allocations.

5.11 The supply of sites to deliver the 6,500 homes is shown below. As outlined 

in policy STRAT4 we expect all development to be delivered following the 

principles of the Garden Town. Some of the sites in the centre of Didcot have 

the potential to deliver at a higher density than shown here – and hence these 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6



62

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

are indicative numbers – but this will be further explored through the work 

currently being undertaken on the delivery of the Garden Town. 

 Table 5d: Provision of homes at Didcot 

 Location  Indicative dwelling capacity

 Safeguarded: Ladygrove East 642 

 Safeguarded: Didcot N E 2030

 Safeguarded: Great Western Park 2587

 Safeguarded: Vauxhall Barracks 300

 Safeguarded: Orchard Centre Phase II 300

 New: Didcot A 270

 New: Gateway  300

 New: Haddon Hill 74

 Total 6,503

Policy H2i – Didcot A

Land at Didcot A is allocated for 270 new homes. Approximately 9.5 

hectares in the District.

 

This site forms part of a larger site which is allocated in the Vale of 

White Horse Plan (Core Policy 16).

Policy H2ii – Didcot Gateway

Land at Didcot Gateway – south of the railway station – is allocated for 

a mixed use scheme including at least 300 new homes. Approximately 4 

hectares.

Outline planning permission exists and we wish to safeguard this use.

Policy H2iii – Hadden Hill (Didcot)

Land at Hadden Hill (Didcot) is allocated for 74 new homes. 

Approximately 2.7 hectares.

Planning permission exists and we wish to safeguard this use.

Page 90

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

63

Market Towns 
5.12 In each of the towns of Henley, Thame and Wallingford we propose the 

provision of an additional 15% growth of housing stock. This level of growth 

has been calculated on the basis of the housing stock existing as at 2011-the 

base date of the Local Plan. In previous consultations, we had considered 10% 

growth, but this was on top of Core Strategy allocations where these existed. 

The market towns have already collectively delivered 5% growth from the start 

of the plan period and we are planning positively for further growth over the 

remainder of the plan period. This will be delivered in accordance with the 

Policy H3. We expect the NDP, or review of the made NDP, for each settlement 

to provide allocations for these new homes. 

5.13 If a Neighbourhood Development Plan does not progress within a specified time 

frame, the Council will, as the local planning authority, allocate sites for housing 

in those towns. To support this, the Council will use the published Strategic Land 

Availability Assessment to identify suitable, available and achievable sites. This 

would be done by working with the local community and parish council.

5.14 This 15% distribution process does not take into account of social, economic 

and environmental factors that may impact upon the ability of settlements to 

accommodate the amount of development that has been calculated. Similarly it 

does not take into account the availability of suitable and deliverable sites which 

may also impact on how much development a settlement may accommodate.

5.15 On the basis of 15% dwelling growth from 2011 and the requirements from the 

Core Strategy the following numbers of houses are expected to be built in the plan 

period. These numbers take into account existing commitments and completions 

and identifies the following remaining levels of development to be allocated.

 Table 5e: Provision of homes at market towns 

 Location  Potential number of dwellings

  remaining to be delivered

 Henley-on-Thames 677

 Thame 452

 Wallingford 226

Page 91

Agenda Item 6



64

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy H3 – Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, 
Thame and Wallingford

A minimum of 1,355 homes will be collectively delivered through 

Neighbourhood Development Plans in the following towns:

• Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Larger Villages
5.16 We propose the provision of 15% growth in the larger villages. This level 

of growth has been calculated on the basis of the housing stock existing as 

at 2011-the base date of the Local Plan. In previous consultations, we had 

considered 10% growth, but this was on top of Core Strategy allocations 

where these existed. The larger villages have already collectively delivered 5% 

growth from the start of the plan period and we are planning positively for 

further growth over the remainder of the plan period. This will ensure that 

these places continue to grow and support the services and facilities that 

sustain them. 

5.17 Development in the larger villages should be proportional, appropriate and 

dependent on existing infrastructure. It is considered that the most appropriate 

mechanism for allowing housing in villages is by preparing a Neighbourhood 

Development Plan and allocating development should be allowed through 

that Neighbourhood Development Plan process. A degree of development in 

the villages will help to support local services and facilities and result in a more 

sustainable distribution of development that would have a more balanced 

impact on infrastructure. 

5.18 It is considered that the most appropriate mechanism for allocating sites for 

new housing in the larger villages is through a Neighbourhood Development 

Plan. This level of growth will support local services and facilities and result 

in a sustainable and balanced distribution of development. We propose that 

where villages are in the process of preparing a Neighbourhood Development 

Plan, the delivery of the houses allocated to these villages should be delivered 

through the Neighbourhood Development Plan. This enables, allowing 

communities to have their say on where development in their area will go. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

65

5.19 If a Neighbourhood Development Plan does not progress within a specified 

time frame, the Council will, as the local planning authority, allocate sites for 

housing in those villages. To support this, the Council will use the published 

Strategic Land Availability Assessment to identify suitable, available and 

achievable sites. This would be done by working with the local community and 

parish council. 

5.20 Where a village already has an adopted Neighbourhood Development Plan 

which does not provide for their level of allocated housing development, this 

will need to be reviewed within the specified timeframe as set out in Policy H5. 

5.21 For those villages not preparing a Neighbourhood Development Plan (Nettlebed 

and Crowmarsh Gifford) the Council will allocate sites in these villages, and will 

continue to work with the local community and parish councils to achieve this. 

5.22 There are currently 12 settlements classed as larger villages in the District. 

These are:

 Table 5f: Larger villages 

 Benson Cholsey Sonning Common   

Berinsfield Crowmarsh Gifford Watlington

 Chalgrove Goring Wheatley

 Chinnor Nettlebed Woodcote

5.23 Nine of these are either in the process of preparing a Neighbourhood 

Development Plan, or already have a “made” plan. Our proposed strategy 

for housing distribution in the larger villages is for each settlement to grow 

proportionally by around 15 percent. 

5.24 There are two larger villages that are not preparing Neighbourhood 

Development Plans where the Council will allocate sites for housing. At 

Berinsfield we are working closely with the community on an investment and 

regeneration scheme. It is expected that the other nine larger villages will 

allocate housing sites through their Neighbourhood Development Plans.

5.25 There are proposed strategic allocations at Berinsfield and Chalgrove and 

Wheatley, and we are not expecting each of these to deliver an additional 15% 

growth over and above what is already outlined at these locations. In addition, 

potential development in Berinsfield and Wheatley is restricted by the Green 

Belt and, at present, making changes to the Green Belt is beyond the remit of 

NDP. However, we do not want to suppress the appetite and hard work of the 

neighbourhood development plan groups in these communities and we will 

continue to support proposals made through robust and evidenced NDP. 

 
Page 93

Agenda Item 6



66

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Neighbourhood Local Plan Expected Expected Expected Expected date Expected Potential

Planning Area 15% growth submission conclusion of conclusion of of referendum Plan made housing 

 (dwellings) plan to LPA consultation examination   allocations

Benson 0 May 2017 June 2017 August 2017 October 2017 October 2017  355

Berinsfield (274)

Chalgrove (236) April 2017 May 2017 July 2017 September 2017 September 2017  200

Chinnor 0 January 2017 March 2017 May 2017 July 2017 July 2017 0

Cholsey 135 June 2017 July 2017 September 2017 November 2017 November 2017 310

Crowmarsh Gifford 134  

Goring-on-Thames 251 May 2017 June 2017 August 2017 October 2017 October 2017 90/105

Nettlebed 60

Sonning Common 169 Made Made Made Made October 2016 (actual) 195

Watlington 238 July 2017 August 2017 October 2017 December 2017 December 2017 200 to 400

Wheatley (205) April 2017 May 2017 July 2017 September 2017 September 2017  0

Woodcote 135 Made Made Made Made May 2014 (actual) 76

Total        1,116 to 1,331

5.26 In Benson and Chinnor a number of planning appeals have been allowed 

therefore meeting the 15% growth requirement. However, both communities 

may wish to consider safeguarding sites that have been given permission to 

benefit from the full weight of their NDP and to provide them with a robust 

baseline for monitoring. 

5.27 This 15% distribution process does not take into account of social, economic 

and environmental factors that may impact upon the ability of settlements to 

accommodate the amount of development that has been calculated. Similarly 

it does not take into account the availability of suitable and deliverable 

sites which may also impact on how much development a settlement may 

accommodate.

5.28  Some villages are constrained by factors such as Green Belt, Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, and flood zones. In these villages a 15% growth 

may not be fully achievable. Other villages are unconstrained and can plan for 

more than 15% growth. The level of growth proposed should be evidenced 

within the Neighbourhood Development Plan with local communities helping 

to shape the development of their village. 

 Table 5g: Provision of homes in larger villages 

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

67

5.29 We would expect the number of houses identifi ed for each Larger Village in 

the ‘Local Plan 15% growth’ column of Table 5g to be built in the plan period. 

There are a number of communities with numbers shown in brackets. Residential 

development has been proposed at these locations in the Strategy Chapter 

of this Local Plan and we do not require that these Larger Villages will deliver 

additional development beyond this. We will support them to allocate further 

development sites should they so wish. These numbers take into account the 

existing commitments and completions and identifi es the following remaining 

levels of development to be allocated at each Larger Village.

Policy H4 – Housing in Larger Villages

A minimum of 1,122 homes will be collectively delivered through 

Neighbourhood Development Plans and Local Plan site allocations at 

the Larger Villages.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Neighbourhood Local Plan Expected Expected Expected Expected date Expected Potential

Planning Area 15% growth submission conclusion of conclusion of of referendum Plan made housing 

 (dwellings) plan to LPA consultation examination   allocations

Benson 0 May 2017 June 2017 August 2017 October 2017 October 2017  355

Berinsfi eld (274)

Chalgrove (236) April 2017 May 2017 July 2017 September 2017 September 2017  200

Chinnor 0 January 2017 March 2017 May 2017 July 2017 July 2017 0

Cholsey 135 June 2017 July 2017 September 2017 November 2017 November 2017 310

Crowmarsh Gifford 134  

Goring-on-Thames 251 May 2017 June 2017 August 2017 October 2017 October 2017 90/105

Nettlebed 60

Sonning Common 169 Made Made Made Made October 2016 (actual) 195

Watlington 238 July 2017 August 2017 October 2017 December 2017 December 2017 200 to 400

Wheatley (205) April 2017 May 2017 July 2017 September 2017 September 2017  0

Woodcote 135 Made Made Made Made May 2014 (actual) 76

Total        1,116 to 1,331

5.30 These villages have active Neighbourhood Development Plan groups and it is 

therefore expected that an appropriate level of housing will be provided for 

through the making of Neighbourhood Development Plans. Policy H4 does not 

include strategic allocations proposed in this Local Plan.

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



68

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Neighbourhood Planning in Larger Villages
 

5.31 Our proposed devolution to Neighbourhood Development Plans an innovative 

approach and we must convince an independent Inspector at the subsequent 

Local Plan examination that this component of the proposed housing supply 

is, in practice, likely to be delivered. We therefore need to have a policy in the 

plan that will operate as a contingency if a Neighbourhood Development Plan 

cannot or will not allocate the required level of housing.

5.32 The clearest mechanism to put in place is one whereby, in such circumstances, 

any planning applications that are submitted for housing in such Neighbourhood 

Development Plan areas will be treated favourably, provided that a range of 

criteria are met.

Housing Allocations at Nettlebed

5.33 Nettlebed, although the smallest of our Larger Villages, forms an important 

part of the network of settlements in the western area of the District along 

the A4130. It has a reasonable range of services including a primary school, 

doctor’s surgery, village hall, convenience shop and garage, post offi ce and 

pub/restaurant. It is also on the bus route with an hourly service being halfway 

between Wallingford and Henley. The village has a small historic core centred 

on the High Street with more modern housing development to the north. 

Nettlebed is entirely within the AONB and much of the land to the north and 

east is common land.

5.34 The community have decided not to prepare a Neighbourhood Development 

Plan and subsequently we are allocating sites on their behalf. 

 

Policy H5 - Land to the west of Priests Close, Nettlebed

Site area: 0.76 hectares

This allocation will be expected to deliver:

i) A residential development of approximately 19 dwellings, 

representing an extension to the existing community

ii) A scheme of an appropriate scale and form including relevant 

landscaping to minimise the impact on the AONB

iii) Appropriate and safe means of access.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

69

5.35 Land to the west of Priests Close is a greenfi eld site on the edge of the village. The 

Landscape Capacity Assessment5 found that development on the land to the west 

of Priest Close had the potential to harm the landscape setting of the village and 

the AONB, as it would expand the settlement into the wider countryside. However, 

the site is not visually prominent and provides a more balanced development 

option in terms of integration with the existing community. The site includes land 

to the north to provide green space behind the existing houses in Priests Close.

Policy H6 – Joyce Grove, Nettlebed

Site area: 10.9 hectares

This allocation will be expected to deliver:

i) A residential development of approximately 20 dwellings within 

the existing listed building and associated buildings

ii) A scheme of an appropriate scale and layout in a form that 

respects the listed building and its setting

iii) Appropriate and safe means of access.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

5.36 Joyce Grove comprises a substantial Grade II listed house and outbuildings 

within a parkland setting. Given this, it would not be suitable for new-

build housing but it is considered that there is the potential to re-use and 

sympathetically convert existing buildings to provide some new homes. The 

site is currently occupied by Sue Ryder and operates as a hospice. It is a highly 

valued facility for southern Oxfordshire. We are aware that the building does 

not currently meets their needs and they have been exploring options to 

relocate. At this point in time an appropriate alternative site has yet to be 

identifi ed and this will be monitored in association with this policy. 

5 Landscape Capacity 

Assessment for sites on the 

Edge of Larger Villages in South 

Oxfordshire (May 2014)

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



70

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Smaller villages

Policy H7 – Housing in Smaller Villages

A minimum of 500 new homes will be delivered in the ‘smaller villages’.  

This will be achieved through Neighbourhood Development Plans 

which allocate sites for at least a 5% increase in dwelling numbers 

above those recorded in the 2011 Census.

In ‘smaller villages’ where there is no Neighbourhood Development 

Plan a 5-10% increase in dwelling numbers, above those recorded in 

the 2011 Census, will be achieved through the development of suitable 

sites and through infi ll development.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2 & 3.

5.37 Smaller villages, as defi ned in the settlement hierarchy (appendix 7), are likely 

to deliver 5%-10% growth, based on the number of dwellings at the 2011 

census, minus completions since 2011 and outstanding commitments. The 

provision of 500 homes should be viewed as a minimum level of growth and 

will be met through small sites of 10 homes or less, and infi ll development, 

and will not be allocated by the local planning authority. The relationship 

between the smaller villages and the larger villages and the District’s towns 

will be important in the pattern and level of development to be delivered. 

Smaller villages will look to the larger villages and towns for a higher level of 

services and facilities and it is this relationship which will help to shape future 

development. 

Other Villages
5.38  It is not generally expected that those settlements classifi ed as “Other Villages” 

will be a signifi cant source of housing supply, However, it is possible that 

some development proposals may come forward over the Plan period in these 

villages, such as single dwellings, infi lling and conversions from other uses. Such 

proposals will be considered against the relevant policies in this Local Plan.

5.39 Some of the other villages may wish to prepare Neighbourhood Development 

Plans and we will support them to bring these forward.

Page 98

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

71

Affordable Housing

Policy H8 – Affordable Housing 

On all sites where there is a net gain of 11 or more residential units* the 

Council will require at least 40% of the residential units to be affordable 

housing, subject to the viability of this provision on each site.

• In cases where the 40% calculation provides a part dwelling 

a fi nancial contribution will be sought equivalent to that part 

residential unit 

• The tenure mix of the affordable housing will be 75% social 

rented and 25% shared ownership by the most up to date housing 

evidence

• With the exception of part dwellings, the affordable housing 

should be provided on site and the affordable housing should be 

mixed with the market housing

• The affordable housing should meet required standards and should 

be of a size and type which meets the requirements of those in 

housing need. 

* Except in the AONB where a net gain of 6 or more residential 

units the Council will require at least 40% of the dwellings to be 

affordable housing. In the AONB provision will be sought as a fi nancial 

contribution with the amount to be the equivalent to the cost of 

providing the affordable dwellings on-site.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4, & 6.

5.40 Affordable housing includes social rented / affordable rented and intermediate 

housing that is available to households in the District whose needs are not met 

by the market. The cost must be low enough for eligible households to afford 

based on local incomes and house prices. The home should be restricted for 

use by future eligible households. If these restrictions are lifted, the subsidy 

should be recycled for alternative affordable housing in the District. 

5.41  The exact amount of affordable housing on each site will be agreed through 

negotiation between developers and South Oxfordshire District Council, and 

policy H11 will be our starting position. The Council’s housing strategy, and 

where relevant local housing needs surveys, will inform these negotiations. We 

Our starting 
position for 
the provision 
of affordable 
housing is 
outlined in 
policy H11 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



72

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

will monitor the delivery of affordable housing through policy H11 and review 

our housing strategy periodically to ensure that our aim to provide a healthy 

mix of houses is fulfi lled.   

Affordable Housing on Exception Sites 

Policy H9 – Exception Sites

In exceptional circumstances, small-scale affordable housing schemes 

may be permitted within or adjoining villages, provided that:

i) It can be demonstrated that all the proposed dwellings meet a 

particular local need that cannot be accommodated in any other 

way 

ii) There are satisfactory arrangements to ensure that the benefi ts of 

the affordable housing can be enjoyed by subsequent as well as 

the initial occupants and that the dwellings remain available for 

local people 

iii) There are no overriding amenity, environmental, design or 

highway objections.

Preference will be given to sites where there are adequate local services 

and facilities.

Planning obligations will be sought before planning permission is 

issued to ensure that the above conditions are met. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4, & 6.

5.42 The Council will seek to increase the stock of affordable housing by allowing 

proposals which would not otherwise be permitted. The Council will work 

Page 100

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

73

closely with parish councils and local communities to progress these schemes. 

The involvement of landowners is also crucial. Some landowners are prepared 

to make available land at, or only slightly above, agricultural value, where it is 

understood that an exception to normal policy is being made and that planning 

permission would not be given for speculative housing development on that 

land. The Council will always support the sale of land to Registered Providers 

by agreement but, in circumstances where agreement cannot be reached, will 

consider the use of compulsory purchase powers. 

5.43 The planning authority must be convinced of the need for affordable housing in 

a particular village and be satisfied that the housing provided would be available 

at a price which local people can afford. A detailed housing needs survey 

will be required to demonstrate the extent of the housing need arising from 

people with a local connection. This must be assessed by the Council prior to a 

planning application being submitted. Housing need is based on factors such as 

overcrowding, lack of or sharing of facilities, income, ill-health and disability. The 

following criteria will usually be used to define local connection:

•	  Applicant to have lived in the parish for 5 out of the last 8 years, or

•	  Applicant’s parent or child to be currently resident in the parish, and to 

have at least 10 years’ continuous residence, or

•	  Applicant has worked full time for 2 years in the parish, or equivalent 

in part time (this may include voluntary work), and there is evidence of 

continuing commitment to work in the parish.

5.44 Applicants must be on the housing register before they can be nominated for 

an exceptions site property. Where more applicants than vacancies exist, the 

dwellings will be allocated in accordance with the Council’s Housing Allocations 

Policy. If there are insufficient applicants meeting these criteria, applicants 

meeting the local connection criteria for the immediately neighbouring parishes 

will be considered. In this case, applicants whose local connection is closer to the 

new properties may be given precedence over those who are more distant.

5.45 An essential feature of any scheme is that it would control not just the initial 

occupants of a property but ensure that the benefits of affordable provision 

pass to subsequent occupiers as well. A planning obligation will normally 

be required to ensure that the houses provided meet a local need, and that 

satisfactory arrangements are made to ensure that the benefits of affordable 

housing are enjoyed by subsequent as well as the initial occupants. Schemes 

will normally be managed by a Registered Provider.

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



74

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy H10 – Meeting Housing Needs

A mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the needs of current and 

future households will be sought on all new residential developments. 

• All affordable housing and at least 15% of market housing on sites 

of 11 dwellings or more should be designed to meet the standards 

of Part M (4) Category 2: accessible and adaptable dwellings (or any 

replacement standards)

• At least 5% of affordable housing dwellings should be designed 

to the standards of Part M (4) Category 3: wheelchair accessible 

dwellings

• On sites of 100 dwellings or more plots should be set aside to allow 

for at least 3% of market housing dwellings to be designed to the 

standards of Part M (4) Category 3: wheelchair accessible dwellings 

(or any replacement standards). The exact requirement should be 

based on evidence regarding current demand. The plots should 

be marketed for a period of 12 months to identify an appropriate 

buyer

• All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing dwellings 

should be designed to meet the Nationally Described Space 

Standards

• The mix of affordable housing shall be in general conformity 

with our latest evidence* and Neighbourhood Development Plan 

evidence where applicable for the relevant area.

*Our latest evidence is in the Oxfordshire SHMA 2014, but this will be subject 

to monitoring and review. This will be updated periodically.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4,5 & 6.

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

75

5.46 One of our objectives is to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, 

highlighting the need to plan for a mix of housing based on current and future 

needs. Policy H13 provides that a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the 

needs of current and future households will be sought on all new residential 

developments. Our latest evidence (the Oxfordshire SHMA 2014) found a 

shortfall in smaller units and recommended for most units to be 2 and 3 

bedrooms. The findings from the SHMA are summarised below, for guidance:

   1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 person) 3 bed (6 person)

  Market homes   6%  27%  43%  24%

5.47 We will keep this guidance under review and publish updates as necessary, but 

the above table should be used as a starting point. 

5.48 While the housing mix should be informed by this evidence it will also need to 

respond to the character of the site and its setting.

5.49 New homes need to be high quality, accessible and sustainable. The 

Government has created a new approach for the setting of technical standards 

for new housing. The Code for Sustainable Homes has been withdrawn and 

Local planning authorities can no longer set out any additional local technical 

standards or requirements relating to construction, internal layout or the 

performance of new dwellings although we can encourage them. 

5.50 The new system comprises new additional optional Building Regulations (Part 

M) on water, access (including wheelchair access) and internal space. Together 

these are referred to as optional national technical standards. These new optional 

standards complement the existing set of Building Regulations, which are 

mandatory. Local planning authorities can choose whether to impose the additional 

optional national technical standards as their local standards. The additional 

technical standards should only be required through Local Plan policies if they 

address a clearly evidenced need and their impact on viability has been considered. 

5.51 The government has also introduced a new nationally prescribed space 

standard. This space standard does not form part of the Building Regulations, 

but local planning authorities will be expected to apply the new national space 

standard instead of any local standard previously applied.

5.52 The Council’s Housing Strategy presents evidence to support the need for 

improved accessibility and space standards in South Oxfordshire. The evidence 

shows that by 2039 over one quarter of the housing stock in South Oxfordshire 

will be occupied by people aged over 65. The vast majority of which will want 

to continue to live in their own homes. It is amongst these older age groups, 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



76

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

particularly those over 75, that a need for housing which is accessible or 

adaptable is most likely to apply. 

5.53  There are 17,500 people in South Oxfordshire living with a long term health 

problem or disability of which a quarter occupy social rented housing. Those 

aged 65+ account for more than half of all people with a long term health 

problem or disability. There are significant proportions of older people living 

with disabilities across all tenures of housing, however the proportion in the 

social rented sector is disproportionately high. On average, over the last four 

years, 185 adaptations have been made each year to properties within South 

Oxfordshire and the majority of these were to housing association properties. 

5.54  The evidence shows there is a case in South Oxfordshire for building up a stock 

of accessible and adaptable homes, in line with Part M (4) Category 2: accessible 

and adaptable dwellings of Building Regulations, over the long term. The costs of 

delivering these homes will need to be considered through viability testing. This 

case is strongest with regard to the affordable sector. We need to ensure that the 

affordable housing stock is capable of meeting their needs. We have control over 

the occupancy of the affordable housing stock so can ensure, as far as possible, 

accessible and adapted homes are available to those with specific needs.

5.55 Very few wheelchair accessible properties are available in the District. In the 

last 5 years only 3 properties have been developed. There is evidence of some 

need for wheelchair accessible properties, in line with Part M (4) Category 3: 

wheelchair accessible dwellings of Building Regulations, within the affordable 

housing sector. The need for wheelchair accessible properties is relatively small 

(2.3%) in the market housing sector. Given that there is no allocation process 

in place and no guaranteed market it would seem unreasonable to require 

developers to build this type of housing speculatively. Therefore we are only 

requiring the provision of wheelchair accessible homes where a buyer can be 

secured. This would allow any additional build costs to be passed on to the 

buyer rather than impacting on the viability of the development. It also ensures 

that the features of the property match the individual needs of the buyer. 

5.56  The price of space is high. As a result developers tend to build and buyers 

purchase and occupy smaller homes. The space available in homes in the 

affordable sector is particularly important because these homes are occupied 

more intensively than homes in the market sector. Houses are allocated on the 

minimum amount of space required and this has come under even more pressure 

since the introduction of the “under occupancy charge” which reduces benefit 

payments to working age people who are under occupying their homes. In 

comparison, in the market sector households have a greater tendency to buy 

and occupy homes according to their income and life stage and levels of under 

Page 104

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

77

occupancy are often high. Overcrowding is more of an issue in the private rented 

sector, although there are not high levels of overcrowding in the District. It is 

where homes are fully occupied that it is important to ensure that the space 

available is suffi cient to meet the family’s needs. 

5.57 In South Oxfordshire the majority of dwellings, on the market for sale, meet 

or exceed the new nationally described space standards. However, there is 

evidence that a signifi cant proportion of smaller properties in the District, such 

as one and two bedroom properties, particularly new build properties6, fall 

below the new space standard. This is a concern given that these properties are 

more likely to be fully occupied, particularly if they are rented. There are also 

some areas in the District, Henley, Didcot and Chinnor, where properties appear 

more likely to fall below the new minimum space standards. 

5.58 Policies to increase fl oor area in line with space standards are likely to result in 

higher prices for those dwellings and this could price some households out of the 

market for new homes. This will need to be considered through viability testing. 

5.59 The Council will put in place a system to collect data on the Gross Internal 

Area6 of new build properties in addition to the number of bedrooms so that 

this can be monitored. 

Custom build and self-build

Policy H11– Self-Build and Custom Housing

The Council will use its housing strategy and the evidence from the 

self-build register to identify appropriate locations for self-build 

and custom build projects. Specifi c sites will be identifi ed through 

Neighbourhood Development Plans.

On strategic allocations the Council will seek 2% of the proportion of 

the developable plots to be set aside for self-build and custom build. 

This will be subject to the need shown on the register and the viability 

of individual sites. 

The Council will support proposals for self-build and custom build 

projects within settlements subject to there being no confl ict with 

other policies in the Development Plan. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 5 & 7.

6 It is diffi cult to monitor the 

Gross Internal Area (GIA) of 

new build properties as this 

information is not regularly 

advertised.

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



78

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

5.60 Building your own home could be a more affordable way for many people to 

become home owners. The Council strongly supports initiatives that provides 

opportunities for people to design and/or build their own home. The two types 

of projects can be described as follows: 

• Custom build: The eventual occupiers take on a “project management” 

role, coordinating the services of designers, architects, planners and 

construction staff. They may get actively involved in some aspects, but 

generally physical involvement is kept to a minimum. 

• Self-build: The occupiers take on an active role, procuring, designing and 

building their own home. They may outsource elements of the project, 

where their skills or time do not allow it. This option is generally cheaper 

than custom build, as “sweat equity” reduces the cost of the project.

5.61 The Council has a register where people can indicate their interest in custom and 

self-build opportunities at www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-

and-building/application-advice/general-planning-advice/custom-and-self 

 Where there is evidence for a need for these types of plots, the Council expects 

them to be provided as a proportion of the overall supply of dwellings on 

larger sites. This will be refl ected in the emerging housing strategy. 

5.62 At the time of writing there are about 200 people registered as interested in 

self and custom build homes in South Oxfordshire. We will support the delivery 

of this type of home in appropriate locations, but to create some certainty in 

delivery the 2% plot requirement in policy H14 comes from dividing the 9,700 

homes planned for on our strategic sites by the current identifi ed need. 

Specialist Accommodation 
for Older People

Policy H12 – Specialist Housing for Older People

The Council will use its housing strategy to identify appropriate 

locations for specialist accommodation for older people. Specifi c sites 

will be identifi ed through neighbourhood development plans.

On larger strategic sites the Council will seek a proportion of the dwellings 

to be specifi cally built to meet the needs of older people. This will be 

subject to the local need identifi ed and the viability of individual sites.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1,2, 4,5 & 6.

Page 106

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

79

5.63 Housing and health are inextricably linked, and the value of living in a suitable 

home in a sustainable location becomes even more important as people get 

older. Being able to continue living independently for as long as possible may 

require some level of support which could be provided through adaptations to 

the home or receiving social care visits at home. However, other options can 

include moving to a more suitable property – perhaps a smaller home with no 

stairs - or to a home which is provided as part of a specialist housing scheme 

such as “Close Care’, Extra Care Housing or other form of retirement housing. 

Providing options for people to “downsize” to smaller or specialist housing can 

help free up family housing. 

5.64 Our design policies encourage the provision of housing that specifi cally 

caters for the needs of all people or can be adapted for them in line with the 

“accessible and adaptable” standards in Building Regulations Part M. However, 

as part of our emerging Housing Strategy we will consider identifying locations 

of particular need for the provision of specifi cally designed houses. 

Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople
5.65 The overall scale of need for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 

accommodation in the District is small in comparison to wider housing needs, 

but we have a responsibility to address these needs. It is important that we 

develop a fair and effective strategy to meet these needs, particularly through 

the identifi cation of land for pitches. 

Policy H13: Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople 

The provision of pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and plots for 

Travelling Showpeople will be delivered through: 

• Safeguarding existing sites 

• Extending existing sites, where possible, to meet the needs of 

existing residents and their families 

• As part of the following site allocations: 

-  4 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Didcot North East 

(safeguarded site) as shown on the policies map

-  3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Land adjacent to Culham 

Science Centre (STRAT7) as shown on the policies map

Page 107

Agenda Item 6



80

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

-  3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Land at Chalgrove Airfi eld 

(STRAT9) as shown on the policies map

Proposals for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, will be 

permitted where it has been demonstrated that the following criteria 

have been met. 

i) There is a proven need for the development and/or the capacity of 

the site can be justifi ed to meet needs for further gypsy, traveller 

and travelling showpeople sites, or extensions to existing sites 

ii) The site is not located within the Oxford Green Belt 

iii) Proposals on sites in areas of sensitive landscape will be 

considered in accordance with Policy ENV1. In all other locations 

the proposal will not have an unacceptable impact on the 

character and appearance of the landscape and the amenity of 

neighbouring properties, and is sensitively designed to mitigate 

any impact on its surroundings 

iv) The site has safe and satisfactory vehicular and pedestrian 

access to the surrounding principal highway network, and can 

be provided with safe electricity, mains drinking water, sewage 

connections and waste disposal facilities

v) No signifi cant barriers to development exist in terms of poor 

ground stability or proximity to other hazardous land or 

installation where other forms of housing would not be suitable

vi) No signifi cant barriers to development exist in terms of fl ooding 

or poor drainage.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 4, 5 & 6.

Policy H14: Safeguarding Gyspy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople sites 

Proposals that result in the loss of an authorised and permanent site for 

residential use by gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople will not 

be permitted unless: 

i) Suitable alternative provision is made for the use on a site 

elsewhere in the locality, or

ii) It has been determined that the site is no longer needed for this use.

Appropriate, detailed and robust evidence will be required to satisfy 

the above criteria. The Council will require the independent assessment 

of this evidence.

Page 108

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

81

Planning conditions or legal obligations may be necessary to ensure 

that any replacement sites are provided. Any replacement site should 

normally be available before the original site is lost.  

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 4, 5 & 6.

 

5.66 Gypsies, travellers and travelling showpeople are defi ned as persons that are 

leading or have led a nomadic life. Travelling showpeople differ from other gypsies 

and travellers as their employment and travel centres upon holding fairs, circuses 

or shows across the country. Therefore, different terminology is used when 

referring to their residential needs. Gypsy and traveller households tend to reside 

on a residential “pitch” within a traveller “site” whereas travelling showpeople 

tend to reside on mixed-use “plots” within a travelling showpeople “yard”. 

5.67 We are required to set pitch and plot targets for travellers which address their 

accommodation needs. We identify these needs by undertaking a Gypsy, Traveller 

and Travelling Showperson Accommodation Assessment (GTAA), which identifi es 

how many additional permanent traveller pitches will have to be delivered 

during the plan period. The GTAA was recently updated to refl ect changes to 

national guidance set out in Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) (PPTS). The 

most signifi cant of these changes was to the planning defi nition of a ‘Gypsy’ or 

‘Traveller’. Gypsies and Travellers who have stopped travelling permanently due 

to ill health or old age have now been removed from this defi nition. The changes 

also make it much more diffi cult for Gypsies and Travellers to get planning 

permission for pitches located in the Green Belt or open countryside. 

5.68 The GTAA (2017), prepared jointly with Cherwell District Council, Oxford City 

Council and Vale of White Horse District Council, identifi ed a need for 10 

additional permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches to be delivered to 2033. For 

the Travelling Showpeople community, the assessment identifi ed no need for 

any additional plots. The need identifi ed in the most recent GTAA is lower 

than the need identifi ed in the GTAA update in 2014. This is because we are 

only required to identity pitches and plots for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 

Showpeople that meet the planning defi nition set out in PPTS (2015). The 

10 pitch requirement includes provision for traveller families where it was 

unknown whether they met the planning defi nition set out in PPTS (2015). 

The accommodation needs of families where it was known that they no longer 

meet the defi nition are taken into account with other ‘caravan dwellers’. These 

needs are addressed by Policy H1 above.   

5.69 Work was undertaken in 2013/14 to identify appropriate sites for permanent 

traveller pitches. The Delivery of Pitches report (2015) recommended 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



82

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

safeguarding all existing permanent traveller sites within the district and 

intensifying and/or extending these, where appropriate. The study also 

identifi ed new sites with the potential of being suitable for permanent traveller 

sites. This included the greenfi eld neighbourhood development at Didcot, now 

known as Didcot North East, which was considered suitable for 15 permanent 

traveller pitches. Delivering pitches on this site was also identifi ed as a priority 

in the Core Strategy (Policy CSH5). Other sites recommended by the study 

as sites with potential and future potential could not be taken forward 

for a variety of reasons including, the sites being needed for infrastructure 

improvements, the sites being identifi ed for a different use in a Neighbourhood 

Development Plan, the sites being located in the Green Belt or the sites 

identifi ed as potential waste management sites.

5.70  Taking into account the recommendations made by the Delivery of Pitches 

report (2015) previous priorities set out in the Core Strategy and our strategy 

for this Local Plan, we have identifi ed three sites that could deliver the 10 

pitches required. We have taken forward the previous commitment from the 

Core Strategy to provide pitches at Didcot North East and are allocating four 

pitches to this site. The remaining six pitches will be delivered at our strategic 

sites at Chalgrove and Culham. Allocating pitches at our strategic sites allows 

us to consider the needs of travellers at the outset of the design process and 

properly integrate the pitches into the design of the development. 

5.71 We will continue to monitor the need for and supply of Traveller pitches and 

plots within the District. 

Infi ll development 
 

Policy H15 – Infi ll Development 

Proposals for housing on sites within the built-up areas of the towns 

and villages will be permitted provided that:

i)  An important open space of public, environmental or ecological 

value is not lost, nor an important public view spoilt 

ii) If the proposal constitutes backland development, it would not 

create problems of privacy and access and would not extend the 

built limits of the settlement

iii) It does not confl ict with other policies in the Development plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 4, 5 & 6.

Page 110

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

83

5.72 Sites for housing development which are not specifi cally identifi ed in either 

this Local Plan or, where applicable, Neighbourhood Development Plans, may 

also come forward for development within the plan period. Indeed, such sites 

represent an important source of housing supply. Policy H18 addresses this type 

of development. It sets out the criteria against which such housing proposals 

will be judged. 

 

5.73 The policy does not mean that every space within the settlements will be 

developed. Many open spaces, both public and private, are important for 

recreational, wildlife or amenity reasons or are vital to an area’s character, and 

proposals for the development of such spaces will be resisted. Care will be 

taken to ensure that the cumulative effects of development would not damage 

the character and amenity of the surrounding area. Some residential areas 

have large houses set in extensive grounds and further residential development 

of such spaces will not normally be permitted if it would spoil the spacious 

character of the area. In appropriate locations the Council will encourage 

higher-density development and will seek innovative design solutions to ensure 

that adequate space and privacy levels are achieved. The Council will also 

ensure that development can have an adequate access, be serviced by other 

infrastructure and would not cause problems to neighbours.

5.74 The development of large back gardens or land behind an existing residential 

frontage may be acceptable in principle if it meets the criteria in the above 

policy. However, such development will not normally be permitted if it creates 

problems of privacy and access. 

Subdivision of Dwellings and 
Multiple Occupation

Policy H16 - Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple 
Occupation

The sub-division of dwellings and conversions to multiple occupation 

will be permitted provided that the development:

i) Would not harm the amenity of the occupants of nearby 

properties

ii) Is appropriate in terms of the size of the property and the 

proposed internal layout, access, private amenity space and car 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



84

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

parking provision

iii) Would not adversely affect the character of the building or the 

surrounding residential area; and

iv) Would not result in environmental or highway objections.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 4, 5 & 6.

5.75 The sub-division of larger properties into fl ats can add to the stock of smaller 

and less expensive dwellings, more of which will be required over the coming 

decade to accommodate the growth in smaller households. Houses in multiple 

occupation have a number of residents living in them as separate households 

and they provide a useful and relatively affordable form of accommodation 

for single people. However, subdivision and conversion to multiple occupation 

will not be permitted if it would result in access problems, over development, 

lack of garden space, lack of car parking space and a general alteration to the 

character of the property and the residential character of the area, either on 

its own or cumulatively. The introduction of large areas of hard surfaces for 

car parking in gardens will be resisted where it would be detrimental to the 

character of the area.

Replacement Dwellings

Policy H17 – Replacement Dwellings

Proposals for the replacement of an existing dwelling located outside 

the built-up limits of settlements will be permitted provided that:

i) The residential use of the existing dwelling has not been 

abandoned

ii) The existing dwelling is permanent and is not the result of a 

temporary permission

iii) Where the dwelling is listed, or of historic, visual or architectural 

merit or interest, repair and restoration is to be fully explored 

before replacement is entertained

iv) Within the Green Belt the proposed replacement dwelling is not 

materially larger than the original* dwelling

v) The proposal can demonstrate that satisfactory vehicular access 

and parking arrangements and adequate amenity areas are 

retained for the replacement dwelling.

Page 112

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

85

*”Original” means the volume as existing on July 1st 1948, or 

if constructed after that date, as originally built. Garages and 

outbuildings will not be included in this calculation.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

5.76 A replacement dwelling will normally only be permitted in accordance with 

the criteria in the above policy. In the case of listed buildings, where we have a 

duty to ensure their protection and maintenance, the restoration of the original 

building is the prime objective. Other non-listed but attractive buildings should 

be retained and restored wherever possible because of the contribution they 

make to the character of the District.

5.77 We are mindful of the need to retain the District’s stock of smaller and less 

expensive dwellings to help offset the demand created by the trend towards 

smaller households. 

5.78 In the Green Belt, replacement dwellings should not be materially larger than 

the dwellings they replace. We will, therefore, normally only grant planning 

permission for the replacement of dwellings within the Green Belt which are 

not materially greater in volume than the original dwelling, taking into account 

any permitted development rights which remain unused. Not materially greater 

in volume means that, in addition to any unused permitted development 

rights, an increase of up to, but no more than, 10 percent in volume may be 

acceptable provided that the overall impact would not be any greater than 

the existing dwelling on the character and appearance of the site and the 

surrounding area. Where the existing dwelling has garage accommodation 

which is to be demolished, applications for the replacement dwelling should 

also include replacement garage accommodation or the volume of the 

replacement dwelling should be reduced commensurately.

  

5.79 Where planning permission is granted for a replacement dwelling with a 

volume which is inclusive of permitted development rights, we will impose 

a condition removing permitted development rights for extensions/additions 

to the new house. Where applications are submitted to extend replacement 

dwellings, we will take into account the size of the original dwelling. In 

all cases, we will seek to ensure that the new dwelling does not have a 

greater impact on the character of the site and its surroundings than the 

existing dwelling due to its scale, size, form or materials used. In the Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, we will ensure that any proposals for replacement 

dwellings conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the area.

Page 113

Agenda Item 6



86

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Extensions to Dwellings

Policy H18 – Extensions to Dwellings

Extensions to dwellings or the erection and extension of ancillary 

buildings within the curtilage of a dwelling, will be permitted provided 

that:

i) In the Green Belt, outside the limits of the larger and smaller 

villages the proposed extension or alteration does not result 

in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the 

original* dwelling or ancillary building

ii) Adequate and satisfactory parking and amenity areas are 

provided for the extended dwelling, and the proposal does not 

confl ict with other policies in the Development Plan.

*”Original”means the volume as existing on July 1st 1948, or 

if constructed after that date, as originally built. Garages and 

outbuildings will not be included in this calculation.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

5.80 Planning permission is not always required for house extensions but where it 

is needed the above policy will apply. Householders contemplating alterations 

or extensions to their home should check with the Council to see whether 

planning permission is required and have regard to the Council’s Design Guide.

Page 114

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

87

Accommodation in town 
centres 

Policy H19 – Loss of Existing Residential Accommodation 
in Town Centres

The loss of existing residential accommodation in the town centres will 

not be permitted other than in accordance with the relevant policies 

of this plan, except in cases of upper fl oor accommodation where 

an independent access does not exist and cannot be provided, or in 

cases where there are insurmountable environmental factors which 

militate against continued residential use. The loss of private gardens, 

which could affect the residential amenity of the occupants of existing 

dwellings will also be resisted.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

5.81 It is particularly important to retain residential accommodation in the town 

centres to maintain a balance between uses and to allow easy access to 

services. The Council will allow a change of use in the exceptional circumstances 

described in the policy. With regard to environmental factors, however, there 

will be few locations in the four South Oxfordshire towns where noise, fumes or 

other forms of nuisance will be such as to render premises unsuitable for living 

accommodation. The Council will be guided in this matter by advice from its 

environmental health service. The amenity afforded by a private garden is often 

an important factor in keeping town centre fl ats and houses in residential use. 

The Council will, therefore, resist development that would destroy such gardens. 

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



88

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 116

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

89

6 EMPLOYMENT AND ECONOMY

Introduction
6.1 South Oxfordshire is predominantly a prosperous and attractive District in 

which to live and work. A sustainable society requires that people have a place 

to work and a place to live within a healthy community in a good environment. 

This plan seeks to ensure that the right balance is maintained between 

economic, social and environmental factors in order to achieve sustainable 

development.

6.2 Oxfordshire has one of the most substantial, distinctive and important clusters 

of research-based, high-value businesses in Europe, including scientific research 

and development, higher education, health, car manufacture and motorsports, 

and publishing. Oxfordshire is uniquely placed with sectors poised for growth 

including medicine and life sciences (bio-technology for example), advanced 

engineering (cryogenics, space, advanced materials), information technology 

and publishing and, environmental technologies7.

6.3 South Oxfordshire lies within the economically buoyant Thames Valley 

area between Oxford and Reading, with a proliferation of important high 

technology, science and research industries. The western part of the District 

lies within Science Vale, the location of a particularly high density of science 

and high-technology activities centred around Harwell Oxford, Culham Science 

Centre and Milton Park (one of Europe’s largest business parks) and containing 

both the Science Vale Oxford and Didcot Growth Accelerator Enterprise Zones.

6.4 The Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) published a Strategic 

Economic Plan (SEP) in 2016 setting out an ambition for accelerated economic 

growth for Oxfordshire. The plan seeks to meet the needs of our science and 

knowledge-rich economy, placing Oxfordshire at the forefront of the UK’s 

global growth ambitions. In January 2014 the “Oxford and Oxfordshire City 

Deal” was made between the Government, Oxfordshire County Council, 

the local authorities in Oxfordshire, University of Oxford, Oxford Brookes 

University, and OxLEP on what the region will do to support economic growth. 

The City Deal advises that despite a wealth of assets in the area, Oxford City 

and Oxfordshire have underperformed, not reaching their full potential when 

compared with other internationally renowned areas around world-class 

universities. City Deal partners are committed to dealing with these issues as 

a priority in the SEP and Local Growth Deal bid, and to bring together local 

89

7 Oxfordshire Skills Strategy to 

2020: Building a responsive skills 

support system

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 117

Agenda Item 6



90

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

resources to make investment where it is needed to create the right conditions 

to develop, grow and retain dynamic businesses.

6.5 The four towns are the main employment centres. The rural areas are 

characterised by a large number of small firms and some major international 

research institutions. The largest employment centre outside the towns is 

Culham Science Centre which specialises in fusion research and hosts related 

enterprises. The business area around Monument Business Park at Chalgrove 

provides an important range of business and premises. There is also an 

important cluster of environmental science companies and research institutions 

in Crowmarsh Gifford and Wallingford.

6.6 South Oxfordshire has a higher than average number of economically active 

people at 89.5% compared with a national average of 77.8% as of December 

2015. The number of economically active people increased from 71,500 in 

January 2011 to 79,000 in December 2015. Unemployment fell from 4.1% 

to 2.4% over the same period8. The Council will continue to encourage and 

support the local economy and develop a balance between jobs and housing.

6.7 The majority of workers employed in South Oxfordshire are employed in the 

service industries, a third of which are within financial and other business 

services, which is above the national average. The second largest sector is 

Public Administration, Education and Health. South Oxfordshire has a slightly 

higher than average number of micro-businesses that employ up to 9 people.

6.8  South Oxfordshire has a higher than average number of people employed at 

Manager, Directors or Senior Officials level. South Oxfordshire’s residents are 

highly-qualified, again above the national average. 

6.9 Employers take a very positive view of South Oxfordshire as a place to do 

business. Key strengths highlighted by employers include its central geographic 

location bringing them in close proximity to customers, suppliers and other 

businesses alongside good transport links and the fact that it is a thriving and 

prosperous area9. For many SMEs, the quality of life and work/life balance 

represents the key reason for locating and operating within the District10.

6.10 In 2015 the incomes of residents living in the District were higher than people 

working within the District. This means that people living within the District are 

earning higher incomes by commuting to work outside of the District, mostly 

in the surrounding areas of ‘Science Vale’ in the Vale of White Horse, Reading,  

Oxford and also by commuting to London. This implies that the area suffers 

from a leakage of highly skilled residents to employment elsewhere. 

8 ONS annual population survey 

(numbers are for those aged 

16 and over, % are for those of 

aged 16-64)

9 Oxfordshire Employers Skills 

Study 2010, Oxfordshire 

Economic Partnership 

10 Draft SME Business and 

Innovation Strategy 2017 (NLP)

For many SMEs, 
the quality of 
life and work/

life balance 
represents the 
key reason for 

locating and 
operating within 

the District

Page 118

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

91

6.11 The 2014 SHMA forecasts anticipated economic growth across Oxfordshire 

and the district between 2011 and 2031. The SHMA forecasts a total increase 

in employment of around 88,000 people for Oxfordshire with an increase of 

11,455 jobs in South Oxfordshire from 2011 to 2031. The ‘South Oxfordshire 

Employment Land Review Addendum’ (SOELRA) published in August 2017 

examines the forecasts of the 2014 SHMA. Based on the SHMA the SOELRA 

projects an increase of 12,403 jobs from 2011 to 2033, with an increase of 

between 6,227 to 6,734 jobs in the office, manufacturing and distribution 

sectors (‘B-class’ jobs based on labour demand and local labour supply 

respectfully). To plan for the economic growth forecast in the 2014 SHMA 

under planned economic growth the SOELRA forecasts that between 33.2 to 

35.9 hectares of additional employment land is required in the district over the 

period 2011 to 2033. The council previously published a ‘South Oxfordshire 

Employment Land Review’ (ELR) in 2015 which forecast a requirement of 24.4 

hectares of employment land for the period 2014 to 2031 or approximately 

31.6ha if extrapolated over the plan period. Therefore, the SOELRA sets a 

slightly higher requirement in line with the 2014 SHMA.

Economic Forecasts
6.12 South Oxfordshire’s Employment Land Review (ELR) published in 2015 reports 

that within South Oxfordshire employment land comprised approximately:

•	 40.7 hectares (234,100m2) of gross office floorspace (use class B1a), and

•	 265.1 hectares of gross industrial land

•	 Approximately a third of this industrial land is light industrial type (B1c) or 

general industrial (B2), with the majority characterised by warehousing and 

distribution use (B8).

6.13 The 2015 ELR undertook a review of the quality and characteristics of 

employment land in the district, identifying where these existing employment 

areas have capacity for expansion. The 2015 ELR goes on to make 

recommendations for the potential locations and approximate amounts of 

office, research and development (B1a/b) space:

•	 Culham Science Centre: 3.3 hectares (19,000m2)

•	 Central Didcot: 2.6 hectares (15,000m2)

•	 Land at or near Monument Business Park - Chalgrove: 0.7 hectares (4,000m2)

•	 With a remainder of 0.3 hectares (2,000 m2) met in the town centres of 

Henley-on-Thames, Wallingford (including Crowmarsh Gifford) and Thame.

6.14 The 2015 ELR also makes recommendations for the potential locations and 

approximate amounts industrial land (B1c/B2/B8):

Page 119

Agenda Item 6



92

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

•	 Crowmarsh Gifford: 2.5 hectares

•	 Culham Science Centre: Approximately 1.3 hectares

•	 Hithercroft Industrial Estate - Wallingford: 1.9 hectares

•	 London Road Industrial Estate - Wheatley: 0.4 hectares

•	 Land at or near Monument Business Park - Chalgrove: 2.5 hectares

•	 Southmead Industrial Estate - Didcot: 2.9 hectares

•	 Thame: 1.6 hectares

•	 With a remainder of 6.3 hectares provided at new sites at the four main towns.

Strategy
6.15 We aim to ensure that residents have the opportunity to find skilled, higher 

paid jobs within the District, ensure that we retain and provide a skilled 

workforce and that there are more opportunities for people to work locally. 

We wish to continue to support the development of the high-tech economy 

and support sustainable economic growth through supporting new business 

formation, supporting existing businesses and welcoming new companies 

into the District. We aim to give people the opportunity to work at or nearer 

their home and reduce long distance out-commuting. We aim to support 

the provision of jobs for the increased population of the District and flexible 

business space that fulfils demand. We will encourage key economic sectors 

that can add value to the local economy, along with support for existing 

businesses and education providers. 

6.16 We aim to support employment development by planning new housing close 

to employment development and by working with partners to improve skills 

and economic activity amongst residents. We recognise that a wider economic 

strategy will deal with other aspects of this aim. Flexibility is key to respond 

to changing economic circumstances by having enough land available that is 

capable of being developed and well-served by infrastructure. We also need 

to make sure that there are a variety of sites for large and small businesses, 

for innovation and for skills development, all of which links to the knowledge-

based economy. 

6.17  Our strategy makes a strong link between the housing growth in Didcot and 

the business growth needs of Science Vale, including at Harwell Oxford11 

and Milton Park outside the District (within Vale of White Horse District). The 

Council has worked with the Vale of White Horse District Council to plan for 

enough B-class jobs to cater for Didcot’s increased population. Core Policy 6 

of the Vale of White Horse Local Plan 2031 (adopted) identifies 218 hectares 

of land for future employment development across the Vale of White Horse 

District. 28 hectares of employment land are allocated at Milton Park within 

11 Harwell Oxford formerly 

known as Harwell Science and 

Innovation Centre

Page 120

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

93

the Vale, of which 6.5 hectares is to meet the cross boundary employment land 

needs of Didcot within South Oxfordshire.

6.18 The previous local plan adopted in 2006 and the Core Strategy adopted 

in 2012 allocated 2.92 hectares of land for employment at Didcot on the 

Southmead Industrial Estate. These sites remain suitable for employment uses 

and are therefore allocated in this plan. The previous plans also allocated 

5.8 hectares of land at the Hithercroft Industrial Estate under policies WAL5i 

to WAL5v. Several of these sites have now been successfully developed 

for employment uses with the remaining 2.25 hectares being suitable for 

employment, and therefore continue to be allocated in this plan. The Core 

Strategy also proposed an additional 2 hectares of employment land at Thame, 

2 hectares at Wallingford and an additional 4.2 hectares at the ‘larger villages’ 

to be allocated in a site allocations document. The towns have or are preparing 

Neighbourhood Development Plans. The Thame NDP in 2013 allocated a 3 

hectare employment site (2 hectares net) which has now been developed. The 

Henley NDP has also allocated some employment sites. Further housing is now 

planned for the towns and therefore additional employment land is required to 

provide sustainable development.

6.19 Our support of developments at the Culham Science Centre and land to the 

west of the Science Centre focus growth within the ‘Science Vale’, close to 

Didcot, with rail links to Oxford. The Science Centre and the adjacent land 

will be planned comprehensively with an additional 8 hectares of employment 

land. There will be opportunities for the replacement of temporary buildings 

at the Science Centre and an intensification of uses. We recognise that there 

may be the need for redevelopment of some buildings for industries that 

tend to provide a lower density of employment. We are planning for the 

redevelopment of the ‘Number One’ site between the Culham Science Centre 

and the railway station to make the most of this sustainable location. We 

require the 10 hectares of existing employment land on this site to be retained 

within the wider area and we will support the relocation of the existing 

business if required.

6.20 We are supporting significant housing development at Chalgrove Airfield and 

at Berinsfield and to provide new residents with the chance to work locally 

we are supporting additional employment land at these locations. In addition, 

we are supporting additional employment land at the four towns as these are 

sustainable locations where additional housing delivery will take place over the 

plan period.

Page 121

Agenda Item 6



94

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy EMP1: The amount and distribution of new B-class 
employment land

To facilitate the provision of additional offi ce, manufacturing and 

distribution jobs (‘B-class jobs’), between 2011 and 2033, the equivalent 

of at least 36 hectares of B-class employment land will be provided. 

Employment land will be provided at the following locations:

   Net amount of 
   employment land 
Location Site (hectares)

Didcot Southmead Industrial Estate

  (Carried forward from Core Strategy) 2.92

  Milton Park (Within Vale of White Horse District)

  (Carried forward from Core Strategy) 6.5 

Henley Sites to be identifi ed in the NDP 1.0

Thame Sites to be identifi ed in the NDP 1.6

Wallingford Sites to be identifi ed in the NDP 

  (Likely to be at the Hithercroft Industrial Estate) 3.1

  Hithercroft Industrial Estate

  (Carried forward from Core Strategy) 2.25

Crowmarsh Sites to be identifi ed in the NDP 

Gifford  (Likely to be at Howbery Park)  0.28

Culham Redevelopment and intensifi cation of Culham 

  Science Centre and Culham Number 1 site with 

  strategic allocation west of Culham Science Centre. 

  10 hectares of existing employment land at Culham 

  No.1 to be retained within the comprehensive 

  development.  7.3

Chalgrove Sites to be identifi ed in the NDP 

  (Likely to be sites at Monument Business Park) 2.25

  Airfi eld development  5.0

Berinsfi eld To be allocated in accordance with the 
  regeneration strategy  5.0

Total   37.2

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Page 122

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

95

Types of employment premises 

6.21 In order to meet the diverse need for employment across South Oxfordshire 

the Council will encourage a range of premises within any proposals for 

employment development. 

Policy EMP2: Range, Size and Mix of Employment 
Premises

Proposals for employment use should provide a range and size of 

premises including fl exible business space to meet current and future 

requirements. We will encourage proposals for premises suitable 

for small and medium sized businesses, including start-up/incubator 

businesses (up to 150m²) and grow-on space (up to 500m²). Proposals 

for employment uses will be considered against this criteria.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

6.22 South Oxfordshire District Council in partnership with the Vale of White Horse 

District Council commissioned consultants NLP to prepare a Small to Medium 

Sized Enterprises (SME) Business and Innovation Strategy (2017). The strategy 

highlights the importance of SMEs in South Oxfordshire and highlighted the 

diffi culties these fi rms are experiencing in fi nding suitable premises.

6.23 To promote a balanced local economy, we need to ensure that a range of 

size and types of premises is available. We will seek to widen the variety of 

premises, to include more modern and fl exible business space. We need 

enough space for small and medium sized businesses, including start-up/

incubator businesses (up to 150m²) and grow-on space (up to 500m²), and 

we will look for opportunities to provide this. Whether units are suitable for 

start-up/incubator businesses will depend partly on management arrangements 

and lease terms that are beyond our control, however we will do all we can to 

assist in this regard.

Page 123

Agenda Item 6



96

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Retention of Employment Sites

Policy EMP3: Retention of Employment Land

Employment land will be retained in order to promote and grow a 

balanced, sustainable economy and local services. Proposals for the 

redevelopment or change of use of employment land to non-employment 

uses will only be permitted if: 

• The council agrees that the employment use is no longer viable;

• It is evidenced that there is no market interest in the site following 

one year of active and effective marketing; and

• The change of use from employment uses will not lower the 

employment capacity of the District below that estimated to be 

necessary to meet projected need.

In accordance with the additional guidance provided by the council.

The council will also consider the loss of an existing employment land 

use which causes detrimental effects to the amenity of the nearby area 

– particularly where residential uses are adversely affected.

Through the monitoring of employment land gains and losses, the 

council will record, and publish in our monitoring report, how much 

land we continue to need to meet the projected employment land 

requirements in the district. We will use this information to help 

determine planning applications in accordance with our guidance.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

6.24 To support sustainable economic growth, meet the development needs of 

business and the anticipated needs over the plan period and to ensure that 

suffi cient land of the right type is available the Council will seek to ensure that 

employment land is not lost during economic fl uctuations. The Council will 

seek to ensure that employment land is only released for other uses where 

there is no reasonable prospect of a site being used for that purpose. One 

of the main aims of this Local Plan and national planning policy is to reduce 

the need to travel and thus minimise pollution, congestion, energy use and 

support local communities. The provision and retention of local employment 

opportunities supports this aim. 

Page 124

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

97

6.25 It is important that local employment sites are retained to maintain a 

reasonable balance of employment and housing uses within settlements. 

This affords the residents of the villages, towns and surrounding areas the 

opportunity to fi nd work locally. This need is particularly strong as many 

employment sites have been redeveloped for housing in recent years. Local 

employment plays an important role in supporting local services and facilities 

and supporting sustainable communities. 

6.26 The District is an area of economic growth and demand for premises is 

usually high. However, we accept that there could be instances where the 

continued use of a site for employment may not be economically viable. In 

such circumstances, and before any planning permission for alternative, non-

employment uses is granted, we will require evidence that the site has been 

marketed at a realistic price for at least one year. We are likely to take advice 

from property consultants about the evidence submitted and prevailing market 

conditions. The Council has a guidance note that demonstrates the sorts of 

marketing that we believe necessary to meet the above criterion for market 

interest evidence. In the event that any employment use is demonstrably 

economically not viable, we may require that a range or mix of alternative uses 

is explored and the policies in this Plan on other uses will apply.

The Four Towns
6.27 The Employment Land Review (ELR) published in September 2015 identifi es 

that at the time of the review, there was approximately 215,000m2 of gross 

offi ce fl oorspace in South Oxfordshire and that Henley is the most predominant 

offi ce location in the District.

6.28 We do not propose to provide additional employment land at Henley as there 

is scope to intensify uses on existing sites.

Policy EMP4 - Employment Land in Didcot

In addition to employment opportunities generated through the Didcot 

Garden Town masterplan and the strategic allocations in this plan, at 

least 2.92 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Didcot at the 

following sites located within Southmead Industrial Estate:

• Site EMP4i: Southmead Industrial Estate East

• Site EMP4ii: Southmead Industrial Estate West

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



98

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

A small part of site EMP4i is located within an area of fl ood risk. 

Employment uses are classed as ‘less vulnerable’ however comprehensive 

development of the site should be appropriate to the fl ood risk level.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Policy EMP5 - New Employment Land at Henley

At least 1 hectare of employment land will be delivered at Henley. This 

will be delivered through the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The 

Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council 

within 12 months of adoption of this local plan. If the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan is not adequately progressed in this time the local 

planning authority will allocate site(s) through a review of the local plan. 

 This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Policy EMP6 – New Employment Land at Thame

In addition to allocations in the made Thame Neighbourhood 

Development Plan, an additional 2 hectares of employment land will 

be delivered at Thame. These will be delivered through a review of the 

Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

The review of the Neighbourhood Development Plan must be 

submitted to the Council within 12 months of adoption of this local 

plan. If the Neighbourhood Development Plan is not adequately 

progressed in this time the local planning authority will allocate sites 

through a review of the local plan. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Page 126

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

99

6.29 Whilst levels of employment are high in Thame, some employment sites need 

upgrading, specifi cally Thame Industrial Estate, the depot and works on Rycote 

Lane, Station Yard and at the industrial site on Aylesbury Road. In addition, this 

local plan provides for a further 2 hectares of employment land to be provided in 

Thame, to be allocated in the review of the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Policy EMP7 – New Employment Land at Wallingford

At least 2.72 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Wallingford 

at the following sites located within Hithercroft Industrial Estate:

• • Site EMP7i: land at Hithercroft Road and Lupton Road (2.0 

hectares)

• • Site EMP7ii: land at the junction of Whitley Road and Lester Road 

(0.25 hectares)

At least a further 3.10 hectares of employment land will be delivered 

at Wallingford through the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The 

Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council 

within 12 months of adoption of this local plan. If the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan is not adequately progressed in this time the local 

planning authority will allocate site(s) through a review of the local plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

6.30 High-tech and science related industries are attracted to the District and this 

creates indirect demand for employment fl oorspace linked to Science Vale. 

This includes supply chain fi rms that seek to be close to but do not have to be 

within Science Vale. Wallingford/Crowmarsh Gifford is a key location for this 

type of demand with around a third of the overall South Oxfordshire industrial 

demand located in this area.

Employment Sites in the Villages

Policy EMP8 - New Employment Land at Crowmarsh 
Gifford

At least 2.5 hectares of employment land will be delivered at 

Crowmarsh Gifford. These will be delivered through the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan.

Page 127

Agenda Item 6



100

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

The Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council 

within 12 months of adoption of this local plan. If the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan is not adequately progressed in this time the local 

planning authority will allocate site(s) through a review of the local plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Policy EMP9 - Employment at Culham Science Centre

The redevelopment and intensifi cation of Culham Science Centre for 

research and science based businesses will be supported. Proposals 

for redevelopment and the intensifi cation of uses with the creation of 

about 1,000 new jobs (providing the equivalent of 5.3 hectares of new 

employment land) will be supported. We will work proactively with the 

site owners and existing businesses to develop an agreed masterplan 

that facilitates this growth.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Policy EMP10 - New Employment Land at Chalgrove

In addition to the strategic allocations a Chalgrove Airfi eld, at least 

2.25 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Chalgrove 

(most likely to be through sites identifi ed at the business area north 

east of Chalgrove). This will be delivered through the Neighbourhood 

Development Plan. The Neighbourhood Development Plan must be 

submitted to the Council within 12 months of adoption of this local 

plan. If the Neighbourhood Development Plan is not adequately 

progressed in this time the local planning authority will allocate site(s) 

through a review of the local plan.

Schemes that improve the stock of existing commercial buildings and 

the environment of existing employment areas will be supported.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6

Page 128

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

101

Community Employment Plans
6.31 Sustainable development can include new jobs or should make it easier for 

jobs to be created locally and a key principle of National Planning Policy12 is 

to drive and support economic development. Development should therefore 

consider how to maximise opportunities to deliver the greatest benefit for local 

communities. 

6.32 Providing jobs and training for the local community offers the opportunity to 

generate and share increased economic prosperity. Community Employment 

Plans (CEPs) prepared in partnership with developers, the council and skills 

providers can play an important role in achieving this. A CEP is an employer-

led initiative which can form part of planning obligations for significant 

developments. The measures contained within a CEP seek to mitigate the 

impacts of development through ensuring local people can better access 

employment, skills and training opportunities arising from development. CEPs 

can also help to create the proper alignment between the jobs created and a 

local labour force with the appropriate skills. CEPs can also reduce the need 

to source employees from outside of the area, reducing the need for longer 

distance commuting.

6.33 In South Oxfordshire both economic activity and employment rates are higher 

than the regional average and significantly higher than the national average. 

The tightness of the local labour market brings challenges for businesses 

seeking to recruit staff from a small pool of local labour. The deliverability and 

viability of sites could potentially be affected by labour skills shortages and 

subsequent increased labour costs.  

6.34 The Oxfordshire Strategic Economic Plan13 identifies the importance of 

CEPs as an action to help deliver the ‘People Programme’, in particular by 

addressing exclusion from the labour market, upskilling and other measures 

to help young people and adults who are marginalised or disadvantaged 

from work. CEPs will assist with delivering the council’s Corporate Plan 2016-

202014 strategic priorities to optimise employment opportunities; encourage 

local apprenticeships and local workforce schemes that benefit our young 

people; support the Government’s objective of achieving full employment and; 

ensure that the skills needs of our employers are identified and that training 

programmes are in place to provide a skilled labour force.

6.35 To support this approach all new development is encouraged to maximise 

opportunities for local economic development and we may seek the 

12 CLG (2012) The National 

Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF), Paragraph 9, Chapter 1, 

available at: https://www.gov.

uk/guidance/national-planning-

policy-framework

13 Oxfordshire Local Enterprise 

Partnership (LEP) (2014) 

Strategic Economic Plan; 

available at: http://www.

oxfordshirelep.org.uk/content/

strategic-economic-plan

14 South Oxfordshire District 

Council Corporate Plan 2016-

2020; available at:  http://www.

southoxon.gov.uk/about-us/

how-we-work/corporate-plan

Page 129

Agenda Item 6



102

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

preparation of CEPs for major development. Where a CEP is required 

developers will be provided with a template as a basis. Through discussion 

with the council appropriate targets and outcomes for the site-specifi c CEP 

will be agreed. The CEP will then be subject to regular review and monitoring 

meetings with the council. We will provide assistance to identify appropriate 

local partner agencies and organisations to work with and support the 

developer to facilitate the timely delivery of the CEP. 

Policy EMP11: Community Employment Plans

All new development should consider how opportunities for local 

employment, apprenticeships and training can be created and seek to 

maximise the opportunities for sourcing local produce, suppliers and 

services during both construction and operation.

The council may require the submission of a site-specifi c Community 

Employment Plan (CEP) for construction and operation of major 

development, using a planning condition, legal agreement, or fi nancial 

contribution.

The CEP should be prepared in partnership with the district council and 

any other partners to deliver the agreed CEP. The CEP should cover, but 

not be limited to:

i) Local procurement agreements.

ii) Apprenticeships, employment and training initiatives for all ages.

iii) Training and work experience for younger people including those 

not in education, employment or training. 

iv) Best endeavours to maximise local labour. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 3, 4, 6 & 8.

Page 130

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

103

Development in the 
Countryside and Rural Areas

Policy EMP12 - Development in the Countryside and 
Rural Areas

Proposals for sustainable economic growth in the countryside and rural 

areas will be supported. We will:

• Support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of 

business and enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of 

existing buildings and well-designed new buildings

• Promote the sustainable development and diversifi cation of 

agricultural and other land-based rural businesses

• Support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that 

benefi t businesses in rural areas, communities and visitors, and 

which respect the character of the countryside. This will include 

supporting the provision and expansion of tourist and visitor 

facilities in appropriate locations where identifi ed needs are not 

met by existing facilities in rural service centres; and

• Promote the retention and development of local services and 

community facilities in villages, such as local shops, meeting places, 

sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship.

This policy contributes towards objectives 1, 3, 4, 6 & 7.

Tourism and Visitors
6.36 Tourists and visitors make an important contribution to the economy and 

employment in Oxfordshire. In 2014 £1.56 billion was spent by visitors to 

Oxfordshire with a further £362.5 million of business turnover generated 

through indirect and induced spending (multiplier spend). This supported 

23,197 FTE jobs and 32,089 actual jobs and accounted for 5.7% of all 

employee jobs across the County15. 

6.37 Tourism expenditure provides economic benefi ts to the rural areas, villages, 

towns of the District and assists with the viability of facilities and services that 

can also benefi t residents. Tourists are attracted to South Oxfordshire by a 

15  “The Economic Impact 

of Tourism on Oxfordshire 

Estimates for 2014, Tourism 

South East Research Unit August 

2015”

Page 131

Agenda Item 6



104

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

wide range of features, including the District’s attractive countryside, the River 

Thames, the pretty villages and the historic market towns of Henley, Thame 

and Wallingford. 

Policy EMP13 - Tourism

Proposals that would result in the provision of new or extensions to 

existing tourist facilities will be permitted subject to there being no 

confl ict with other policies in this Plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3 & 6.

Tourist attractions and facilities

6.38 We will generally be sympathetic to proposals to improve existing tourist 

attractions and to the creation of new attractions which have regard to the 

character, landscape and heritage of the area. Examples include opening 

historic houses or gardens to the public, farm visits, museums, historic trails, 

interpretation plaques and interpretation centres.

6.39 Facilities which assist tourists by providing information or services, such as 

picnic areas, toilets, car parks and information points, can contribute to the 

enjoyment of a visit and will normally be permitted. We will ensure that such 

development is in keeping with the locality, both in terms of scale and design 

of any new building, and the level of activity and type of use. We will support 

schemes to improve existing signing for tourist attractions and facilities, 

where appropriate, if well designed and in keeping with the surrounding area. 

Applicants should refer to the “Tourism Signing in Oxfordshire” Application 

Pack produced by Oxfordshire County Council for guidance. Anyone wishing 

to erect a sign should seek advice from the District Council to see whether 

consent is required under the Advertisement Regulations and have regard to 

the relevant policies of this plan.

Serviced accommodation, public houses and restaurants 

6.40 We will normally permit new hotels, including conference facilities and other 

serviced accommodation in the larger settlements outside the Green Belt. 

Extensions to existing premises will normally be permitted on sites outside the 

Green Belt. The conversion of suitable buildings to provide visitor accommodation 

will normally be permitted throughout the District, particularly as this can provide 

a good way of retaining historically important buildings in a viable use.

Page 132

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

105

6.41  Proposals for additional visitor accommodation should protect the amenity 

of the occupants of neighbouring properties and should not cause traffi c 

congestion or disturbance. Proposals must be of high quality design in 

accordance with the adopted Design Guide and respect their surrounding 

environment. It is important that adequate off-street car parking is provided 

and that it is designed and landscaped to blend with its surroundings.

6.42 The use of existing homes to provide bed and breakfast is generally supported 

because it makes a valuable contribution to the local economy and provides 

for good value, short-stay visits. In many cases, the provision of some bed and 

breakfast accommodation may not require planning permission, however, the 

advice of the Council’s offi cers should always be sought.

6.43 Proposals for tourist accommodation in the Green Belt will be considered 

against the relevant national policies and this plan.

Self-catering accommodation

6.44 In planning terms there is no difference between the use of a dwelling as a 

permanent home or as a holiday home unless conditions restricting the use 

of the property have been imposed on the planning permission. Purpose-built 

self-catering accommodation has a similar impact on the environment as new 

permanent homes and we will consider such proposals in the same way.

6.45 Where holiday accommodation is permitted, legal agreements may be used 

to ensure that the accommodation remains as holiday lets and permitted 

development rights may be withdrawn to protect the setting of the building.

Caravan and camping sites

Policy EMP14 - Caravan and camping sites

Touring caravan and camping sites will be permitted provided that:

i) The proposed development has no adverse impact on the 

landscape, ecological or historic characteristics of the site and its 

surroundings

ii) The proposal is limited in scale and incorporates a comprehensive 

landscaping scheme and management that reinforces the visual, 

historic and ecological character of the site and its surroundings

iii) The proposed development would not cause any detrimental 

impact on the amenity of adjacent occupiers or the quiet informal 

enjoyment of the open countryside

Page 133

Agenda Item 6



106

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

iv) Where appropriate, the site is accessible by public transport and 

provision is made for pedestrian and cycle links with adjacent 

areas

v) Where possible, associated facilities are sited in existing buildings. 

Where new buildings are essential these must be designed to a 

high standard and be sensitively sited, and

vi) The site is located outside fl ood zone 3.

Where permission is given, it will normally be subject to a condition 

restricting the use to holiday accommodation only and the site may 

also be made subject to a seasonal occupancy condition. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 6 & 7.

6.46 The use of land for touring caravans and camping can assist in farm 

diversifi cation and help sustain the provision of services in rural areas. Such 

sites can be visually intrusive, particularly in the open countryside, and usually 

require a number of permanent buildings, such as reception areas and 

toilet blocks. Where possible, associated facilities should be sited in existing 

buildings. We will take a cautious approach to the provision of caravan and 

camping sites. However, we recognise that with imagination and care it may 

be possible to design and locate new sites that are discreet and respect the 

landscape. Sites that present a negative impact on the landscape will not be 

permitted.

6.47 Proposals within the Green Belt will be considered in accordance with relevant 

national policies and this plan. Care will need to be taken to ensure that 

proposals do not adversely affect Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and 

Conservation Areas. Sites should normally be located within walking distance 

of the main towns or larger villages which have a range of facilities and 

therefore reduce the need for visitors to travel. Adequate access to the site is 

particularly important where touring caravans are to be accommodated.

6.48 Caravan and camping sites will not be permitted in areas at highest risk from 

fl ooding. Where permission is granted for caravan and camping sites and 

fl ooding is an issue, planning conditions will be used to require an appropriate 

fl ood evacuation plan, including the erection of suitable fl ood warning 

notices.]

6.49 A comprehensive landscaping scheme and management plan is fundamental 

to ensure no detrimental impact on the surrounding landscape. Care should be 

taken with the boundary treatment to ensure effective screening.

Page 134

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

107

6.50 Touring caravans are not suitable for permanent occupation and their use will 

be restricted to holiday accommodation only. Change of use for part or all of a 

touring caravan site, or an extension to a touring caravan site to a permanent 

residential caravan site, is unlikely to be acceptable given the additional impact 

on the environment and the need for additional services and facilities. To 

reduce the visual impact of new touring caravan and camping sites and to 

prevent them being used throughout the year, the site may be made subject to 

a seasonal occupancy condition.

Visitor Accommodation

6.51 Staying visitors are a particularly important element of the tourist economy. 

The retention of existing and the provision of new visitor accommodation are 

therefore of great importance in providing a range of accommodation types 

across economic groups and help to attract a mix of visitors.

Policy EMP15 - Visitor Accommodation

Development or change of use to form new visitor accommodation will 

be granted planning permission providing there are no unreasonable 

effects on the character of the area or on local amenity.

Development resulting in the loss of sites or premises used, or last 

used, as visitor accommodation will only be considered acceptable 

where it can be demonstrated that the:

• Business is no longer viable and has no reasonable prospect of 

continuing and alternative businesses have been fully explored; 

and

• Loss of the visitor accommodation will not have an adverse impact 

on the tourism industry and the local community.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3 & 6.

6.52 It is important to control the loss of visitor accommodation to prevent the 

threat to the quality, quantity and choice of accommodation on offer across 

the District and the resulting negative effects on the District’s economy. 

6.53 Viability evidence is required to be submitted as part of any proposal involving 

the loss of visitor accommodation. The information should be comprehensive 

and will often include detailed fi nancial viability information, which may require 

the Council to seek specialist input to make an informed assessment. When 

Page 135

Agenda Item 6



108

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

assessing a proposal, consideration will be given to retaining and maintaining 

the direct economic benefit from income and employment generated for the 

District by visitor accommodation businesses and to maintain the indirect 

benefits through spending on goods and services. 

6.54 Where a claim is made that the business is no longer viable, the Council must 

be satisfied that:

•	 The business has been run in a reasonable and professional manner by the 

proprietor

•	 There has been a serious and sustained effort to run a visitor 

accommodation business in the premises using available business support 

services

•	 The business has been actively market tested to potential purchasers of 

the business with a guide price reflecting the going concern value of 

the accommodation business (or its hotel/self-catering market value if 

not currently trading) normally for a minimum 18 months and that no 

reasonable offers have been received during this time. The guide price 

must reflect the potential earnings of the business and the cost of essential 

works

•	 Alternative visitor accommodation business models have been tried and 

discounted

•	 A forward business plan has been presented that shows the business is 

no longer viable. If the business has not operated recently, then a forward 

business plan must be presented with a clear demonstration that an 

attempt has been made to implement it

•	  Any previous tourism/visitor related planning approval has been given 

a reasonable time to become commercially established and any claims 

that these changes are no longer financially viable must show the 

relationship between the original business planning and the current 

situation. The Planning Authority will need to be satisfied that permitted 

enabling developments have supported the authorised provision of visitor 

accommodation.

6.55 Applicants should provide supporting information to demonstrate business 

activity for at least the last three years.

 

Page 136

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

109
Page 137

Agenda Item 6



110

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 138

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

111

 INFRASTRUCTURE

Introduction 
7.1 Good connections and high quality infrastructure are essential to our quality 

of life. We need to travel to work, school, shops, leisure and health facilities. 

A thriving economy needs good connections to operate efficiently. These can 

range from the strategic road and rail network, to our ability to access the 

internet with the benefits that it can offer to work from home and provide 

services. Improving accessibility to services and employment is fundamental 

to sustainable development and to meeting the objectives of this plan. The 

challenge is to do this in a way that minimises the impact of the transport 

system on the environment and provides for necessary improvements in a cost-

effective way. 

7.2 Successful and sustainable communities depend upon physical, green and 

social and community infrastructure to meet the needs of residents and 

businesses. Infrastructure encompasses a very wide range of provision 

including transport, public utilities and waste management, flood management 

measures, social and community infrastructure such as affordable housing, 

health care facilities and sports provision, green infrastructure, culture, faith 

and spiritual facilities, education, leisure and tourism, and other community 

facilities ranging from community meeting halls to children’s play areas. 

7.3 It is important to appreciate that whilst there is a considerable degree of 

funding from governmental and other public sources, a significant amount 

of the money for provision of new or enhancement of existing infrastructure 

comes in the form of financial contributions from developers or in the form of 

payment in kind through direct provision of facilities or services.

7.4 To better understand the suitability of existing infrastructure provision and 

identify the infrastructure required to support the level of development 

proposed through the Local Plan, South Oxfordshire District Council 

commissioned an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), to form part of the Local 

Plan evidence base. The IDP is an important element of the evidence for the 

Local Plan and will help inform and underpin strategic policies for growth and 

development. The IDP outlines in more detail the infrastructure requirements 

to support proposed development growth, as well as planned delivery and 

funding arrangements. It will be reviewed and updated on a regular basis 

during the plan period.

7

111

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 139

Agenda Item 6



112

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

7.5 The location of all forms of development can be a key factor in influencing 

where and how we travel and reducing the need to travel and enabling 

sustainable travel options. The principles in this transport strategy have a key 

influence on the other elements of the plan. For example, accessibility to 

services and facilities and the availability of high quality, frequent and reliable 

public transport are key features for a strong network of settlements and the 

overall distribution of new housing and employment land. 

7.6 This strategy contributes towards our vision and objectives which seek to build 

on opportunities for sustainable travel. This strategy has been informed by 

relevant evidence, including a South Oxfordshire Sustainable Transport Study, 

published to support this stage of the plan.  However, we recognise that the 

rural nature of the District means that many residents will be dependent on car 

travel for some or all their journeys. The strategy has been informed by and is 

consistent with Oxfordshire county council’s Local Transport Plan, which sets 

the transport policies and provides transport strategies for the county to 2031. 

Improving travel choice in rural areas is to be encouraged, while accepting that 

there is unlikely to be a single model for delivering the flexible and responsive 

transport services required to meet the diverse needs of rural communities.

Infrastructure provision
 

7.8 Successful and sustainable communities and new developments depend on 

suitable physical and social infrastructure being in place to meet the needs 

of their residents. These needs include transport, utilities and waste, social 

infrastructure, environmental and green infrastructure, cultural, education, 

leisure, faith and community facilities. The level and type of infrastructure can 

range from major investments such as new schools, to support for community 

transport schemes. 

7.9 The need for and importance of providing adequate, appropriate and timely 

infrastructure is a strong message that comes from local residents during 

consultations, who are often concerned that the necessary infrastructure is not 

provided, or not provided quickly enough. 

7.10 To maintain and provide infrastructure and other community services 

effectively, it is essential that there is partnership working approach between 

the public, private and voluntary sector agencies involved. We will continue to 

work closely with a wide range of infrastructure providers and stakeholders. 

Key organisations include Oxfordshire county council, the Highways agency, 

the NHS and clinical commissioning Group, Town and Parish councils, Thames 

Water and the Environment agency. An example of this partnership work is the 

Successful and 
sustainable 

communities 
and new 

developments 
depend on 

suitable physical 
and social 

infrastructure 
being in place to 

meet the needs 
of their residents

Page 140

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

113

Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy work being undertaken for the Oxfordshire 

Growth Board, which has helped to evidence and map strategic infrastructure 

requirements for Oxfordshire over the next 15-20 years. This work has assisted 

in informing our Infrastructure Delivery Plan, which gives more detail on the 

infrastructure required to support the development proposed in the plan.

Policy INF1 – Infrastructure Provision

New development must be served and supported by appropriate on-

site and off-site infrastructure and services.

Planning permission will be granted for developments where the 

infrastructure and services needed to meet the needs of the new 

development is already in place or will be provided to an agreed 

timescale. Infrastructure includes the requirements set out in Council’s 

Infrastructure Delivery Plan, Leisure Strategy, Green Infrastructure 

Strategy, any relevant made Neighbourhood Development Plans, 

and/or infrastructure needed to mitigate the impact of the new 

development.

Infrastructure and services, required as a consequence of development 

and provision for their maintenance will be sought from developers, 

and secured through planning obligations, conditions attached to 

a planning permission, other agreements, and funding through the 

Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or other mechanisms. Any 

planning obligations sought will need to meet the relevant statutory 

and policy tests. Details of required infrastructure and services 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, & 6.

Page 141

Agenda Item 6



114

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Transport
Strategic Transport Infrastructure

7.11 As the Highway Authority, Oxfordshire County Council manages and maintains 

the local road network and prepares a countywide Local Transport Plan which 

sets out policies and strategies for developing the transport system across 

the county. Highways England is the government company charged with 

operating, maintaining and improving England’s motorways and major A roads, 

including the M40 and A34. Network Rail own the railway network, with train 

operating companies such as Great Western Railway, along with other public 

transport operators, providing sustainable transport choices across the District.

7.12  We work with our partners including neighbouring authorities, Highways 

England and the National Infrastructure Commission to reflect, support and 

enable the implementation of transport objectives through land-use policies 

and proposals. 

7.13  All development influences travel patterns either through new trips on the 

network or the re-routing of existing trips. The main requirements of national 

policy relating to transport are to reduce the need to travel, promote more 

sustainable modes of transport and improve accessibility. The location of all 

forms of development is therefore very important. 

Page 142

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

115

Policy TRANS1 – Supporting Strategic Transport 
Investment 

The Council will work with Oxfordshire County Council and others to: 

i) Deliver the transport infrastructure which improves movement in 

and around Didcot, including measures that help support delivery 

of the Didcot Garden Town

ii) Support measures identifi ed in the Local Transport Plan for the 

District including within the relevant area strategies

iii) Support delivery of the safeguarded transport improvements as 

required to help deliver the development required in this plan 

period and beyond

iv) Ensure that the impacts of new development on the strategic and 

local road network, including the A34 and M40, are adequately 

mitigated

v) Plan for improvements in the Reading area, including a proposal 

for a new River Thames crossing which provides demonstrable 

benefi ts for South Oxfordshire and which ensures that any traffi c 

and environmental impacts of those measures do not result in an 

adverse impact 

iv) Understand any cross-border transport impacts from development 

and plan for associated mitigation

v) Understand the potential benefi ts and impacts of the Oxford to 

Cambridge Expressway proposals

vi) Support the development and delivery of a new Thames road 

crossing between Culham and Didcot Garden Town.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, & 6.

7.14 To enable delivery of transport network improvements required to bring 

forward new development, there will be a need for on-going positive 

engagement with infrastructure providers throughout the plan period. 

Oxfordshire County Council have recently published their Local Transport 

Plan 4 (LTP 4), and it will be important that, as far as possible, the Local 

Plan supports delivery of identifi ed schemes to improve highway and public 

transport networks. The LTP4 also supports promotion of sustainable travel, 

particularly within more built-up areas such as Didcot. New development 

can help fund and enable the provision of new public transport, walking and 

cycle links between homes, jobs, shops and other facilities such as centres 

of health. Over a wider cross boundary area, development and supporting 

infrastructure also need to be appropriately planned for as identifi ed in the 

Page 143

Agenda Item 6



116

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

relevant Infrastructure Delivery Plans. In particular, we recognise the ambition 

of neighbouring authorities for additional connections across the River Thames 

and the potential for park and ride options into Reading. 

7.15 Road and rail connections within and through South Oxfordshire are currently 

experiencing signifi cant growth in demand because of strong economic 

growth. This is set to continue as new homes and jobs come forward in the 

District and the surrounding areas. Signifi cant new investment is already taking 

place, such as upgrades to junctions on the A34 Trunk Road, and electrifi cation 

of the Great Western Mainline. However current studies being undertaken 

by Network Rail and Highways England indicate that these will only cater for 

part of the forecast increase in demand for travel. Further options for road 

and rail investment are therefore being considered in more detail, in particular 

the proposals and options for the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway. The 

Council will need to continue to engage with others, including the National 

Infrastructure Commission, Department for Transport, Highways England, 

the County Council and others to explore and plan for both the economic 

benefi ts and environmental impacts of these proposals. The council will need 

to continue to engage with others to explore and plan for both the economic 

benefi ts and environmental impacts of these proposals16. 

Policy TRANS2: Promoting Sustainable Transport and 
Accessibility:

The Council will work with Oxfordshire County Council and others to: 

i)  Ensure that where new development is located close to, or along, 

existing strategic public transport corridors, bus and/or rail services 

can be strengthened in response to increases in demand for travel

ii)  Plan positively for rail improvements within the area that support 

improved connectivity to areas of new development

iii) Ensure new development is designed to encourage walking and 

cycling, not only within the development, but also to nearby 

facilities, employment and public transport hubs

iv)  Support provision of measures which improve public transport 

(including Park & Ride), cycling and walking networks within and 

between towns and villages in the District

v) Promote and support improvements to the transport network 

which increase safety, improve air quality, encourage use of 

sustainable modes of transport and/or make our towns and 

villages more attractive

16 www.gov.uk/government/

publications/oxford-to-

cambridge-expressway-strategic-

study-stage-3-report and 

www.gov.uk/government/

publications/autumn-statement-

2016-documents

Page 144

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

117

vi) Adopt a comprehensive approach to the provision and 

management of car parking aimed at improving the attraction of 

our town and village centres

vii) Ensure the needs of all users, including those with impaired mobility 

are planned for in development of transport improvements. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, & 6.

7.16 It is recognised that new development can have both a positive role in 

improving and funding sustainable transport network connections, and also 

through the provision of good urban design to encourage walking and cycling 

from new development to shops, schools and other facilities. This will be 

particularly important in signifi cant growth areas including Didcot Garden 

Town, where we will work with the Vale of White Horse District Council, to 

ensure that plans for cross border development and infrastructure are co-

ordinated appropriately. In Neighbourhood Development Plan areas, it will be 

important to ensure that sustainable transport movements are incorporated 

into Neighbourhood Development Plans. These improvements will also need 

to be complimented by relevant and reasonable upgrades to surrounding 

highway networks to mitigate impacts of development. The provision and 

management of car parks will be key given that within a rural District such as 

South Oxfordshire the car will continue to play a key role in providing transport 

accessibility for many.

7.17 To enable further delivery of key transport infrastructure that will support 

development within the plan, there is a need to safeguard land to ensure 

that any proposals for development do not prejudice their future delivery. 

Those schemes identifi ed as needing land for safeguarding will help support 

delivery of Local Plan growth and particularly in the Didcot area that planned 

for surrounding districts. The district will continue to work in association with 

others, including the County Council to develop these schemes in more detail, 

including understanding any environmental and archaeological impacts and 

associated mitigation.

The provision 
and management 
of car parks will 
be key given 
that within a 
rural District 
such as South 
Oxfordshire the 
car will continue 
to play a key 
role in providing 
transport 
accessibility for 
many

Page 145

Agenda Item 6



118

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy TRANS 3 Safeguarding of Land for Strategic 
Transport Schemes

Land is safeguarded to support the delivery of the following identifi ed 

transport schemes:

• Clifton Hampden bypass

• Culham to Didcot Thames River Crossing

• Didcot Northern Perimeter Road 

• Science Bridge, Didcot

• (A4130/ B4493) Didcot Central transport corridor improvements

• A4130 road safety improvements

• A bypass for Stadhampton

• A bypass for Watlington 

• A bypass for Benson

• A bypass for Southern Abingdon

• A new Park and Ride site at Sandford to the south-east of Oxford.

New development in these areas should be carefully designed having 

regard to matters such as building layout, noise insulation, landscaping, 

the historic environment and means of access.

Any proposals for development that may reasonably be considered to 

impact upon the delivery of the identifi ed schemes should demonstrate 

the proposal would not harm their delivery.

Planning permission will not be granted for development that would 

prejudice the construction or effective operation of the transport 

schemes listed above.

The impact of these schemes will be subject to thorough assessment as 

their feasibility is further developed in more detail. This will include full 

environmental and archaeological assessments working where relevant 

with the relevant statutory bodies.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, 6, 7 & 8.

7.18 Transport infrastructure improvements will be required to support the demand 

for travel arising from proposed new development, and the need for new 

measures will be informed by transport evidence which supports the Local 

Plan growth strategy. The District Council therefore continues to work with 

partners, including the County Council, to assess requirements through 

Page 146

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

119

use of transport modelling tools and assessment of sustainable transport 

improvements. The evidence developed to date has identified the benefits 

of delivering a number of key highway infrastructure schemes, as well as 

several sustainable transport improvements17. This, in turn, builds on priorities 

identified in the Local Transport Plan 4 Science Vale Area Transport Strategy18. 

7.19 Plans which illustrate the extent of the safeguarded transport schemes 

identified in Policy TRANS3 are shown in Appendix 5.

Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel 
Plans

7.20  As new development comes forward, there will be a need to look in more 

detail at the specific transport and access impacts associated with individual 

sites. Where such developments would generate significant amounts of travel, 

there will be need for a transport assessment for the site. The determination 

of whether significant amounts of travel are generated will be dealt with on a 

case by case basis. This will need to review both the transport implications of 

development, as well as appropriate mitigation. Especially important will be 

promotion of measures that enable sustainable transport choices, and where 

relevant a travel plan will be required to demonstrate how such measures will 

be delivered.

7.21 The scoping of transport assessments should be done in agreement with the 

County Council as highway authority, and be in line with latest County and 

Planning Practice Guidance19. It is also important that developers take account 

of requirements for infrastructure in the area as set out in the Infrastructure 

Delivery Plan, which will be reviewed and updated as required. In scoping of 

transport impacts, there will also need to be consideration of the development 

site location, recognising that in more rural areas the opportunity for take 

up of sustainable transport choices may be less, and that more innovative 

measures may be needed. In addition, there may be a need to take account 

of the cumulative impacts of development, for example where this relates to 

delivery of particular infrastructure improvements.

17 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 

Preferred Options 2: Evaluation 

of Transport Impacts, Stage 

1 (www.southoxon.gov.uk/

services-and-advice/planning-

and-building/planning-policy/

evidence-studies)

18 www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/

content/ltp4-area-strategies

19 http://planningguidance.

communities.gov.uk/

Page 147

Agenda Item 6



120

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy TRANS4 - Transport Assessments, Transport 
Statements and Travel Plans 

Proposals for new developments which have transport implications that 

either arise from the development proposed or cumulatively with other 

proposals will need to submit a transport assessment or a transport 

statement, and where relevant a Travel Plan. These documents will 

need to take into account Oxfordshire County Council guidance and 

Planning Practice Guidance20 and where appropriate, the scope should 

be agreed with Highways England21. Appropriate provision for works 

and/ or contributions will be required towards providing an adequate 

level of accessibility by all modes of transport and mitigating the 

impacts on the transport network. Careful consideration should be 

made to the cumulative impact of relevant development both in South 

Oxfordshire and adjacent authorities, and how this links to planned 

infrastructure improvements. This should take into account the latest 

evidence base work, which where relevant will inform the scoping of 

the Transport Assessment and Travel Plan.

The transport assessment or transport statement should, where 

relevant: 

i) Illustrate accessibility to the site by all modes of transport

ii) Show the likely modal split of journeys to and from the site

iii) Detail the proposed measures to improve access by public 

transport, cycling and walking to reduce the need for car travel 

and reduce transport impacts

iv) Illustrate the impact on the highway network and the impact of 

proposed mitigation measures where necessary

v) Include a travel plan where appropriate; and

vi) Outline the approach to parking provision.

In accordance with the guidance, travel plans will be required, 

implemented and monitored: 

i) For all major developments comprising residential, employment, 

shopping or leisure uses or services; and 

ii) For other small developments comprising residential, 

employment, shopping, leisure, or education facilities which 

would generate signifi cant amounts of travel. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, & 6.

20 www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/

cms/public-site/transport-new-

developments

21 Strategic Road Network and 

the Delivery of Sustainable 

Development (DfT Circular 

02/2013) at:

www.gov.uk/government/

publications/strategic-road-

network-and-the-delivery-of-

sustainable-development)

Page 148

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

121

7.22 In planning for new development, there are several key considerations in 

relation to transport access and movement that need to be accommodated 

at both the design and delivery stage. For most new development, this will 

be looked at as part of the transport assessment, and where relevant a site 

travel plan. The travel plan will need to take into account the needs of all those 

travelling to/from the new development, including people with disabilities, and 

their need for accessible transport. Transport also needs careful consideration 

as part of the wider master planning and site design development. Promotion 

of sustainable transport access and provision of facilities on-site will also need 

to take account of wider environmental impacts and issues such as air quality, 

particularly where Air Quality Management areas are in place.

Policy TRANS5 - Consideration of development proposals

Proposals for all types of development will, where appropriate:

i) Provide for a safe and convenient access for all users to the 

highway network

ii) Provide safe and convenient routes for cyclists and pedestrians

iii) Be accessible by public transport and have a safe walking route to 

nearby bus stops or new bus stops 

iv) Provide for appropriate public transport infrastructure 

v) Be served by an adequate road network which can accommodate 

traffi c without creating traffi c hazards or damage to the 

environment

vi) Where new roads, pedestrian routes, cycleways and street lighting 

are to be constructed as part of the development, they should be 

constructed to adoptable standards and be completed as soon as 

they are required to serve the development; and

vii) Make adequate provision for those whose mobility is impaired.

Proposals for development will also, where appropriate, make 

provision for:

viii)  Loading, unloading, circulation and turning space

ix)  The servicing of properties by refuse collection vehicles

x)  Parking for people with disabilities

xi)  The parking of vehicles in accordance with the County Council 

parking standards, unless specifi c evidence is provided to justify 

otherwise

xii)  Facilities to support the take up of electric and/ or low-emission 

Page 149

Agenda Item 6



122

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

vehicles, particularly where air quality issues in the area have 

been identifi ed; and

xiii)  Covered, secure and safe cycle parking, complemented by other 

facilities to support cycling where relevant. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, 6 & 8.

7.23 Demand for use of rail services is growing strongly, and there are plans to 

signifi cantly improve rail services operating to and through South Oxfordshire22. 

In the short-term, there is a focus on enhancing rail services to Didcot, 

complemented by measures to expand the station and improve access by car, 

bus, walking and cycling. Any upgrades in this area will need to take account 

of proposals developed as part of Didcot Garden Town. In the longer-term 

there is likely to be a need for upgrades at Culham and other smaller stations 

in association with signifi cant infrastructure investment and to serve new areas 

of homes and jobs. There will be a need to ensure that such improvements 

are delivered in a way that do not signifi cantly impact on the environment or 

surrounding residential areas.

Policy TRANS6 - Rail

Where required, and not covered within the scope of permitted 

development, planning permission will be granted for proposals which: 

i) Improve rail services in South Oxfordshire 

ii) Improve access to rail services and/or

iii) Improve facilities at railway stations such as car and cycle 

parking and upgrades to interchanges provided that there are no 

signifi cant adverse effects on the environment or amenities of 

residents. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, & 6.

7.24 It is recognised that development that results in signifi cant increases 

movements of lorries such as logistics operations needs careful consideration 

in planning terms, and that in general these types of operations are more 

appropriate in locations with good access to strategic transport networks. 

Detailed transport assessment work will need to be undertaken to understand 

environmental impacts and appropriate mitigation, and wherever possible 

sustainable transport access should be promoted for staff and visitors.

22 www.networkrail.co.uk/

wp-content/uploads/2016/11/

Western-Route-Study-Final-1.pdf

Page 150

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

123

Policy TRANS7 - Development generating new lorry 
movements

Proposals for development leading to signifi cant increases in lorry 

movements, such as freight distribution depots should only be 

permitted in locations where:

i) Any increase in lorry movements can be appropriately 

accommodated on the surrounding road network 

ii) The opportunities for sustainable transport access have been 

maximised; and

iii) The development does not result in serious and adverse 

environmental effects on the surrounding area.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 4, 6, 7 & 8.

7.25 This will allow business and residents to access services and information more 

effectively, thereby helping to reduce the need to travel. Provision of improved 

electronic communication across the District and to new development will be 

critical to supporting continued economic development in the District, and 

supporting growth of high-tech industries. From a transport perspective, it will 

also be important in supporting new ways of working such as fl exible hours 

and working at home that help reduce pressure on the transport network, 

particularly at peak times, and support vitality of our towns and villages.

Communications 

Policy INF2 - Electronic Communications

The Council will work with Oxfordshire County Council and others to 

promote faster, more reliable and more comprehensive coverage of 

electronic communications. 

Proposals for all new development should ensure appropriate 

infrastructure is provided during construction, suffi cient to enable all 

development to be connected to superfast broadband without any post 

development works.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, & 6.

Page 151

Agenda Item 6



124

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

7.26 The availability of advanced ICT infrastructure including high-speed broadband 

access is important for the success of the local economy and skills development.

 

Policy INF3 - Telecommunications Technology

In accordance with Government advice, if a proposed installation meets 

the International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection 

(ICNIRP) guidelines for public exposure then it will not be necessary to 

consider further health aspects and concerns.

Prior approval (or planning permission where required) for the siting 

and appearance of antennae will be granted for telecommunications 

installations provided that the following criteria are met:

i) The siting and appearance of the proposed apparatus and 

associated structures should seek to minimise impact on the visual 

amenity, character or appearance of the surrounding area in 

accordance with design policies and where appropriate heritage 

and/or ecological policies

ii) If on a building, apparatus and associated structures should be 

sited and designed to seek to minimise impact to the external 

appearance of the host building

iii) If proposing a new mast, it should be demonstrated that the 

applicant has explored the possibility of erecting apparatus on 

existing buildings, masts or other structures. Such evidence should 

accompany any application made to the Council

iv) If proposing development in a sensitive area, the development 

should not have an unacceptable effect on areas of ecological 

interest, areas of landscape importance, archaeological sites, 

conservation areas or buildings of architectural or historic signifi cance

v) When considering applications for telecommunications 

development, the Council will have regard to the operational 

requirements of telecommunications networks and the technical 

limitations of the technology.

Any planning permission will contain conditions to ensure that when 

any facility ceases to be used, becomes obsolete, or falls into disrepair, 

the demolition and removal of all works is undertaken, both above 

and below ground, and the reinstatement of the site to its original 

condition or to an agreed specifi cation, will be required.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 152

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

125

7.27 Telecommunications are of great importance to the economy and we need to 

accommodate the growth of new and existing systems. However, owing to 

the potentially obtrusive nature of telecommunication installations, wherever 

legally and technically possible, the Council will encourage the sharing of 

existing masts, buildings and other structures such as electricity pylons to limit 

the proliferation of unsightly development, particularly in visually sensitive 

locations. To achieve this, we will encourage pre-development and pre-

application discussions between operators and will expect confi rmation that 

the cumulative exposure will not exceed the International Commission on Non-

Ionising Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) standards. Where the sharing of a mast 

will require it to be extended, we may consider the sharing of an existing site 

to be preferable in environmental and visual amenity terms. In proving a need 

for new telecommunications development, applications should be supported 

by technical evidence such as radio coverage plots.

7.28 The future telecommunication requirements of a new development should be 

given careful consideration at the design stage to minimise visual intrusion, not 

adversely affect the amenity of nearby residents, allow for easy maintenance 

and future growth. Developers will be expected to demonstrate that there are 

no suitable alternative locations before consideration will be given to proposals 

within Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. Because telecommunications is a 

rapidly expanding and evolving technology it can become obsolete. Redundant 

apparatus should be removed.

7.29 We will safeguard the land until such time it is no longer considered necessary, 

as set out in the WRMP 2019, or subsequent decisions made by Thames Water 

or the Secretary of State. 

Water

Policy INF4 - Water Resources

All development proposals must demonstrate that there are or will be 

adequate water supply and water treatment facilities in place to serve 

the whole development. For phased development proposals, each 

phase must demonstrate suffi cient water supply and water treatment 

capacity.

We will require major development proposals to be supported by an 

integrated water management plan.

Page 153

Agenda Item 6



126

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

All development proposals must demonstrate that they meet the 

highest standard of water consumption as defi ned in Building 

Regulations Part L. In addition, proposals that increase the requirement 

for water will only be permitted where adequate water resources 

either already exist or can be provided without detriment to existing 

abstraction, river fl ows, groundwater fl ow to and from springs, water 

quality, biodiversity or other land uses. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 6 & 7.

7.30 Demand for water in the District continues to increase and it is appropriate, 

therefore, that new development minimises the pressure on existing resources. 

Measures to reduce the demand for water should be incorporated into new 

development. Where there is an adverse impact on water resources, including 

from groundwater, planning conditions and planning obligations may be 

imposed to mitigate the adverse effects of the development and to secure 

water conservation measures. The statutory sewerage and water undertaker 

for South Oxfordshire (currently Thames Water) and the Environment Agency 

provide advice on the availability of water resources in the District.

Page 154

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

127
Page 155

Agenda Item 6



128

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 156

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

129

NATURAL AND HISTORIC 
ENVIRONMENT

Introduction
8.1 South Oxfordshire has a beautiful natural and built environment, which makes 

the District an attractive place to live and work. This environment also attracts 

visitors from near and far who contribute significantly to the local economy.

8.2 The landscape of the District includes rolling downland, wooded hills, historic 

parkland, low-lying farmland, riverside meadows and strategic environmental 

assets including the North Wessex Downs and the Chilterns AONB, the Green 

Belt and the River Thames and its tributaries. The Council encourages effective 

management of the AONB and the Green Belt. 

8.3 The whole District is rich in biodiversity, including international, national and 

locally protected sites and habitats. Maintaining sustainable agricultural land and 

practices is important in preserving the District’s rural character and landscape. 

8.4 The valley and tributaries of the River Thames are highly attractive features of the 

landscape and its special visual and environmental qualities are for the most part 

unspoilt. The Thames Valley is noted for its peace, tranquillity, biodiversity and 

cultural heritage, which is essential to preserve. The long-distance Thames Path 

and the river itself provide a focus for recreation and leisure activities. 

8.5 We will seek to ensure that the planning and design of development not only 

protects water supply and quality, but also protects and, where appropriate 

restores, natural river form and function, whilst maximising resistance and 

resilience to flood risk.

8.6 The District has a rich cultural history that has provided South Oxfordshire with 

over 3,500 listed buildings, 52 scheduled monuments, 13 Registered Parks 

and Gardens, a Registered Battlefield, 72 Conservation Areas. Sadly in 2017 

there are 15 sites on the Heritage at Risk Register. Parts of the District’s natural 

environment and some historic assets are of national significance. These 

heritage assets23 help establish the distinctive character of South Oxfordshire. 

The Council seeks to ensure the conservation, enhancement, enjoyment and 

understanding of all our heritage assets as they make a positive contribution to 

sustainable communities, including their economic vitality. 

8

129

23 Further information on 

nationally protected historic 

buildings is available on the 

Historic England website (www.

historicengland.org.uk/listing/

the-list/). Further information on 

Heritage at Risk is also available 

(www.historicengland.org.uk/

advice/heritage-at-risk/search-

register/) The lists are updated 

periodically.

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 157

Agenda Item 6



130

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 158

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

131

 Landscape and countryside 

Policy ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside

The District’s landscape, countryside and rural areas will be protected 

against inappropriate development and where possible enhanced.

i) Planning permission will only be granted for major development 

in the Chilterns and North Wessex Downs Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB) in exceptional circumstances and where it 

can be demonstrated to be in the public interest

ii) Development which supports economic growth in rural areas will 

be supported provided it conserves and enhances the landscape, 

countryside and rural areas

iii) Development will only be permitted where it protects or 

enhances:

a. The landscapes, waterscapes, cultural heritage and user 

enjoyment of the River Thames, its tributaries and fl ood 

plains

b. The attractive landscape setting of settlements or the special 

character and landscape setting of Oxford. Design must 

conform to the South Oxfordshire Design Guide, “made” 

Neighbourhood Development Plans, the Oxfordshire Historic 

Landscape Characterisation Project and where appropriate, by 

landscape, visual impact assessment and AONB management 

plans

c.  Local landscape features such as trees (including individual 

trees, groups of trees and woodlands), hedgerows, 

watercourses and water bodies that contribute to locally 

distinctive landscapes, amenity and biodiversity or have 

important historical value

d.  The landscape setting and positive features of rivers and 

riverbanks. Outside settlements, proposals for mooring 

stages will not be permitted. Proposals for posts, earthworks 

or facing river banks with piles and planking will not be 

permitted. Where it is necessary to protect a riverbank 

from erosion, the protective measures must be designed to 

maintain and enhance the special character of the river and its 

environment.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2,3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 159

Agenda Item 6



132

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

8.7 South Oxfordshire is a mainly rural District. Mid-year population estimates for 

2014 from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) rank the District as 249th out 

of 326 districts in terms of population density, with an average of 202 people 

per square kilometre (the national average for England is 417 people per 

square kilometre). 

8.8 The countryside and its relationship with our settlements contributes 

significantly to the District’s character and is highly valued. Development should 

conserve and where possible, enhance the landscape setting of settlements. 

We will use our evidence base on the District’s landscape which includes 

our Landscape Character Assessment, Landscape Capacity Assessments and 

the Oxfordshire Historic Landscape Characterisation Project, to assess and 

determine development proposals.

8.9 Whilst supporting suitably located and designed development necessary to 

facilitate the economic and social well-being of local communities, great 

weight is given to conserving and enhancing the intrinsic character and beauty 

of our Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status 

of protection. Significant weight is also given to protecting non-designated 

landscapes, the countryside and green infrastructure assets from harm. 

Green Belt

8.10 In 1992 the Central Oxfordshire Local Plan defined the boundaries of the 

Green Belt within South Oxfordshire. This Local Plan proposes to alter these 

Green Belt boundaries to accommodate development. These proposals are 

included at Appendix 4.

8.11 The five purposes of the Green Belt are to:

•	  Check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas

•	  Prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another

•	  Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment

•	  Preserve the setting and special character of historic towns (such as 

Oxford)

•	  Assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land.

 

8.12 We will give great weight to protecting the Green Belt when considering any 

planning application. Only appropriate development will be permitted in the 

Green Belt; inappropriate development will only be permitted in very special 

circumstances. 

Page 160

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

133

8.13 Appropriate development within or adjacent to the Green Belt should be 

carefully designed and sited to protect the positive characteristics of the Green 

Belt and landscape. 

Trees and hedgerows in the landscape

8.14 Trees, individually and collectively, make an outstanding contribution to 

biodiversity and the landscape. They also absorb atmospheric pollution and 

have a beneficial influence on the climate. 

8.15 We will protect trees of significant amenity importance which are worthy 

of retention and considered to be at risk, through Tree Preservation Orders, 

Conservation Areas and planning conditions as appropriate, except in 

woodland subject to a Forestry Commission management agreement. When 

considering applications to carry out work to trees protected by an Order 

or Conservation Area, the Council will take account of good arboricultural 

practice, the effect of the trees on nearby properties, and the contribution they 

make to the visual quality of the area.

8.16 Where a proposal results in the removal of an important hedgerow (according 

to the definition within the Hedgerow Regulations 1997) the Council will seek 

retention of the hedgerow. Where a proposal seeks the removal of a hedgerow 

the Council will require compensatory planting with a mixture of native 

hedgerow species.

Page 161

Agenda Item 6



134

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Biodiversity

Policy ENV2: Biodiversity - Designated Sites, Priority 
Habitats and Species

The highest level of protection will be given to sites of international 

nature conservation importance (Special Areas of Conservation). 

Development that is likely to result in a signifi cant effect, either alone 

or in combination, on such sites will need to satisfy the requirements of 

the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010.

Sites of Special Scientifi c Interest (SSSI) are of national importance. 

Development that would affect a SSSI will only be permitted in 

exceptional circumstances, where it can be demonstrated that the benefi ts 

of the development clearly outweigh any signifi cant harm to the special 

interest features and its contribution to the local ecological network.

Development proposals resulting in the loss or deterioration of 

irreplaceable habitats, ancient woodland, aged or veteran trees 

will only be permitted where the need for, and benefi ts of, the 

development in that location clearly outweigh the loss.

• Local Wildlife Sites 

• Local Nature Reserves

• Priority Habitats and Species

• Legally Protected Species

• Local Geological Sites

• Ecological Networks (Conservation Target Areas)

• Important or ancient hedges or hedgerows

will only be permitted if:

i) The need for, and benefi ts of the development in the proposed 

location outweighs the adverse effect on the interests and

ii) It can be demonstrated that it could not reasonably be located 

on an alternative site that would result in less or no harm to the 

interests and

iii) Measures will be provided (and secured through planning 

conditions or legal agreements), that would avoid, mitigate or as 

a last resort, compensate for the adverse effects resulting from 

development.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6 & 7.

Page 162

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

135

8.17 The level of protection and mitigation should be proportionate to the status of the 

habitat or species and its importance individually and as part of a wider network.

Policy ENV3: Biodiversity – Non designated sites, habitats 
and species

Development that will conserve, restore and enhance biodiversity in 

the District will be permitted. All development should provide a net 

gain in biodiversity where possible and should result as a minimum 

of a no net loss of biodiversity. All proposals should be supported by 

evidence to demonstrate a biodiversity net gain using a recognised 

biodiversity accounting metric.

Development proposals which would result in a net loss of biodiversity 

will only be considered if they can demonstrate that alternatives which 

avoid impacts on biodiversity have been discounted. In the absence 

of alternative sites or layouts, development proposals must include 

adequate mitigation measures to achieve a net gain of biodiversity. 

Where harm cannot be prevented or adequately mitigated, appropriate 

compensation measures will be sought, as a last resort, through planning 

conditions or planning obligations (depending on the circumstances 

of each application) to offset the loss by contributing to appropriate 

biodiversity projects to achieve an overall net gain for biodiversity.

Planning permission will only be granted if impacts on biodiversity can 

be avoided, mitigated or compensated. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6 & 7.

8.18 South Oxfordshire supports a rich variety of natural habitats and species. Many 

of these habitats are of national and international signifi cance. These include: 

 Table 8a: Natural habitats and species  

 International 4 Special Areas of Conservation (SAC)

 National 38 Sites of Special Scientifi c Interest (SSSI)

 Local 150 confi rmed or proposed Local Wildlife Sites24 

  4 Local Nature Reserves

  5 local Geologically Important Sites

8.19 In addition, there are numerous other important natural habitats, which 

are priority habitats of principal importance for the purpose of conserving 

24 A current list of Local Wildlife 

Sites is available on the Thames 

Valley Environmental Records 

Centre website (www.tverc.

org/cms/). The list is updated 

periodically so should be 

referred to for the most up to 

date list of conservation sites

Page 163

Agenda Item 6



136

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

biodiversity (under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural 

Communities Act25). 

8.20 Where development has the potential to affect a proposed wildlife site the 

developer must undertake surveys and assessments to determine whether the 

site meets the criteria for Local Wildlife Site status.

8.21 In Oxfordshire a series of Conservation Target Areas (CTA)26 have been 

identifi ed which form the Ecological Network for the County. The CTA provide 

the best opportunities for targeted conservation action. They connect and 

buffer important habitats and species assemblages and have been designed to 

provide resilience to future climate change. Development proposals that would 

affect the integrity of these networks will be resisted.

8.22 Development should contribute to the conservation of ecological networks, 

protected sites and priority habitats. All development should consider how it can 

improve biodiversity and loss can only be permitted when there are unavoidable 

impacts that cannot be mitigated. The Council applies a form of Biodiversity 

Accounting to help it understand if development proposals can achieve no net loss. 

Biodiversity: Watercourses

Policy ENV4: Watercourses

Development of land that contains or is adjacent to a watercourse must 

protect or enhance the function and setting of the watercourse and its 

biodiversity. As a last resort development should provide mitigation for 

any unavoidable impacts.

Development should include a minimum 10m buffer zone along 

both sides of the watercourse to create a corridor favourable to the 

enhancement of biodiversity. 

Proposals should avoid the culverting of any watercourse. 

Development which is located within 20m of a watercourse will 

require a construction management plan to be agreed with the Council 

before commencement of work to ensure that the watercourse will be 

satisfactorily protected from damage, disturbance or pollution.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6 & 7

25 Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006, 

available at: www.legislation.

gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents

26 www.wildoxfordshire.org.uk/

biodiversity/conservation-target-

areas/

Page 164

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

137

8.23 Watercourses are vital to biodiversity, provide a unique range of habitats, act 

as wildlife corridors, and form an important element of South Oxfordshire’s 

ecological network. They make a significant contribution towards the character 

of our landscape and form an important part of green infrastructure. They 

provide vital ecosystem services, help improve water quality, provide drainage 

and flood management and provide green space for informal recreation. Of 

specific note are South Oxfordshire’s globally rare chalk streams which support 

special wildlife habitats and species. 

8.24 The health of all watercourses is under pressure from a variety of issues 

including abstraction, pollution and increased disturbance. It is essential that 

watercourses are positively integrated into the design of new development 

from the outset to protect their ecological importance and retain and enhance 

biodiversity. Integrating watercourses into development can provide attractive 

riverside settings, natural areas of green infrastructure and areas for informal 

recreation.

8.25 All development proposals adjacent to watercourses should avoid damaging 

impacts and provide mitigation for any unavoidable impacts. Development 

proposals should aim to provide enhancements to the watercourse that benefit 

biodiversity and other ecosystem services.

Watercourse Buffer zones

8.26 Watercourse buffer zones are required to avoid disturbance associated with 

development. The buffer zone should be a minimum of 10 metres wide, 

measured from the top of each bank.  Larger developments should provide 

further buffering which can be used for informal recreation.

8.27 Buffer zones:

i) Allow the watercourse to undergo the natural processes of erosion, 

deposition and natural changes to the bank profile without necessitating 

intrusive and harmful bank protection works.

ii) Provide space for semi-aquatic and terrestrial habitats which are important 

to the lifecycle of many species.

iii) Create, maintain and enhance wildlife corridors which can also be used as 

part of green infrastructure networks.

iv) Prevent permanent overshadowing of the water by buildings.

v) Reduce the risk of pollution caused by run-off.

vi) Reduce incidences of flooding by allowing water storage and the natural 

drainage of rainwater.

Page 165

Agenda Item 6



138

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

8.28 Proposals should include long term management plans for the buffer zone 

which retain and enhance its biodiversity value and should seek to reinstate 

buffer zones where previous land uses or development have not provided this. 

Buffer zones should be reserved as a natural or semi-natural habitat, free from 

built development and formal landscaping, planted with native species that 

are naturally found by local riversides. Soft infrastructure such as pedestrian 

footpaths should be kept to a minimum. The buffer zone should not form 

domestic land or parking areas of any kind, but may form part of the requisite 

green infrastructure for new developments.

8.29 Where a 10m wide buffer zone is not considered possible by the local planning 

authority, proposals should be accompanied by detailed plans to show how the 

land will be managed to promote biodiversity and how maintenance access to 

the watercourse will be created.

8.30 It should be noted that in addition to any planning permission, consent is 

required from either the Environment Agency or the Lead Local Flood Authority 

to carry out any work within 8 metres of a watercourse.

Culverts

8.31 Culverting has a huge impact on the ecology of the watercourse by removing 

habitat and fragmenting the channel and its river corridor. All opportunities to 

de-culvert a watercourse should be taken. Culverting should be avoided as:

i) the absence of sunlight, natural banks and vegetation means that culverts 

are not usually able to sustain significant life;

ii) they are often protected by screens which usually makes the culvert 

impenetrable to animals such as otter, water voles, fish and invertebrates. 

This can prevent the movement of species along the river corridor and lead 

to animals being forced onto roads causing animal deaths and road traffic 

incidents; 

iii) they can significantly increase the risk of flooding due to the risk of 

blockage and changed channel dynamics; and

iv) maintenance is complicated due to restricted access. 

8.32 Sites for new development with existing culverts will be expected to investigate 

the feasibility of de-culverting the watercourse. Where bridges are proposed as 

an alternative to culverting, the construction method should take into account 

the importance of maintaining an obstruction free bank for wildlife.

Proposals 
should include 

long term 
management 
plans for the 
buffer zone 

which retain 
and enhance its 

biodiversity value

Page 166

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

139

Green Infrastructure

Policy ENV5: Green Infrastructure in new developments

Development will be expected to contribute towards the provision of 

additional Green Infrastructure and protect and enhance existing Green 

Infrastructure. 

Proposals should:

i) Protect, conserve, enhance the District’s green infrastructure

ii) Provide an appropriate level of green infrastructure where 

a requirement has been identifi ed for additional provision 

either within the Green Infrastructure Strategy, the relevant 

Neighbourhood Development Plan, AONB Management Plan or 

the Habitats Regulations Assessment

iii) Avoid the loss, fragmentation, severance or a negative impact on 

the function of green infrastructure

iv) Provide appropriate mitigation where there would be an adverse 

impact on green infrastructure; and

v) Provide an appropriate replacement where it is necessary for 

development to take place on areas of green infrastructure.

All green infrastructure provision should be designed to meet the 

quality standards set out within the Green Infrastructure Strategy, the 

relevant Neighbourhood Development Plan, or the Didcot Garden Town 

Masterplan. Consideration should also be given to inclusive access 

using such guides as the Fieldfare Trust “Countryside for All – A good 

practice guide to Disabled People’s Access in the Countryside” and the 

South Oxfordshire Design Guide.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6 & 7

8.33 Green Infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green space in both urban 

and rural areas, which is capable of delivering a wide range of environmental 

and quality of life benefi ts for local communities. Such networks can also 

include “blue” infrastructure features such as ponds, lakes, reservoirs, streams 

and rivers. When assessing planning applications, the Council will take into 

account the fi ndings of the Green Infrastructure Strategy and the Habitat 

Regulations Assessment (HRA) to defi ne new Green Infrastructure requirements 

Page 167

Agenda Item 6



140

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

and how they should be delivered. Where new Green Infrastructure is 

identifi ed as a mitigation requirement within the HRA this must be delivered by 

the developer to meet requirements.

Historic Environment and 
Heritage Assets

Policy ENV6 - Historic Environment

Proposals for new development that affect heritage assets (designated 

and non-designated) must conserve and enhance the signifi cance of the 

heritage asset and its setting in accordance with national guidance and 

legislation1. Proposals will be supported particularly where they:

i)  Make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness 

and/or

ii)  Make a positive contribution towards wider social and economic 

benefi ts and or

iii)  Provide a viable future use for a heritage asset that is consistent 

with the conservation of its signifi cance, and/or

iv)  Protect a heritage asset that is currently at risk

The Council will work with landowners, developers, the community, 

Historic England and other stakeholders to:

i)  Ensure that new development conserves, and where possible 

enhances, designated heritage assets and non-designated 

heritage assets and their setting

 ii) Ensure that vacant historic buildings are appropriately re-used as 

soon as possible to prevent deterioration of condition

 iii)  Seek to reduce the number of buildings on the “Heritage at Risk” 

Register

 iv) Encourage better understanding of the signifi cance of scheduled 

monuments on the “Heritage at Risk” Register and to aid in their 

protection

 v)  Better understand the signifi cance of Conservation Areas in the 

district through producing Conservation Area Character Appraisals 

and Management Plans

 vi) Identify criteria for assessing non-designated heritage assets and 

maintaining a list of such assets as Locally Listed Buildings27, and27 Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Page 168

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

141

 vii)  Encourage Heritage Partnership Agreements, particularly for 

Listed Buildings on any ‘at risk’ register.

viii) Support Neighbourhood Development Plans where they seek to 

assess their heritage assets and add to the evidence base.

Applicants will be required to describe, in line with best practice and 

relevant national guidance, the signifi cance of any heritage assets 

affected including any contribution made by their setting. The level 

of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance. In some 

circumstances, further survey, analysis and recording will be made a 

condition of consent.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5, 6 & 7

8.34  Heritage assets may be classifi ed as either ‘designated’ or ‘non-designated’ 

and both can be important to consider through the planning process. Heritage 

assets can include listed buildings, scheduled monuments, conservation areas, 

registered parks and gardens, archaeological sites and other assets.

8.35 Development proposals at an early stage should refer to sources of information 

on the historic environment such as the Oxfordshire Historic Landscape 

Characterisation Project, The Oxfordshire Historic Environment Record, The 

National Heritage List for England, the South Oxfordshire Heritage Impact 

Assessment, and where relevant Conservation Area Character Appraisals to 

ensure that proposals are based on an understanding of the signifi cance of any 

heritage assets that may be affected. Development proposals should also take 

into account the principles set out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and 

other relevant guidance.

Page 169

Agenda Item 6



142

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

8.36 In some circumstances, further surveys and analysis may be required prior 

to any application being determined. Heritage Statements, Statements of 

Signifi cance, and Impact Assessments should be produced in line with current 

best practice and relevant national guidance.

8.37 We will monitor buildings or other heritage assets at risk through neglect, 

decay or other threats, proactively seeking solutions for assets at risk through 

discussions with owners and willingness to consider positively development 

schemes that would ensure the repair and maintenance of the asset, and, as a 

last resort, using its statutory powers.

Listed Buildings

Policy ENV7 – Listed Buildings

Proposals for alteration of, addition to or demolition of (including 

partial demolition) a listed building or for development within the 

curtilage of, or affecting the setting of a Listed Building must:

i)  Conserve or enhance the heritage signifi cance and setting;

ii)  Respect any features of special architectural or historic interest, 

including, where relevant, the historic curtilage or context, such as 

Page 170

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

143

burgage plots, or its value within a group and/or its setting, such 

as the importance of a street frontage or traditional shopfronts, 

and

iii)  Be sympathetic to the Listed Building and its setting in terms of 

its siting, size, scale, height, alignment, materials and fi nishes 

(including colour and texture), design and form, in order to 

retain the special interest that justifi es its designation through 

appropriate design and in accordance with the South Oxfordshire 

Design Guide.

Any harm to the building must be demonstrably outweighed by its 

benefi ts. National planning policy makes clear that any harm or loss of 

a listed building should be exceptional and would require convincing 

justifi cation in terms of substantial public benefi t.

Proposals for the change of use of a Listed Building or building within 

its curtilage will be viewed favourably where it can be demonstrated 

that the new use can be accommodated without any adverse effect 

on the special architectural or historic interest of the building and its 

appearance or character.

Applications involving listed buildings should describe the signifi cance 

of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by 

their setting. The level of detail provided should be proportionate to 

the asset’s signifi cance.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

8.38  A “listed building” is a building, object or structure fi xed to the building or 

within the building’s curtilage that has been judged to be of national importance 

in terms of architectural or historic interest and included on a special register, 

called the List of Buildings of Special architectural or Historic Interest. 

8.39 When a building is listed, it is listed in its entirety, which means that both the 

exterior and the interior are protected which includes interior features and 

fabric such as staircases, panelling, roof structures, fl oors, walls, fi replaces, 

doors etc. In addition, any object or structure fi xed to the building, and any 

object or structure within the curtilage of the building, which although not 

fi xed to the building, forms part of the land and has done so since before 1 

July 1948, are treated as being part of the listed building.

Page 171

Agenda Item 6



144

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Conservation Areas

Policy ENV8 - Conservation Areas

Proposals for development within or affecting the setting of a 

Conservation Area must conserve or enhance its special interest, 

character, setting and appearance. Development will be expected to:

i) contribute to the conservation area’s special interest and its 

relationship within its setting. The special characteristics of 

the Conservation Area (such as existing walls, buildings, trees, 

hedges, burgage plots, traditional shopfronts and signs, farm 

groups, medieval townscapes, archaeological features, historic 

routes etc.) should be preserved.  

ii)  take into account important views within, into or out of the 

conservation area and show that these would be retained and 

unharmed 

iii)  respect the local character and distinctiveness of the conservation 

area in terms of the development’s: siting; size; scale; height; 

alignment; materials and fi nishes (including colour and texture); 

proportions; design; and form, in accordance with the South 

Oxfordshire Design Guide and any relevant Conservation Area 

Character Appraisal 

iv)  be sympathetic to the original curtilage of buildings and pattern 

of development that forms part of the historic interest of the 

conservation area

v) be sympathetic to important spaces such as paddocks, greens, 

gardens and other gaps or spaces between buildings which make 

a positive contribution to the pattern of development in the 

conservation area

vi) ensure the wider social and environmental effects generated by 

the development are compatible with the existing character and 

appearance of the conservation area, and/or

vii)  ensure no loss of, or harm to any building or feature that makes 

a positive contribution to the special interest, character or 

appearance of the conservation area. 

Where harm to signifi cance is caused, a balanced judgement will be 

made with regard to the level of harm against demonstrable public 

benefi ts.

Wherever possible the sympathetic restoration and re-use of structures 

which make a positive contribution to the special interest, character 

Page 172

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

145

or appearance of the conservation area will be encouraged to prevent 

harm through the cumulative loss of features which are an asset to the 

Conservation Area.

Applicants will be required to describe, in line with best practice and 

relevant national guidance, the signifi cance of any heritage assets 

affected including any contribution made by their setting. The level 

of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance. In some 

circumstances, further survey, analysis and recording will be made a 

condition of consent

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

8.40 Conservation Areas are described in Section 69 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as “areas of special architectural 

or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 

preserve or enhance”. Inevitably, these areas will vary greatly. Pleasant groups 

of buildings, open spaces, trees, an historic settlement pattern, a village 

green, or features of archaeological interest, may all contribute to the special 

character of an area, and it is that character, rather than individual buildings, 

which Conservation Area legislation seeks to preserve and enhance.

8.41 A feature of many towns are ‘burgage plots’. Surviving patterns of burgage 

plots have considerable historic and archaeological signifi cance and contribute 

much to the character of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford. They are 

among the principal historic assets of these towns and should be conserved. 

8.42 When undertaking conservation area appraisals the opportunity will be taken 

to produce and update lists of locally important non-designated heritage assets 

and a condition survey of listed buildings.

Archaeology

Policy ENV9: Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments

Development must protect the site and setting of Scheduled 

Monuments or nationally important designated or undesignated 

archaeological remains.

Page 173

Agenda Item 6



146

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Applicants will be expected to undertake an assessment of appropriate 

detail to determine whether the development site is known to, or 

is likely to, contain archaeological remains. Proposals must show 

the development proposals have had regard to any such remains. 

Where the assessment indicates archaeological remains on site, and 

development could disturb or adversely affect archaeological remains 

and/or their setting, applicants will be expected to:

i) Submit an appropriate archaeological desk-based assessment or 

ii) Undertake a fi eld evaluation (conducted by a suitably qualifi ed, 

and archaeological organisation), where necessary. 

 

Nationally important archaeological remains (whether scheduled or 

demonstrably of equivalent signifi cance) should be preserved in situ. 

Non-designated archaeological sites or deposits of signifi cance equal 

to that of a nationally important monument will be assessed as though 

those sites or deposits are designated. Development proposals that 

would lead to harm or total loss of signifi cance of such remains will 

only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where: 

i) It can be demonstrated that the harm or loss is necessary to 

achieve substantial public benefi ts that outweigh that harm or 

loss, or 

ii) All of the circumstances of paragraph 133 of the NPPF apply.

For other archaeological remains, the effect of a development proposal 

on the signifi cance of the remains, either directly or indirectly, will be 

taken into account in determining the application. As such assets are 

also irreplaceable, the presumption will be in favour of the avoidance 

of harm. The scale of the harm or loss will be weighed against this 

presumption and the signifi cance of the heritage asset.

In exceptional cases, where harm to or loss of signifi cance to the 

asset is considered to be justifi ed, the harm should be minimised, 

and mitigated by a programme of archaeological investigation, 

including excavation, recording and analysis. Planning permission 

will not be granted until this programme has been submitted to, and 

approved by, the local planning authority, and development should 

not commence until these works have been satisfactorily undertaken 

by an appropriately qualifi ed organisation. The results and analysis of 

fi ndings subsequent to the investigation should be published and made 

available to the relevant local and county authorities.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

Page 174

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

147

8.43 Our archaeological resource has great social, economic, cultural and educational 

value for the community and this potential can be developed through suitable 

management and interpretation. Some archaeological sites and monuments are 

designated as Scheduled Monuments and are legally protected under the terms 

of the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act. 

8.44 A network of historic routes also exist as archaeological features in the district, 

ranging from pre-historic tracks, Roman roads, medieval coffi n ways, salt roads, 

and droveways, to later turnpike roads. These routes are integrated into the 

district’s landscape and serve an important function in linking settlements and 

forming a unique setting for the district’s distinctive landscape features and will 

therefore be protected.

Historic Battlefi elds, Registered Parks and Gardens and 
Historic Landscapes

Policy ENV10 - Historic Battlefi elds, Registered Parks and 
Gardens and Historic Landscapes

Proposals should conserve the special historic interest, character 

or setting of a designated battlefi eld, historic landscape, park or 

garden contained in the Historic England Registers. Any harm must 

be demonstrably outweighed by its subtantial public benefi ts, 

and all other options for their conservation or use must have been 

explored. Substantial harm to or loss of these assets should be wholly 

exceptional in the case of grade I and grade II* sites and require clear 

and convincing justifi cation in other cases.

A balanced judgment, having regard to the scale of any harm or loss 

and the signifi cance of the heritage asset, will be required in assessing 

proposals affecting non-designated historic battlefi elds, parks and 

historic landscapes including historic routes.

Applicants will be required to describe, in line with best practice and 

relevant national guidance, the signifi cance of any heritage assets 

affected including any contribution made by their setting. The level 

of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance. In some 

circumstances, further survey, analysis and recording will be made a 

condition of consent.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

Page 175

Agenda Item 6



148

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

8.45 Historic battlefi elds, landscapes, parks and gardens are an important part of the 

District’s heritage and environment. They comprise a variety of features including 

the open space itself, views in and out, archaeological remains and, in the 

case of parks or gardens, a conscious design incorporating planting and water 

features and frequently buildings. The Green Infrastructure and biodiversity value 

of historic landscapes is also important. There is a need to protect such sites and 

their settings and to encourage sympathetic management wherever possible.

8.46  A number of the most important sites have been included on the “Historic 

England Register of Historic Parks and Gardens of special historic interest in 

England”. Registered Parks and Gardens are included on the National Heritage 

List for England. Registered sites are of national importance, but the District 

has several other sites of regional or local importance that should also be 

protected from harm, and enhanced where possible. 

Environmental Protection and 
Pollution

Policy ENV11: Pollution - Impact from Existing and/
or Previous Land Uses on New Development (Potential 
Receptors of Pollution)

Development proposals should be appropriate to their location and 

should be designed to ensure that the occupiers of a new development 

will not be subject to individual and/or cumulative adverse effect(s) of 

pollution. Proposals will need to avoid or provide details of proposed 

mitigation methods to protect occupiers of a new development from 

the adverse impact(s) of pollution.

Unless there is a realistic potential for appropriate mitigation, 

development will not be permitted if it is likely to be adversely affected 

by pollution. Factors can include, but is not limited to: 

• Noise or vibration 

• Smell, dust, odour, artifi cial light, gases and other emissions 

• Air pollution, contamination of the site or its surroundings and 

hazardous substances nearby

• Land instability; or

• Any other relevant types of pollution.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6, 7 & 8.

Page 176

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

149

Policy ENV12: Pollution - Impact of Development on 
Human Health, the Natural Environment and/or Local 
Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)

Development proposals should be located in sustainable locations and 

should be designed to ensure that they will not result in signifi cant 

adverse impacts on human health, the natural environment and/or the 

amenity of neighbouring uses. 

The individual and cumulative impacts of development on human 

health, the natural environment and/or local amenity will be 

considered when assessing development proposals. 

The consideration of the merits of development proposals will be 

balanced against the adverse impact on human health, the natural 

environment and/or local amenity, including the following factors: 

• Noise or vibration 

• Smell, dust, odour, artifi cial light, gases and other emissions 

• Air pollution, contamination of the site or its surroundings and 

hazardous substances nearby

• Land instability

• Any other relevant types of pollution.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6, 7 & 8.

8.47 “Pollution” is anything that affects the quality of land, air, water or soils, which 

might lead to an adverse impact on human health, the natural environment 

or general amenity. Pollution can arise from a range of emissions, including 

smoke, fumes, gases, dust, steam, odour, noise and light. Pollution can also 

include ground conditions and land instability, natural hazards or sources of 

pollution from former activities such as mining. 

8.48  In determining proposals, the Council will consider whether the proposal is 

an acceptable use of the land, the cumulative impact of the proposal and 

also consider the impact of the proposed use. Amongst other matters, the 

Council will consider proposals in terms of how it may be effected by sources 

of pollution and how a proposal may cause pollution. The Council will prevent 

new development from being put at risk from or being adversely affected 

by unacceptable levels of pollution or land instability. Development should 

be appropriate for its location. The Council will also consider the future 

remediation of the land. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 6



150

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

8.49  Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues, responsibility 

for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

Proposals should avoid or provide assessments of and mitigation for all 

signifi cant adverse impacts from pollution. Further information on requirements 

and standards is available from the Council’s Environmental Protection Team.

8.50  The Council will also consider that existing businesses and uses may wish to 

develop in continuance and will therefore consider the effect nearby proposals 

may have on these existing businesses and uses.

8.51  The Council will consider proposals against current local and national 

standards, guidance, legislation and/or objectives. This will include 

consideration of the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and the 

cumulative impacts on air quality.

Policy EP1 - Air Quality

Air quality has been identifi ed as a key consideration in South 

Oxfordshire. In order to protect public health from the impacts of poor 

air quality:

• Development must be compliant with the measures laid out in the 

Council’s Developer Guidance Document and the associated air 

quality action plan, as well as the national Air Quality Guidance 

and any local transport plans28

• All development proposals should include measures to minimise air 

pollution at the design stage and incorporate best practice in the 

design, construction and operation of the development

• Where a development has a negative impact on air quality, 

including cumulative impact, developers should identify mitigation 

measures that will suffi ciently minimise emissions from the 

development. Where mitigation is not suffi cient the impacts should 

be offset through planning obligations

• Development that leads to the creation of an Air Quality 

Management Area will not be permitted.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6, 7 & 8.

28 Further information is 

available at: https://oxfordshire.

air-quality.info/local-air-quality-

management/south-oxfordshire

Page 178

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

151

Hazardous substances

Policy EP2 - Hazardous substances

Development which involves the use, movement or storage of 

hazardous substances will only be permitted where due weight has 

been given to the risks to the health and safety of users of the site, 

neighbouring land or the environment. Development within the vicinity 

of an installation involving hazardous substances or activities will only 

be permitted if the health and safety of occupants of that development 

is acceptable. The Council will seek to reduce the potential for 

confl icting land uses and promote safety of people and protection of 

the environment.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 6 & 7. 

8.52  The Council is empowered under the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 

1990 to regulate the presence of hazardous substances, so that they cannot be 

kept or used above specifi ed quantities. National Planning Practice Guidance 

provides further advice on how the planning system deals with hazardous 

substances. Development of new installations where hazardous substances are 

handled will be carefully controlled.

Waste collection and recycling

Policy EP3: Waste Collection and Recycling 

All new development will be expected to be consistent with the 

Council’s Waste Planning Guidance. 

Development proposals for residential use must ensure: 

i) Adequate facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and 

collection of waste and recycling 

ii) Suffi cient space is provided for the storage and collection of 

individual or communal recycling and refuse containers; and

iii) Access is provided that is safe for existing users/residents and for 

refuse and recycling collection vehicles.

Page 179

Agenda Item 6



152

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Development proposals for non-residential use must ensure: 

iv) Suffi cient space is provided for the storage of communal recycling 

and refuse containers;

v) Provision is made that is adequate for the proposed use class. The 

location and design of recycling and refuse provision should be 

integral to the design of the proposed development. 

In assessing recycling and refuse provision, the following points should 

be considered: 

vi) The level and type of provision, having regard to the above 

requirements and relevant space standards;

vii) The location of the provision, having regard to the need to 

provide and maintain safe and convenient access for occupants, 

while also providing satisfactory access for collection vehicles;

viii) The impact of the provision on visual amenity, having regard to 

the need to minimise the prominence of the facilities and screen 

any external provision;

ix) The impact of the provision on health and amenity of 

neighbouring development and the proposed development; and

x) The security of the provision against scavenging pests, vandalism 

and unauthorised use. 

Recycling and refuse storage should be separate from cycle storage, car 

parking and key circulation areas. 

Development will not be permitted if recycling and refuse provision 

that meets the above requirements cannot feasibly or practicably be 

provided.

8.53  In promoting good urban design it is important to ensure that proper provision 

is made for waste and recycling, storage and collection and opportunities are 

taken for incorporating re-use and recycling facilities in all new developments.

8.54  Policy DES7 encourages developers to make provision for the effective use of 

resources, including minimising waste and making provision for the recycling of 

waste on site.

8.55 In combination with policy DES7, policy EP3 requires that adequate facilities 

for the sorting, storage and collection of waste are provided on all new 

developments and seeks to further encourage sustainable waste management 

initiatives.

Page 180

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

153

8.56  Refuse and recycling storage and collection facilities should be designed 

and provided in accordance with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and 

South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Council’s Waste Planning 

Guidance29.

Flood risk

Policy EP4 – Flood Risk

The risk and impact of fl ooding will be minimised through:

i) Directing new development to areas with the lowest probability 

of fl ooding;

ii) Ensuring that all new development addresses the effective 

management of all sources of fl ood risk;

iii) Ensuring that development does not increase the risk of fl ooding 

elsewhere; and

iv) Ensuring wider environmental benefi ts of development in relation 

to fl ood risk.

The suitability of development proposed in fl ood zones will be 

strictly assessed using the ‘Sequential Test’, and, where necessary, the 

‘Exceptions Test’. A sequential approach should be used at site level.

A Site-Specifi c Flood Risk Assessment (SSFRA) will be required for all 

developments of 1 hectare and greater in Flood Zone 1.  A SSFRA will 

be required for all developments (including minor development and 

change of use) in Flood Zone 2 and 3, in Critical Drainage Areas, and 

where the development or change of use is to a more vulnerable class 

that may be subject to other forms of fl ooding. Appropriate mitigation 

and management measures will be required to be implemented and 

maintained.

All development proposals must be assessed against the current South 

Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment or any updates and the 

Oxfordshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy to address locally 

signifi cant fl ooding. Appropriate mitigation and management measures 

must be implemented and maintained.

All development will be required to provide a drainage strategy. 

Development will be expected to incorporate sustainable drainage 

29 South Oxfordshire and 

Vale of White Horse District 

Council’s (2015) Waste Planning 

Guidance; available at: www.

whitehorsedc.gov.uk/services-

and-advice/recycling-rubbish-

and-waste/our-policies-and-your-

questions/future-planning-pr-0

Page 181

Agenda Item 6



154

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

systems and ensure that runoff rates are attenuated to greenfi eld 

run-off rates. Higher rates would need to be justifi ed and the risks 

quantifi ed. Development should strive to reduce run-off rates for 

existing developed sites.

Sustainable drainage systems should seek to enhance water quality 

and biodiversity in line with the Water Framework Directive.

8.57  Areas of South Oxfordshire are at risk of fl ooding and the impact of climate 

change is important. The planning system has an important role to play 

in minimising fl ooding, the risk of fl ooding and increasing resilience. Only 

appropriate development should take place in areas at risk from fl ooding, 

and development should be directed away from areas of the highest risk. 

A sequential, risk-based approach to locating development, referred to as 

applying the Sequential Test, and if necessary, the Exception Test should be 

applied, taking into account climate change.

8.58  The council will uphold the sequential approach to flood risk. Neighbourhood 

planning groups considering proposing development within areas at risk of 

fl ooding should apply the Sequential Test to the whole neighbourhood area. If 

necessary, the Exception Test should also be applied. The Environment agency 

provide standing advice where developments require a site-specifi c flood risk 

assessment. Should mitigation be required, we will expect those measures to 

be in the application proposals and part of the development.

Minerals Safeguarding Areas

Policy EP5 - Minerals Safeguarding Areas

Minerals are a non-renewable resource, therefore to safeguard future 

potential extraction, development will be directed away from Minerals 

Safeguarding Areas.

Where development in Minerals Safeguarding Areas cannot be 

avoided, development must demonstrate that all opportunities for 

mineral extraction have been fully explored.

This policy contributes towards achieving objective 7. 

Page 182

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

155

8.59  Minerals Safeguarding Areas are identified on Oxfordshire County Council’s 

Minerals and Waste Core Strategy. 

Page 183

Agenda Item 6



156

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 184

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

157

9   BUILT ENVIRONMENT

9.1  Our “built environment” consists of all the man-made aspects of our 

surroundings. It includes not only buildings but the spaces between buildings 

such as parks and gardens, and social spaces such as squares, as well as the 

infrastructure that supports our daily activities such as streets, railways, utility 

networks and flood defences. 

9.2 The way we develop our built environment has a direct impact on how 

successful and sustainable places and communities are. In South Oxfordshire 

we want to create places where people want to live, work and visit. Successful 

places allow us to carry out daily activities with ease and offer choice as how to 

do them. These places should be designed for everyone and built to last. 

High Quality Development

9.3 The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment, which is an important component of sustainable development. 

New development should create a sense of place and enhance the lives of 

those who live, work and visit.

9.4 We are committed to securing the highest quality of design in new 

development of all types and scales in South Oxfordshire. The South 

Oxfordshire Design Guide seeks to define high quality development, the 

principles to achieving it and raise the profile of high quality design throughout 

the District. It aims to address specific design issues that we have been 

experiencing within South Oxfordshire. We consider the design guide to be a 

vital tool that will help us create successful and sustainable places. The value 

and quality of the design guide has been demonstrated by it being shortlisted 

for two national awards. The design guide together with the policies in 

this plan, will ensure that we can deliver our objectives for high quality 

developments.  

157

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 185

Agenda Item 6



158

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Policy DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development

All new development must be of a high quality design that refl ects the 

positive features that make up the character of the local area and both 

physically and visually enhances and compliments the surroundings. 

All proposals must be accompanied by a constraints and opportunities 

plan and design rationale. Important landscape and built features both 

within and adjacent to the site should be retained as part of a proposal. 

Planning permission will only be granted where proposal are designed 

to meet the key design objectives and principles for delivering high 

quality development set out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide.

New development should be designed to ensure that buildings and 

their surrounding spaces can be accessed and used by everyone and 

promote safe environments that reduce the opportunity for crime as 

well as the fear of crime itself. 

Where development sites are located adjacent to sites that have a 

reasonable prospect of coming forward in the future, integration with 

the neighbouring site should form part of the proposal’s design. 

Where the Council are aware that sites with similar delivery timescales 

are coming forward together they will require a comprehensive 

masterplan to be prepared across all sites.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5, & 7.

9.5 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out key design objectives and 

principles that we consider critical in delivering high quality development. 

These must be considered at the outset and throughout the design 

process. The Council will support development that meets these objectives 

and principles and the design criteria set out in part 2 of the guide. New 

development within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty should 

meet the principles set out in the Chilterns Building Design Guide. 

9.6 All proposals should take account of the local context, including the local 

character and existing features. Important local features, both within the 

landscape and built environment, in particular important trees and hedgerows, 

Page 186

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

159

should be retained as part of the proposal. This should be set out on an 

opportunities and constraints plan.

9.7 Securing high quality design is about more than just aesthetics. It is important 

that new development delivers sustainable, inclusive and mixed communities in 

order to create successful places where people want to live, work and play. New 

development should be designed to meet the needs of all users including the 

young and elderly, disabled, parents and carers. It is important that the places 

that we create are safe. To ensure that the development we deliver is designed 

to reduce the opportunity for crime, as well as the fear of crime itself, proposals 

must fully adopt the principles set out in the Secured by Design, design guides.  

9.8 Past developments in the district have not always taken account of future 

development coming forward on adjacent sites, this has undermined integration.

Policy DES2 – Enhancing Local Character 

All proposals for new development should include a contextual analysis 

that demonstrates how the design: 

i) Has been informed by and responds positively to the site and its 

surroundings; and

ii) reinforces place-identity by enhancing local character. 

Where a character assessment has been prepared as part of a made 

Neighbourhood Development Plan a proposal must demonstrate 

that the positive features identifi ed in the assessment have been 

incorporated into the design of the development. 

Where there is no local character assessment a comprehensive 

contextual analysis of the local character should be prepared as part 

of an application. This should identify the positive features that make 

up the character of the area. The proposal must demonstrate that 

these positive features have been incorporated into the design of the 

development. 

Proposals that have the potential to impact upon a conservation area 

or the setting of a conservation area should also take account of the 

relevant Conservation Character Appraisal.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

Page 187

Agenda Item 6



160

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

9.9  National planning guidance emphasises the importance of promoting 

and reinforcing local distinctiveness as well as being positive about good 

contemporary design. Proposals for new development should demonstrate 

clearly how the proposed scheme refl ects this special character as well as the 

distinct character of the local area. This should be set out in the Design and 

Access Statement that supports the application. 

9.10  The Council encourages communities preparing Neighbourhood Development Plans 

to consider what the positive features are in their local area and identify them as 

part of a made plan. Where these local features have been identifi ed as part of the 

Neighbourhood Development Plan, proposals should demonstrate that they have been 

incorporated into the design. Where these local features have not been identifi ed, 

proposals should include a comprehensive contextual analysis that identifi es them. 

9.11  In some cases developers have been selective in the features that they 

have identifi ed as forming part of the local character and have not always 

considered whether the features form a positive part of the local character. 

To avoid developments refl ecting previous poor quality design the Council 

may undertake their own contextual analysis if they consider that the positive 

features of the local character have not been identifi ed correctly.

Policy DES3 – Design and Access Statements

Where an application is required to be supported by a Design and 

Access Statement, this must demonstrate how the development 

proposal meets the key design objectives of the South Oxfordshire 

Design Guide and the design criteria set out in Part 2 of the Guide. 

The Design and Access Statement should be proportional to the scale 

and complexity of the proposal. It should include:

• A clear drawing trail showing how the design of the development 

and the rationale behind it has evolved and clearly demonstrating 

that the key design objectives and principles set out in the South 

Oxfordshire Design Guide have been considered at the outset and 

throughout the process and have been met by the fi nal design 

• The delivery implementation phases and strategies to be put in 

place to ensure the timely delivery of infrastructure and services 

when they are needed by new residents; and

• How consultation with the existing community and communities in 

the surrounding area has informed the design of the development.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5 & 7.

Page 188

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

161

9.12 Design and Access Statements are an important mechanism for communicating 

the design of a development to the offi cer determining the planning 

application as well as other stakeholders of the application process including 

local communities. The Design Guide recommends effective ways of 

communicating the design of a development. 

9.13 Proposals within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty should 

demonstrate, as part of the Design and Access Statement, how the design has 

been informed by the Chilterns Building Design Guide.

Policy DES4 - Masterplans for allocated sites and major 
development

Proposals for sites allocated in the Development Plan, including sites 

allocated within Neighbourhood Development Plans, and major 

development* must be accompanied by a Masterplan that:

• Clearly sets out the land uses proposed including the amount, 

scale and density of development, the movement and access 

arrangements and green infrastructure provision

• Illustrates how the proposal integrates with the surrounding built, 

historic and natural environments, in particular maximising existing 

and potential movement connections and accessibility to encourage 

walking, cycling and use of public transport 

• Defi nes a hierarchy of routes and the integration of suitable 

infrastructure, including for example SuDS within the public realm

• Demonstrates a legible structure and identifi es key elements of 

townscape such as main frontages, edges, landmark buildings and 

key building groups and character areas

• Demonstrates as appropriate the careful siting of community 

facilities and other amenities to meet the needs of the existing and 

future community, including access to education/training facilities, 

health care, community leisure and recreation facilities 

• Demonstrates a clear link to the principles established in the Design 

and Access Statement and the South Oxfordshire Design Guide.

*As defi ned by Development Management Procedure Order 2010.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6 & 7.

9.14  Masterplans are an important tool used by designers to set out the strategy 

for a new development and to demonstrate that the general layout, scale 

Page 189

Agenda Item 6



162

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

and other aspects of the design are based on good urban design principles. 

The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the principles of good design 

that must be demonstrated through the preparation of a masterplan as part 

of applications for major development and development of allocated sites. 

Masterplans should be produced in consultation with South Oxfordshire District 

Council, the community and other stakeholders where appropriate. 

Policy DES5 – Outdoor Amenity Space

A private outdoor garden or outdoor amenity space, or alternatively a 

shared outdoor amenity area should be provided for all new dwellings. 

The amount of land that should be provided for the garden or amenity 

space will be determined by the size of the dwelling proposed and 

by the character of surrounding development and by plot coverage 

standards. Private outdoor sitting areas should not be overlooked 

by adjacent outdoor sitting areas, living/dining rooms or kitchens. 

They should also not be compromised by shading from buildings or 

established signifi cant trees and hedges that would lead to future 

pressure to prune or remove these landscape features.

Proposals for new development should demonstrate that the size, 

location and character of gardens and outdoor amenity spaces have 

been considered as an integral part of the design and not as an 

afterthought. These spaces should not be compromised by parking 

areas or garages. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Page 190

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

163

9.15 The relationship of a building with its plot is critical to how well it fi ts in with 

neighbouring development and to its impact on the overall character of the street. 

The extent of plot coverage also determines the external area available for private 

garden space. This policy and the Design Guide seek to ensure that reasonable 

standards of private amenity space are provided in new developments. 

9.16 The Design Guide contains guidelines in respect of the recommended 

minimum size of private amenity space that should be provided, with the size 

relating to the number of bedrooms in the proposed dwelling. Used on their 

own, these standards would lead to uniform plot sizes and shapes that pay 

little regard to the character of the area. This policy, however, requires the 

character of the site and the surrounding development to be considered in 

determining the appropriate garden area, as well as the type of dwelling that 

is being provided. It also requires that private garden and outdoor sitting areas 

are designed to provide a reasonable degree of privacy, sunlight and outlook.

9.17 Often garden and outdoor amenity spaces, particularly communal areas 

provided for fl atted developments, are identifi ed at the end of the design 

process and consist of the leftover space surrounding the building(s). This tends 

to result in spaces of an inappropriate size and shape that bear no relation to 

the internal workings of the building and/or the requirements of the intended 

user(s). Gardens and outdoor amenity spaces should be considered from the 

beginning of the design process and throughout. The provision of garden and 

outdoor amenity spaces should not be compromised by the need for parking 

or garages. 

Policy DES6- Residential Amenity

Development proposals should demonstrate that they will not result in 

signifi cant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses, when 

considering both individual and cumulative impacts, in relation to the 

following factors: 

i) Loss of privacy, daylight or sunlight

ii) Dominance or visual intrusion

iii) Noise or vibration

iv) Smell, dust, heat, odour, gases or other emissions

v) Pollution, contamination or the use of / or storage of hazardous 

substances; and

vi) External lighting.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5, 6 & 7.

Page 191

Agenda Item 6



164

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

9.18 New dwellings should be designed to ensure adequate privacy for existing and 

new residents to enable them to enjoy their homes without undue intrusion 

from neighbours or the public. Buildings should also be orientated within their 

plots to maximise daylight and passive solar gain, with garden areas orientated 

to maximise sunlight. These objectives can be achieved by careful siting of 

properties, by ensuring that there are adequate distances between properties 

and through the erection of screen walls and fencing. Developments should 

be designed to avoid overshadowing of any adjoining dwelling or dwellings, 

although it is recognised that in high density housing schemes, overlooking 

distances may not be so readily achievable. Innovative design approaches will 

therefore be sought to provide acceptable standards of privacy. The Design 

Guide contains detailed guidance. 

DES7 – Public Art 

All proposals for major development*, or development of sites larger 

than 0.5 hectares, must make provision for public art that makes a 

signifi cant contribution towards the appearance of the scheme or the 

character of the area, or which benefi ts the local community. Applicants 

will be required to set out in their proposal details of the provision 

of public art, including its location and design in accordance with the 

South Oxfordshire Design Guide. Contributions will be required in 

accordance with Policy INF1: Infrastructure Provision.

*As defi ned by Development Management Procedure Order 2010. 

 

Policy DES8 – Effi cient use of resources

The Council encourages developers to make provision for the effective 

use of natural resources where applicable, including: 

i) Minimising waste and making adequate provision for the 

recycling, composting and recovery of waste on site

ii) Using recycled and energy effi cient materials

iii) Maximising passive solar heating, lighting, natural ventilation, 

energy and water effi ciency and the re-use of materials

iv) Making effi cient use of water, for example through rainwater 

harvesting and grey water recycling

v) Causing no deterioration in, and where possible, achieving 

improvements in water quality

Page 192

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

165

vi) Taking account of, and if located within an AQMA, is consistent 

with, the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan

vii) Ensuring that the land is of a suitable quality for development 

and that remediation of contaminated land is undertaken where 

necessary

viii) Avoiding the development of the best and most versatile 

agricultural land, unless it is demonstrated to be the most 

sustainable choice from reasonable alternatives, by fi rst using 

areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher 

quality

ix) The effi cient use of land, with densities of at least 30 dwellings 

per hectare, taking account of local circumstances including access 

to local services and facilities and local character; and 

x) Re-using vacant buildings and redeveloping previously developed 

land, provided the land is not of a high environmental value.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6, 7 & 8

9.19 In South Oxfordshire we recognise that the prudent use of natural resources 

is a key element of delivering sustainable development. We encourage 

developers to consider how our existing resources can be used effectively and 

effi ciently when planning and designing development proposals. 

9.20  National policy requires planning policies to take account of the presence of Air 

Quality Management Areas (AQMA) and the cumulative impacts on air quality 

from individual sites in local areas. There are three Air Quality Management 

Areas designated in South Oxfordshire in the market towns of Henley on 

Thames and Wallingford, and the larger village of Watlington. This plan seeks 

to ensure that new development in Air Quality Management Areas is consistent 

with our Air Quality Action Plan.

9.21 The Water Framework Directive seeks to protect the quality of water, including 

the aquatic ecology, unique and valuable habitats, drinking water resources 

and bathing water. It requires that there is no deterioration in the status 

of water bodies and that they all achieve good ecological status by 2027. 

The Thames River Basin Management Plan sets out actions to help meet 

this obligation. Policies on Green Infrastructure, biodiversity and promoting 

sustainable design will also assist in achieving this objective by ensuring that 

surface water run-off is appropriately controlled.

Page 193

Agenda Item 6



166

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

9.22 Oxfordshire County Council is responsible for determining planning 

applications for minerals and waste development and producing the Minerals 

and Waste Local Plan, which will safeguard mineral resources, aggregate rail 

depots, sites for recycled and secondary aggregate supply, other minerals 

infrastructure sites and sites for waste management. These areas are marked 

on the Policies Map. Should the district receive a planning application in any 

of these areas, the County Council will be consulted on the development. 

Applicants are advised to review the Minerals and Waste Local Plan prior to 

making a planning application.

9.23  In line with the Government’s White Paper: Fixing our broken housing market, 

all development will be expected to use land effi ciently, with a density and 

form appropriate to the site and its surroundings, taking into account local 

character and accessibility to services and facilities. The minimum net density 

achieved by new development should be 30 dwellings per hectare (dph).

 

Sustainable Design and Construction

Policy DES9 - Promoting sustainable design

All new development, including building conversions, refurbishments 

and extensions, should seek to minimise carbon and energy impacts in 

line with the Government’s zero carbon buildings policy and nationally 

adopted standards. 

The Council encourages developers to design new development to 

improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change. 

The Council will not refuse planning permission for buildings or 

infrastructure which promote high levels of sustainability because of 

concerns about incompatibility with an existing townscape, if those 

concerns have been mitigated by good design.

A sensitive approach will need to be taken to safeguard the special 

character of heritage assets e.g. in a Conservation Area or where 

historic assets would be affected.

New developments are required to be designed to a water effi ciency 

standard of 110 litres/head/day (l/h/d) for new homes.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 5, 6, 7 & 8.

Page 194

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

167

9.24 Increasing our resilience to the likely impact of climate change and promoting 

a low carbon future is one of the Local Plan’s strategic objectives in response to 

the Climate Change Act (2008) which mandates an 80% reduction in carbon 

dioxide emissions by 2050. 

9.25 To improve resilience to the anticipated effects of climate change, the council 

expects developers to consider the effects of changing weather patterns 

and design new developments so that they incorporate measures to combat 

these. This could include planting, shading, the orientation and positioning 

of windows and advance glazing systems to reduce solar heat gain in the 

summer and from lower sun angles in the winter; using cool building materials 

to prevent the penetration of heat and flood resilient building materials; 

increasing natural ventilation; incorporating flood resilient measures such as 

raising floor levels and preventing the infiltration of heavy rain around windows 

and doors. Consideration should also be given to using locally sourced, more 

sustainable building materials and fuel, for example, locally sourced wood. 

9.26  The South Oxfordshire Water Cycle Study identified South Oxfordshire as being 

in an area of water stress. In order to address this we are applying a higher 

standard for water efficiency.

9.27 The design and construction of new developments and refurbishments to 

existing buildings can have a significant role in helping to reduce carbon 

emissions, which can be supported by improving the energy efficiency of new 

and existing buildings.

Page 195

Agenda Item 6



168

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

9.28 The Government has established that through Part L of the Building Regulations, 

emissions allowed from new buildings will be reduced incrementally and that 

“zero carbon” buildings will be required within the plan period. The Housing 

and Planning Act 2016 stipulated that a review of minimum energy performance 

requirements under building regulations must be carried out and it is expected 

that changes will be made to current standards. 

   

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation

Policy DES10 - Renewable Energy 

The Council encourages schemes for renewable and low carbon energy 

generation. Planning applications for renewable and low carbon 

energy generation will be supported, provided that they do not cause a 

signifi cantly adverse effect to:

i) Landscape, both designated AONB  and locally valued

ii) Biodiversity, including protected habitats and species and 

Conservation Target Areas 

iii) The historic environment, both designated and non-designated 

assets, including by development within their settings 

iv) The visual amenity and openness of the Green Belt 

v) The safe movement of traffi c and pedestrians

vi) Residential amenity.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6, 7 & 8.

9.29 The Government has set a target of 15% of the UK’s energy to come from 

renewable sources by 202030. To help increase the use of renewable and 

low carbon energy we will promote energy from renewable and low carbon 

sources, including community-led initiatives, and design policies to maximise 

renewable and low carbon energy development while ensuring that adverse 

impacts are addressed satisfactorily, including cumulative landscape and visual 

impacts.

30 Directive 2009/28/EC of the 

European Parliament and of 

the Council of 23 April 2009 

on the promotion of the use 

of energy from renewable 

sources, available at: hppt://

eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri= 

CELEX:32009L0028&from=EN

Page 196

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

169

Policy DES11: Rural Workers’ Dwellings

The provision of a rural worker dwelling in the open countryside will 

be permitted provided that: 

i) it is essential, and can be demonstrated there is an existing 

need for one or more permanent full time workers to be readily 

available at all times for the rural enterprise to operate viably;

ii) the functional need cannot be met by other suitable available 

existing dwellings in the locality of the rural enterprise; 

iii) the rural enterprise is economically sustainable, has been 

established for at least 3 years and is likely to remain fi nancially 

viable for the foreseeable future 

iv) the size and scale of the dwelling is proportional with the needs 

of the rural enterprise; and 

v) it respects the landscape, rural character, and its rural locality. 

If a rural worker dwelling is essential to support a new rural enterprise 

it should be provided temporarily by a caravan, a wooden structure 

which can easily be dismantled, or other temporary accommodation for 

the fi rst three years. 

Planning permission will be subject to an appropriate occupancy 

condition, restricting its occupation to a person who is directly 

employed on a permanent full time basis.

9.30 There are many forms of renewable energy. The most prevalent being 

wind, solar, biomass, geothermal and hydro power and biofuels. The most 

appropriate form of renewable energy for a development will depend on the 

scale of the development and the opportunities and constraints presented by 

its location.

9.31 The planning system should seek to support a prosperous rural economy. We 

will support economic growth in rural areas to create jobs and prosperity by 

taking a positive approach to sustainable new development and balancing 

sustainable growth with the protection of the countryside. We recognise that 

the demands of rural businesses can sometimes necessitate the need for one or 

more employees to live either at, or close to, their place of work. This demand 

can arise from a range of rural based enterprises, such as farming, forestry, 

and commercial equine related businesses. The Council will therefore support 

Page 197

Agenda Item 6



170

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

the need for rural workers’ dwellings in the open countryside where there is a 

demonstrable need in order to sustain the effective operation of a viable rural 

business. A fi nancial appraisal will need to be provided with any proposal.

9.32 The proposal will need to demonstrate that there is no suitable available 

existing accommodation in the vicinity of the rural business (such as the nearest 

settlement) or buildings suitable for re-use and conversion to residential use, 

either on the site of the rural enterprise, or in its locality. Proposals for new 

rural enterprises requiring a rural worker dwelling will need to demonstrate 

how the business will be viable and sustainable for the longer term.

9.33 If the proposal complies with this policy, permission will be given for temporary 

accommodation for the fi rst three years before an application for a permanent 

dwelling will be considered. The council may also seek a legal agreement to 

tie the building to the land to discourage subsequent fragmentation of the 

agricultural unit by separate use of the building.

Re-use of Rural Buildings

Policy DES12 - Re-use of rural buildings

Where permission is required for the re-use of a building(s) outside 

the built-up areas of the towns and villages (set out at Appendix X), 

permission will be granted provided that:

i) The building(s) is/are of permanent and substantial construction 

and are capable of conversion without major or complete 

reconstruction

ii) Their form, bulk and general design maintains or enhances the 

character of their surroundings

iii) The fabric and essential character of the buildings are maintained

iv) If the site is in the Green Belt the proposal is in accordance with 

the local plan and national policy; and

v) There are no overriding amenity, environmental or highway 

objections.

In the case of proposals for the re-use of a rural building(s) for 

residential use planning permission will only be granted where other 

uses have been explored and found to be unacceptable in planning 

terms.

Page 198

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

171

9.34 The re-use and adaptation of existing rural buildings has an important 

role in meeting the needs of the rural areas for commercial and industrial 

development, as well as for tourism, sport and recreation. The re-use of rural 

buildings can reduce demands for new building in the countryside, avoid 

leaving an existing building vacant, boost the economy and provide jobs. In 

recent years, the re-use of rural buildings has provided a substantial stock 

of buildings for employment use. This policy applies to buildings which are 

outside the built-up areas of the towns and villages of the District. 

9.35 Buildings to be reused should be permanent and substantial, and not require 

reconstruction. To meet this requirement, buildings should normally be 

enclosed on all sides and the whole of the structure covered by a roof and it 

should be in a sound structural condition. The Council may request applicants 

to provide a structural survey to demonstrate that this requirement can be met. 

9.36 We will generally support the re-use of rural buildings for employment 

use. Such buildings are often particularly suitable as they often need little 

adaptation. New development should be located where the need to travel 

by car can be reduced and where cycling and walking and the use of public 

transport can be maximised. Any proposals for the enclosure of adjoining 

land as part of the re-use of the building will be an important consideration 

especially in terms of potential impact on the landscape. 

9.37 To prevent the proliferation of buildings in the countryside, planning permission 

for the conversion of farm buildings may be subject to conditions to prevent 

their replacement by new buildings under permitted development rights. 

Similarly, the council is unlikely to grant planning permission for the conversion 

of buildings erected under permitted development rights where they have 

clearly not been genuinely needed or used for agriculture.

 

Page 199

Agenda Item 6



172

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 200

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

173

TOWN CENTRES AND 
SHOPPING

Introduction
10.1 Our vision for South Oxfordshire is that all communities will have access to the 

services they value including high quality leisure, retail and cultural facilities 

supporting the health and wellbeing of everyone. South Oxfordshire will be a prime 

tourist destination, helping our towns and villages to remain vibrant and prosperous. 

10.2 Didcot is the largest town in the district and is the focus for a significant amount 

of planned growth. The Orchard Centre Phase II development will greatly 

improve the retail offer in Didcot, and will provide a range of new shops, cafes 

and restaurants. Of the three market towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and 

Wallingford, Henley is the largest with the highest number of shops and eateries. 

All three market towns are historic places attractive to visitors.

10.3 The districts’ 12 larger villages provide a more limited range of shops and services 

to serve the local community31. It is important, even in changing economic 

times, that these centres are maintained and enhanced in order to remain 

active and vibrant so that they retain their role as local centres to the more 

rural communities. As such, small scale retail and leisure development will be 

supported if it contributes to the vitality and viability of the villages. This Plan 

does not identify development sites in the villages, however, Neighbourhood 

Development Plans could identify sites for appropriately scaled retail and leisure 

development if it serves a local need. 

10.4 A retail hierarchy is set out in Policy TC1. This is informed by an assessment of 

the retail and leisure services and facilities available in our town centres and 

larger villages, and the role that these centres play in meeting shopping and 

leisure needs. The retail hierarchy aims to direct large scale development to the 

towns, whilst encouraging proposals in the villages that support day to day 

needs. The hierarchy maintains the general balance between the towns and 

villages, recognising their different functions. 

10.5 The retail hierarchy is broadly in line with the settlement hierarchy set out in 

appendix 7. The retail hierarchy makes a distinction between the broader offer in 

terms of retail and other town centre uses available in Didcot and Henley. These 

are defined as ‘Major town centres’ with Thame and Wallingford classified as 

‘Town centres’. The 12 larger villages are classed as ‘Local centres’. The hierarchy 

is explained further in the Town Centres and Shopping background paper.

10

31 The full assessment of the 

settlements in South Oxfordshire 

is available in the Settlement 

Assessment Background Paper

173

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 201

Agenda Item 6



174

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

10.6 South Oxfordshire published a Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment in 201632 

which provides an assessment of retail and other town centre uses within the 

District’s four main centres (Didcot, Henley, Thame and Wallingford) and to 

forecast the need for new retail fl oorspace in the District over the plan period.

 

Retail Impact Assessments
10.7 This study has been updated to take account of the plan period running to 

2033 and to factor in the planned growth at the strategic sites and as well 

as the growth expected to be delivered in the towns and larger villages (c. 15 

percent). This has resulted in the retail fl oorspace requirements increasing.

10.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets a default threshold of 

2,500m2 gross fl oorspace, above which all proposals for retail, leisure and 

offi ce development outside town centres that are not in accordance with an 

up-to-date Local Plan, should be accompanied by a retail impact assessment33. 

The NPPF indicates that local planning authorities can consider setting a local 

threshold for retail impact assessments, where it is felt this is necessary. 

10.9 Our retail assessment found that new foodstores located outside of town 

centres could have an adverse impact on the centres of Didcot, Henley, 

Thame and Wallingford. To protect the vitality and viability of these town 

centres, our assessment recommends setting a local impact threshold of 

500m2.  Any proposals that exceed the local fl oorspace thresholds will need 

to be accompanied by an impact assessment based on a methodology and 

assumptions that have been agreed with the Council in advance. 

Policy TC1: Retail in towns and villages

The District’s towns as defi ned in the Retail Hierarchy are the preferred 

locations for large scale development or redevelopment for retail and 

other main town centre uses. Appropriately scaled retail and leisure 

uses primarily intended to serve the day to day needs of the local 

community will be supported in the local centres.  

The hierarchy of centres in the District is: 

• Major town centre: Didcot, Henley

• Town centre: Thame, Wallingford 

• Local centre: Berinsfi eld, Benson, Chalgrove, Chinnor, Cholsey, 

32 Paragraph 26 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF), Communities and Local 

Government, March 2012

33 Retail and Leisure Needs 

Assessment 2016 – GVA 

Grimley Ltd

Page 202

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

175

Crowmarsh Gifford, Goring, Nettlebed, Sonning Common, 

Watlington, Wheatley, Woodcote.

To achieve the long-term success of our town centres, development 

proposals will be permitted that: 

• Diversify the town centres to provide uses that are complementary 

to retail, while not undermining the town’s retail role, including 

where appropriate mixed-use developments, uses that contribute 

to the evening economy, community facilities and upper fl oor 

residential and offi ce uses, or

• Reinforce the local distinctiveness of our towns, improve their 

vitality and viability and encourage more visits, or

• Seek to improve access and movement for all users.

To achieve the long-term success of our local centres, development 

proposals will be permitted that:

• Provide retail and leisure uses within the larger village centres 

through infi ll development and small scale redevelopment;

• Provide small scale retail or leisure development that contributes to 

the vitality and viability of the villages whilst not undermining the 

retail roles of the towns

• Seek to improve access and movement for all users.

Proposals on sites outside of town centres, or on unallocated sites, will 

be subject to the sequential test and, for proposals over 500m2, a retail 

impact assessment will be required. Proposals that do not satisfy these 

tests will not be permitted. 

Where planning permission is required, proposals for appropriately 

scaled retail developments in rural areas will be supported where it 

supports an existing agricultural business and it can be demonstrated 

that it would not have an adverse impact on an existing retail offer. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7

10.10 The adopted proposals map identifi es the boundaries of the four town centres 

and these are also identifi ed in the neighbourhood plans for Henley and 

Thame.  

 

Page 203

Agenda Item 6



176

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Amount and location of retail 
floorspace
10.11 The South Oxfordshire District Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment 2016 

updates the Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment 2009, (updated 2010) and 

provides the evidence base for the retail strategy and policies. 

10.12 The Retail and Leisure needs assessment 2016 and the update of 2017 have 

considered the need for both comparison (non-food) and convenience (food) 

floorspace across the district as a whole, and also specific requirements for 

Didcot, the market towns and the four strategic allocations. 

Page 204

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

177

Policy TC2: Amount and location of new retail fl oorspace 

New comparison and convenience retail fl oorspace will be provided in 

line with the following requirements:

 Up to 2022 2022-2027 2027-2033*

Convenience 7,300m² 1,600m² 2,200m²

goods fl oorspace  (8,900m²) (11,100m²)

Comparison goods -400m²* 10,200m² 14,100m²

fl oorspace   (10,600m²) (24,700m²)

*Figures beyond 2027 should be treated as indicative

**Orchard Centre Phase II meets the comparison goods need (and 

marginally exceeds it by 400m²) up to 2022 

Subject to the identifi cation of a suitable site, the council will seek the 

provision of additional convenience goods fl oorspace, in the format of 

a single foodstore in the market towns as follows:  

Henley: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²

Thame: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²

Wallingford: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 4, 6 & 7.

10.13 Our evidence base recommends that there is no pressing need to plan for 

additional convenience goods provision in Didcot due to recent foodstore 

openings and those planned for as part of the Orchard Centre Phase II 

development. It is recommended that the balance of the convenience goods 

requirements are focussed towards the strategic allocations, to ensure that day-

to-day shopping needs can be effectively met.

10.14 Didcot will remain the focus for comparison goods fl oorspace requirements. 

The retail fl oorspace planned for at the Orchard Centre Phase II development 

will meet the identifi ed need up until the end of the Plan period (2027 and 

beyond). This approach does not rule out appropriately-scaled developments 

on smaller town centre opportunity sites elsewhere in the district.

10.15 In the market towns Neighbourhood Development Plans should consider the 

provision of the retail needs set out in policy TC2. If sites are not identifi ed in 

neighbourhood plans within 12 months of adoption of this plan, applications 

for new retail uses will be considered against the relevant policies in this plan.

Page 205

Agenda Item 6



178

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

10.16 In Henley there is no qualitative need for additional comparison goods 

floorspace. Applications for new comparison goods floorspace in Henley town 

centre should be treated on individual merits. Applications for new comparison 

goods floorspace outside Henley town centre should be resisted, and will be 

required to demonstrate compliance with the sequential test and the locally set 

retail impact threshold (500m²). 

10.17 The key opportunity site that has potential to accommodate retail floorspace in 

Henley is the Empstead Works/Stuart Turner site. The site is allocated for retail 

development in the Henley-Harpsden Neighbourhood Development Plan.

10.18 In Thame an appropriate site has been identified as part of the comprehensive 

mixed-use redevelopment of the Cattle Market site, but the current made 

Neighbourhood Development Plan excludes a foodstore use in its allocation. 

The review of the Neighbourhood Development Plan should consider 

the allocation of this site or other town centre sites in order to deliver a 

convenience store at an appropriate location in the town. Comparison goods 

floorspace will be directed to existing or new town centre retail allocation sites 

within the Thame Neighbourhood Plan.

10.19 Wallingford has the lowest expenditure retention rate of the four towns in 

the district suggesting there is scope for improvement to existing foodstore 

provision. Planning permission for a new foodstore at Lupton Road has now 

lapsed meaning there is still a qualitative need for a new foodstore.

Primary and Secondary 
Frontages
10.20 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to define primary and secondary 

shopping frontage in their network of centres. Together, the primary and 

secondary shopping frontages form the “primary shopping area’, which, for 

the purposes of the NPPF’s retail policies34, equates to the “town centre”.

10.21  The focus for future retail development and other town centre uses will 

continue to centre on primary and secondary shopping frontages and town 

centre policy areas as defined. The primary shopping frontage for Henley is 

identified in the Henley-Harpsden neighbourhood plan, and the secondary 

frontage is shown on the Proposals map. Thame have identified primary and 

secondary frontages in their neighbourhood plan.  The town centre boundaries 

for Wallingford and Didcot are identified on the Proposals Map.

34 i.e. the sequential and impact 

assessment, paragraphs 24-27 

of the NPPF, (March 2012)

Page 206

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

179

Policy TC4 - Retail Frontages and Town Centre 
Boundaries

For the towns, Neighbourhood Development Plans, where they exist, 

are expected to designate primary shopping frontages and town centre 

boundaries. Where there is no Neighbourhood Development Plan, or if 

the Neighbourhood Development Plan does not designate boundaries 

and frontages within 12 months of adoption of this plan, the Council 

will defi ne the boundaries and primary shopping frontages, using 

appropriate evidence

PRIMARY FRONTAGES

Within the primary shopping frontages, new A1 (retail) development 

will be encouraged. Where planning permission is required, the change 

of use of A1 premises at ground fl oor level will not be permitted, 

unless it can be demonstrated that the unit is not suitable for continued 

A1 use, the proposed use will maintain or enhance the vitality of the 

area and it would not have a signifi cant adverse impact on the amenity 

of adjacent residents or businesses  

SECONDARY FRONTAGES

Where planning permission is required, within the secondary shopping 

frontages, the change of use from A1 (retail) to use classes A2 (fi nancial 

institutions), A3 (restaurants and cafes), A4 (pubs), A5 (hot food 

takeaway), D1 (non-residential institutions) and D2 (assembly and 

leisure) will be permitted provided that it would not have a signifi cant 

adverse impact on the amenity of adjacent residents or businesses.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 6 & 7.

Page 207

Agenda Item 6



180

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 208

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

181

11 COMMUNITY AND 
RECREATIONAL FACILITIES 

Introduction 
11.1 The ability to access local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural 

buildings, public houses and places of worship forms an essential part of 

the quality of life for residents of the District. We recognise the importance 

of these community facilities in promoting social interaction and cohesive 

communities and the Local Plan promotes the retention and development of 

local services and community facilities in its towns and villages.

11.2 It is important that there is a sufficient network of facilities across the District. 

We need to provide the right type of housing in our towns and villages, 

particularly our smaller settlements, to attract young people and families that 

will support the sustainable provision of facilities and help to ensure their 

vibrancy. We recognise that there is pressure on local services, particularly 

schools, doctors surgeries and community facilities, and the need to provide 

facilities for all parts of the community, including people with disabilities and 

young people. 

11.3 Planning plays an important role in safeguarding existing and developing new 

community and recreational facilities as it can create new opportunities for 

exchanges and interactions between a variety of community members. 

11.4 Much of the Council’s role in ensuring there are sufficient community and 

recreational facilities is undertaken in the preparation of the Local Plan and 

when determining planning applications. In determining planning applications 

for the loss of community facilities, the Council will be guided by its 

Community Facilities Viability Assessment35. 

11.5 We will require developers to make contributions towards the provision of new 

community and recreational facilities and the ongoing maintenance of existing 

facilities.

11.6 The Council will also support communities in protecting, enhancing and 

delivering community and recreation facilities in their towns and villages. 

Town and parish councils can seek to do this through the preparation of 

Neighbourhood Development Plans, Neighbourhood Development Orders or 

to construct or rebuild community buildings under a Community Right to Build 

Order. Local communities are also able to identify buildings or open space that 

35 Community Facilities Viability 

Assessment, 2014. Available 

online at www.southoxon.gov.

uk/services-and-advice/planning-

and-building/planning-policy/

local-plan/local-plan-2011

181

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 209

Agenda Item 6



182

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

are of value to them and apply for them to be listed as Assets of Community 

Value allowing them to bid for the assets if they are put up for sale. We have a 

support role to play in taking these powers forward. 

Policy CF1 - Safeguarding Community Facilities 

Proposals that result in the loss of an essential community facility or 

service, through change of use or redevelopment, will not be permitted 

unless: 

i) It would lead to the signifi cant improvement of an existing facility 

or the replacement of an existing facility equally convenient to 

the local community it serves and with equivalent or improved 

facilities

ii) It has been determined that the community facility is no longer 

needed; or

iii) In the case of commercial services, it is not economically viable. 

Appropriate, detailed and robust evidence will be required to satisfy 

the above criteria. The Council will require the independent assessment 

of this evidence.

Planning conditions or legal obligations may be necessary to ensure 

that any replacement facility and its ongoing maintenance is provided. 

Any replacement facility should normally be available before the 

original facility is lost. 

A community facility or service may be essential, either because it 

is one of a limited number of that nature in a settlement or area, or 

is fundamental to the quality and convenience of everyday life in a 

settlement. If suitable alternative provision already exists, a facility will 

not be considered essential. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 4, 6 & 7

11.7 In the interests of the well-being of local communities, it is important to 

protect the existing community facilities in our towns and villages wherever 

possible, by resisting their loss to another use. We will give priority to the 

retention and enhancement of community uses on established sites. 

Page 210

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

183

Policy CF2 - Provision of Community Facilities and 
Services

Development proposals for the provision of new or extended 

community facilities and services will be supported, particularly where: 

i) They are located within or adjacent to the built-up area of an 

existing settlement

ii) They would clearly meet an identifi ed local need; and

iii) They are accessible for all members of the community and 

promotes social inclusion.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 3, 4, 6 & 7.

11.8 In general, we will welcome proposals involving the provision of new community 

facilities and services for the local population, provided that there are no 

overriding objections to the proposal. The provision and improvement of public 

house facilities will also be considered in relation to policies CF1 and CF2. 

11.9  In the event that a community identify the need for a new local facility, we 

will support the community in exploring this through a Neighbourhood 

Development Plan and/or Community Right to Build Order.

 

Recreation
11.10 Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation 

make an important contribution to the health and well-being of the residents 

of and visitors to South Oxfordshire and also provide a range of benefi ts 

including biodiversity, green infrastructure and visual amenity. National 

guidance recognises the important role that the planning system has in 

facilitating healthy communities through providing access to high quality 

facilities for sport and recreation, including open spaces for informal recreation.

Policy CF3 - New Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Facilities

Proposals for sport and recreation facilities will be encouraged and 

supported, in line with other policies in the Plan. Where possible new 

sports and recreation facilities should be co-located with other community 

Page 211

Agenda Item 6



184

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

uses and well related to the settlements they serve, being sited within 

or adjacent to settlements. Where new, major facilities for outdoor 

sport are to be provided they should, as far as possible, be accessible by 

public transport. Provision for the future long-term maintenance and 

management of the open space and/or facilities will be sought and must 

be agreed as part of the planning application.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 4, 6 & 7.

11.11 The Council would encourage and support proposals for new sport and 

recreation facilities provided that they are appropriately located to serve the 

local population and, if appropriate, the wider population by public transport. 

The long term maintenance and management of the facilities must be agreed 

as part of any planning application and may need to be set out in a legal 

agreement. The Council will also explore options for the management of new 

areas of open space to be undertaken by community owned and run trusts.

 

Policy CF4 - Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
Facilities

The Council will seek to protect, maintain and where possible enhance 

existing open space, sport and recreation, play facilities and land 

including playing fi elds to ensure their continued contribution to the 

health and well-being of visitors and residents. Development proposals 

that result in the loss of such facilities will only be permitted where:

i) It can be demonstrated that alternative facilities of equal or better 

quality will be provided in an equally accessible location as part of 

the development

ii) The development is for alternative sports and recreational 

provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss; or

iii) An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the 

open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 6 & 7.

11.12 The policy above is intended to safeguard all existing recreation facilities 

whether formal or informal, publicly or privately owned, and whether buildings 

or open land, including allotments. This is considered important in view of 

the growing demand for recreational facilities and the restrictions on public 

Page 212

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

185

spending. There is also increasing concern about the loss of recreational 

facilities, particularly within more urban areas, as once land is lost to 

development it cannot be brought back into recreational use if a need arises 

for further provision in the future. 

Policy CF5 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New 
Residential Development

New residential development will be required to provide or contribute 

towards accessible open space and play facilities in line with the most 

up to date standards, including:

• Amenity greenspace (including parks and gardens)

• Allotments

• Equipped children’s’ play areas

New residential development will be required to provide or contribute 

towards accessible sport and recreation facilities, including playing 

pitches, in line with the Council’s most up to date Leisure Strategy. 

The provision of open space, sport, recreation and play facilities, 

and playing pitches is expected to be delivered on site, unless this is 

demonstrated not to be feasible. 

Provision for the future long-term maintenance and management of 

the open space and facilities will be sought and must be agreed as part 

of the planning application.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 6 & 7.

11.13 Provision of the new facilities should be made within the development site 

itself and in perpetuity. Where it is demonstrated that on-site provision is 

wholly or partially infeasible, a fi nancial contribution will be required and 

collected through the Council’s adopted Community Infrastructure Levy. The 

future management of open space and/or facilities provided on site will need 

to be agreed with the Council to ensure that residents can enjoy the benefi ts 

of them in the long term.

Page 213

Agenda Item 6



186

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 214

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

187

12   MONITORING AND REVIEW

12.1 Monitoring the performance of the Development Plan is essential to assess 

the effectiveness of South Oxfordshire District Council and to record whether 

proposals and policies are being implemented and delivered. The outputs of 

appropriate monitoring will enable the Council to be fully informed of the 

progress of development in the area and whether a full or partial review of the 

plan is necessary. 

12.2 The NPPF sets out that plans should be flexible to adapt to changing 

circumstances. As detailed in the introduction to this plan, the Council is 

committed to reviewing the plan if delivery issues emerge through monitoring, 

and will implement measures to ensure that housing, employment and 

infrastructure needs are met during the plan period. 

12.3 In order to ensure effective monitoring, a framework has been prepared, 

setting out key indicators that will track the delivery of the plan. 

12.4 The tables below set out the indicators in relation to each SODC objective. 

They include any specifically-identified target, the source of the data, and the 

frequency of monitoring. The range of indicators reflect SODC’s relationship 

with other plans and programmes and therefore includes indicators required 

by Government as part of the “Single List’, “Contextual Indicators” (CI) 

which relate to local characteristics and issues of the locality and other “Local 

Indicators” such as those from the Local Transport Plan (LTP). 

12.5 The monitoring outcomes for each Development Plan Document will be 

reported in each Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR). The AMR is required 

to outline the progress in preparing the documents and assess the extent to 

which the policies are being implemented and their effectiveness. Where a 

policy is not meeting its objective, the AMR will explain why and suggest what 

action should be taken. The monitoring framework itself will be reviewed as 

part of the AMR.

 

187

South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 215

Agenda Item 6



188

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

1.  Settlements

1.1  Support the settlement hierarchy, the growth and development of Didcot Garden 

Town, the creation of new settlements at the heart of the District, the growth of 

our market towns and the vitality of our villages. 

1.2  Support rural communities and “their way of life’, recognising that this is what 

attracts people to the District. 

1.3  Meet identified housing needs by delivering high-quality, sustainable, attractive 

places for people to live and work. 

1.4  Focus growth in Science Vale through delivering homes and jobs, retail and 

leisure facilities and enhanced transport infrastructure.

Indicator

Meet identified housing need

Net dwelling completions, based on 

the set housing requirements and 

5YHLS

A coordinated approach to new 

development in Science Vale through 

an urban design framework

Source

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Target

Housing Trajectory showing for the 

ring fence area and the rest of District 

area: i. Annual dwelling completions, 

ii. Annual average no. of additional 

dwellings required to meet housing 

targets

To deliver against the established 

objectively assessed need over the 

plan period

Development of housing, employment 

and infrastructure in tandem

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Page 216

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

189

2. Housing

2.1  Deliver a wide range of housing options to cater for the housing needs of our 

community (self-build, starter homes, older person’s accommodation). 

2.2  Support the regeneration of housing and facilities to strengthen communities, 

and address identified poverty and social exclusion.

2.3  Support meeting the economic and housing needs of the county as a whole, 

reflecting the special character of South Oxfordshire.

Indicator

Net dwelling completions, based on 

the set housing requirements and 

5YHLS

Net completions of Gypsy, Traveller 

and Travelling showpeople 

accommodation against requirements, 

based on the set target

Net affordable housing completions 

against annual requirements

Strategic allocations (Local Plan)

Towns-allocations (NDP)

Larger Villages (NDP)

Smaller villages (NDP)

Smaller villages -windfalls

C2 Care Homes

Source

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual Gypsy, 

Traveller and 

Travelling 

Showpeople count

Internal 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Annual housing 

monitoring

Target

To deliver against the established 

objectively assessed need over the 

plan period

To deliver against the established 

objectively assessed need over the 

plan period

To deliver against the established 

objectively assessed need over the 

plan period

To deliver against 5 Year Housing 

Land Supply Target

To deliver against the NDP allocation

To deliver against the NDP allocation

To deliver against the NDP allocation

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Page 217

Agenda Item 6



190

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

3. Economy

3.1  Improve employment opportunities and employment land provision, providing 

high quality local jobs to help retain more of its skilled residents in the local 

workforce. 

3.2  Support business growth, especially in locations close to existing business 

areas, transport connections and broadband provision and which provide the 

opportunity to reduce commuting distances.

3.3  Ensure economic and housing growth are balanced, to support sustainable 

journeys to work. 

3.4  Support the retail and service sectors as well as high-tech industries. 

3.5  Create the conditions whereby world-renowned and cutting edge industries 

choose to locate and grow their businesses here, contributing to a strong and 

successful economy, in line with the Strategic Economic Plan for Oxfordshire. 

3.6 Inspire the next generation of workers by planning for high quality education 

facilities. 

3.7  Encourage tourism by protecting our built and natural assets, such as the 

Thames, and providing services and facilities for visitors. 

Page 218

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

191

Indicator

Economically inactive persons aged 

16-64

Net amount of employment 

floorspace created by use class 

(employment-generating uses)

Number of new business “births’

Amount of employment land lost to 

other non-employment-generating 

uses

Gross weekly earnings of full-time 

workers

Percentage of residents with NVQ 

Level 4 qualification and above

Source

ONS

Authority 

Employment 

Monitoring

ONS

Authority 

Employment 

Monitoring

ONS/NOMIS

ONS

Target

Maintain levels close to the south east 

and national average

To deliver against employment 

requirement over the plan period

To increase business start-ups in the 

SODC area

No target but annually assessed

Maintain levels close to the south east 

and national average

Maintain levels close to the south east 

and national average

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

4.  Infrastructure

4.1  Ensure that essential infrastructure is delivered to support our existing residents 

and services as well as growth. 

4.2  Make sustainable transport an attractive and viable choice for people, whilst 

recognising that car travel and parking provision will continue to be important in 

this rural District.

Indicator

Net additional floorspace from retail, 

leisure, office and other main town 

centre uses created within defined 

town centres

Net additional floorspace from retail, 

leisure, office and other main town 

centre uses outside designated 

centres/contrary to policy

Source

Authority 

Employment 

Monitoring 

Authority 

Employment 

Monitoring

Target

Linked to strategic centre allocations 

in the emerging local plan

No target but annually assessed

Period

Annually

Annually

Page 219

Agenda Item 6



192

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

5.  Design

5.1  Deliver high quality, innovative, well designed and locally distinctive 

developments in sustainable locations.

5.2  Support development that respects the scale and character of our towns and 

villages, enhancing the special character of our historic settlements and the 

surrounding countryside.

Indicator

Proportion of strategic sites with 

comprehensive masterplans 

completed and agreed with the local 

planning authority 

Source

Internal 

monitoring

Target

All Strategic Sites to have 

comprehensive masterplans to guide 

their future development 

Period

Annually

6. Community

6.1  Champion neighbourhood planning, empowering local communities to direct 

development within their area and provide support to ensure Neighbourhood 

Development Plans are deliverable, achievable and sustainable.

6.2  Provide access to high quality leisure, recreation, cultural, community and health 

facilities. 

6.3  Ensure all communities have access to the services and facilities they value, 

supporting the health and wellbeing of everyone. 

Page 220

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

193

Indicator

Number of homes provided with 

fibre broadband by milestone area 

against set target

Net additional employment 

floorspace created within the rural 

areas by use class per annum

Net retail floorspace in rural areas 

(Change of Use from A1)

Number of Air Quality Management 

Areas

Amount of public open space 

provided in new developments

Number of Lower Super Output 

Areas in the 40% most deprived 

areas in England 

Number of essential community 

facilities lost or gained through the 

development process

Provision of sporting facilities

Access to green space - % of 

dwellings having access to: 

•	 Well-maintained, high-quality and 

versatile green space within 300 

metres

•	 20ha green space site within 2km

•	 100ha green space site within 

5km

•	 500ha green space site within 

10km

Source

Better Broadband 

Oxfordshire

Authority 

Monitoring 

Report

Authority 

Monitoring 

Report

Internal 

Monitoring

Internal 

monitoring

Indices of 

Deprivation

Internal 

monitoring

Sport England 

Local Sport 

Profiles

Internal 

monitoring

Target

Target to be agreed, but progress to 

be monitored on an annual basis

No target but annually assessed

No net loss of floorspace

Reduce the number of Air Quality 

Management Areas 

All schemes to meet policy standards 

for the provision of public open space

To reduce the number of Lower Super 

Output Areas amongst the 40% most 

deprived in England 

No loss of community facilities

Increase sports facilities in the South 

Oxfordshire area

Maintain and improve the % of 

dwellings with sufficient access to 

green space

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Page 221

Agenda Item 6



194

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

7. Natural and Built Environment

7.1  Protect and enhance the natural environment, including biodiversity, the 

landscape, green infrastructure and our waterways, placing particular 

importance on the value of the Oxford Green Belt, our two Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty and the River Thames. 

7.2  Conserve and enhance our rich and varied historic assets and their settings, 

celebrating these as some of our strongest attributes. 

Indicator

•	Change in areas of UK41 priority 

habitats

•	Change in number of UK41 priority 

species

•	Distribution & status of farmland 

birds

•	Distribution & status of water voles

•	Changes in areas of non-agri-

environmental biodiversity gains

Conditions of SSSIs and other 

areas of landscape and biodiversity 

importance

Type of development granted 

permission in the Green Belt

Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas 

and Scheduled Monuments on the 

“at risk register’

Net changes in the number of 

Listed Buildings, Registered Parks 

and Gardens, Conservation 

Areas, Battlefield and sites of 

archaeological importance including 

Scheduled Monuments

Source

Biodiversity 

Annual 

Monitoring 

Report

Natural England

Internal 

monitoring

Local Authority 

BAR (Buildings 

at Risk) registers. 

English Heritage 

– Heritage at Risk 

register

Internal 

monitoring

Target

No net loss

To maintain the protection of SSSIs 

and continually manage and enhance 

areas of landscape and biodiversity 

importance

No inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt

To continue to monitor and to support 

the historic environment

No net loss

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Page 222

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

195

Indicator

Per capita reduction in CO2 emissions 

by local authority area 

New developments incorporating 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 

development

Installed Renewable Capacity for 

South Oxfordshire

15% of energy demand from major 

sites derived from decentralised, 

renewable or low carbon sources

Progress of delivery of schemes 

included in updated IDP

Source

National Indicator, 

NI186

Internal 

monitoring (SA 

indicator)

ReGenSE 

Renewable 

Energy Progress 

Report – Annual 

Survey (SA 

indicator)

Internal 

monitoring

Internal 

monitoring

Target

Reduction in the carbon dioxide 

emissions per person in the District

No target but monitoring against 

the Department for Environment, 

Food and Rural Affairs ‘Non-statutory 

technical standards for sustainable 

drainage systems’ March 2015

No target but monitoring progress

All developments over 10 residential 

dwellings or non-residential 

development over 1000m2

To deliver strategic infrastructure 

items in accordance with the 

timeframes identified in the IDP

Period

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

Annually

8. Climate change

8.2  Minimise carbon emissions and other pollution such as water, air, noise and 

light, and increase our resilience to the likely impact of climate change, especially 

flooding.

Page 223

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 225

Agenda Item 6



II

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 226

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

197

Appendix 1
Glossary

Access to Natural Greenspace Standard (ANGSt)
ANGSt is a tool in assessing current levels of accessible 
natural greenspace, and planning for better provision. 
The three underlying principles of ANGSt are:
a) Improving access to greenspaces
b) Improving naturalness of greenspaces
c) Improving connectivity with greenspaces

ANGST sets a maximum recommended standard 
on walking distance people should have to travel 
to have access to accessible natural greenspace. 
For more information see “Nature Nearby” 
publication from Natural England , available online 
at: http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/
publication/40004

For more information please visit: 
www.naturalengland.org.uk/
regions/east_of_england/ourwork/gi/
accessiblenaturalgreenspacestandardangst.aspx

Adopted Policies Map 
A map of the local planning authority’s area which 
must be reproduced from, or based on, an Ordnance 
Survey map; include an explanation of any symbol or 
notation which it uses; and illustrate geographically the 
application of the policies in the adopted development 
plan. Where the adopted policies map consists of text 
and maps, the text prevails if the map and text conflict.

Adoption 
Formal approval by the Council of a DPD or SPD where 
upon it achieves its full weight in making planning 
decisions

Affordable Housing 
Social rented, affordable rented and intermediate 
housing, provided to eligible households whose needs 
are not met by the market. Eligibility is determined 
with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 
Affordable housing should include provisions to remain 
at an affordable price for future eligible households or 
for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision.

Social rented housing is let by local authorities 
and private registered providers (as defined in section 
80 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008), for 
which guideline target rents are determined through 
the national rent regime. It may also be owned by 
other persons and provided under equivalent rental 

arrangements to the above, as agreed with the local 
authority or with the Homes and Communities Agency.

Affordable rented housing is let by local 
authorities or private registered providers of social 
housing to households who are eligible for social 
rented housing. Affordable Rent is subject to rent 
controls that require a rent of no more than 80% of 
the local market rent (including service charges, where 
applicable).

Intermediate housing is homes for sale and 
rent provided at a cost above social rent, but below 
market levels subject to the criteria in the Affordable 
Housing definition above. These can include shared 
equity (shared ownership and equity loans), other low 
cost homes for sale and intermediate rent, but not 
affordable rented housing. Homes that do not meet 
the above definition of affordable housing, such as 
“low cost market” housing, are not affordable housing 
for planning purposes.

Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
Areas designated by local authorities because they are 
not likely to achieve national air quality objectives by 
the relevant deadlines.

Allowable Solutions 
System of off-site contributions to projects to enable 
developments to achieve Zero Carbon status.

Ancient Monument 
Any scheduled monument, or any other monument, 
which in the opinion of the Secretary of State, is of 
public interest by reason of the historic, architectural, 
artistic or archaeological interest attributed to it

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) 
A report produced at least annually assessing: progress 
with the preparation of the local plan and other 
policy documents against the timetable published in 
the Local Development Scheme, and the extent to 
which adopted plan policies are being successfully 
implemented.

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
A national designation to conserve and enhance the 
natural beauty of the landscape. The AONBs in South 
Oxfordshire District Council are the North Wessex 
Downs and the Chilterns AONBs.

Page 227

Agenda Item 6



198

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management 
Plan 
The Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management 
Plans for the Chilterns and the North Wessex 
Downs contain comprehensive summaries of the 
key issues facing the areas and the management 
policies and actions needed to conserve the areas. 
For more information on the plans, please visit 
www.chilternsaonb.org/conservation-board/
management-plan or www.northwessexdowns.
org.uk/About-us/aonb-management-plan.html 

B1, B2, B8 use classes 
Business uses as defined in the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987.
- B1 covers offices, research and development and light 
industrial.
- B2 covers general industrial.
- B8 covers storage or distribution.

Better Broadband for Oxfordshire Project 
Better Broadband for Oxfordshire is a £25m project to 
bring fibre broadband to over 90 per cent of homes 
and businesses in the county by the end of 2015. It’s 
a collaboration between Oxfordshire County Council, 
the Government (through BDUK) and BT that will 
boost the local economy by creating and protecting 
jobs. For more information please visit: www.
betterbroadbandoxfordshire.org.uk/home

Biodiversity 
Biodiversity is seen as the total complexity of all life, 
including not only the great variety of organisms, but 
also their varying behaviour and interactions.

Building Research Establishment Environment 
Assessment Method (BREEAM) 
A widely used environmental assessment method 
for buildings. BREEAM assesses buildings against set 
criteria for sustainable building design, construction 
and operation, and provides an overall score.

Burgage Plots
Long, narrow plots, laid out at right angles to the 
street frontage, with the rear often accessed by a back 
lane. Burgage plots were generally laid out in blocks, 
as acts of medieval town planning, comprising plots 
of often uniform width (sometimes 6 metres). A main 
building, generally shops or houses, occupied the 

frontage, with the rear containing ancillary buildings, 
and open space which was often used for digging cess 
pits and rubbish pits. The boundaries between plots 
may now be marked by high stone or brick walls, and 
in some cases, much or even all of the open space may 
now have been built on. Their regular width sets the 
rhythm of the street, within which buildings of various 
dates and styles provide variety. Remaining open land 
at the rear provides an important haven for wildlife and 
acts as a ‘green lung’ in otherwise densely developed 
and populated areas.

Carbon Compliance 
The overall onsite contribution to zero carbon.

Chalk Streams
There are around 224 known chalk streams in 
England, which constitutes over 85% of the total 
world resource. As a result chalk rivers have been 
specifically identified as a priority for conservation 
under Section 41 of the Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act (2006) (s41 Natural Environment 
and Rural Communities Act 2006, available at: www.
legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/16/contents). In 
South Oxfordshire they are generally fed from aquifers 
in the chalk rocks of the Chiltern Hills, the water is 
characterised as having high clarity and quality, with 
a stable temperature regime. It is the quality of the 
water as well as the in stream and bankside habitats 
that make chalk streams so important for a variety 
of rare and protected species. Chalk streams in the 
District arise from the escarpment of the Chiltern Hills, 
examples include the Ewelme Brook and the Chalgrove 
Brook. It is estimated that only around a quarter of 
Britain’s chalk streams are achieving good ecological 
status under the Water Framework Directive (World 
Wildlife Fund (WWF) (2015) The State of England’s 
Chalk Streams, available at: http://assets.wwf.org.
uk/downloads/wwf_chalkstreamreport_jan15_
forweb.pdf)

Climate Change Adaptation and mitigation 
Climate change adaptation: Adjustments to natural 
or human systems in response to actual or expected 
climatic factors or their effects, including from changes 
in rainfall and rising temperatures, which moderate 
harm or exploit beneficial opportunities. Climate 
change mitigation: Action to reduce the impact 
of human activity on the climate system, primarily 
through reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

Page 228

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

199

Code for Sustainable Homes (The Code) 
Provides a comprehensive measure of sustainability of a 
new home by rating and certifying new homes against 
nine categories of sustainable design: energy/CO2, 
pollution, water, health and well-being, materials, 
management, surface water run-off, ecology and 
waste. The Government has announced its intention 
to wind down the code and include its element in 
Building Regulations

Community Forest 
An area identified through the England Community 
Forest Programme to revitalise countryside and green 
space in and around major conurbations.

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
A levy that local authorities can choose to charge 
on new developments in their area. The money 
can be used to support development by funding 
infrastructure.

Community Right to Build Order 
An Order made by the local planning authority (under 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) that grants 
planning permission for a site-specific development 
proposal or classes of development

Comparison retail 
Retail items not bought on a frequent basis, for 
example televisions and white goods (fridges, 
dishwashers etc).

Conservation Area 
An area designated by the District Council under 
Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act

1990 as an area of special architectural or 
historical interest, the character or appearance of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance. There 
are additional controls over demolition, minor 
developments and the felling of trees.

Conservation Target Areas (CTA) 
These are county-wide important areas of landscape 
that present the best opportunities for prioritising 
the conservation, enhancement and re-creation of 
designated sites and important habitats.

Consultation 
A process by which people and organisations are asked 
their views about planning decisions, including the 
Local Plan.

Convenience retail 
The provision of everyday essential items, such as food.

Core Strategy 
Term no longer used to describe a Development Plan 
Document setting out the long-term spatial vision, 
strategic objectives and policies relating to future 
development of the District. This document would now 
be part of the Local Plan. 

Countryside Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW Act 
2000)  
Provides for public access on foot to certain types of 
land, amends the law relating to public rights of way. 
It also places a duty on local authorities to produce 
management plans for each AONB and to have regard 
to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the 
natural beauty of the AONBs when performing their 
functions. For more information on the Act please visit: 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/37/contents

Decentralised Energy 
Local renewable energy and local low-carbon energy 
usually, but not always, on a relatively small scale 
encompassing a diverse range of technologies.

Deliverability 
To be considered deliverable sites should be available 
now, offer a suitable location for development now 
and be achievable with a realistic prospect that housing 
will be delivered on the site within five years and, in 
particular, that the site is viable.

Designated heritage asset 
A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed 
Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and 
Garden, Registered Battlefield or Conservation Area 
designated under the relevant legislation.

Design and Access Statement 
A report accompanying and supporting a planning 
application as required by the Town and Country 
Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2010 as amended. They provide a 
framework for applicants to explain how a proposed 

Page 229

Agenda Item 6



200

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

development is a suitable response to the site and its 
setting, and demonstrate that it can be adequately 
accessed by prospective users.

Development Plan 
This includes adopted Local Plans, Neighbourhood 
Development Plans and the Waste and Minerals Local 
Plan, and is defined in section 38 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Planning 
applications have to be decided in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise

Development Plan Documents (DPDs) 
Development Plan Documents set planning policies 
in local authority areas. All DPDs are subject to public 
consultation and independent examination

Duty-to-Cooperate 
Created in the Localism Act 2011, it amends the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. It places 
a legal duty on local planning authorities, county 
councils in England and public bodies to engage 
constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis to 
maximise the effectiveness of Local and Marine Plan 
preparation in the context of strategic cross boundary 
matters.

Enterprise Zone 
Areas around the country that support both new and 
expanding businesses by offering incentives through 
means such as business rates relief and simplified 
planning procedures.

Employment Land 
A designation that has defined boundaries and is used 
to safeguard areas in the District for employment uses, 
both existing and proposed, as designated by the Local 
Plan or a Neighbourhood Plan.

Employment Land Review (ELR)  
An evidence base study to assess the quantity, quality 
and viability of the District’s employment land supply 
and forecast the future demand for employment land 
over the next planning period

Evidence Base 
Information gathered by a planning authority to 
support the Local Plan and other Development Plan 
Documents.

Examination 
An examination of the “soundness” of the Local Plan 
documents held in public by a planning inspector.

Exception Test 
The Exception Test provides a method of managing 
flood risk while still allowing necessary development 
to occur. The Exception Test is only appropriate 
for use when there are large areas in Flood Zones 
2 and 3, where the Sequential Test alone cannot 
deliver acceptable sites, but where some continuing 
development is necessary for wider sustainable 
development reasons, taking into account the need to 
avoid social or economic blight.

Extra Care Housing 
Extra Care Housing is a type of self-contained housing 
that offers care and support that falls somewhere 
between traditional sheltered housing and residential 
care.

Five Year Housing Land Supply 
Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) requires Local Planning Authorities 
to identify and update annually a supply of specific 
deliverable sites sufficient to provide five years” worth 
of housing against their housing requirements with 
an additional buffer of 5% or 20% (moved forward 
from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and 
competition in the market for land.

Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
An Act to make provision about water, including 
provision about the management of risks in 
connection with flooding and coastal erosion. The 
Act makes county councils responsible for leading the 
coordination of flood risk management in the area as 
the Lead Local Flood Authority. For more information 
on the Act please visit: www.legislation.gov.uk/
ukpga/2010/29/contents

Flood Zone 1 
Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability 
of river or sea flooding. This is the zone at lowest flood 
risk.

Flood Zone 2 
Land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual 
probability of river flooding; or Land having between 
a 1 in 200 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability of sea 
flooding. 

Page 230

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

201

Flood Zone 3 / Flood Zone 3a
Land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability 
of river flooding; or Land having a 1 in 200 or greater 
annual probability of sea flooding. This is the zone at 
the highest flood risk

Flood Zone 3b 
This zone comprises land where water has to flow 
or be stored in times of flood. Local planning 
authorities should identify in their Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessments areas of functional floodplain and 
its boundaries accordingly, in agreement with the 
Environment Agency.

Green Belt 
Designated land around a town or city where land is 
kept permanently open and where development is 
severely restricted. The extent of the Oxford Green Belt 
is defined on the Proposals Map.

Green Belt Review   
A Review whose purposes are:
1. To review the land within the Green Belt against 

the five purposes of the Green Belt as outlined 
in paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

2. To make an assessment of opportunities to enhance 
the beneficial use of the Green Belt as outlined 
in paragraph 81 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.

3. To review land on the edge of the Green Belt to 
ascertain if the designation should be extended

4 To assess whether any of the washed over villages 
should be included as an inset village.

It also includes the need to review the role of the edge 
of settlements in contribution to five purposes of the 
Green Belt in the light of the original designation 
which set the “inner” boundaries very tightly around 
the villages with no land for them to grow.

Green Infrastructure (GI) 
Green infrastructure includes sites protected for their 
importance to wildlife or the environment, nature 
reserves, greenspaces and greenway linkages. Together 
they provide a network of green space both urban and 
rural, providing a wide range of environmental and 
quality of life benefits.

Gypsies and Travellers (Planning definition) 
Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or 
origin, including such persons who on grounds only of 
their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational 
or health needs or old age have ceased to travel 
temporarily, but excluding members of an organised 
group of travelling showpeople or circus people 
travelling together as such.

Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
Used to assess the impacts of proposals and land-use 
plans against the conservation objectives of a European 
Protected site and to ascertain whether it would 
adversely affect the integrity of that site.

Heritage Asset 
A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape 
identified as having a degree of significance meriting 
consideration in planning decisions, because of its 
heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated 
assets (such as Scheduled Ancient

Monuments, Conservation Areas, Historic Parks 
and Gardens and Listed Buildings) and non-designated 
assets (not designated as one of the above but of good 
local character or interest).

Historic Environment Record 
Information services that seek to provide access to 
comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the 
historic environment of a defined geographic area for 
public benefit and use. Oxfordshire County Council 
hold the Historic Environment Record for the County.

Housing Market area 
A housing market area is a geographical area defined 
by household demand and preferences for all types of 
housing, reflecting the key functional linkages between 
places where people live and work

Housing Need 
The quantity of housing required for households who 
are unable to access suitable housing without financial 
assistance.

Housing Need Assessment (HNA) 
A District wide assessment of predominantly affordable 
housing need including a District wide housing needs 
survey.

Page 231

Agenda Item 6



202

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Inclusivity 
Planning for many different types of people, including 
the elderly, disabled, parents and carers, and treating 
them all fairly and equally. 

Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
An indicative measure of deprivation for small areas 
across England.

Infilling 
The filling of a small gap in an otherwise built up 
frontage or on other sites within settlements where the 
site is closely surrounded by buildings

Intermediate Affordable Housing 
Housing at prices and rents above those of social rent, 
but below market price or rents. These can include 
shared equity products and other low cost homes for 
sale or rent

Infrastructure 
All the ancillary works and services that are necessary 
to support human activities, including roads, sewers, 
schools, hospitals, etc.

Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)  
A live document that identifies future infrastructure 
identified by the Council and other service providers 
as being needed to support the delivery of the Local 
Plan. It explains what is required, its cost, how it will be 
provided and when.

Larger village 
Larger villages are defined as settlements with a more 
limited range of employment, services and facilities, 
where unallocated development will be limited to 
providing for local needs and to support employment, 
services and facilities within local communities.

Lifetime Homes Standards 
Incorporates 16 design criteria that can be universally 
applied to new homes at minimal cost. Each design 
feature adds to the comfort and convenience of the 
home and supports the changing needs of individuals 
and families at different stages of life.

Listed Building 
Buildings and structures which are listed by the 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport as being of 
special architectural and historic interest and whose 
protection and maintenance are the subject of special 

legislation. Listed building consent is required before 
any works are carried out on a listed building.

Local Development Framework (LDF) 
This term has been replaced by the term “Local 
Plan”. It was used to describe a portfolio of Local 
Development Documents that provide a framework for 
delivering the spatial planning strategy for the area. It 
also contains a number of other documents, including 
the Authority Monitoring Report, and any “saved” 
plans that affect the area.

Local Development Order (LDO) 
An Order made by a local planning authority (under 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) that grants 
planning permission for a specific development 
proposal or classes of development.

Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
This sets out the timetable and work programme 
for the preparation of the local plan and other Local 
Development Documents.

Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
A body, designated by the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government, established for 
the purpose of creating or improving the conditions for 
economic growth in an area. For more information on 
Oxfordshire’s LEP please visit: www.oxfordshirelep.
org.uk/cms/

Localism Act 2011 
The Localism Act introduced changes to the planning 
system (amongst other changes to local government) 
including making provision for the revocation of 
Regional Spatial Strategies, introducing the Duty to 
Cooperate and neighbourhood planning.

Local Plan 
The plan for the local area that sets out the long-term 
spatial vision and development framework for the 
District and strategic policies and proposals to deliver 
that vision. This replaces the Local Development 
Framework.

Local Service Centre 
Local Service Centres are defined as larger villages 
or neighbourhoods to larger settlements with a level 
of facilities and services and local employment to 
provide the next best opportunities for sustainable 
development outside the Market Towns.

Page 232

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

203

Local Transport Plan (LTP) 
For more information please visit: 
www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/content/local-
transport-plan-2011-2030

Major Development (large-scale)
Largescale Major Developments. For dwellings, a 
largescale major development is one where the number 
of residential dwellings to be constructed is 200 or 
more or 1,000m2 of industrial, commercial or retail 
floor space. Where the number of residential dwellings 
or floor space to be to be constructed is not given in 
the application a site area of 4 hectares or more should 
be used as the definition of a major development. 
For all other uses a largescale major development is 
one where the floorspace to be built is more than 
10,000m2, or where the site area is more than 2 
hectares. The definition for major development in the 
AONB differs. Please refer to NPPF paragraph 116.

Major Development (small-scale)
Smallscale Major Developments. For dwellings, a 
smallscale major development is one where the 
number of residential dwellings to be constructed is 
between 10 and 199 inclusive. Where the number 
of dwellings to be constructed is not given in the 
application a site area of between 0.5 hectares and 
less than 4 hectare should be used as the definition 
of a smallscale major development. For all other 
uses a smallscale major development is one where 
the floorspace to be built is between 1,000m2 and 
9,999m2 or where the site area is between 0.5 hectare 
and less than 2 hectares. The definition for major 
development in the AONB differs. Please refer to NPPF 
paragraph 116.

Market Town
Market Towns are defined as settlements that have 
the ability to support the most sustainable patterns 
of living within South Oxfordshire through their 
current levels of facilities, services and employment 
opportunities.

Material Consideration 
This is a matter that should be taken into account 
in deciding a planning application or on an appeal 
against a planning decision. This can include issues 
such as overlooking/loss of privacy, parking, noise, 
effect on listed building and conservation area, or 
effect on nature conservation etc

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF or The 
Framework) 
Sets out the Government’s planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied 
at a local level. The NPPF is a material consideration 
when deciding on planning applications or appeals 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework--2

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
The National Planning Practice Guidance is a planning 
practice on-line resource covering a range of planning 
issues. http://planningguidance.planningportal.
gov.uk/

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
(NERC) 2006 
An Act to make provision about bodies concerned 
with the natural environment and rural communities; 
to make provision in connection with wildlife, sites 
of special scientific interest, National Parks and the 
Broads; to amend the law relating to rights of way; to 
make provision as to the Inland Waterways Amenity 
Advisory Council; to provide for flexible administrative 
arrangements in connection with functions relating 
to the environment and rural affairs and certain other 
functions; and for connected purposes. For more 
information please visit: www.legislation.gov.uk/
ukpga/2006/16/contents

Neighbourhood Development Plan 
A plan prepared by a Town or Parish Council or 
Neighbourhood Forum for a particular neighbourhood 
area (made under the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004).

New Growth Point 
The New Growth Points initiative provides support to 
local communities who wish to pursue large scale and 
sustainable growth, including new housing, through a 
partnership with Government

Non-designated heritage assets 
These are buildings, monuments, sites, places, areas or 
landscapes identified as having a degree of significance 
meriting consideration in planning decisions but which 
are not formally designated heritage assets. In some 
areas, local authorities identify some non-designated 
heritage assets as “locally listed”.

Page 233

Agenda Item 6



204

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Objectively Assessed Need 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires 
that local planning authorities identify the objectively 
assessed need for housing in their areas, and that Local 
Plans translate those needs into land provision targets

Older People 
People over retirement age, including the active, 
newly-retired through to the very frail elderly, whose 
housing needs can encompass accessible, adaptable 
general needs housing for those looking to downsize 
from family housing and the full range of retirement 
and specialised housing for those with support or care 
needs.

Oxfordshire City Deal 
The Oxford and Oxfordshire City Deal sets out the 
actions the region will take to create new jobs, support 
research and businesses, and improve housing and 
transport.

Oxfordshire Local Investment Plan 
For more information please visit: www.oxford.gov.
uk/Direct/OxfordshireLocalInvestmentPlan.pdf

Oxfordshire Skills Strategy 
Sets the future direction for skills development in the 
county to 2020 to support economic growth.

For more information please visit: 
www.oxfordshireskillsboard.org/oxfordshire-skills-
strategy-2020/

Oxfordshire Statement of Cooperation 
The Oxfordshire Statement of Cooperation outlines 
matters on which the six local authorities in 
Oxfordshire will continue to cooperate. In particular, 
the document sets out how the parties involved 
will manage the outcomes of the Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment, should any of the Local Planning 
Authorities in Oxfordshire not be able to meet their 
full objectively assessed housing need. For more 
information please visit: www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
cms/content/spatial-planning-and-infrastructure-
partnership

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
This Act updated the Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 introduced a new statutory system of regional 
and local planning and has since been amended by the 
Localism Act 2011.

Preferred Options 
This is a non-statutory stage of consultation of the 
Local Plan setting out the preferred options for 
growth in the area, based on the findings of previous 
consultation. The Vale chose to undertake a second 
iteration of Preferred Options consultation in early 
2013.

Previously Developed Land
Land which is or was occupied by a permanent 
structure, including the curtilage of the developed land 
(although it should not be assumed that the whole of 
the curtilage should be developed) and any associated 
fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that 
is or has been occupied by agricultural or forestry 
buildings; land that has been developed for minerals 
extraction or waste disposal by landfill purposes where 
provision for restoration has been made through 
development control procedures; land in built-up areas 
such as private residential gardens, parks, recreation 
grounds and allotments; and land that was previously-
developed but where the remains of the permanent 
structure or fixed surface structure have blended into 
the landscape in the process of time.

Regional Strategy 
The South East Plan (2009) was extant until 
March 2013 and therefore was used to inform the 
development of the Local Plan 2031 Part 1 until that 
point. An assessment of the South East Plan policies 
was made to ascertain any important considerations 
that might need to be taken forward once the plan 
was revoked.

Registered Provider 
Registered Providers are independent housing 
organisations registered with the Homes & 
Communities Agency under the Housing Act 1996. 
Most are housing associations, but there are also 
trusts, co-operatives and companies.

River Basin Management Plan
River basin management plans (RBMPs) are drawn up 
for the 10 river basin districts in England and Wales 
as a requirement of the water framework directive. 
South Oxfordshire District Council is covered within the 
Thames River Basin Management Plan

(2009). For more information please visit: https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/thames-
river-basin-management-plan

Page 234

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

205

Route Based Strategy (RBS) 
Route-based strategies are being taken forward by the 
Highways Agency to enable a smarter approach to 
investment planning and support greater participation 
in planning for the strategic road network from local 
and regional stakeholders

Rural Exception 
Site Small sites used for affordable housing in 
perpetuity where sites would not normally be used 
for housing. Rural exception sites seek to address the 
needs of the local community by accommodating 
households who are either current residents or have 
an existing family or employment connection. Small 
numbers of market homes may be allowed at the local 
authority’s discretion, for example where essential to 
enable the delivery of affordable dwellings without 
grant funding.

Science Vale Area Action Plan 
Significant change proposed around Didcot in 
the Vale of White Horse and South Oxfordshire 
Districts including housing, employment and large 
infrastructure projects, as well as the proposals across 
the Science Vale area has led to the preparation of a 
proposed Joint Area Action Plan for the Science Vale 
area. The purpose of the Area Action Plan (AAP) is to 
ensure effective delivery and implementation of this 
change.

Section 106 agreement 
A legal agreement under section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act. They are legal agreements 
between a planning authority and a developer, or 
undertakings offered unilaterally by a developer, 
that ensure that certain extra works related to a 
development are undertaken.

Sequential Test 
A planning principle that seeks to identify, allocate 
or develop certain types of location of land before 
others. For example, brownfield housing sites before 
greenfield sites, or town centre retail sites before out-
of-centre sites. With regard to flood risk, it seeks to 
locate development in areas of lower flood risk (Flood 
Zone 1) before considering Flood Zones 2 or 3.

Settlement Hierarchy 
A way of identifying and classifying settlements within 
South Oxfordshire and provides a guide to where 

development may be sustainable according to the role 
and function of the settlement

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA)  
Study carried out by one or more local planning 
authorities to assess the risk to an area from flooding 
from all sources, now and in the future, taking account 
of the impacts of climate change, and to assess the 
impact that land use changes and development in 
the area will have on flood risk. The purpose of the 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) is to identify 
and analyse current and future broad scale flooding 
issues for key locations across the District. The South 
Oxfordshire District Council’s SFRA has been prepared 
jointly with The Vale of the White Horse District 
Council

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Identified protected areas of nature conservation and 
scientific value identified by Natural England as being 
of national (and sometimes international) importance.

Smaller village 
Smaller villages have a low level of services and 
facilities, where any development should be modest in 
scale and primarily be to meet local needs.

Southern Central Oxfordshire Transport Study 
(SCOTS) 
For more information please visit: www.southoxon.
gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/
planning-policy/evidence-studies/transport-
strategy

Spatial Strategy 
The overview and overall approach to the provision of 
jobs, homes and infrastructure over the plan period.

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
An area designated to protect the habitats of 
threatened species of wildlife under EU Directive 92/43.

Stakeholders Groups
Individuals or organisations that may be affected by, 
or have a key interest in, a development proposal or 
planning policy. They may often be experts in their field 
or represent the views of many people. 

Page 235

Agenda Item 6



206

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 
The SCI sets out standards to be achieved by the local 
authority in relation to involving the community in the 
preparation, alteration and continuing review of all 
DPDs and in development Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) control decisions 

It is subject to independent examination. In respect 
of every DPD the local planning authority is required to 
publish a statement showing how it complied with the 
SCI.

Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
An assessment of the environmental effects of 
policies, plans and programmes, required by European 
legislation, which will be part of the public consultation 
on the policies.

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 
(SHLAA) 
An assessment of the land capacity across the District 
with the potential for housing. 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 
An assessment of existing and future housing need 
and demand within a defined housing market area, 
focusing on all aspects of the housing market. More 
details are available in paragraph 159 of the NPPF.

Strategic Allocation 
An allocation of land for housing or employment 
which has the potential for significant development 
that contributes to achieving the spatial vision of an 
area. In the context of the emerging SODC Local Plan, 
it refers to sites of 500+ dwellings.

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
Documents which add further detail to the policies in 
the Local Plan. They can be used to provide further 
guidance for development on specific sites, or on 
particular issues, such as design. Supplementary 
planning documents are capable of being a material 
consideration in planning decisions but are not part of 
the development plan.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
The process of assessing the economic, social and 
environmental effects of a proposed plan. This process 
implements the requirements of the SEA Directive. 
Required to be undertaken for all DPDs.

Sustainable Development 
A widely used definition drawn up by the World 
Commission on Environment and Development in 
1987: “development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs”. The NPPF taken 
as a whole constitutes the Government’s view of what 
sustainable development in England means in practice 
for the planning system.

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDs) 
SUDs seek to manage surface water as close to the 
source as possible, mimicking surface water flows 
arising from a site prior to the proposed development. 
Typically SUDs involve a move away from piped systems 
to softer engineering solutions inspired by natural 
drainage processes.

Sustainable Transport Modes 
Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport 
with overall low impact on the environment, including 
walking and cycling, low and ultra low emission 
vehicles, car sharing and public transport.

Thames Water Resources Management Plan 
(WRMP) 
Water companies in England and Wales are required 
to produce a Water Resources Management Plan 
(WRMP) every five years which sets out how they aim 
to maintain water supplies over a 25 year period. For 
more information on Thames Water’s Water Resources 
Management Plan, please visit: www.thameswater.
co.uk/about-us/5392.htm

Transport Assessment (TA) 
A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out 
transport issues relating to a proposed development. 
It identifies what measures will be required to improve 
accessibility and safety for all modes of travel, 
particularly for alternatives to the car such as walking, 
cycling and public transport and what measures will 
need to be taken to deal with the anticipated transport 
impacts of the development.

Transport Statement 
A simplified version of a transport assessment 
where it is agreed the transport issues arising out of 
development proposals are limited and a full transport 
assessment is not required.

Page 236

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

207

Travel Plan 
A long-term management strategy for an organisation 
or site that seeks to deliver sustainable transport 
objectives through action and is articulated in a 
document that is regularly reviewed.

Travelling Show people (Planning definition) 
Members of a group organised for the purposes 
of holding fairs, circuses or shows (whether or not 
travelling together as such). This includes such persons 
who on the grounds of their own or their family’s 
or dependants’ more localised pattern of trading, 
educational or health needs or old age have ceased to 
travel temporarily, but excludes Gypsies and Travellers 
as defined above. 

UK Competitiveness Index 
The UKCI provides a benchmarking of the 
competitiveness of the UK’s localities, and it has 
been designed to be an integrated measure of 
competitiveness focusing on both the development 
and sustainability of businesses and the economic 
welfare of individuals.

Unallocated sites 
Unallocated sites are housing sites that come forward 
which are not allocated in the development plan. These 
include both greenfield land and previously developed 
land. Predicted delivery rates are based on past trends.

Watercourse
Main rivers, (larger rivers, brooks and streams), and 
ordinary watercourses (headwaters and smaller brooks 
and streams). Watercourses as  defined in s72(1) 
Land Drainage Act 1991, available at: http://www.
legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/section/24; 
Ordinary watercourses as defined in the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010, available at: http://
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents

Windfall sites 
Sites which have not been specifically identified as 
available in the Local Plan process. They normally 
comprise previously developed sites that have 
unexpectedly become available.

 

Page 237

Agenda Item 6



208

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Appendix 2 
Strategic Allocation Maps

Page 238

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

209
Page 239

Agenda Item 6



210

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

0 100 200 300

Metres

°Crowmarsh 
Gifford
February 2017

Site Allocation

Developable Area – Housing

Appendix 3  
Site Allocations

map to be 
replaced

Page 240

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

211
Page 241

Agenda Item 6



212

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

0 150 300 450 60075

Metres

°Wallingford: 
Employment Allocations
February 2017

Employment Site

©Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

Page 242

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

213

Appendix 4  
Green Belt Proposed Changes

Page 243

Agenda Item 6



214

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

°
© Crown copyright and database rights 
2017 Ordnance Survey
100018668

Proposed inset Green Belt Boundary
Wheatley

Feb 2017

Proposed area to be removed from the Green Belt

Green Belt

0 200 400 600100
Metres

Page 244

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

215

Appendix 5  
Safeguarding Maps

Page 245

Agenda Item 6



216

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

A4130 Didcot to Wallingford Road Safety Improvements

Safeguarded Land

1:15,000

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668 Page 246

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

217

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Abingdon Southern Bypass

District Council Boundary

Safeguarded Land

Safeguarded in Vale of White Horse District 1:20,000

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668Page 247

Agenda Item 6



218

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Benson Bypass

Safeguarded Land

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

1:10,000

Page 248

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

219

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Clifton Hampden Bypass

Safeguarded Land

1:20,000

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668Page 249

Agenda Item 6



220

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Culham to Didcot Thames River Crossing

Safeguarded Land in South Oxfordshire

District Council Boundary

Safeguarded Land (Vale of White Horse District)

Scheduled Ancient Monument

1:25,000

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668 Page 250

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

221

D
id

co
t 

C
e
n
tr

e
C
o
rr

id
o
r

S
O

D
C

 S
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
 M

a
p

s

D
id

co
t 

C
en

tr
a
l 

C
o
rr

id
o
r 

Im
p

ro
v
em

en
ts

S
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

e
d
 L

a
n
d

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C
o
u
n
ci

l 
B
o
u
n
d
a
ry

1
:1

2
,5

0
0

P
ro

d
u
ce

d
 b

y
 t

h
e 

D
a
ta

 C
a
p
tu

re
 T

ea
m

 | 
F

eb
ru

ar
y
 2

0
1
7
 | 

©
 C

ro
w

n
 c

o
p
y
ri

g
h
t 

an
d
 d

at
ab

as
e 

ri
g
h
ts

 2
0
1
7
 O

rd
n
an

ce
 S

u
rv

ey
 1

0
0
0
1
8
6
6
8

Page 251

Agenda Item 6



222

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Didcot Northern Perimeter Road

Safeguarded Land
1:12,500

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668 Page 252

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

223

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Sandford Park and Ride Site

District Council Boundary

Safeguarded Land
1:15,000

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668Page 253

Agenda Item 6



224

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Science Bridge

District Council Boundary

Safeguarded Land

Safeguarded in Vale of White Horse District

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

1:12,500

Page 254

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

225

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Stadhampton Bypass

Safeguarded Land

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

1:12,500

Page 255

Agenda Item 6



226

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

SODC Safeguarding Maps

Watlington Bypass

Safeguarded Land

Produced by the Data Capture Team | February 2017 | © Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey 100018668

1:10,000

Page 256

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

227

Appendix 6  
Didcot Garden Town Principles

1. Design
The Garden Town will be characterised by design 
that adds value to Didcot and endures over time; it 
will encourage pioneering architecture of buildings 
and careful urban design of the spaces in between, 
prioritising green spaces over roads and car parks. All 
new proposals should show the application of the 
Council’s adopted Design Guide SPD and demonstrate 
best practice design standards. 

2. Local Character
The Garden Town will establish a confident and 
unique identity, becoming a destination in itself that is 
distinctive from surrounding towns and villages whilst 
respecting and protecting their rural character and 
setting. Didcot’s identity will champion science, natural 
beauty, and green living, in part delivered through 
strengthened physical connections and active public 
and private sector collaboration with the Science Vale.

3. Density and tenure
The Garden Town will incorporate a variety of 
densities, housing types and tenures to meet the needs 
of a diverse community. This will include high density 
development in suitable locations, such as in central 
Didcot and near sustainable transport hubs; higher 
density development will be balanced by good levels of 
public realm and accessible green space. Professionally 
managed homes for private rent (also known as Build 
to Rent) could play an important role in meeting 
housing need. 

4. Transport and movement
The Garden Town will reduce reliance on motorised 
vehicles and will promote a step-change towards 
active and public transport through the creation of 
a highly legible, attractive and accessible movement 
network and the appropriate location of housing, 
employment and leisure facilities. The Garden Town 
will seek to improve opportunities for access to sport 
and physical activities through Sport England’s Active 
Design Principles. Cycling and pedestrian links between 
the Garden Town, its surrounding villages, and natural 
assets and the strategic employment sites will be 
enhanced.

5. Heritage
The Garden Town will conserve and enhance heritage 
assets, both designated and non-designated, within 
and adjacent to the development area. This includes 
the Scheduled Monuments of the settlement sites 
north of Milton Park and east of Appleford and any 
archaeological remains and historic landscapes and/
or landscape features identified in the Oxfordshire 
Historic Environment Record, the Oxfordshire Historic 
Landscape Character Assessment, other sources and/or 
through further investigation and assessment.

6. Landscape and Green Infrastructure
New development in the Garden Town will enhance 
the natural environment, through enhancing green 
and blue infrastructure networks, creating ecological 
networks to support an increase (or where possible 
achieve a net gain) in biodiversity and supporting 
climate resilience through the use of adaptation and 
design measures.  The garden town will also seek 
to make effective use of natural resources including 
energy and water efficiency, as well as exploring 
opportunities for promoting new technology within 
developments. Innovative habitat planting and food 
growing zones will characterise the Garden Town and, 
in turn, these measures will support quality of life and 
public health.

7. Social and community benefits
The planning of the Garden Town will be 
community-focused, creating accessible and vibrant 
neighbourhoods around a strong town centre offer 
of cultural, recreational and commercial amenities 
that support well-being, social cohesion and vibrant 
communities. The Garden Town will embrace 
community participation throughout its evolution. It 
will promote community ownership of land and long-
term stewardship of assets where desirable.

Page 257

Agenda Item 6



228

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 258

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

229

Appendix 7  
Settlement Hierarchy

Other villages
Adwell
Albury
Baldon Row
Bix
Brightwell Baldwin
Brightwell Upperton
Brookhampton
Cane End
Chazey Heath
Christmas Common
Collins End
Cookley Green
Coscote
Crays Pond
Crocker End
Crowell
Cuxham 
Denton 
Drayton St Leonard
Easington
Elsfield
Emmington
Exlade Street
Fulscot
Greys Green
Hailey
Harpsden Bottom
Henton
Highmoor
Hill Bottom
Huntercombe End
Kingwood Common
Latchford
Little Haseley
Little Wittenham
Littleworth
Lower Assendon 

Maidensgrove
Mapledurham
Middle Assendon
Mongewell
Newington
North Stoke
North Weston
Nuffield
Park Corner
Path Hill
Peppard Common
Pishill
Postcombe
Preston Crowmarsh
Pyrton
Roke
Rotherfield Greys
Russell’s Water
Sandford-on-Thames 
Satwell
Shepherds Green
Shillingford
Shirburn
Sonning eye
South Weston
Stoke Talmage
Stonor
Swyncombe
Tokers Green
Toot Baldon
Trench Green
Waterperry
Waterstock
West Hagbourne
Wheatfield
Witheridge Hill
Woodeaton
Wyfold Court

Towns
Didcot 
Henley-on-Thames 
Thame 
Wallingford

Larger villages
Benson
Berinsfield
Chalgrove  
Chinnor
Cholsey
Crowmarsh Gifford 

Smaller villages
Aston Rowant
Aston Tirrold
Aston Upthorpe
Beckley
Berrick Salome
Binfield Heath
Brightwell-cum-Sotwell
Britwell Salome
Burcot
Checkendon
Chiselhampton
Clifton Hampden
Cuddesdon
Culham 
Dorchester
Dunsden Green
East Hagbourne
Ewelme
Forest Hill
Gallowstree Common
Garsington
Great Haseley
Great Milton
Harpsden
Highmoor Cross
Holton
Horspath

Ipsden 
Kidmore End
Kingston Blount
Lewknor
Little Milton
Long Wittenham
Lower Shiplake
Marsh Baldon
Milton Common
Moulsford
North Moreton
Nuneham Courtenay 
Playhatch 
Rotherfield Peppard 
Shiplake Cross
South Moreton
South Stoke
Stadhampton
Stanton St John
Stoke Row
Sydenham
Tetsworth
Tiddington
Towersey
Warborough
Whitchurch Hill
Whitchurch-on-Thames

Goring
Nettlebed
Sonning Common 
Watlington
Wheatley
Woodcote

Page 259

Agenda Item 6



230

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Appendix 8  
Local Plan Development Trajectory

Graph to be supplied by Ben Duffy asap. 

Page 260

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

231

Appendix 9  
Designated Sites for Nature Conservation

Sites of Special Scientific Interest containing Priority Habitats

Broad/Priority habitat SSSIs containing priority habitat OS grid reference

Boundary and linear features
Ancient hedgerow  Aston Rowant SU728972
 Otmoor SP575130

Broadleaved, mixed and yew woodland
Mixed deciduous woodland  Bix Bottom SU715880
 Holly Wood SP588100
 Holton Wood SP603080
 Sidlings Copse and College Pond SP555095
 Stanton Great Wood SP588093
 Waterperry Wood SP605090
 Woodeaton Wood SP533123

Yew woodland  Hartslock SU619793

Lowland beech woodland  Aston Rowant SU728972
 Bear, Oveys and Greatbottom Wood SU693840, SU703830
 Berrick Trench SU705882
 Aston Rowant Woods SU750984
 Harpsden Wood SU761804
 Lambridge Wood SU738841
 Pishill Woods SU715901, SU713905

Calcareous grassland
Lowland calcareous grassland  Aston Rowant SU728972
 Aston Upthorpe Downs SP545834, SU536835
 Berins Hill Bank SU654852
 Chinnor Hill SP766007
 Hartslock SU619793
 Moulsford Downs SU578827
 Shirburn Hill SU715955
 Sidlings Copse and College Pond SP555095
 Swyncombe Downs SU672915
 Warren Bank SU653857
 Watlington and Pyrton Hills SU705936
 Wormsley Chalk Banks SU747926, SU751923, 
  SU737932, SU728936,  
  SU745938, SU736958

Fens, marsh and swamps
Fens  Sidlings Copse and College Pond SP555095
 Spartum Fen SP654016

Neutral grassland
Lowland meadow  Shabbington Woods Complex SP615110
 Otmoor SP575130

Page 261

Agenda Item 6



232

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Local Nature Reserves
Ewelme Watercress Beds ..............................SU636920
Cuttlebrook ................................................. SP702055
Mowbray Fields ............................................SU523887
Watlington Chalk Pit ....................................SU700940

County Wildlife Sites*
Almshill Larch ..............................................SU737884
Bank by Pindars Wood .................................SU729825
Beckley Pasture ............................................ SP564115
Blewburton Hill ............................................SU544861
Bottom Farm Bank .......................................SU673777
Bottom Wood ..............................................SU658781
Bozedown ...................................................SU647780
Bozedown Vineyard (north) ..........................SU639780
Bozedown Vineyard (south) .........................SU640777
Buckingham Bottom Meadow ......................SU728943
Bypass Swamp ............................................. SP525029
Clifton Hampden Meadow ...........................SU552956
Clifton Hampden Wood ...............................SU552958
Combe Fields (east) ......................................SU615797
Combe Fields (north) ....................................SU615803
Combe Fields (west) .....................................SU612798
Cookes Copse .............................................. SP557112
Crowsley Park ..............................................SU732798
Didcot Marshalling Yard ...............................SU548893
Dorchester Gravel Pits (Allen Pit) ..................SU572945
Dorchester Gravel Pits (Drayton Road Pit) .....SU582952
Dorchester Gravel Pits (Queenford Pit) ..........SU578953
Dorchester Gravel Pits (Whittles Pit) ..............SU585945
Dorchester Meadow ....................................SU572940
Easington Fen ..............................................SU667965
Edge of Nippers Grove .................................SU673809
Eversdown ...................................................SU743857
Ewelme Cress Beds ......................................SU640916
Fiddle Hill .....................................................SU612819
Fiddlers Elbow Marsh ................................... SP529019
Furze Brake ..................................................SU535965
Hayward’s Eyot ............................................SU542937
Henley Road Pit ............................................SU734744
Henton Marsh .............................................. SP767027
Hernes .........................................................SU748827
Heyford Hill Lane Pasture ............................. SP526026
Holly Hill (Elmore Park Grassland) .................SU628814
Holton Brook Meadow (central) ................... SP610080
Holton Brook Meadow (east) ....................... SP614079
Holton Brook Meadow (south) ..................... SP614077
Holton Brook Meadow (west) ...................... SP607082
Holton Brook Meadow Extension ................. SP608083
Kents Hill .....................................................SU726808
Kingwood Common ....................................SU696825

Langtree House Bank ...................................SU639826
Lollingdon Hill ..............................................SU568849
Long Wood .................................................. SP535105
Lower Farm bottom hay pasture .................. SP535001
Lowerhill Farm Wood ...................................SU580931
Monastic Fish Ponds, South Stoke ................SU597838
Monks Wood Grassland ............................... SP565066
Nettlebed Common .....................................SU702872
North Unhill Bank ........................................SU563834
Nuffield Common ........................................SU674875
Nuneham Arboretum ...................................SU554985
Parklane Shaw .............................................SU675805
Peppard Common ........................................SU705816
Pishill Bank ...................................................SU725906
Pond north of Cholsey marsh .......................SU605861
Reading Golf Course (east) ...........................SU712772
Reading Golf Course (west) ..........................SU704771
Rush Court ..................................................SU602918
Sandford Brake ............................................ SP562017
Shillingford Boathouse Carr .........................SU593925
Shillingford Hotel Meadow ..........................SU593921
Shiplake Marsh ............................................SU759774
South Stoke Marsh (north) ...........................SU594841
South Stoke Marsh (south) ...........................SU596832
Stonor Park (North) ......................................SU738893
Stonor Park (south west) ..............................SU738888
Straw Hill .....................................................SU660778
Thames Island near Streatley ........................SU599813
Unhill and Ham Woods ................................SU560823
Upper Park Farm .......................................... SP573113
Warren Wood ..............................................SU765779
Watlington Hay Meadow .............................SU698938
Westford Hill ................................................SU666776
Westford Hill Copse .....................................SU666778
Whitchurch-on-Thames Wet Meadow ..........SU627770

*The County Wildlife Site selection system is informed 
by a rolling survey programme with sites being added 
to and removed from the list as part of the process. 
The list only represents, therefore,the picture at the 
point of publishing the plan.

The identification of sites in these lists does not confer 
any public rights of access to the land.

Page 262

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

233

Appendix 10 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments

Scheduled Ancient Monuments

Parish County  No  Monument Title  Grid Ref

Aston Upthorpe  204  Lowbury Hill Camp  SU540823

Aston Upthorpe  205  Blewburton Hill  SU547862

Aston Upthorpe  214  Grim’s Ditch - section on Aston Upthorpe Down SU535833
   SU543830

Aston Upthorpe  258  Bell Barrow NE of Oven Bottom SU542838

Beckley & Stowood  28140  Two sections of a Roman road on Otmoor SP572144
    SP572139
   SP572138
   SP570126

Bix & Assendon  99  Bix old church  SU726870

Brightwell-cum-Sotwell  28197  Brightwell barrow  SU577919

Checkendon  129  Castle Grove camp  SU683809

Chinnor  28154  Three bowl barrows on Chinnor Hill SP765002
   SP767006

Clifton Hampden 1421606 Round Barrow Cemetery at Fullamoor Plantation SU531944

Crowmarsh  32  Grim’s Ditch - portion from Mongewell Park Lodge to S SU617879
(Ipsden)   of Nuffield Church SU657872
(Nuffield)    SU658872
   SU 666871

Crowmarsh  121  North Stoke henge and ring ditch site SU611857
(South Stoke)  

Culham  13  Culham Bridge  SU501958

Culham  147  Settlement site N of Thames  SU523945

Culham  231  Abingdon Bridge including Maud Hale’s Bridge SU498969
   SU500967

Culham  30848  Dovecote at Culham Manor  SU500948

Dorchester  17  Dyke Hills  SU570938
   SU578932

Dorchester  116  Roman town  SU577941
   SU576940
   SU578942
   SU579943
   SU578943

Dorchester  144  Ring ditches, cursus, enclosures and settlement site SU590940
(Warborough)   

East Hagbourne  28155  Coscote village cross  SU515884

East Hagbourne  28156  Village cross  SU526883

Page 263

Agenda Item 6



234

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Ewelme  163  Site of manor house and royal palace SU64915

Garsington  28157  Garsington Cross  SP580023

Goring Heath  114  Earthworks in Friarhampstead Wood SU645807
Great Haseley  28161  Rycote Chapel  SP667046

Harpsden  254  Highlands Farm palaeolithic site SU744813

Holton  30823 Moated site of Holton SP600063

Holton  30824  Moated site south west of Church Farm SP598065

Ipsden  32  Grim’s Ditch - portion from Mongewell Park Lodge to S SU617879
(Nuffield)   of Nuffield Church SU657872
(Crowmarsh)    SU658872
   SU666871

Little Wittenham  208  Sinodun Hill camp SU569924

Long Wittenham  180  Settlement site at Northfield Farm SU558947

Long Wittenham 243 Settlement site south east of church SU53321
   SU93386

Marsh Baldon  132  Site of Roman kilns SU562977

Nuneham Courtenay  54  Carfax conduit SU537977

Rotherfield Greys  28  Greys Court - castle wall, towers and well-house SU725834
   SU726835

South Moreton  455741  Mound west of church SU557880

South Stoke  30847  Dovecote at Manor Farm SU599836

South Stoke  121  North Stoke henge and ring (Crowmarsh) ditch site SU611857

Stadhampton  9  Chiselhampton Bridge SU594987

Stadhampton 30849 Ice house at Ascott House north west of Ascott Farm SU61220
   SU98214

Thame  162  Moated site east of Moorend Lane SP710062

Wallingford  176  Wallingford Castle SU609897

Wallingford  182  Saxon town SU606897
   SU605893

Wallingford  234  Town walls SU604894
   SU604891
   SU606891
   SU607898
   SU604898
   SU604895

Wallingford  235  Wallingford Bridge SU610895

Warborough  144  Ring ditches, cursuses, enclosures and settlement site SU590940
(Dorchester) 

Warborough  186  Church Piece cemetery site SU589945

Warborough  31431  Long barrow 140m north west of Cookes Cottag SU606923

Warborough 31432  Romano-British settlement 520m north west of Cookes Cottage SU605926

Warborough  31435  Long barrow 340m north west of Cookes Cottage SU606925

Waterperry with  237  Thomley deserted medieval village SP630091
Thomley

Waterstock  227  Ickford Bridge SU649065

Whitchurch  130  Camp on Bozedown SU643782

Woodeaton  28158  Village cross SP535119

Page 264

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

235

Appendix 11  
English Heritage Register of Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest in South Oxfordshire

English Heritage Register of Parks and Gardens ofSpecial Historic Interest in South Oxfordshire
 
 Location  Grade

1.  Ascott Stadhampton  ................................... II

2. Beckley Park  ................................................ II*

3.  Fair Mile Hospital  ........................................ II

4. Fawley Court (part) near Henley  .................. II*

5.  Friar Park, Henley-on-Thames ....................... II

6.  Garsington Manor ....................................... II*

7.  Greys Court, Rotherfield Greys ..................... II

8.  Nuneham Courtenay .................................... I

9.  Shirburn Castle ............................................ II

10.  Shotover, nr Oxford ...................................... I

11.  Stonor ......................................................... II*

12.  Thame Park .................................................. II*

English Heritage Register of Historic Battlefields in South Oxfordshire

1.  Chalgrove Field

Page 265

Agenda Item 6



236

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Appendix 12 
Listed Buildings, Heritage at risk and Conservation Areas in South Oxfordshire

Listed Buildings

To access a list of the Listed Buildings within South Oxfordshire please follow the link below:
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results?searchtype=nhleadvanced

Heritage at risk

To access a list of heritage assets at risk within South Oxfordshire please follow the link below:
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/
results/?advsearch=1&Lpa=South%20Oxfordshire&searchtype=harsearch

Conservation Areas
Aston Rowant
Aston Tirrold/Upthorpe 
Beckley
Benson
Berrick Salome
Brightwell Baldwin
Brightwell cum Sotwell
Britwell Salome
Chalgrove
Checkendon
Chinnor
Cholsey
Clifton Hampden
Culham
Cuxham
Didcot Old Area
Didcot Northbourne Area
Didcot Station Road
Dorchester
East Hagbourne
Elsfield
Ewelme
Forest Hill
Garsington
Gatehampton
Goring
Great Haseley
Great Milton
Grey’s Green
Henley-on-Thames
Kingston Blount
Lewknor
Little Haseley
Little Milton
Little Wittenham

Long Wittenham
Mackney
Mapledurham
Marsh Baldon
Moreton
Nettlebed
North Moreton
North Stoke
Nuneham Courtenay
Oakley
Overy
Preston Crowmarsh
Pyrton
Rotherfield Peppard
Shepherd’s Green
Shillingford
Shirburn
Sonning Eye
South Moreton
Stanton St John
Stoke Row
Stonor
Sydenham
Thame
Toot Baldon
Towersey
Wallingford
Warborough
Waterstock
Watlington
West Hagbourne 
Wheatley
Whitchurch
Winterbrook
Woodeaton

Page 266

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

237

Appendix 13  

Town Centre Boundaries and Primary Shopping Frontages

Page 267

Agenda Item 6



238

South Oxfordshire District CouncilLocal Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

Page 268

Agenda Item 6



South Oxfordshire District Council Local Plan 2033     PUBLICATION VERSION

239
Page 269

Agenda Item 6



Page 270

Agenda Item 6



Page 271

Agenda Item 6



www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan 

Alternative formats of this publication are 
available on request. These include large 
print, Braille, audio, email, easy read and 
alternative languages.

Please contact Planning Policy on 
01235 422600

Page 272

Agenda Item 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Foreword
Foreword Replace entire text Welcome to our Publication version of the Local Plan for South Oxfordshire. It is an important document because 

it sets out the identified need and location for housing and employment, and supporting infrastructure, in our 
area up to 2033. 

This document has been prepared following several rounds of consultation with yourselves and gathering of 
evidence to inform our decisions. 

There are competing issues that we must respond to and the need for new homes and to provide new land for 
jobs must be considered against any environmental or other impacts. These decisions have not been made 
lightly and look to strengthen the heart of the District. 

I know that many are concerned about the impact on their lives of new houses being built near them. However, I 
also talk to people who are equally worried about the prospects of homes for their children if we don’t address 
the shortfalls that we face. This plan seeks to balance those tensions. 

What I hope you will find particularly striking about the plan is our desire to let more of the decisions be made by 
communities for themselves. South Oxfordshire has been in the vanguard of neighbourhood planning and, with 
your backing, our proposals can keep us there.

Chapter One - Introduction
Add after para 
1.26

Add new paragraph We received approximately 7,666 responses from 1,369 individuals and organisations to the Second Preferred 
Options version of the Local Plan. These responses were focussed on the following key issues;

- Duty to Cooperate matters
- Housing numbers
- Proposed strategic allocations
- Infrastructure
The consultation report can be found on the Council’s website. 

P
age 273

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Chapter Two –The Second Preferred Options Document
Before old 2.3 Add new paragraph When considering whether the plan meets its legal requirements, the Inspector will consider a number of issues 

including:
-  Local Development Scheme: has the plan been prepared in accordance with the timetable set out in the Local 

Development Scheme?
-Statement of Community Involvement and relevant regulations: has consultation on the plan been in 
accordance with the Council’s Statement of Consultation and have the appropriate bodies been consulted?
- Duty to Cooperate: has the plan been prepared in cooperation with other local planning authorities and 
prescribed bodies, such as the Environment Agency and the Local Enterprise Partnership, to identify and 
address any issues which will have a significant impact on at least two planning areas?
- Sustainability Appraisal: has an adequate Sustainability Appraisal been carried out?
-  Appropriate Assessment: has an Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats Regulations
Assessment been carried out?
-  National Policy and Legislation: does the Plan comply with national policy and legislation, for example, the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

2.7 To help achieve this, we are undertaking extensive public consultation and engagement over a six7-week period 
between 29 March 2017 and 17 May 2017 11 October 2017 and 22 November 2017

Before 2.13 Insert new 
paragraph 

This Publication version of the Local plan is known as the Regulation 19 stage. It complements the earlier 
Regulation 18 consultations. To assist the examination Inspector, representations made under Regulation 19 
should relate to the soundness of the Submission Draft Local Plan or to its compliance with legal requirements.

Chapter Four – Our Spatial Strategy
4.19 Amend as shown: We anticipate that the adoption of this Local Plan will be towards the end of 2018 as set out in the published 

Local Development Scheme. Government guidance requires Local Plans to have a time span of 15 years from 
the point of adoption, so it is proposed that the annual requirement for housing is rolled
on for the additional two years, thereby giving us an overall OAN for South Oxfordshire up to 2033 of 17,050 
15,950 -18,150. 

4.21 Amend as follows: We commissioned a study, referred to as the Employment Land Review, which assesses the amount and 
potential location of future requirements for employment land. This study identifies a need for between 33.2 16 
and 35.9 25 hectares of employment land. (in addition to the approximate figure of about 5 hectares thatP

age 274

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

is already allocated in Didcot and Wallingford) to 2031. We have identified broad locations for this: around 20 
hectares of employment land in the adopted core strategy:
i) At Culham Science Centre and the adjacent strategic site 
ii) At Didcot, albeit with some in the Vale of White Horse
iii) At the strategic sites in Berinsfield and Chlagrove At Thame, as allocated in their NDP
iv) At the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford to be identified in NDP at the Hithercroft industrial 
estate; and
v) At in Crowmarsh Gifford and supported at the other larger villages to be identified in NDP.
Therefore we will need to allocate at least another 5 hectares of land. Taking the commitments, core strategy 
provision and additional requirements together totals 30 hectares of land.

4.22 Delete paragraph 
4.23 Delete paragraph
4.24 Amend as follows: In order to allow employment opportunities to flourish, this plan will identify a provision for at least 30 35.9 

hectares of employment land over the plan period, including the safeguarding of around 11.5 5 hectares of 
employment land, carried forward form the Core Strategy.  There is more detail on this in chapter six. 

4.24 – 4.25
(now 4.25)

Add in additional 
paragraph between 
existing paras 4.24 
and 4.25 (before 
Policy STRAT2)

The overall strategy (policy STRAT1) supports a range of development opportunities at different scales and 
types of settlements and sites.  Some development sites will be easier to deliver than others.  Any large-scale 
development site will be more challenging to prepare for development and serve with appropriate infrastructure.  
This challenge will be engaged with and reflected in our infrastructure delivery plan (IDP) and this plan’s 
supporting development trajectory.  We, also, recognise that some of our ambitious plans will continue to deliver 
after 2033 so land will be identified in this plan that may also continue to be built out after this plan period. 
Further detail of when and how this development will be delivered is given in the housing and employment 
chapters.

STRAT2 Amend as shown: During the plan period, provision will be made to meet the need for at least 17,050 new homes and 30 35.9 
hectares of employment land. This is to be delivered in accordance with the spatial strategy which seeks to 
strengthen the heart of South Oxfordshire. The broad locations and trajectory for this development is identified in 
policies H1 and EMP1.

P
age 275

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

The appropriate level of new housing and employment will be
monitored and a review undertaken five years following the adoption of the Local Plan and periodically 
thereafter, taking into account the most up-to-date evidence available at that time.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2 & 3.
 

4.26 Amend as shown: The preparation of the Oxford city Local Plan is at a relatively early stage and adoption is not anticipated until 
2019. At this point in time, it is not possible to accurately identify the precise extent of Oxford city’s unmet need. 
The SHMA recommends a range of 24,000 – 32,000 new homes for Oxford city. There exists a working 
assumption of the unmet housing need for the city of 15,000 new homes. This is to be shared between the 
remaining four districts. , and we have previously consulted upon a quarter share, to help towards meeting some 
of this unmet need which equates to 3,750 new homes.

4.28 Add new sentence …our spatial strategy. In line with the other Oxfordshire Authorities we propose a stepped development trajectory 
that begins provision for the city’s unmet needs in the monitoring year 2021/22.  The housing…

STRAT3 Delete second 
paragraph and 
amend as shown

During the plan period, starting in the monitoring year 2021/22, provision will be made to help meet part of 
Oxford City’s unmet housing need for around 3,750 new homes. This is to be delivered in accordance with the 
spatial strategy which seeks to strengthen the heart of South Oxfordshire and is not identified at any one site or 
location.

The housing contributions will be made from the point of adoption of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan onwards 
on an annual basis. 50% of the surplus in South Oxfordshire’s housing supply will be contributed for the 
monitoring periods 2019/20 and 2020/21. Contributions of at least 250 homes a year will be made in the 
remaining years of the plan period.

The appropriate level of unmet housing need for Oxford City will be monitored and a partial review of the South 
Oxfordshire Local Plan undertaken on adoption of the Local Plan for Oxford City, taking into account the most 
up-to-date evidence available at that time.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1 & 2.

P
age 276

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

STRAT5 Amend as shown: STRAT5 Strategic Allocations Development 

New development will be provided within Strategic Allocations in order to deliver the scale and distribution of 
development set out in Policies STRAT1, STRAT2, STRAT3 and STRAT4. 

Development proposals should enable a comprehensive scheme to be delivered across the developable area 
within each Strategic Allocation. Developers must ensure that the sites provide an appropriate scale and mix of 
uses, in suitable locations, to create sustainable developments that support and complement the role of existing 
settlements and communities.

Proposals must be accompanied by a comprehensive masterplan for the entire Strategic Allocation. This should 
demonstrate how new development will integrate with and complement its surroundings in an appropriate 
manner.

Proposals must ensure that relevant supporting infrastructure is provided. Developers must engage with relevant 
infrastructure providers to ensure the implementation of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

Proposals to deliver strategic development need to be supported by:

i) A visual impact assessment
ii) A Health Impact Assessment
iii) A Transport Assessment
iv) An Air Quality Assessment
v) An arboriculture survey
vi) A Heritage Impact Assessment
vii) An archaeological assessment to include a written scheme

Each development will be expected to provide:

P
age 277

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

viii) A scheme of an appropriate scale, layout and form which respects the surrounding character and 
setting

ix) High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent the site
x) Appropriate vehicular, cycle and pedestrian access including safe and attractive connections with 

nearby communities
xi) Investigation and mitigation by the developer of any former land uses on the site which may give rise 

to contamination
xii) A Noise Assessment including noise during construction and noise insulation of development
xiii) A Landscape Management Plan to provide appropriate landscaping and an integrated network of 

green infrastructure
xiv) An Ecological and Landscape Management Plan to be provided to manage habitats onsite
xv) An integrated water management plan

This policy will also be used to determine proposals for large scale major development.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

4.47 Replace entire 
paragraph

We support delivery of a new Thames road crossing between Culham and Didcot Garden Town and the Clifton 
Hampden by-pass, as identified in Policy TRANS 1. This crossing has strategic transport benefits and is required 
to support development proposed in the emerging South Oxfordshire Local Plan, as well as development 
allocated in the Vale Local Plan Part 1, and development proposed in the emerging Vale Local Plan Part 2. It is 
also part of a package of transport infrastructure in this area as identified in the Science Vale Area Transport 
Strategy in the Oxfordshire Local Plan, which includes the Clifton Hampden Bypass and the Didcot Northern 
Perimeter Road. We recognise that the timing of delivery of this infrastructure linked to proposed new 
development is complex, particularly given that funding for this package is expected to come from a variety of 
sources including developer funding, Garden Town and other government funds not yet confirmed. We also 
recognise that there is a significant amount of further more detailed transport modelling and transport 
assessment work to support development and delivery of these schemes, including the Culham Crossing. This 
work, including development of a more detailed Micro-simulation transport model for Didcot Garden Town, is 

P
age 278

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

being progressed and funded in partnership with the County Council and Vale of White Horse, and will give an 
understanding in more detail of the impact and phasing of homes and jobs in the area linked to required 
infrastructure. This evidence will used alongside other evidence, including the outputs of Transport Assessments 
from proposed new development, to inform any limitations on the level of homes at the site linked to 
infrastructure funding to be set down at planning application stage. 

STRAT6 Amend as shown: STRAT6 - Culham Science Centre

Green Belt inset area: 73 hectares Developable area: 73 hectares

Proposals for the redevelopment and intensification of the Culham Science Centre will be supported where this 
does not have an unacceptable visual impact, particularly on the openness of the surrounding Green Belt and 
the Registered Parkland associated with Nuneham House.

In combination with the adjacent strategic development site (policy STRAT7) this site will deliver at least a net 
increase in employment land of 7.3 hectares (with the existing 10 hectares of the No.1 site retained but 
redistributed across the two sites).  The exact siting and phasing of the employment development will be agreed 
through the master planning and planning application process.

Opportunities that support job growth and appropriate diversification or enterprise “clustering” will be explored to 
compleiment the wider development proposed in the area. In order to deliver any potential proposal, we will work 
proactively with the UK Atomic Energy Authority and development partners to create an agreed masterplan that 
facilitates this growth.

The Culham Science Centre is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt and inset as shown in the Green 
Belt Inset Plan (Appendix 4) to enable this development to be brought forward.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1 & 3.

P
age 279

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

STRAT7 Amend as shown: STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre

Green Belt inset area: 242 hectares Developable area: 189 hectares

Land within the developable area identified adjacent to Culham Science Centre, will be developed to deliver 
approximately 3,500 new homes, a net increase of employment land in combination with the adjacent Science 
Centre, up to 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and supporting services and facilities.

The strategic allocation will be expected to deliver:
i) A scheme in accordance with an agreed comprehensive masterplan, including a full integrated water 
management plan
i) A significant contribution towards the delivery of the new Didcot to Culham river crossing and the Clifton 
Hampden by-pass. 
ii) The retention of 10 hectares of employment land with at least a further 2 hectares of employment land
ii) In combination with the adjacent Science Centre a net increase of employment land of 8 7.3 Ha hectares (with 
the existing 10 hectares Ha of the No.1 site retained but redistributed across the two sites).  The exact siting and 
phasing of the employment development will be agreed through the planning application process. 
iii) 2000 sq.m of convenience retail floorspace (food) Provide 1700 sq.m of comparison retail floorspace (non-
food)
 iv) A comprehensive survey of below ground archaeology with appropriate mitigation
v) Appropriate vehicular, cycle and pedestrian access including safe and attractive connections with nearby 
communities
vi) High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site
iv) A layout and form that respects the setting of the heritage assets within and beyond the site; in particular the 
Listed Buildings & structures (the Culham railway station and rail bridges and “Schola Europaea”) and the 
Registered Parkland associated with Nuneham House,
v) An integrated network of green infrastructure that links locally important wildlife and biodiverse sites.  
 viii) High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site
vi) Appropriate landscaping throughout the site and in particular along the boundaries of the strategic allocation 

P
age 280

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

which allow limited through views, that preserve and enhance the surrounding Green Belt and the River Thames 
long distance footpath.
vii) Where feasible, opportunities for district heating and low carbon on site energy generation

The number of homes to be built on the site in advance of the implementation of the Culham Bridge will not 
exceed 750. 
The number and phasing of homes to be permitted at Culham and the timing of housing delivery linked to the 
planned infrastructure will need to be informed by further evidence.  This will include the requirements of Policy 
TRANS4. This will be set down (and potentially conditioned) through the planning application process, in 
consultation with the Highway Authority. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 5 & 6.

4.47
(Now 4.48)

Replace entire 
paragraph

The village of Berinsfield is currently ‘washed over’ by the Green Belt. We propose to inset the built up area of 
the village and an area of greenfield land to the east of the village from the Green Belt.  

4.47 – STRAT8
(Now 4.50-4.51) 

Add additional 
paragraphs between 
paragraph 4.47 and 
policy STRAT8

In April 2016, the Council confirmed its Community Investment Scheme for Berinsfield. This initiative identified 
the challenges that the village is currently facing and set out a range of objectives intended to address these 
challenges. In particular, it recognised that the village is currently home to a number of community facilities that 
are of real importance to local residents. However, the long-term sustainability of many of these facilities is not 
assured and, without significant investment, could be lost from the village. This would have adverse effects on a 
population which is already affected by relatively high levels of deprivation compared to the rest of the District.

Given this, the exceptional circumstances for releasing land from the Green Belt at Berinsfield are as follows:

 Areas of and community facilities within Berinsfield need regeneration and the current Green Belt policy is 
inhibiting this; 

 the mix of housing in Berinsfield is more unbalanced than in other parts of the District. Releasing land for 

P
age 281

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

development could help to rebalance the mix as well as  provide further opportunities for employment and 
service provision; 

 Berinsfield is a local service centre and some further development would be consistent with the overall 
spatial strategy of this Plan; and

 the location is also at a distance from the special historic setting of the city of Oxford and does not make a 
significant contribution toward the purposes of including land in the Green Belt to check the unrestricted 
sprawl of Oxford city.

We consider that delivering both growth and regeneration together at Berinsfield promotes a sustainable pattern 
of development and will help to address the key issues currently facing the village. Ultimately, development at 
Berinsfield should deliver the necessary and specific benefits that cannot be achieved by developing elsewhere 
in the District.

STRAT8 Replace entire 
policy. 

Land within the developable area identified at Berinsfield, will be developed to provide up to 1,700 new homes, 5 
hectares of employment land and supporting services and facilities. The new homes should demonstrably 
support the regeneration of Berinsfield and the delivery of the necessary social infrastructure. 

Proposals to develop land at Berinsfield will be expected to:
i) Deliver a scheme in accordance with an agreed comprehensive masterplan and strategy for the 

regeneration of Berinsfield
ii) Meet the entire cost of the necessary regeneration package, including social, environmental, recreation, 

housing and public services infrastructure
iii) Have no greater land-take than is necessary to deliver the required regeneration.  Any part of the 

developable area that is not required for housing or related infrastructure should provide green 
infrastructure including planting to contain the settlement edge

iv) Provide an integrated network of green infrastructure

P
age 282

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

v) Provide appropriate landscaping throughout the site and in particular along the boundaries of the 
developable area to contain and redefine the settlement edge; and 

vi) Provide high quality public transport facilities and connections within the village and to and from the 
surrounding area

vii) Provide 2500 sq.m of retail floorspace comprising 1200 sq.m of comparison goods (non-food) and 1300 
sq.m of convenience goods (food)

Planning permission will only be granted where all the items set out at points (i) to (vi) above are secured.  To 
meet the requirements of point (ii), any proposal must provide at least the following:

 New premises for Berinsfield Children’s Centre;
 new and expanded premises for Abbey Woods Academy;
 new premises for the Adult Learning Centre;
 new and expanded premises for a health centre;
 new premises for the Abbey Sports Centre, including a replacement swimming pool of regulation 

length and a four-court sports hall;
 a ‘Community Hub’ building – a flexible community space that enables the co-location of a range of 

different users and groups;
 improvements to existing open spaces and the provision of new open spaces to meet the needs of 

new resident population; and
 an appropriate mix of housing tenures and sizes.

Land at Berinsfield is proposed to be removed from the Green Belt and inset as a settlement as shown on the 
policies map only and specifically to enable this development to be brought forward. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 5 & 6.  

P
age 283

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

NEW POLICY – 
STRAT8i

Policy STRAT8i: Berinsfield Local Green Space

Land identified in Appendix 2, figure (ii), at the centre of Berinsfield is allocated as Local Green Space. 
STRAT8 – ‘Land 
at Chalgrove 
Airfield’ 
(Now 4.53-4.58)

Add additional 
paragraphs between 
policy STRAT8 and 
title ‘Land at 
Chalgrove Airfield’.

The expansion of Berinsfield is considered acceptable only if it will lead directly to the implementation of the 
masterplan for the regeneration of the village and the funding of the entire cost of the regeneration package 
identified by the Council through the Community Investment Scheme. The regeneration of Berinsfield has strong 
community support and this policy seeks to achieve a unique solution which could not otherwise be realised. 

A number of studies have been undertaken by the Council which indicate that Berinsfield requires investment 
and regeneration. This is to be supported by further work commissioned by the Council to explore detailed 
solutions for the regeneration of Berinsfield in accordance with this policy. This further work will identify the form 
that development should take in order to deliver the regeneration package identified.

The South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (Adopted 2012) explained the exceptional circumstances warranting a 
review of the Green Belt boundary at Berinsfield. These were supported by the Inspector at its examination. In 
line with the exceptional circumstances warranting the review, the examining Inspector considered that the 
review of the Green Belt boundary at Berinsfield should not be confined to drawing a tight boundary around the 
built up area. 

The proposed release of Green Belt land follows a study that undertook a detailed assessment of the settlement 
edge of Berinsfield in order to identify land that does not meet the five purposes of the Green Belt set out in 
paragraph 80 of the NPPF.  The study identified land to the east of Berinsfield as a potential area to be inset 
along with the existing built-up area of the village. However, it recognised that substantial planting would be 
required to the north, south and east of the land inset to contain and redefine the settlement edge. 

The area to be released from the Green Belt at Berinsfield allows for clear and recognisable Green Belt P
age 284

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

boundaries to be provided and would be sufficient in size to accommodate up to 1,700 new homes to be 
delivered. It is acknowledged that not all of this land will be required for development and the on-going work 
being undertaken by the Council’s consultants will identify the particular constraints and areas where 
development would, and would not, be appropriately located. Any part of the developable area not required for 
development as part of the Berinsfield Community Investment Scheme will provide green infrastructure, including 
planting to contain and redefine the settlement edge. 

Given that the existing village of Berinsfield will be inset from the Green Belt we also propose to allocate the 
important open space within the centre of the village as Local Green Space.

STRAT9 Amend as shown: STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfield

Whole site: 255 hectares Developable area: 107 hectares

Land within the developable area identified at Chalgrove Airfield, will be developed to deliver approximately 
3,000 new homes, 5 hectares of employment land, up to 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and supporting 
services and facilities.

The strategic allocation will be expected to deliver;
i) A scheme in accordance with an agreed comprehensive masterplan, including full integrated water 
management plan
i) A layout and form that respects the setting of the Listed Buildings (particularly Rofford Hall and Rofford Manor) 
and the Registered Battlefield (Battle of Chalgrove 1643) beyond the site,
ii) A scheme that delivers specific mitigation and management of surface water and runoff, 
iii) Appropriate vehicular, cycle and pedestrian access including safe and attractive connections with nearby 
communities
iii) Cycling and walking links through the site and to adjacent employment and into the village of Chalgrove
iv) 2000 sq.m of convenience retail floorspace (food) Provide 1700 sq.m of comparison retail floorspace (non-

P
age 285

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

food)
iv) High quality public transport facilities and connections within and adjacent to the site
v) Appropriate landscaping and an integrated network of green infrastructure
vi) Where feasible, opportunities for district heating and low carbon on site energy generation

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

4.63 – 
STRAT10
(Now 4.77-4.80)

Add in additional 
paragraph between 
existing paragraph 
4.63 and policy 
STRAT10

The redevelopment of this site must be supported by a Visual Impact Assessment which demonstrates that the 
proposals have no greater impact than the existing development on the openness of the Green Belt and the 
purposes of including land within it, and where possible, have less impact. We recognise that, replacement 
buildings may be desired elsewhere on a site. Sometimes this can have a greater or lesser impact on the 
perception of openness, dependent on their location. In these cases we will assess the existing site and the 
impact of any existing building. If the new position would not be in keeping with its surroundings, would be less in 
keeping or would have a greater impact upon the openness of the Green Belt, the proposal is less likely to be 
acceptable. However, if it is considered to have less impact upon openness, this is likely to weigh in favour of the 
application.

A large part of the wider site is subject to existing constraints associated with the listed building and Scheduled 
Monument and its proximity to Registered Parks and Gardens. 

The existing level of playing field provision should be retained and a wider community use should be explored 
through any planning application. An equivalent quantum of sports provision should be incorporated within any 
proposal. 

The noise assessment required to support this proposal must pay careful attention to the relationship of the site 
to the A40 and the impact of noise to the southern area of the site and appropriate mitigation must be 
incorporated within the proposal. 

STRAT10 Amend as shown: Site area: 22 hectares Existing development footprint: 12 hectares

P
age 286

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Land at Wheatley Campus, will be developed to deliver at least 300 new homes. Proposals to develop land at 
Wheatley Campus will be expected to deliver:

i) A scheme of an appropriate scale and layout in a form that
respects the listed buildings and structures (in particular of Holton Park) and their setting;
ii) a layout and form which provides an appropriate buffer to
protect the Scheduled Monuments (in particular the Moated site of Holton House and its associated ice house 
adjacent to the site and Moated site 580m south west of Church Farm);
iii) the retention of the quantum of existing sports pitches in the north west of the site;
iv) appropriate landscaping, including buffers along the A40;
v) any necessary additional school capacity arising from the proposal;
vi) cycling and walking links to the centres of Holton and Wheatley and primary school; 
vii) pedestrian and vehicular access to the east, with at least emergency and pedestrian access to the west of 
the site;
viii) a comprehensive survey of above and below ground archaeology and the listed buildings to determine the 
extent and
significance of archaeological remains and the significance of the buildings and their setting, on and adjacent to 
the site, to inform and guide the development proposals, with appropriate
mitigation; 
ix) provide 1200 sq.m of retail floorspace comprising 500 sq.m of comparison goods (non-food) and 700 sq.m of 
convenience goods (food)

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Chapter Five – Delivering New Homes
Table 5c Replace table with 

revised version
Supply of new homes to come 
forward

Net 
number 
of 
dwelling
s

Completions 2011-2017 3,397

Commitments as at 31 March 2017 – 
sites under construction, with planning 
permission or resolution to grant 
planning permission and allocations 
carries forward from the Core Strategy

9,343

New strategic allocations 6,975*

New Henley, Thame and Wallingford 
allocations

1,155

New allocations in the Larger Villages 1,041

Sites in the smaller villages 
(Neighbourhood Plans and infill sites) 
and windfall sites

500

Total 22,411

P
age 287

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Policy H2 Bring amended table 
5d into the policy

At Didcot, provision will be made for at least 6,500* new homes between 2011 and 2033. This provision will be 
at:  the sites listed in table 5d.

Location Indicative 
dwelling 
capacity

i) Safeguarded: Ladygrove East
(carried forward from Core Strategy)

642

ii) Safeguarded: Didcot N E
(carried forward from Core Strategy)

2030

iii) Safeguarded: Great Western Park
(carried forward from Core Strategy)

2587

iv) Safeguarded: Vauxhall Barracks
(carried forward from Core Strategy)

300

v) Safeguarded: Orchard Centre Phase II
(carried forward from Core Strategy)

300

vi) New: Didcot A 270
vii) New: Gateway 300
viii) New: Haddon Hill 74
Total 6,503

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 6 & 7.
5.10 Add text and table 

as shown:

Move paragraph to 
after policy H15 Infill

Infill development is defined as the filling of a small gap in an otherwise continuous built-up frontage or on other 
sites within settlements where the site is closely surrounded by buildings. The scale of infill should be 
appropriate to its location and this will be directed, in part, by the settlement hierarchy. The following table should 
be used as guidance: 

Settlement type Infill
Towns / larger villages No limitP

age 288

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Smaller Villages Sites of up to 0.2Ha 
(equivalent to 5-6 homes)

Other Villages Sites of up to 0.1Ha 
(equivalent to 2-3 homes)

All other places not listed Not normally acceptable 
5.11 Table has moved 

into the policy and is 
not required in this 
para.

Delete table 5d

Policy H2i - H2iii Polices not 
necessary given 
change to policy H2

Delete policies H2i, H2ii and H2iii

5.14 Add sentence to the 
end of the paragraph

…settlement may accommodate.  An assessment has been undertaken to check the capacity of our towns to 
accommodate further growth. This took account of the evidence collected as part of the plan-making process, 
particularly in terms of land availability, infrastructure delivery and landscape capacity. This has informed the 
numbers of homes identified for each town in Policy H3. 

5.15 New table

Town
Core 
Strategy + 
15% 
growth

Completio
ns and 

commitme
nts

Outstan
ding

Target 
for NDP

Henley 1285 749 536 350

Thame 1518 1102 416 510

P
age 289

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Wallingf
ord 1070 869 201 295

Total 3,873 2,720 1,153 1,155

Policy H3 Replace policy 
wording as follows: 

Policy H3: Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford

A minimum of 1,155 homes will be collectively delivered through Neighbourhood Development Plans in the 
towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford as follows:

i) 350 homes at Henley-on-Thames
ii) 510 homes at Thame
iii) 295 homes at Wallingford

iv) In addition, Land at Wallingford Greenfield Neighbourhood (Land West of Wallingford – Site B) is 
safeguarded for 555 new homes.  Planning permission exists and we wish to protect this.

Permission will not normally be granted for major new development exceeding the above requirements. 

If a Neighbourhood Development Plan has not adequately progressed with allocating sitesx to meet these 
requirements within 12 months of adoption of this Local Plan, planning applications for housing in the market 
towns will be supported provided that proposals comply with the overall housing distribution strategy as set out in 
policy STRAT1

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Footnote x: the plan has reached submission stage and has allocated sufficient housing sites
5.28 Additional sentence 

at the end of the 
paragraph 

…development of their village.  An assessment has been undertaken to check the capacity of our larger villages 
to accommodate further growth. This took account of the evidence collected as part of the plan-making process, 
particularly in terms of land availability, infrastructure delivery and landscape capacity. This has informed the 

P
age 290

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

numbers of homes identified for each town in Policy H4.

5.28 Replace table with 
revised version Larger 

Village

Core 
Strategy + 
15% 
growth

Completio
ns and 
commitme
nts 

Outstandi
ng

Target for 
NDP

Benson 383 514 0 (+131) 0

Berinsfield 274 5 (269)
0 - 
Strategic 
allocation 

Chalgrove 248 16 (232)
0 - 
Strategic 
allocation

Chinnor 594 777 0 (+183) 0

Cholsey 612 459 153 175

Crowmarsh 
Gifford 312 224 88 110

Goring 329 96 233 140

 Nettlebed 70 11 59 46

Sonning 
Common 377 249 128 150

P
age 291

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Watlington 262 28 234 260

Wheatley 305 107 (198)

0 - 
Strategic 
allocation 
(Holton 
parish)

Woodcote 225 89 136 160

Total 3,991 2,575 1,031 1,041

Policy H4 Replace policy 
wording as follows: 

Policy H4: Housing in Larger Villages
A minimum of 1,041 homes will be collectively delivered through Neighbourhood Development Plans and Local 
Plan site allocations at the Larger Villages as follows:

 175 homes at Cholsey
 110 homes at Crowmarsh Gifford
 140 homes at Goring
 150 homes at Sonning Common
 260 homes at Watlington
 160 homes at Woodcote

Permission will not normally be granted for major new development exceeding the above requirements. 

If a Neighbourhood Development Plan has not adequately progressed with allocating sitesx to meet these 
requirements within 12 months of adoption of this Local Plan, planning applications for housing in the larger 
villages will be supported provided that proposals comply with the overall housing distribution strategy as set out 
in policy STRAT1

P
age 292

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

Footnote x: the plan has reached submission stage and has allocated sufficient housing sites

After 5.36 Insert new policy Policy H? – Land to the South and West of Nettlebed Service Station

Site area: 1.3ha
This allocation will be expected to deliver: 

i) A residential development of approximately 15 dwellings, representing an extension to the existing 
community

ii) A scheme of an appropriate scale and form including relevant landscaping to minimise the impact on 
the AONB 

iii) Appropriate and safe means of access.     

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 & 7.

5.37 – 5.40 Delete, 5.37 – 5.40
Housing Allocations 
at Crowmarsh 
Gifford

H10
(Now H7)

Replace entire policy A minimum of 500 new homes will be delivered in the ‘smaller villages’.  

This will be achieved through Neighbourhood Development Plans which allocate sites for at least a 5% increase 
in dwelling numbers above those recorded in the 2011 Census.

In ‘smaller villages’ where there is no Neighbourhood Development Plan a 5-10% increase in dwelling numbers, 
above those recorded in the 2011 Census, will be achieved through the development of suitable sites and 

P
age 293

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

through infill development.

H8 & H9 Delete, Land to the 
east of Benson Lane 
& Land to the South 
of Newnham Manor, 
Crowmarsh Gifford

New paragraph BEFORE “Other 
Villages” title please

In line with nation planning practice guidance, suitable sites are considered to be those that are acceptable in 
terms of the national policies (NPPF) and policies contained within this development plan.  The following factors 
should also be considered to assess a site’s suitability for development now or in the future:

 physical limitations or problems such as access, infrastructure, ground conditions, flood risk, hazardous 
risks, pollution or contamination;

 potential impacts including the effect upon landscapes including landscape features, nature and heritage 
conservation;

 appropriateness and likely market attractiveness for the type of development proposed;
 contribution to regeneration priority areas;
 environmental/amenity impacts experienced by would be occupiers and neighbouring areasx.

Footnote x: PPG Reference ID: 3-019-20140306

H13 
(Now H10)

Amend as shown: A mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the needs of current and future households will be sought on all new 
residential developments.

 All affordable housing and at least 15% of market housing on sites of 110 dwellings or more should be 
designed to meet the standards of Part M (4) Category 2: accessible and adaptable dwellings (or any 
replacement standards)

 At least 5% of affordable housing dwellings should be designed to the standards of Part M (4) Category 
3: wheelchair accessible dwellingsP

age 294

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

 On sites of 100 dwellings or more plots should be set aside to allow for at least 3% of market housing 
dwellings to be designed to the standards of Part M (4) Category 3: wheelchair accessible dwellings (or 
any replacement standards). The exact requirement should be based on evidence regarding current 
demand. The plots should
be marketed for a period of 12 months to identify an appropriate buyer.

 All affordable housing and 1 and 2 bed market housing dwellings should be designed to meet the 
Nationally Described Space Standards. 

 The mix of housing shall be in general conformity with our latest evidence** and Neighbourhood 
Development Plan evidence where applicable for the relevant area. 

fn **Our latest evidence is in the Oxfordshire SHMA 2014, but this will be subject to monitoring and review. This 
will be updated periodically.

H13 – 5.50
(after H10,
5.46-5.48)

Add in additional 
paragraph between 
existing policy H13 
and paragraph 5.50

One of our objectives is to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes, highlighting the need to plan for a mix of 
housing based on current and future needs. Policy H13 provides that a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet 
the needs of current and future households will be sought on all new residential developments. Our latest 
evidence (the Oxfordshire SHMA 2014) found a shortfall in smaller units and recommended for most units to be 
2 and 3 bedrooms. The findings from the SHMA are summarised below, for guidance:

Table 5g: Indicative market housing mix
1 bed 2 bed 3 bed (5 person) 3 bed (6 person)

Market homes 6% 27% 43% 24%

We will keep this guidance under review and publish updates as necessary, but the above table should be used 
as a starting point. 

While the housing mix should be informed by this evidence it will also need to respond to the character of the site 
and its setting.

P
age 295

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

H16
(now H13)

Replace entire policy Policy H16: Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

The provision of pitches for Gypsies and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople will be delivered 
through: 

• Safeguarding existing sites 
• Extending existing sites, where possible, to meet the needs of existing residents and their families 
• As part of the following site allocations: 

- 4 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Didcot North East (safeguarded site) as shown on the 
policies map
- 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre (STRAT7) as 
shown on the policies map
- 3 pitches for Gypsies and Travellers at Land at Chalgrove Airfield (STRAT9) as shown on the 
policies map

Proposals for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople, will be permitted where it has been demonstrated 
that the following criteria have been met. 

i) There is a proven need for the development and/or the capacity of the site can be justified to meet 
needs for further gypsy, traveller and travelling showpeople sites, or extensions to existing sites 

ii) The site is not located within the Oxford Green Belt 
iii) Proposals on sites in areas of sensitive landscape will be considered in accordance with Policy 

ENV1. In all other locations the proposal will not have an unacceptable impact on the character 
and appearance of the landscape and the amenity of neighbouring properties, and is sensitively 
designed to mitigate any impact on its surroundings 

iv) The site has safe and satisfactory vehicular and pedestrian access to the surrounding principal 
highway network, and can be provided with safe electricity, mains drinking water, sewage 
connections and waste disposal facilities

v) No significant barriers to development exist in terms of poor ground stability or proximity to other 
hazardous land or installation where other forms of housing would not be suitable

vi) No significant barriers to development exist in terms of flooding or poor drainage.

P
age 296

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 2, 4, 5 & 6.

5.62 Amendments to end 
of paragraph

…plot requirement in policy H14 H11 comes from dividing the 9,700 8,200 homes planned for on our strategic 
sites by the current identified need and rounding to the nearest whole figure. 

5.69
(now 5.68)

Replace entire 
paragraph

The GTAA (2017), prepared jointly with Cherwell District Council, Oxford City Council and Vale of White Horse 
District Council, identified a need for 10 additional permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches to be delivered to 
2033. For the Travelling Showpeople community, the assessment identified no need for any additional plots. The 
need identified in the most recent GTAA is lower than the need identified in the GTAA update in 2014. This is 
because we are only required to identity pitches and plots for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
that meet the planning definition set out in PPTS (2015). The 10 pitch requirement includes provision for traveller 
families where it was unknown whether they met the planning definition set out in PPTS (2015). The 
accommodation needs of families where it was known that they no longer meet the definition are taken into 
account with other ‘caravan dwellers’. These needs are addressed by Policy H1 above.   

5.70
(now 5.69)

Replace entire 
paragraph

Work was undertaken in 2013/14 to identify appropriate sites for permanent traveller pitches. The Delivery of 
Pitches report (2015) recommended safeguarding all existing permanent traveller sites within the district and 
intensifying and/or extending these, where appropriate. The study also identified new sites with the potential of 
being suitable for permanent traveller sites. This included the greenfield neighbourhood development at Didcot, 
now known as Didcot North East, which was considered suitable for 15 permanent traveller pitches. Delivering 
pitches on this site was also identified as a priority in the Core Strategy (Policy CSH5). Other sites recommended 
by the study as sites with potential and future potential could not be taken forward for a variety of reasons 
including, the sites being needed for infrastructure improvements, the sites being identified for a different use in a 
Neighbourhood Development Plan, the sites being located in the Green Belt or the sites identified as potential 
waste management sites.

5.71
(now 5.70) 

Replace entire 
paragraph

Taking into account the recommendations made by the Delivery of Pitches report (2015) previous priorities set 
out in the Core Strategy and our strategy for this Local Plan, we have identified three sites that could deliver the 
10 pitches required. We have taken forward the previous commitment from the Core Strategy to provide pitches 

P
age 297

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

at Didcot North East and are allocating four pitches to this site. The remaining six pitches will be delivered at our 
strategic sites at Chalgrove and Culham. Allocating pitches at our strategic sites allows us to consider the needs 
of travellers at the outset of the design process and properly integrate the pitches into the design of the 
development. 

Chapter Six – Employment and Economy
6.10 – 6.11
(now 6.11)

Add in additional 
paragraph between 
existing paragraphs 
6.10 and 6.11

The 2014 SHMA forecasts anticipated economic growth across Oxfordshire and the district between 2011 and 
2031. The SHMA forecasts a total increase in employment of around 88,000 people for Oxfordshire with an 
increase of 11,455 jobs in South Oxfordshire from 2011 to 2031. The ‘South Oxfordshire Employment Land 
Review Addendum’ (SOELRA) published in August 2017 examines the forecasts of the 2014 SHMA. Based on 
the SHMA the SOELRA projects an increase of 12,403 jobs from 2011 to 2033, with an increase of between 
6,227 to 6,734 jobs in the office, manufacturing and distribution sectors (‘B-class’ jobs based on labour demand 
and local labour supply respectfully). To plan for the economic growth forecast in the 2014 SHMA under planned 
economic growth the SOELRA forecasts that between 33.2 to 35.9 hectares of additional employment land is 
required in the district over the period 2011 to 2033. The council previously published a ‘South Oxfordshire 
Employment Land Review’ (ELR) in 2015 which forecast a requirement of 24.4 hectares of employment land for 
the period 2014 to 2031 or approximately 31.6 hectares if extrapolated over the plan period. Therefore, the 
SOELRA sets a slightly higher requirement in line with the 2014 SHMA.

6.17 Amend as shown: Our strategy makes a strong link between the housing growth in Didcot and the business growth needs of 
‘Science Vale’, including at Harwell Oxford11 and Milton Park outside the Ddistrict (within Vale of White Horse 
District). The Council has We have worked with the Vale of White Horse District Council to plan for enough B-
class jobs to cater for Didcot’s increased population. Core Policy 6 of the adopted Vale of White Horse Local 
Plan 2031 (adopted) identifies 218 hectares of land for future employment development across the Vale of White 
Horse District. 28 hectares of employment land are allocated at Milton Park within the Vale of White Horse 
District, of which 6.5 hectares is to meet the cross-boundary employment land needs of Didcot within South 
Oxfordshire.

6.16 – 6.17 Add in additional The previous local plan adopted in 2006 and the Core Strategy adopted in 2012 allocated 2.92 hectares of land 

P
age 298

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

(now 6.18) paragraph between 
existing paragraphs 
6.16 and 6.17

for employment at Didcot on the Southmead Industrial Estate. These sites remain suitable for employment uses 
and are therefore allocated in this plan. The previous plans also allocated 5.8 hectares of land at the Hithercroft 
Industrial Estate under policies WAL5i to WAL5v. Several of these sites have now been successfully developed 
for employment uses with the remaining 2.25 hectares being suitable for employment, and therefore continue to 
be allocated in this plan. The Core Strategy also proposed an additional 2 hectares of employment land at 
Thame, 2 hectares at Wallingford and an additional 4.2 hectares at the ‘larger villages’ to be allocated in a site 
allocations document. The market towns have or are preparing Neighbourhood Development Plans. The Thame 
NDP in 2013 allocated a 3 hectare employment site (2 hectares net) which has now been developed. The 
Henley NDP has also allocated some employment sites. Further housing is now planned for the towns and 
therefore additional employment land is required to provide sustainable development.

6.17
(6.19)

Replace entire 
paragraph

Our support of developments at the Culham Science Centre and land to the west of the Science Centre focus 
growth within the ‘Science Vale’, close to Didcot, with rail links to Oxford. The Science Centre and the adjacent 
land will be planned comprehensively with an additional 7.3 hectares of employment land. There will be 
opportunities for the replacement of temporary buildings at the Science Centre and an intensification of uses. We 
recognise that there may be the need for redevelopment of some buildings for industries that tend to provide a 
lower density of employment. We are planning for the redevelopment of the ‘Number One’ site between the 
Culham Science Centre and the railway station to make the most of this sustainable location. We require the 10 
hectares of existing employment land on this site to be retained within the wider area and we will support the 
relocation of the existing business if required.

EMP1 Amend as shown: To facilitate the provision of additional office, manufacturing and distribution jobs (‘B-class jobs’), between 2011 
and 2033, the equivalent of at least 30 35.9 hectares of B-class employment land will be provided. Employment 
land will be provided at the following locations:

Location Site Net amount of 
employment land 
(hectares)

Didcot Southmead Industrial Estate 2.92

P
age 299

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

(Carried forward from Core Strategy)
Milton Park (Within Vale of White 
Horse District)
(Carried forward from Core Strategy)

6.5

Henley Sites to be identified in the NDP 1.0
Thame Sites to be identified in the NDP 1.6
Wallingford Sites to be identified in the NDP (Likely 

to be at the Hithercroft Industrial 
Estate)

3.1

Hithercroft Industrial Estate
(Carried forward from Core Strategy)

2.25

Crowmarsh 
Gifford

Sites to be identified in the NDP (Likely 
to be at Howbery Park)

0.28

Culham Redevelopment and intensification of 
Culham Science Centre and Culham 
Number 1 site with strategic allocation 
west of Culham Science Centre. 
10 hectares of existing employment 
land at Culham No.1 to be retained 
within the comprehensive 
development.

7.3

Chalgrove Sites to be identified in the NDP (Likely 
to be sites at Monument Business 
Park)

2.25

Airfield development 5.0P
age 300

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Berinsfield To be allocated in accordance with the 
regeneration strategy

5.0

Total 37.2

The table above includes commitments (safeguarded sites) in the case of allocations secured in the Core 
Strategy.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6

EMP4 Amend as shown: Policy EMP4 - Employment Land in Didcot

In addition to employment opportunities generated through the Didcot Garden Town masterplan and the 
strategic allocations in this plan, at least 3.04 2.92 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Didcot at the 
following sites currently allocated in the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, located within Southmead 
Industrial Estate:
• Site EMP4i: Southmead Industrial Estate East (2.66 hectares)
• Site EMP4ii: Southmead Industrial Estate West (0.26 hectares)

A small part of site EMP4i is located within an area of flood risk. 
Employment uses are classed as ‘less vulnerable’ however comprehensive development of the site should be 
appropriate to the flood risk level.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

EMP6 Amend as shown: In addition to allocations in the made Thame Neighbourhood
Development Plan, an additional 2 1.6 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Thame.P

age 301

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

6.29 Delete last sentence 
as shown:

In addition, this local plan provides for a further 2 hectares of employment land to be provided in Thame, to be 
allocated in the review of the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

EMP7 Amend as shown: At least 2.82 2.25 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Wallingford at the following sites currently 
allocated in the adopted South Oxfordshire Core Strategy, located within Hithercroft Industrial Estate:
• Site EMP7i: former Elliott factory, Land at Hithercroft Road and Lupton Road (2.0 hectares)
• Site EMP7ii: land at Lupton Road (1.22 hectares)
• Site EMP7iii: land at Whitley Road
• Site EMP7iiv : land at the junction of Whitley Road and Lester Road (0.25 hectares)

At least a further 3.10 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Wallingford through the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. The Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council within 12 months of 
adoption of this local plan. If the Neighbourhood Development Plan is not adequately progressed in this time the 
local planning authority will allocate site(s) through a review of the local plan.

Schemes that improve the stock of existing commercial buildings and the environment of existing employment 
areas will be supported. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

EMP8 Replace entire policy At least 0.28 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Crowmarsh Gifford. These will be delivered 
through the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

The Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council within 12 months of adoption of this 
local plan. If the Neighbourhood Development Plan is not adequately progressed in this time the local planning 
authority will allocate site(s) through a review of the local plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

P
age 302

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

New policy 
EMP11

Add the following 
policy with title: 
Policy EMP11: 
Community 
Employment Plans

Policy EMP11: Community Employment Plans

All new development proposals should demonstrate how opportunities for local employment, apprenticeships 
and training can be created and seek to maximise the opportunities for sourcing local produce, suppliers and 
services during both construction and operation.

The council may require the submission of a site-specific Community Employment Plan (CEP) for the 
construction and operation of major* development sites, using a planning condition or legal agreement.

The CEP should be prepared in partnership with the district council and any other partners to deliver the agreed 
CEP. The CEP should cover, but not be limited to: 

i) Local procurement agreements.
ii) Apprenticeships, employment and training initiatives for all ages and abilities; and
iii) Training and work experience for younger people including those not in education, employment or 

training. 

*As defined by Development Management Procedure Order 2010. 

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 3, 4, 6 & 8.
EMP13 Replace entire policy The Council encourages new development to advance the visitor economy for leisure and business purposes. 

Proposals will be supported as follows:

i) within the built-up areas of the Towns  - larger scale developments including conference facilities, 
museums, heritage centres, hotels, guest houses and associated facilities for visitors

ii) within the built-up areas of the Larger and Smaller Villages – smaller and proportionately scaled 
developments that are in keeping with the character of the settlement, including museums, heritage 

P
age 303

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

centres, hotels, guest houses, self-catering accommodation and associated facilities for visitors, and
iii) at service areas on the main transport corridors - hotel accommodation.

Outside the above locations, small-scale development to support the visitor economy, including farm 
diversification and equine development, will be supported provided that proposals are in keeping with the scale 
and character of the locality and which would not adversely affect heritage assets or their setting. Larger 
developments will only be supported in exceptional circumstances, for example to sensitively re-use a historic 
building, or to proportionally support or enhance enjoyment of a significant and established visitor attraction 
where this cannot reasonably be achieved from a town or village location.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3 & 6.

Chapter Seven - Infrastructure
Policy 
INF4

Add in new 3rd 
paragraph

Delete first part of 
existing 3rd 
paragraph (now 4th 
paragraph)

New developments are required to be designed to a water efficiency standard of 110 litres/head/day (l/h/d) for 
new homes.

All development proposals must demonstrate that they meet the highest standard of water consumption as 
defined in Building Regulations Part L. In addition, Pproposals that increase the requirement for water will only 
be permitted where adequate water resources either already exist or can be provided without detriment to 
existing abstraction, river flows, groundwater flow to and from springs, water quality, biodiversity or other land 
uses.

Chapter Eight – Natural and Historic Environment
ENV4 Replace entire 

policy.
Policy ENV4: Watercourses

Development of land that contains or is adjacent to a watercourse must protect or enhance the function and 
setting of the watercourse and its biodiversity. As a last resort development should provide mitigation for any 
unavoidable impacts.

Development should include a minimum 10m buffer zone along both sides of the watercourse to create a 

P
age 304

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

corridor favourable to the enhancement of biodiversity. 

Proposals should avoid the culverting of any watercourse. 

Development which is located within 20m of a watercourse will require a construction management plan to be 
agreed with the Council before commencement of work to ensure that the watercourse will be satisfactorily 
protected from damage, disturbance or pollution.

ENV6 Replace entire 
policy. 

Policy ENV6 - Historic Environment
Proposals for new development that affect heritage assets (designated and non-designated) must conserve or 
enhance the significance of the heritage asset and its setting in accordance with national guidance and 
legislation. Proposals will be supported particularly where they:

i) make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness and/or
ii) make a positive contribution towards wider social and economic benefits and or
iii) provide a viable future use for a heritage asset that is consistent with the conservation of its 
significance, and/or
iv) protect a heritage asset that is currently at risk

The Council will work with landowners, developers, the community, Historic England and other stakeholders to:
i) ensure that new development conserves, and where possible enhances, designated heritage assets and non-
designated heritage assets and their setting
 ii) ensure that vacant historic buildings are appropriately re-used as soon as possible to prevent deterioration of 
condition
 iii) seek to reduce the number of buildings on the “Heritage at Risk” Register
 iv) encourage better understanding of the significance of scheduled monuments on the “Heritage at Risk” 
Register and to aid in their protection
 v) better understand the significance of Conservation Areas in the district through producing Conservation Area 
Character Appraisals and Management Plans
 vi) identify criteria for assessing non-designated heritage assets and maintaining a list of such assets as Locally 

P
age 305

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Listed Buildings, and
 vii) encourage Heritage Partnership Agreements, particularly for Listed Buildings on any ‘at risk’ register.
viii) support Neighbourhood Development Plans where they seek to assess their heritage assets and add to the 
evidence base.

Applicants will be required to describe, in line with best practice and relevant national guidance, the significance 
of any heritage assets affected including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance. In some circumstances, further survey, analysis and recording will be 
made a condition of consent.

  Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

8.38
(now 8.34-8.37)

Replace entire 
paragraph.

Heritage assets may be classified as either ‘designated’ or ‘non-designated’ and both can be important to 
consider through the planning process. Heritage assets can include listed buildings, scheduled monuments, 
conservation areas, registered parks and gardens, archaeological sites and other assets.

Development proposals at an early stage should refer to sources of information on the historic environment such 
as the Oxfordshire Historic Landscape Characterisation Project, The Oxfordshire Historic Environment Record, 
The National Heritage List for England, the South Oxfordshire Heritage Impact Assessment, and where relevant 
Conservation Area Character Appraisals to ensure that proposals are based on an understanding of the 
significance of any heritage assets that may be affected. Development proposals should also take into account 
the principles set out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and other relevant guidance.

In some circumstances, further surveys and analysis may be required prior to any application being determined. 
Heritage Statements, Statements of Significance, and Impact Assessments should be produced in line with 
current best practice and relevant national guidance.

We will monitor buildings or other heritage assets at risk through neglect, decay or other threats, proactively 
seeking solutions for assets at risk through discussions with owners and willingness to consider positively 

P
age 306

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

development schemes that would ensure the repair and maintenance of the asset, and, as a last resort, using its 
statutory powers.

ENV8
(ENV7)

Replace entire 
policy. 

Policy ENV8 – Listed Buildings

Proposals for alteration of, addition to or demolition of (including partial demolition) a listed building or for 
development within the curtilage of, or affecting the setting of a Listed Building must:
i) conserve or enhance the heritage significance and setting;
ii) respect any features of special architectural or historic interest, including, where relevant, the historic curtilage 
or context, such as burgage plots, or its value within a group and/or its setting, such as the importance of a street 
frontage or traditional shopfronts, and
iii) be sympathetic to the Listed Building and its setting in terms of its siting, size, scale, height, alignment, 
materials and finishes (including colour and texture), design and form, in order to retain the special interest that 
justifies its designation through appropriate design and in accordance with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide.

Any harm to the building must be demonstrably outweighed by its benefits. National planning policy makes clear 
that any harm or loss of a listed building should be exceptional and would require convincing justification in terms 
of substantial public benefit.

Proposals for the change of use of a Listed Building or building within its curtilage will be viewed favourably 
where it can be demonstrated that the new use can be accommodated without any adverse effect on the special 
architectural or historic interest of the building and its appearance or character.

Applications involving listed buildings should describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including 
any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail provided should be proportionate to the asset’s 
significance.

ENV9 Replace entire Proposals for development within or affecting the setting of a Conservation Area must conserve or enhance its 

P
age 307

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

(now ENV8) policy. special interest, character, setting and appearance. Development will be expected to:
i. contribute to the conservation area’s special interest and its relationship within its setting. The special 

characteristics of the Conservation Area (such as existing walls, buildings, trees, hedges, burgage plots, 
traditional shopfronts and signs, farm groups, medieval townscapes, archaeological features, historic 
routes etc.) should be preserved.  

ii. take into account important views within, into or out of the conservation area and show that these would be 
retained and unharmed 

iii. respect the local character and distinctiveness of the conservation area in terms of the development’s: 
siting; size; scale; height; alignment; materials and finishes (including colour and texture); proportions; 
design; and form, in accordance with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and any relevant Conservation 
Area Character Appraisal 

iv. be sympathetic to the original curtilage of buildings and pattern of development that forms part of the 
historic interest of the conservation area

v. be sympathetic to important spaces such as paddocks, greens, gardens and other gaps or spaces 
between buildings which make a positive contribution to the pattern of development in the conservation 
area

vi. ensure the wider social and environmental effects generated by the development are compatible with the 
existing character and appearance of the conservation area, and/or

vii. ensure no loss of, or harm to any building or feature that makes a positive contribution to the special 
interest, character or appearance of the conservation area. 

Where harm to significance is caused, a balanced judgement will be made with regard to the level of harm 
against demonstrable public benefits.

Wherever possible the sympathetic restoration and re-use of structures which make a positive contribution to the 
special interest, character or appearance of the conservation area will be encouraged to prevent harm through 
the cumulative loss of features which are an asset to the Conservation Area.

Applicants will be required to describe, in line with best practice and relevant national guidance, the significance 

P
age 308

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

of any heritage assets affected including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance. In some circumstances, further survey, analysis and recording will be 
made a condition of consent

ENV10
(ENV9)

Replace entire 
policy. 

Policy ENV10: Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments
Development must protect the site and setting of Scheduled Monuments or nationally important designated or 
undesignated archaeological remains.

Applicants will be expected to undertake an assessment of appropriate detail to determine whether the 
development site is known to, or is likely to, contain archaeological remains. Proposals must show the 
development proposals have had regard to any such remains. Where the assessment indicates archaeological 
remains on site, and development could disturb or adversely affect archaeological remains and/or their setting, 
applicants will be expected to:

i. submit an appropriate archaeological desk-based assessment or 
ii. undertake a field evaluation (conducted by a suitably qualified, and archaeological organisation), where 

necessary. 
 

Nationally important archaeological remains (whether scheduled or demonstrably of equivalent significance) 
should be preserved in situ. Non-designated archaeological sites or deposits of significance equal to that of a 
nationally important monument will be assessed as though those sites or deposits are designated. Development 
proposals that would lead to harm or total loss of significance of such remains will only be permitted in 
exceptional circumstances where: 

i. it can be demonstrated that the harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh that harm or loss, or 

ii. all of the circumstances of paragraph 133 of the NPPF apply.

For other archaeological remains, the effect of a development proposal on the significance of the remains, either 
directly or indirectly, will be taken into account in determining the application. As such assets are also 
irreplaceable, the presumption will be in favour of the avoidance of harm. The scale of the harm or loss will be 

P
age 309

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

weighed against this presumption and the significance of the heritage asset.

In exceptional cases, where harm to or loss of significance to the asset is considered to be justified, the harm 
should be minimised, and mitigated by a programme of archaeological investigation, including excavation, 
recording and analysis. Planning permission will not be granted until this programme has been submitted to, and 
approved by, the local planning authority, and development should not commence until these works have been 
satisfactorily undertaken by an appropriately qualified organisation. The results and analysis of findings 
subsequent to the investigation should be published and made available to the relevant local and county 
authorities.

New policy 
(‘Flood risk’ - 
8.52)

Add in new policy 
between title ‘Flood 
risk’ and paragraph 
8.52. 

Policy EP3 – Flood Risk

The risk and impact of flooding will be minimised through:
i) directing new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding;
ii) ensuring that all new development addresses the effective management of all sources of flood risk;
iii) ensuring that development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; and
iv) ensuring wider environmental benefits of development in relation to flood risk.

The suitability of development proposed in flood zones will be strictly assessed using the ‘Sequential Test’, and, 
where necessary, the ‘Exceptions Test’. A sequential approach should be used at site level.

A Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment (SSFRA) will be required for all developments of 1 hectare and greater in 
Flood Zone 1.  A SSFRA will be required for all developments (including minor development and change of use) 
in Flood Zone 2 and 3, in Critical Drainage Areas, and where the development or change of use is to a more 
vulnerable class that may be subject to other forms of flooding. Appropriate mitigation and management 
measures will be required to be implemented and maintained.

All development proposals must be assessed against the current South Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment or any updates and the Oxfordshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy to address locally 

P
age 310

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

significant flooding. Appropriate mitigation and management measures must be implemented and maintained.

All development will be required to provide a drainage strategy. Development will be expected to incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems and ensure that runoff rates are attenuated to greenfield run-off rates. Higher rates 
would need to be justified and the risks quantified. Development should strive to reduce run-off rates for existing 
developed sites.

Sustainable drainage systems should seek to enhance water quality and biodiversity in line with the Water 
Framework Directive.

New policy (8.51 
– ‘Flood risk’)

Add new policy 
between new title 
‘Waste collection 
and recycling’ and 
title ‘Flood risk’

Policy EP3: Waste Collection and Recycling 

All new development will be expected to be consistent with the Council’s Waste Planning Guidance. 

Development proposals for residential use must ensure: 

i) adequate facilities are provided for the sorting, storage and collection of waste and recycling 
ii) sufficient space is provided for the storage and collection of individual or communal recycling and refuse 

containers; and
iii) access is provided that is safe for existing users/residents and for refuse and recycling collection 

vehicles.

Development proposals for non-residential use must ensure: 
iv) sufficient space is provided for the storage of communal recycling and refuse containers;
v) provision is made that is adequate for the proposed use. The location and design of recycling and refuse 

provision should be integral to the design of the proposed development. 

In assessing recycling and refuse provision, the following points should be considered: 
vi) the level and type of provision, having regard to the above requirements and relevant space standards;

P
age 311

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

vii) the location of the provision, having regard to the need to provide and maintain safe and convenient 
access for occupants, while also providing satisfactory access for collection vehicles;

viii) the impact of the provision on visual amenity, having regard to the need to minimise the prominence of 
the facilities and screen any external provision;

ix) the impact of the provision on health and amenity of neighbouring development and the proposed 
development; and

x) the security of the provision against scavenging pests, vandalism and unauthorised use. 

Recycling and refuse storage should be separate from cycle storage, car parking and key circulation areas. 

Development will not be permitted if recycling and refuse provision that meets the above requirements cannot 
feasibly or practicably be provided.

New policy 
(‘Flood risk’ - 
8.52)

Add in new policy 
between title ‘Flood 
risk’ and paragraph 
8.52. 

Policy EP4 – Flood Risk

The risk and impact of flooding will be minimised through:
v) directing new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding;
vi) ensuring that all new development addresses the effective management of all sources of flood risk;
vii) ensuring that development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere; and
viii) ensuring wider environmental benefits of development in relation to flood risk.

The suitability of development proposed in flood zones will be strictly assessed using the ‘Sequential Test’, and, 
where necessary, the ‘Exceptions Test’. A sequential approach should be used at site level.

A Site-Specific Flood Risk Assessment (SSFRA) will be required for all developments of 1 hectare and greater in 
Flood Zone 1.  A SSFRA will be required for all developments (including minor development and change of use) 
in Flood Zone 2 and 3, in Critical Drainage Areas, and where the development or change of use is to a more 
vulnerable class that may be subject to other forms of flooding. Appropriate mitigation and management 
measures will be required to be implemented and maintained.

P
age 312

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

All development proposals must be assessed against the current South Oxfordshire Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment or any updates and the Oxfordshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy to address locally 
significant flooding. Appropriate mitigation and management measures must be implemented and maintained.

All development will be required to provide a drainage strategy. Development will be expected to incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems and ensure that runoff rates are attenuated to greenfield run-off rates. Higher rates 
would need to be justified and the risks quantified. Development should strive to reduce run-off rates for existing 
developed sites.

Sustainable drainage systems should seek to enhance water quality and biodiversity in line with the Water 
Framework Directive.

Chapter Nine – Built Environment
DES6 –DES7 Add New Policy Policy DES7 – Public Art 

All proposals for major development*, or development of sites larger than 0.5 hectares, must make provision for 
public art that makes a significant contribution towards the appearance of the scheme or the character of the 
area, or which benefits the local community. Applicants will be required to set out in their proposal details of the 
provision of public art, including its location and design in accordance with the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. 
Contributions will be required in accordance with Policy INF1: Infrastructure Provision.

*As defined by Development Management Procedure Order 2010. 
New text After DES7 add 

supporting text as 
shown:

Public art can improve the quality of new developments, and along with high quality design, help to create 
stimulating and rewarding environments that are of benefit to current and future generations. 

National policy places an emphasis on public art in design and place-making for new developments. Successful 
schemes can make places more interesting, exciting and aesthetically pleasing for residents and the community. 
Public art incorporated into public spaces can also help to bring neighbourhoods together and provide a space 

P
age 313

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

for social activities and civic life. 

We will seek to support public art within new development schemes in accordance with our Arts Development 
Strategy. We also seek to promote quality art within new developments by encouraging partnership working 
between professional artists and craftspeople and encouraging local participation to help to establish an identity 
for an area. 

Developers will be expected to contribute towards the provision of public art in order to help improve the 
appearance of the scheme and/or reflect the character of the area. 

We will particularly support proposals for art within residential and commercial development that benefits the 
local community and helps to establish civic or corporate pride and identity, encourage public enjoyment and 
engagement, promote the renewal of social skills or supporting the local economy. Proposals that contribute 
towards the appearance of a scheme, for example to make a positive contribution to the character of an area or 
that draw inspiration from local culture and history to improve the ‘sense of place’, will also be supported.

DES7
(now DES8)

Amend policy as 
follows:

The Council encourages developers to make provision for the effective use of natural resources where 
applicable, including:

i) The efficient use of land, with net densities of at least 25 30 dwellings per hectare, taking account of local 
circumstances including access to local services and facilities and local character; 
ii) Using recycled and energy efficient materials;
iii) Maximising passive solar heating, lighting, natural ventilation,
energy and water efficiency and the re-use of materials;
iv) Making efficient use of water, for example through rainwater
harvesting and grey water recycling;
v) Causing no deterioration in, and where possible, achieving
improvements in water quality;
vi) Taking account of, and if located within an AQMA, is consistent with, the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan;
vii) Ensuring that the land is of a suitable quality for development

P
age 314

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

and that remediation of contaminated land is undertaken where
necessary;
viii) Avoiding the development of the best and most versatile
agricultural land, unless it is demonstrated to be the most
sustainable choice from reasonable alternatives, by first using
areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher
quality;
ix) Minimising waste and making adequate provision for the recycling, composting and recovery of waste on 
site;and
x) Re-using vacant buildings and redeveloping previously developed land, provided it the land is not of a high
environmental value.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 4, 5, 6, 7 & 8
9.21 Replace with: In line with the Government’s White Paper: Fixing our broken housing market, all development will be expected 

to use land efficiently, with a density and form appropriate to the site and its surroundings, taking into account 
local character and accessibility to services and facilities. The minimum net density achieved by new 
development should be 30 dwellings per hectare (dph).

DES10 Replace entire policy 
with the following:

Policy DES10: Rural Workers’ Dwellings

The provision of a rural worker dwelling in the open countryside will be permitted provided that: 

i) it is essential, and can be demonstrated there is an existing need for one or more permanent full time 
workers to be readily available at all times for the rural enterprise to operate viably;

ii) the functional need cannot be met by other suitable available existing dwellings in the locality of the 
rural enterprise; 

iii) the rural enterprise is economically sustainable, has been established for at least 3 years and is likely 
to remain financially viable for the foreseeable future 

iv) the size and scale of the dwelling is proportional with the needs of the rural enterprise; and 

P
age 315

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

v) it respects the landscape, rural character, and its rural locality. 

If a rural worker dwelling is essential to support a new rural enterprise it should be provided temporarily by a 
caravan, a wooden structure which can easily be dismantled, or other temporary accommodation for the first 
three years. 

Planning permission will be subject to an appropriate occupancy condition, restricting its occupation to a person 
who is directly employed on a permanent full time basis and their family.

Chapter Ten – Town Centres and Retailing 
10.5 Amend as shown: Our retail assessment found that new foodstores located outside of town centres could have an adverse impact 

on the centres of Didcot, Henley, Thame and Wallingford. To protect the vitality and viability of these town 
centres, our assessment recommends setting a local impact threshold of 500 sq.m. Any proposals that exceed 
the local floorspace thresholds will need to be accompanied by an impact assessment based on a methodology 
and assumptions that have been agreed with the Council in advance.

TC2 Replace figures in 
table (keep 
formatting) and add 
new text below table

New comparison and convenience retail floorspace will be provided in line with the following requirements:
Up to 2022 2022-2027 2027-2033*

Convenience 
goods 
floorspace

7,300m² 1,600m²
(8,900m²)

2,200m²
(11,100m²)

Comparison 
goods 
floorspace

-400m²** 10,200m²
(10,600m²)

14,100m²
(24,700m²)

*Figures beyond 2027 should be treated as indicative
***Orchard Centre Phase II meets the comparison goods need (and marginally exceeds it by 400m²) up to 2022 

Subject to the identification of a suitable site, the council will seek the provision of additional convenience goods 
floorspace, in the format of a single foodstore in the market towns as follows:  P

age 316

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Henley: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²
Thame: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²
Wallingford: a new foodstore in the region of 1500m²

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 3, 4, 6 & 7.

Chapter Eleven – Community and Recreational Facilities
CF2 Replace entire 

policy.
Policy CF2 – Provision of community facilities and services

Development proposals for the provision of new or extended community facilities and services will be supported, 
particularly where: 
i) they are located within or adjacent to the built-up area of an existing settlement; 
ii) they would clearly meet an identified local need; and
iii) they are accessible for all members of the community and promote social inclusion.

Policy CF5 Replace entire policy New residential development will be required to provide or contribute towards accessible open space and play 
facilities in line with the most up to date standards set out in the Open Space Strategy, including:

 Amenity greenspace (including parks and gardens)
 Allotments
 Equipped children’s’ play areas

New residential development will be required to provide or contribute towards accessible sport and recreation 
facilities, including playing pitches, in line with the Council’s most up to date Leisure Strategy and Sport England 
guidance. 

The provision of open space, sport, recreation and play facilities, and playing pitches is expected to be delivered 
on site, unless this is demonstrated not to be feasible. 

P
age 317

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Provision for the future long-term maintenance and management of the open space and facilities will be sought 
and must be agreed as part of the planning application.

Chapter Twelve – Monitoring and Review
Housing Table 
(2.3 – 
‘Economy’)

Add additional 
indicators to table 
between paragraph 
2.3 and title 
‘Economy’ as 
shown:

Add additional indicators:

Indicator Target Source Perio
d

Strategic 
allocations 
(Local Plan)

To deliver against 
5 Year Housing 
Land Supply 
Target

Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

Towns-
allocations 
(NDP)

To deliver against 
the NDP 
allocation

Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

Larger Villages 
(NDP)

To deliver against 
the NDP 
allocation

Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

Smaller villages 
(NDP)

To deliver against 
the NDP 
allocation

Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

Smaller villages 
-windfalls

Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

C2 Care Homes Annual 
housing 
monitoring

Annu
ally

Climate Change 
Table (below 

Amend table below 
paragraph 8.2

Row 3, Column 2 - No target but monitoring against the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
‘Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems’ March 2015P

age 318

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

8.2)
Row 5, Column 1 – 10% 15% of energy demand from major sites derived from decentralised, renewable or low 
carbon sources

Appendix 1: Glossary 
Appendix 6 Map showing 

masterplan area 
only

Insert: “NEW MAP FOR APPENDIX 6”  

New Appendices:

NEW
Appendix 8

New appendix to 
support policy H1

Local Plan Development Trajectory

To be provided

NEW 
Appendix 9

Title - Designated 
Sites for Nature 
Conservation

Please include Appendix 2 from the following document (pages 251-255) 

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-
%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf 

NEW 
Appendix 10

Title - Scheduled 
Ancient 
Monuments

Please include Appendix 3 from the following document (pages 257-259) 

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-
%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf

Amend list as follows:

Parish                        County No                Monument Title                                                                   
                                                            Grid ref

P
age 319

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf


PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Chinnor                     28154                         Three round bowl barrows on Chinnor Hill

Holton                        30823                         Moated site in grounds of Holton Park House and 
associated ice house

Holton                        30824                         Site of manor house in Holton park Moated site south west 
of Church Farm

Warborough              31431                         Long barrow 140m north west of Crookes Cottages

Warborough              31432                         Romano-British settlement 520m north west of Crookes 
Cottages

Warborough              31435                         Long barrow 340m north west of Crookes Cottages

Add to list as follows:

Parish: Clifton Hampden     
County No:1421606   
Monument title: Round Barrow Cemetery at Fullamoor Plantation
Grid Reference: SU 531944 

Parish: Long Wittenham      
County No: 243                             
Monument Title: Settlement site south east of Church                                       
Grid Reference: SU 53321 93386P

age 320

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Parish: Stadhampton            
County No: 30849                         
Monument Title: Ice house at Ascott House north west of Ascott Farm
Grid Reference: SU 61220 98214

NEW 
Appendix 11

Title  - English 
Heritage Register 
of Parks and 
Gardens of
Special Historic 
Interest in South 
Oxfordshire

Please include Appendix 4 from the following document (pages 261) 

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-
%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf

NEW 
Appendix 12

Listed Buildings, 
Heritage at risk 
and Conservation 
Areas in South 
Oxfordshire

Listed Buildings, Heritage at risk and Conservation Areas in South Oxfordshire

Listed Buildings

To access a list of the Listed Buildings within South Oxfordshire please follow the link below:

https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results?searchtype=nhleadvanced

Heritage at risk

To access a list of heritage assets at risk within South Oxfordshire please follow the link below:

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-
register/results/?advsearch=1&Lpa=South%20Oxfordshire&searchtype=harsearch

P
age 321

A
genda Item

 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Local%20Plan%202011%20-%20Strikethrough%20version%20after%20adoption%20of%20Core%20Strategy%202012.pdf
https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/results?searchtype=nhleadvanced
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/results/?advsearch=1&Lpa=South%20Oxfordshire&searchtype=harsearch
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/heritage-at-risk/search-register/results/?advsearch=1&Lpa=South%20Oxfordshire&searchtype=harsearch


PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

Conservation Areas
 Aston Rowant
 Aston Tirrold/Upthorpe 
 Beckley
 Benson
 Berrick Salome
 Brightwell Baldwin
 Brightwell cum Sotwell
 Britwell Salome
 Chalgrove
 Checkendon
 Chinnor
 Cholsey
 Clifton Hampden
 Culham
 Cuxham
 Didcot Old Area
 Didcot Northbourne Area
 Didcot Station Road
 Dorchester
 East Hagbourne
 Elsfield
 Ewelme
 Forest Hill
 Garsington
 Gatehampton
 GoringP

age 322

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

 Great Haseley
 Great Milton
 Grey's Green
 Henley-on-Thames
 Kingston Blount
 Lewknor
 Little Haseley
 Little Milton
 Little Wittenham
 Long Wittenham
 Mackney
 Mapledurham
 Marsh Baldon
 Moreton
 Nettlebed
 North Moreton
 North Stoke
 Nuneham Courtenay
 Oakley
 Overy
 Preston Crowmarsh
 Pyrton
 Rotherfield Peppard
 Shepherd's Green
 Shillingford
 Shirburn
 Sonning EyeP

age 323

A
genda Item

 6



PLEASE NOTE: This document shows key proposed changes from the previous version (Second Preferred Options Document). 
Items in red show additional or replaced text, those in red with strike through show deleted text. This schedule intentionally does 
not pick up spelling, grammar or other minor corrections.

17/09/04 Schedule of Changes to the South Oxfordshire Local Plan

Policy/ 
Paragraph

Issue Change

 South Moreton
 Stanton St John
 Stoke Row
 Stonor
 Sydenham
 Thame
 Toot Baldon
 Towersey
 Wallingford
 Warborough
 Waterstock
 Watlington
 West Hagbourne 
 Wheatley
 Whitchurch
 Winterbrook
 Woodeaton

NEW 
Appendix 13

Town Centre 
Boundaries and 
Primary Shopping 
Frontages

To be provided

P
age 324

A
genda Item

 6



South Oxfordshire District Council 
Local Plan 2033:  Second Preferred 
Options  

Consultation Report
September 2017

Page 325

Agenda Item 6



Page 326

Agenda Item 6



3

Contents 

Executive Summary 5
Introduction 6
How we consulted 7
Response to the consultation 8
Responses to consultation – by chapter 9
Foreword 9
Vision and Objectives 10
Our Spatial Strategy 19
Delivering new homes 35
Employment 47
Infrastructure 59
Natural and Historic Environment 70
Built Environment 87
Town centres and retailing 98
Community and recreational facilities 103
Monitoring and Review 107
Glossary 109

Page 327

Agenda Item 6



Page 328

Agenda Item 6



5

Executive Summary

This is the report of the responses to South Oxfordshire District Council fourth 
round of consultation on the emerging local plan 2011 – 2033. 

The consultation was held between March and May 2017. 

The areas that received the most comment were:

1. The Duty to Cooperate and Oxford’s unmet housing needs:
The Growth Board ‘apportionment process’ has provided a framework but 
the council has chosen a different approach.
This is a legal requirement and cannot be resolved through discussion at 
the examination, as soundness can. 

2. Housing numbers
Mixed reactions across several related subjects
Communities & campaign groups (too high)
Developers (too low)
SHMA – the numbers should be reviewed: original calculations, the age of 
tthe document and changes of circumstance (“Brexit” and the housing 
white paper)  
OAN – top, middle and bottom of the range cited and “full” affordable need.  
Also, should include unmet need
Potential unmet need from Reading (raised by developers)
Five year housing land supply – Could it be achieved, and when. 

3. Our Strategy
Strategic sites – mixed responses 
Berinsfield – Support the principle of regen. some Green Belt concerns
Chalgrove Airfield – Objections: remote, unsustainable location. 
Culham – Mixed reaction sustainable location, Green Belt, Abingdon
There shouldn’t be three strategic allocations – development should be 
spread out over more smaller sites in the district 
Alternative sites
Support: Harrington, Lower Elsfield, Wick Farm & Thornhill. 
Objection: Harrington & Wick Farm
Green Belt
Oxford’s unmet need should be met nearer to Oxford
Concerns about any Green Belt release  
Infrastructure 
Substantial investment in infrastructure would be required for Chalgrove 
Airfield 
Culham and the provision of a bridge supported
More detail of the specific infrastructure required to support the proposed 
growth in the district/site by site
Support for the proposed bypasses to existing villages but proposed routes 
need more consideration. 

Page 329

Agenda Item 6



6
Page 330

Agenda Item 6



7

Introduction

In March 2017, we published our “Local Plan 2033 – Second Preferred Options” 
consultation document. This was the fourth step in creating a new Local Plan for 
the district. 

We have previously consulted:
1. Issues and scope (consultation one - June 2014)
2. Refined options (consultation two - February 2015)
3. Preferred options (consultation three - June 2016)

The second preferred options was a substantive draft local plan including a draft 
vision, draft objective, polices and site allocations.  We sought questions on every 
aspect of the plan and particularly the draft polices.    

In this report, we go through the Second Preferred Options consultation document 
policy by policy and set out the main issues which were raised by respondents. 
We respond to those main issues. You can see all of the submitted comments can 
be seen on the council’s consultation website at 
https://consult.southandvale.gov.uk/portal/south/planning/pol/lp2031/is/lp.

We have used the comments on this consultation, along with information from a 
range of studies we have carried out or commissioned, to help us formulate the 
final version of the Local Plan.  This final “publication” version of the plan will be 
subject to a formal consultation and then be submitted to a government appointed 
inspector for examination.  

Page 331

Agenda Item 6

https://consult.southandvale.gov.uk/portal/south/planning/pol/lp2031/is/lp


8

How we consulted

The consultation took place from 29 March to 17 May 2017, a period of seven 
weeks.  In combination with the three earlier stages, we have consulted on this 
plan for a total of 27 weeks. 

We have endeavoured to ensure that we reached a wide spread of our community 
with our consultation. Below a breakdown can be found of the different 
approaches used for the consultation.  We have followed the steps set out for 
consultation in our Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)1. We exceeded 
the statutory consultation requirements for this stage of consultation.  The four 
rounds of consultation that we have held so far have all be ‘informal’ and are 
intended to be flexible as long as they follow the some specific requirements 
(predominantly to do with who we contact) set out in Regulation 18 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

Our consultation methods are documented and broken down as follows:

Date Action
27 
February

Email issued to all parish councils to inform of consultation dates and 
invite them to a briefing on the Local Plan.  

w/c 13 
March

Outlook delivered to every household in South Oxfordshire with front-
page article including consultation details and drop-in dates.

21 March Press release issued to local newspapers announcing consultation 
and drop-in dates.
Press release issued to all parish councils requesting that they 
update their websites / parish newsletter with the events.

w/c 27 
March

Press adverts published in local newspapers.
Pack of publicity material issued to all parish councils with posters / 
leaflets advertising the events, for display around the villages/towns.

28 March Email / letter notifications issued to everyone registered on our 
database or who commented on previous Local Plan consultations.
Update to website www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan 
Dedicated consultation page live
Two separate briefing sessions held, the first for district councillors, 
the second for town / parish councils and neighbourhood planning 
groups.  

29 March Copies of the Plan, supporting documents and comment forms 
available to view in libraries and leisure centres across the district, 
plus Culham Science Centre and Clifton Hampden and Chalgrove 
Post Offices.

w/c 3 April Facebook adverts for Didcot and Thame drop-in events. 
5 April – 
22 April

Public drop-in sessions held in Didcot, Wallingford, Thame and 
Henley.

1 Statement of Community Involvement (SCI): http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-
advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/our-development-plan/community-involvement 

Page 332

Agenda Item 6

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/regulation/18/made
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/newlocalplan
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/our-development-plan/community-involvement
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/services-and-advice/planning-and-building/planning-policy/our-development-plan/community-involvement


9

Response to the consultation

In total we received 7,666 comments from 1369 contributing consultees. This 
represented a similar level of response to the first preferred options consultation. 
At the exhibitions we answered questions, and also collected comments and 
these have been incorporated into our reporting of each corresponding policy from 
the consultation document. 

The proportion of responses received via email far outweighed any other form of 
communication, we received some responses directly through our online 
consultation portal and we also accepted ‘hard copy’ letters.  The overall 
breakdown of responses can be seen in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Methods used to respond to the consultation.

Page 333

Agenda Item 6



10

Responses to consultation – by chapter

Foreword 

Overall 74 people commented on this chapter
 Support 0
 Comment 64
 Object 10

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Considered that the desire to let communities make more decisions for 

themselves did not align with the proposal of strategic allocations, 
particularly that of Chalgrove. 

2. How is the selection of Chalgrove by the Council a reflection of the 
community’s aspirations? 

3. The foreword is disappointing insofar as it fails to recognise the efforts 
made by Neighbourhood Plan groups

 
The council’s summary response to the main themes  
It is not considered that the foreword is at odds with the desire to let communities 
plan for themselves. The Local Plan places a great deal of responsibility in its 
markets towns and larger villages to provide the level of development expected to 
be delivered. However, the housing needs for South Oxfordshire and indeed to 
help towards meeting the unmet needs of Oxford City cannot be met through the 
market towns and larger villages alone and the spatial strategy also seeks to 
identify large strategic sites to support housing delivery. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Ensure that the foreword reflects that there is a balance to be struck and housing 
needs should be carefully considered alongside environmental factors and 
community aspirations. 

Page 334

Agenda Item 6



11

Vision and Objectives 

Overall 367 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 129
 Comment 82
 Object 156

Objective 1 – Settlements
Overall 95 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 34
 Comment 20
 Object 41

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The objective is not realised by the restriction to long term growth of 

settlements
2. Generally, support the aims of the objective and the spatial strategy, 

development at Didcot & Science Vale supported
3. Needs greater clarity regarding the settlement hierarchy  
4. Development at Chalgrove would not align with this objective and 

disrupt ‘our way of life’ and give rise to commuting
5. Little regard for older people or wildlife
6. Concern regarding safeguarded access routes and their impact upon 

the countryside and neighbouring uses.

There were Parish Council responses to this which were generally supportive in 
terms of the principle of this policy. The support for rural communities was 
welcomed.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes proposed. 

Objective 2 – Housing
Overall 40 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 17
 Comment 6
 Object 17

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support the aims of these objectives

Page 335

Agenda Item 6



12

2. Regeneration is supported as a key objective and viability should be a 
priority

3. There should be a greater dispersal strategy
4. Oxford’s unmet need should be met in full
5. Unclear where need for employment land is coming from
6. Should specifically restrict land at risk of flooding from development
7. Housing mix needs to be explained and reflective of demand

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have amended Obj. 2.1 to refer to including older persons and self-build 
accommodation but note this is not an exhaustive list

Objective 3 – Economy
Overall 54 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 22
 Comment 13
 Object 19

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Objectives are laudable, essential that development locations should be 

close to existing business areas and where there are good transport 
connections. 

2. Development at Chalgrove is not balanced and more houses will not attract 
more employment

3. Housing and employment should be considered alongside transport 
4. Employment development should be focussed at Science Vale and Oxford 

City. Oxford should be recognised as a key employer
5. The Local Plan proposes to put Oxford City’s overspill in the countryside with 

no infrastructure
6. Where are businesses coming from?

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Page 336

Agenda Item 6



13

The Local Plan aims to balance housing and employment growth insofar as this is 
practicable.  Development is focussed at Science Vale and at the market towns 
and larger villages. Development is also located at strategic locations across the 
District which are well linked to established employment opportunities. 
It is recognised that there are key employment centres both within and outside the 
District boundaries, however it would not be planning positively to expect all 
residents to work outside the area. South Oxfordshire has a relatively contained 
level of out commuting. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Make reference to Oxford City as a key employment location, and also Reading 
and London which have pulls on residents. The level of containment in 
Oxfordshire should be clarified within the Local Plan. 

Objective 4 – Infrastructure
Overall 43 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 15
 Comment 7
 Object 21

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  General support for the provision of infrastructure to support growth, but 

consider that more detail needs to be provided particularly on a wider area
2.  There should be a greater focus on pedestrian and cycle infrastructure 
3.  Sustainable transport at Chalgrove is not a viable option balanced with the 

need to recognise that the private car is still an essential item in rural parts 
of the district.

4.  How will national decisions on transport infrastructure impact upon the 
District, particularly the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway.

5. How deliverable is the necessary transport infrastructure? 
6. Concern that large strategic infrastructure items will not be delivered owing 

to a lack of funding

Oxfordshire County Council highlighted the potential funding gap and the work 
being undertaken to prepare the county wide Infrastructure Strategy and 
highlighted that the proposed development did not exacerbate the identified gap. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Welcome the support for infrastructure to support the level of growth we are 
planning. However, it should be recognised that there are existing infrastructure 
deficiencies in the District which cannot be remedied through contributions from 
new development unless they are related. 

Page 337

Agenda Item 6



14

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Ensure that Objective 4.2 refers to a range of transport options including 
pedestrian and cycling facilities

Objective 5 – Design
Overall 25 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 6
 Object 12

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Specific reference should be made to the South Oxfordshire Design Guide
2.  Development at Chalgrove would not respect the special character of our 

historic settlements or the surrounding countryside and would not accord 
with these objectives

3.  The proposed bypasses will not respect the character of existing 
settlements

Sport England welcome the objective to deliver well designed homes

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Development is proposed at Chalgrove Airfield, a partially previously developed 
site at Chalgrove. The immediate character is of an airfield though it is accepted 
that the character will change. The safeguarded routes provide the opportunity for 
further investigation of potential access. These routes are not all fully funded or 
justified though their inclusion provides the opportunity to explore this further, 
including the potential impact on character.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We will refer to the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. 

Objective 6 – Community 
Overall 35 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 11
 Object 15

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Selection of Chalgrove undermines community led neighbourhood planning

Page 338

Agenda Item 6



15

2. Concern that strategic allocation at Chalgrove will destroy existing 
community facilities and may mean the relocation of facilities away from the 
heart of the community

3.  Landowners within strategic allocations and associated with safeguarded 
routes were not consulted in advance

4. Community facilities are stretched and cannot cope with additional 
development

5. The objective should be expanded to support sport and recreation and 
health and wellbeing.

Sport England raised the lack of sport and recreation in the objectives. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

We recognise that there is a tension between the Neighbourhood Plan at 
Chalgrove and the proposed strategic allocation. However, the objective to 
support community led planning is a valid one and we are looking to the market 
towns and larger villages to propose where, how and when new development 
should take place. This does need to be balanced against a district wide need for 
new development and a mix of different sized sites and the opportunities that 
these can bring in terms of the provision of new infrastructure which might 
otherwise not be realised. The location of new facilities will need to be carefully 
considered.

Developers promoting large scale development are expected to bring forward a 
comprehensive scheme and as part of this the Council expect this to include 
discussions with landowners. This should ensure that the site assembly process is 
thorough and would reflect a site which represents the most appropriate pattern of 
land to be developed. We are aware that some landowners have not been 
involved in the process and have worked to ensure that this engagement takes 
place. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The objective should be expanded to cover health/well-being and sport and 
recreation. 

Objective 7 - Natural and Built environment
Overall 55 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 18
 Comment 14
 Object 23

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

Page 339

Agenda Item 6



16

1. Welcome strong support for the natural and historic environment and 
consider this should be across the district including the often overlooked 
northern parts of SODC’s area. Light and air pollution should be reduced.

2. Unclear how this objective will be met when the Local Plan proposes 
strategic allocations and levels of development across the District which 
are ‘unsustainable’ 

3. How will the natural environment be protected or enhanced by bypasses 
and other constructions? Including conservation areas, orchards etc? Can 
rail be used as an alternative to roads?

4. The likely impact on wildlife as a result of new development and new roads 
was also emphasised. Chalk streams, the River Thames and ancient 
woodlands should be highlighted. 

5. We should do more to celebrate our historic assets and the Council should 
be clear about how this can be supported

6. There has been inadequate examination of alternative sites, risk of flooding 
and agricultural land. 

Several parish councils supported this objective. Historic England supported the 
positive strategy. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Recognise that there needs to be a balance between protecting the natural and 
historic environment with the need to provide for additional needed development. 
This impact will be minimised through organic growth at the towns and villages 
with larger strategic allocations elsewhere. Two of the four strategic allocations 
will use partially developed land as part of a wider site. Focussing large scale 
development on fewer locations enables the protection of much of the rest of the 
District, particularly those areas set in protected landscape designations. 
Throughout the development of the Local Plan, strategic site options have been 
considered and tested through the sustainability appraisal. The sites selected and 
included as proposed strategic allocations within the plan align with the spatial 
strategy and balance the competing needs of the district. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Further reference to Chalk Streams, ancient woodlands and the River Thames will 
be added to the document to reflect their importance within the district. 
The assessment of alternative sites will also be clarified within the document, and 
more specifically in the supporting evidence base. 

Objective 8 - Climate change
Overall 20 people commented on this policy:  

Page 340

Agenda Item 6



17

 Support 7
 Comment 5
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Development at Chalgrove or Harrington will not reduce carbon emissions 

and reliance on the car will conflict with this policy.  
2. Support the principle of the objective
3.  A significant number of homes have been built on land at risk of flooding 

and the effects of climate change are likely to exacerbate this position. The 
Plan should be clear that development is to be restricted on land at risk 
from flooding.

4. Where is the mitigation for this objective?
5.  Concern that potential bypasses will simply divert rather than reduce traffic 

in the area.
6.  Lack of water is likely to be an issue

Sport England noted the benefit of evening sports activity and lighting outdoor 
facilities would be a positive rather than negative on health across the district. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There are a series of objectives which underpin the Local Plan, which should not 
be viewed in isolation, but rather should be considered as a full suite of objectives 
– some of which will be competing. A balance needs to be struck between the 
core pillars of sustainable development, including the protection of the 
environment and the need to provide sufficient development to meet the needs of 
the existing and future population. 

Balance of environmental constraints and the requirement for new development 
should be viewed across the district. The heart of the district has been historically 
overlooked to some extent and this Local Plan seeks to redress this and focus 
development and infrastructure in South Oxfordshire’s central area. 
It is not considered that there is a significant level of homes which are at risk of 
flooding. The emerging Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment which has guided the location of development to avoid areas at risk 
of flooding. 

The plan includes safeguarded land which provides the opportunity to look at the 
potential for bypasses. Whilst the point about the diversion of traffic is accepted, 
this can reduce congestion in those built-up areas which have existing issues 
which cannot be overcome and to disperse traffic where there are Air Quality 
issues, thus bringing about improvements to AQMAs.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Water scarcity is an issue within South Oxfordshire and this should be expanded 
upon in the Local Plan having regard to the Water Cycle Study evidence. 

Paragraph 3
Overall 107 people commented on this section/paragraph:  

Page 341

Agenda Item 6



18

 Support 34
 Comment 26
 Object 47

The following key themes were identified in response to this paragraph:
1. General support for the vision is identified and the spatial strategy, though 

others felt that the vision did not highlight the range of challenges which the 
district faces, particularly in terms of duty to cooperate. Some respondents 
feel that Oxford’s unmet housing need should be met close to the city, 
whilst others consider that this can be met across the district.

2. Development at Wick Farm has the potential to support healthcare needs 
and promote healthy lifestyles with easy access by foot and bicycle to 
Oxford in addition to the development identified in the emerging Local Plan. 

3. The approach to Green Belt needs to be completed, in particular to take 
account of the Oxfordshire Growth Board work which considered that the 
most appropriate location for sustainable development was at the edge of 
Oxford. A full review should be undertaken. Others consider that protection 
of the Green Belt, particularly the setting of Oxford City is of paramount 
importance.

4. Berinsfield and Chalgrove are not appropriate locations for new 
development balanced against support for development at the strategic 
locations.

5. Science Vale is an important focus for the District and the proposals for 
additional development here are welcomed, including at Berinsfield. 

6. It is important that the District’s landscape and heritage assets, views and 
character are not impacted upon by new strategic development. Not all 
settlements should be treated in the same way. Others stressed the 
housing delivery crisis and that insufficient importance had been placed 
upon this.  

7. Infrastructure to support the proposed development is critical, though 
caution is urged to ensure that it is necessary and proportionate. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Balance of environmental constraints and the requirement for new development 
should be viewed across the district. The heart of the district has been historically 
overlooked to some extent and this Local Plan seeks to redress this and focus 
development and infrastructure in South Oxfordshire’s central area. 
It is not considered that there is a significant level of homes which are at risk of 
flooding. The emerging Local Plan is supported by a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment which has guided the location of development to avoid areas at risk 
of flooding. 

The plan includes safeguarded land which provides the opportunity to look at the 
potential for bypasses. Whilst the point about the diversion of traffic is accepted, 
this can reduce congestion in those built-up areas which have existing issues 
which cannot be overcome and to disperse traffic where there are Air Quality 
issues, thus bringing about improvements to AQMAs.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:

Page 342

Agenda Item 6



19

Water scarcity is an issue within South Oxfordshire and this should be expanded 
upon in the Local Plan having regard to the Water Cycle Study evidence. We will 
add further text in to highlight the importance of housing delivery. Clarity will be 
provided to reflect the proposed safeguarded routes and their justification and 
funding. 

Page 343

Agenda Item 6



20

Our Spatial Strategy  

Overall 3576 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 1098
 Comment 624
 Object 1854

Policy STRAT1: The Overall Strategy 
Overall 647 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 80
 Comment 131
 Object 436

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The overall need for an amended strategy in response to the Strategic 

Housing Market assessment (SHMA) was questioned.  The numbers (and 
assumptions) in the SHMA were challenged, and its validity especially 
since the government has consulted on changes to needs calculations and 
the announcement of “Brexit.”    

2. The scale of the spatial strategy attracted comments.  Some respondents 
suggested that it was too grand and questioned its sustainability, whilst 
others argued there was greater capacity, in the district, for change and the 
strategy did not plan for enough growth.     

3. Infrastructure, services and facilities were of particular importance to many 
respondents. The ability and capacity of current infrastructure to cope with 
growth was questioned as was the council’s approach for planning for new 
infrastructure. It was questioned whether the necessary infrastructure 
could, or would, be delivered.    

4. A number of concerns were raised about maintaining the character of the 
district in the face of the proposed level of growth.  Consultees raised 
landscape (including the two Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty), the 
rural nature of many of our settlements, and our rich heritage (archaeology, 
listed buildings and conservation areas) amongst the assets as vital to 
protect.     

5. The proposed approach to unmet housing needs from neighbouring 
authorities was raised in response to this policy.  Some respondents 
questioned whether the overall strategy was appropriate for meeting 
Oxford’s needs (and generally this was in the context of whether to build in 
the Green Belt) and siting homes near jobs, while others raised questions 
about the Growth Board processes.  It was not only Oxford’s unmet 
housing needs that were highlighted, some consultees mentioned that 
there could/would be housing needs from Reading and London that we 
should also be considering this in the plan.  

6. The continued focus on growth in Science Vale and Didcot was generally 
supported, although some respondents felt that there was an over reliance 
on Didcot to deliver a significant amount of the housing need in the district.   

Page 344

Agenda Item 6



21

7. The settlement hierarchy was generally supported, and the roles of market 
towns and larger villages as service centres at different scales was 
recognised.  

8. Some respondents thought that we should add more detail to this policy 
about an aging population, health and wellbeing and climate change. 

Historic England wish to see a reference to heritage assets and the historic 
environment in the policy.

Oxfordshire County Council support the proposal to meet the mid-point figure of 
the SHMA range (775 homes a year).  They also commented that additional 
strategic sites may need to be included in the plan to ensure sufficient land to 
meet the housing targets. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The SHMA is evidence that complies with the required methodology and has been 
tested through three other Oxfordshire local authorities plan examinations (At 
Cherwell, Vale of White Horse and West Oxfordshire).   The plans, and evidence 
that support them, have been found sound in two cases and in the third the SHMA 
and derived housing numbers were cited as a requirement.

Uncertainties such as Brexit and the Housing white paper can only be engaged 
with once they have been fully enacted we cannot pre-empt them in plan making. 

We understand the concerns about the impacts of growth and change on 
infrastructure, the environment and the character of the district.  The local plan 
must strike a balance between the need for new homes, employment, services & 
facilities and protecting the important facets of our district and way of life.  It 
should be noted that the local plan is intended to be considered in its entirety, 
therefore specific policies that protect valuable assets and promote infrastructure 
provision will be part of any planning decision process. 

Unmet housing need is considered in more detail under STRAT3 but it should be 
noted that the suggestions to consider unmet housing need for places other than 
the city of Oxford did not come from the relevant local authorities responsible for 
those areas.  
 
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy to ensure it continues to reflect the objectives of the 
plan and it now makes reference to the historic environment. 

Policy STRAT2: The need for new Development in South Oxfordshire
Overall 141 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 14
 Comment 51 
 Object 76

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

Page 345

Agenda Item 6



22

1. Some respondents suggested that this policy ought to come before the 
overall strategy.  Arguing that it is more important to understand need 
before creating a strategy.  

2. Others thought that this policy for South Oxfordshire’s housing need ought 
to be combined with “STRAT3” and Oxford’s unmet needs so the two 
numbers could be understood as a whole.   

3. Similarly to STRAT1, in response to this policy several consultees 
questioned the SHMA, its findings and validity.   

4. Many people thought the housing target was too high, and cited issues 
such as infrastructure capacity, the natural environment and the district’s 
character as reasons for reducing it.  Others suggested that we should only 
planning for the economic need figure of 750 homes per year and some 
suggested that more should be done to bring empty homes back into 
‘usable’ housing stock and the council should engage with the issue of 
“under occupation” of homes (i.e. that some people might live in a house 
that was bigger than they needed).  

5. In contrast to point 4 above, some respondents objected to this policy on 
the grounds that the housing target was too low.  Many cited the figure of 
825 homes per year as representing the full objectively assessed housing 
needs for the district.  This figure, they argued would also delivered much 
needed affordable homes, and would support expected job growth in 
Oxfordshire.  Many of these respondents also cited large amounts of 
available land in South Oxfordshire and some suggested that releasing 
land from the Green Belt could add to this availability. 

6. Consultees posed questions about the council’s monitoring of housing and 
employment land and asked what up-to-date information was available. 

7. There was general support for the flexible approach demonstrated in this 
policy with the use of the phrase “at least” before the housing target.  

8. There were some suggestions that a trajectory for housing development 
(and its phasing) would be useful to support this policy. Others suggested 
housing standards (for space and design etc.) should be included.    

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
It is important that the local plan takes a reasonable and sustainable approach to 
understanding and delivering housing that is identified as needed.  As explained 
under STRAT1 above, the SHMA is a methodologically robust way to identify the 
need for housing in our district.  We have planned for an uplift from the 
demographic and economic needs identified in the SHMA to help boost the supply 
of affordable housing (and market housing that is affordable) in the district. 

We have concluded that the mid-point of 775 homes per year is the most 
appropriate housing target for South Oxfordshire. 

We will include a development trajectory as an appendix to the next version of the 
local plan.     

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:

Page 346

Agenda Item 6



23

None for this policy, but we have provided a development trajectory for detail and 
clarity. 

Policy STRAT3: The unmet housing requirements from Oxford city
Overall 426 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 72
 Object 348

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. This policy was described as unreasonable by some respondents.  Many of 

them suggested that the council ought to be planning for the Growth Board 
recommended apportionment of Oxford’s unmet housing needs (4950 
homes).  While others commented that we should not be helping at all.     

2. There were comments that the policy was not flexible enough to deal with 
future unmet needs (let alone the 15,000 homes working assumption) and 
that whatever the figure South Oxfordshire plan for this should be “rolled 
forward” for two years in the same way as the need figure identified in 
STRAT2. 

3. Many respondents thought that the proposed approach to meeting Oxford’s 
unmet needs and monitoring it (i.e. counting any surplus development 
against the annual target from STRAT2 as meeting Oxford’s needs) was 
too complicated and inefficient. 

4. Many consultees thought that the council should identify a specific site (or 
sites) to meet Oxford’s unmet housing needs (and most thought this ought 
to be adjacent to the city), however, others agreed that development 
should be in accordance with our spatial strategy.

5. Respondents took the opportunity to object to the inclusion of Chalgrove 
airfield in the plan citing as an inappropriate location to meet Oxford’s 
needs. 

6. The SHMA figures were again questioned in response to this proposed 
policy and we received general comments about how increasing the 
housing requirement would add more pressure to infrastructure, services 
and the districts rural character. 

7. We received some support for the proposed approach to review the 
number when the City’s local plan is adopted, and many respondents 
suggested that the city ought to be meeting more of their own needs within 
their administrative boundaries. 

8. We also received comments suggesting that there could be unmet housing 
need from Reading, the home counties and London.   

Oxfordshire County Council suggested that South Oxfordshire ought to be 
planning for 4,950 new homes to help meet Oxford City’s unmet needs in line with 
the Growth Board statement of common ground.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 347

Agenda Item 6



24

The council is of the firm view that the approach we are taking to help Oxford 
meet some of their unmet housing needs is fair, reasonable and sustainable.  

We will maintain the need to review this policy when the City’s plan is adopted to 
provide flexibility to respond to changing circumstances and robustness to ensure 
the needs are being met. 
It should be noted that no single site has been identified to meet Oxford’s needs 
and we will maintain this position to reflect our vision for South Oxfordshire.

The approach to delivering homes above our own need as a surplus to help the 
city will be reviewed.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have removed the second paragraph from the policy and review it to be 
broadly in line with the other authorities in the Growth Broad and seek delivery 
(and monitor) for Oxford’s unmet need from 2021/22.  

Policy STRAT4:  Didcot Garden Town
Overall 307 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 215
 Comment 74
 Object 16

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. In response to the draft policy and accompanying principles we received 

support for improved housing stock, employment, facilities, infrastructure 
and Science Vale.

2. There was also support for design principles, improving public transport 
and management of the natural environment.  Some respondents however, 
warned that the principles could adversely affect development viability.  

3. Many respondents wished to see a stronger recognition of the “Ladygrove 
Loop” local green space.  

4. Some objectors suggested that there should be less development in Didcot 
and that the idea of a Garden Town should not be pursued.

5. Other respondents thought the principles were too vague, should heighten 
the importance of the historic environment and make a clear statement 
about individual neighbour’s identities and especially those of neighbouring 
villages.   

Historic England requested greater detail within the principles to highlight the 
importance of the historic environment in the Garden Town project.  

Oxfordshire County Council are generally supportive of the Garden Town policy 
and principles, and mentioned that they are pleased to continue to be part of the 
delivery strategy.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We will review these responses alongside those submitted in response to the 
Garden Town delivery document.  The council will continue to develop specific 

Page 348

Agenda Item 6



25

planning policies for the Garden Town that have the potential to be adopted as a 
separate planning document. 

We will ensure the Ladygrove loop is shown as an amenity local green space in 
future documentation. 

We will review the principles to consider the historic environment.  Character and 
design are covered in the principles and in our design polices that are supported 
by the design guide.    

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The principles have been amended to include heritage assets.  We will also 
review the other principles to include a more comprehensive view on green (and 
blue) infrastructure and a better vision for ‘active design principles’ for cycling and 
walking.   

Policy STRAT5: Strategic allocations
Overall 63 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 20
 Object 34

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Most views expressed about this proposed policy were that it should have 

more detail and more requirements.  
2. Questions were raised about the identification of infrastructure and its 

potential funding. 
3. Respondents used the opportunity to promote sites and capacities in the 

district’s towns and villages, and also to suggest the removal of the 
strategic allocation at Chalgrove airfield.  

4. Some respondents suggested that the overall housing targets should be 
reduced to allow for greater consideration of the requirements in the 
proposed policy, and number also cited that this would also help to 
maintain a five-year supply land for new homes.  

Natural England sought additional text to reinforce the need for biodiversity and 
landscape assessments and the aim to achieve a net gain in biodiversity. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
It should be noted that the local plan policies should be read in combination and 
that some requirements that are not listed in this policy will be picked up through 
others. 

Infrastructure requirements will be identified in a supporting evidence document 
called the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  This will also outline some potential 
forms of funding alongside the council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and 
other developer obligations through section 106 agreements. 

Page 349

Agenda Item 6



26

Additional sites promoted through the local plan will be included in our Housing 
and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA).  If they have been 
suggested in locations where there is a Neighbourhood Development Plan in 
progress, the relevant parish council or local group should also be contacted.    

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reworded this policy to make clear what our expectation are for large 
scale sites.  This is both, in terms of surveys and assessments but also master 
planning for design and layout and appropriate infrastructure. 

Policy STRAT6: Culham Science Centre 
Overall 310 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 218
 Comment 19
 Object 73

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was significant support for maintaining and strengthening 

employment at the Science Centre and generally in Science Vale. 
2. This proposed policy was cited as a good example of linking employment, 

to new homes, to transport and infrastructure.  
3. Many respondents referred to overall growth identified in both this 

proposed policy and STRAT7.  Some seeing the two combined 
opportunities as a positive and others suggesting it was a strain on 
infrastructure and services and threatened the character of the area.   

4. Some respondents questioned the future of the Science Centre and the 
various projects undertaken there.  

5. An inconsistency in the Green Belt inset area and developable area was 
also reported by several respondents.  

Historic England noted that should development be proposed that involves the 
demolition of buildings on the science centre, then surveys of historic significance 
should be undertaken to ensure records are maintained of the value of any assets 
of interest concerned particularly with war time and/or post war activities on the 
site. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The support for strengthening the district employment offer is noted.  The Science 
Centre will continue to be a key part of Science Vale and Oxfordshire’s investment 
research and development.  As and when research projects change new 
opportunities are likely to present themselves, and we are required to plan 
positively to support economic growth through our local plan.   

We will maintain the note in the policy that manages the impact of any growth on 
the surrounding Green Belt.  Whilst the site will be inset neighbouring 
designations are still of material weight.  Impacts upon the registered park at 
Nuneham Courtenay will also need to be avoided.

Page 350

Agenda Item 6



27

Heritage surveys are a requirement of STRAT5 and will be expected to support 
proposals on this site.  It is likely that there will continue to be iterative applications 
for development on this site so we will need to take a case by case approach 
should buildings be identified for demolition.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The error in land areas has be corrected.    

Policy STRAT7: Land adjacent Culham Science centre
Overall 486 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 221
 Comment 49
 Object 216

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support centred on the value of situating new homes near to employment.  

The fact that the site is adjacent to the Culham Science Centre was cited a 
positive.

2. Many respondents commented that the railway station would provide an 
opportunity for more sustainable travel, than other strategic growth 
alternatives, but it was also noted that the current service was limited.  

3. The delivery of supporting infrastructure was a key concern of many 
respondents, and the requirement to deliver the new bridge over the Thames 
was regularly identified as a prerequisite for development.   

4. The most common objection was the principle of insetting land from the Green 
Belt for development.  Some respondents suggested we should focus more 
development on ‘brownfield’ land and others pointed to alternative strategic 
options outside the Green Belt such as Chalgrove airfield and junction 7 on the 
M40 (also known as “Harrington”) 

5. There was specific concern from local people of the impact of this scale of 
growth on the villages of Culham and Clifton Hampden.  Potential negative 
impacts cited, were to historic and landscape character, facilities and services 
that were over capacity and to an increase in vehicle traffic.  

Oxfordshire County Council supported the principle of development adjacent to 
Culham Science Centre but also highlighted the need for supporting infrastructure 
with particular reference to a new river crossing and Clifton Hampden by-pass.

Historic England raised particular concerns about listed structures and known 
and potential below ground archaeology across the site.  Noting that these would 
all need to be surveys and protected and enhanced as appropriate. 

Natural England identified that the site is adjacent to a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI) and that an assessment will be needed to demonstrate that there 
will be no significant indirect impacts on the SSSI.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 351

Agenda Item 6



28

The council position is that the combination of housing need, significant 
employment and investment and the availability of public transport together with 
the overall strategy to support growth in Science Vale provide for the exceptional 
circumstances to allocate land for development adjacent to Culham Science 
Centre.  

As with the other strategic allocations our supporting evidence identifies known 
strategic planning constraints and other evidence (most notably the infrastructure 
delivery plan) will provide us with additional information about the requirements for 
development.  We will review the site policy in light of this evidence and add 
detail.   

We will also continue to work with the site promoters and other stakeholders 
including the County Council and Network Rail to develop a scheme for 
development that is appropriately supported by deliverable infrastructure. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy, adding more detail about known constraints that must 
be surveyed and managed and also requirements that must be delivered. 

Policy STRAT8: Land at Berinsfield
Overall 338 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 223
 Comment 67
 Object 98

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The principle for the regeneration project was widely supported.  

Respondents saw positives in energising local services, employment and 
housing stock.  Some did, however, question the viability of the plans as 
drafted. 

2. Comments were received questioning the scale of the proposals and 
whether they were necessary to facilitate the regeneration, or whether they 
were exaggerated for overall housing delivery.   

3. As with the Culham proposal, the principle of development in the Green 
Belt was objected to.  Respondents cited options outside the Green Belt 
and the potential to impact a historic approach to the city of Oxford.  

4. There were local concerns about the impact of growth on the neighbouring 
villages.  Residents of Drayton St Leonards, Burcot and Dorchester-on-
Thames were concerned about coalescence (prevented as a function of 
the Green Belt) but also the impact of increase road traffic.  

Historic England noted that Berinsfield is an area of particular above and below 
ground archaeological interest.  Therefore surveys, protection and enhancement 
as appropriate must be part of the masterplan process. 

Page 352

Agenda Item 6



29

Oxfordshire County Council commented that infrastructure within the 
masterplan area and beyond it, in terms of transport improvements, will be 
necessary to consider as part of the regeneration project. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Council will continue to work with the local community to ensure an 
appropriate scheme is drawn up for the regeneration of Berinsfield.  This will 
include, but not be limited to, a master plan and viability report.  

The Core Strategy provided the exceptional circumstances for a review of the 
Green Belt at Berinsfield and this policy – supported by the community 
regeneration project – will help to quantify the scale of the review.

As with the other strategic allocations our supporting evidence identifies known 
strategic planning constraints and other evidence (most notably the infrastructure 
delivery plan) will provide us with additional information about the requirements for 
development.  We will review the site policy in light of this evidence and add 
detail.   

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy, adding more detail about known constraints that must 
be surveyed and managed and also requirements that must be delivered. 

Policy STRAT9: Land at Chalgrove airfield
Overall 602 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 19
 Comment 78
 Object 505

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Objectors suggested that Chalgrove airfield was an unsustainable choice for a 

strategic allocation.  This would be exacerbated by the development acting a 
site to meet the unmet housing needs of Oxford City.  

2. Site specific objections included:
a. the potential for flood risk and surface water ‘run-off;’ 
b. the site’s use by current tenants for industrial and experimental 

purposes; 
c. the site’s use by the tenants and the RAF for flying;
d. the impact on local heritage assets (listed buildings and the battlefield); 
e. the risk of contaminated land;
f. the scale of the site compared to the existing village of Chlagrove and 

the consequent impact on character;
g. the need for significant infrastructure to support the delivery of the site; 

and 
h. the impact of development on existing services such as schools and 

GPs. 

Page 353

Agenda Item 6



30

3. Supporters saw the potential development as an opportunity to create a 
sustainable community including significant numbers of new homes and all the 
necessary planned infrastructure. 

4. Some citied the development of an airfield as a positive ‘Brownfield’ 
development. 

Oxfordshire County Council commented that onsite and off-site infrastructure 
(including schools and roads) will be necessary to support the delivery of this site.  
They also noted that the site lies within an area of potential mineral deposits.   

Historic England noted the significance of Chlagrove battlefield and welcomed 
the need to preserve this and its setting within the policy.  They also noted that the 
airfield has the potential to be of historic interest and should be surveyed, 
protected and enhanced, or recorded as appropriate. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council remains committed to the inclusion of this site as a reasonable and 
sustainable development option in the heart of South Oxfordshire.  It will bring 
with it the opportunity to provide new services and facilities and to improve the 
local highway network.  The site is outside of the Green Belt and AONB and as 
such is a reasonable location to set strategic development.  

As with the other strategic allocations our supporting evidence identifies known 
strategic planning constraints and other evidence (most notably the infrastructure 
delivery plan) will provide us with additional information about the requirements for 
development.  We will review the site policy in light of this evidence and add 
detail.   

We will also continue to work with the site promoters, the tenants, and other 
stakeholders including the County Council to develop a scheme for development 
that is appropriately supported by deliverable infrastructure. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy, adding more detail about known constraints that must 
be surveyed and managed and also requirements that must be delivered. 

Policy STRAT10: Land at Wheatley campus, Oxford Brookes University
Overall 109 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 69
 Comment 23
 Object 17

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was general support for this proposed site allocation.  Most support was 

for the redevelopment of a ‘Brownfield’ site, in a sustainable location with good 
transport links. 

Page 354

Agenda Item 6



31

2. Some respondents suggested that local infrastructure would struggle to cope 
with more new homes, and that access to the site – especially for pedestrians 
– was a significant constraint.    

3. There were split views as to whether the site should remain ‘washed over’ by 
the Green Belt and be developed as a ‘Brownfield site’ in the Green Belt or be 
‘inset’ from the Green Belt for consistency with other strategic allocations and 
to maximise potential development on the site.  

4. It was noted that the site is in Holton parish and that this should be reflected in 
the local plan and that the playing fields and the heritage assets on the site 
need to be protected and enhanced.  

Historic England noted the presence of a scheduled monument on the site and 
listed buildings adjacent to it.  They recommend the need for survey, protection 
and enhancement of these assets as appropriate.

Oxfordshire County Council support the development of a brownfield site and 
cited the need for some on and off-site infrastructure including schools and road 
access improvements. 

Sport England commented that there is a need to retain the quantum of sports 
facilities on the site for the benefit of the new and existing community.   

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council believes that the best way to see development delivered in an 
appropriate manner on this site is for it to remain washed over by the Green Belt.  
Redevelopment of a previously developed land is acceptable within the Green 
Belt. 

As with the other strategic allocations our supporting evidence identifies known 
strategic planning constraints and other evidence (most notably the infrastructure 
delivery plan) will provide us with additional information about the requirements for 
development.  We will review the site policy in light of this evidence and add 
detail.   

We will also continue to work with the site promoters and other stakeholders 
including the County Council to develop a scheme for development that is 
appropriately supported by deliverable infrastructure. 

We will ensure that the fact that the site is in Holton parish is reflected in future 
documentation.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy, adding more detail about known constraints that must 
be surveyed and managed and also requirements that must be delivered. 

Policy HEN1: The strategy for Henley
Overall 29 people commented on this policy: 

 Support 7

Page 355

Agenda Item 6



32

 Comment 12
 Object 10

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Concern over increase in traffic and impact on the town
2. Need to address air quality issues
3. Henley is a sustainable location – sites should be maximised before 

allocating sites in AONB and Green Belt 
4. Allocations should be made through the Local Plan (rather than through the 

neighbourhood plan)
5. Policy should be clear on number of homes required in Henley
6. Concern over impact on health services and education
7. Affordable housing should be a priority

Oxfordshire County Council commented that there should be aspiration to 
improve public transport and air quality. Some additional text should be included 
in the document to give some background to the strategy of improving 
accessibility, car parking, pedestrian and cycle links (point vii). It should be 
clarified whether this refers to public car parks or private parking associated with 
homes, how parking needs to be improved, and how this fits in with aims to 
reduce car use and improve air quality in Henley-on-Thames.

Oxfordshire County Council stated that they expect that the proposed scale of 
growth can be accommodated within the existing schools (primary and 
secondary).

Historic England have requested some additional wording to strengthen policy 
HEN1 in relation to the conservation of heritage assets

Sport England have commented that the strategy for Henley should include 
findings from the Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy, and a requirement to re-provide 
any lost playing fields. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Policy EP1 of the Plan deals with air quality and requires developments to comply 
with the council’s air quality action plan and the council’s developer guidance 
document. This document provides technical advice on how to deal with planning 
applications that could have an impact on air quality and human health.

We believe that local communities should direct where development is located. 
Therefore, except for strategic allocations at Oxford Brookes University Wheatley, 
Chalgrove Airfield, Berinsfield and Culham all other specific housing land 
allocations should be made through neighbourhood plans wherever this is 
possible. This is supported by national policy. 
Henley has a made neighbourhood plan (Henley and Harspden Neighbourhood 
Plan) and this plan provides the detailed policies for the town.  
Improvements to public transport are covered in policy TRANS2. 
To provide clarity to local communities and neighbourhood plan groups, the next 
version of the local plan will include the number of homes that each settlement is 
expected to deliver through their neighbourhood plans. A contingency policy is 

Page 356

Agenda Item 6



33

proposed in the Local Plan that gives neighbourhood plans 12 months to review 
their plans to bring them in line with the Local Plan in terms of housing allocations. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan is being prepared that will inform the level of 
services that are required to support the development proposed in this Plan, and 
how these can be funded.

The council’s position on the provision of affordable housing is set out in policy 
H11. This requires at least 40 percent of homes on sites of 11 homes or more to 
be affordable housing, subject to the viability of the site. 
Policy CF4 of the Plan sets out the council’s position on existing sports facilities. 
This seeks to protect, enhance and maintain existing facilities and includes the 
criteria that the loss of such facilities will only be permitted where alternative 
facilities will be provided.   

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have set out how many homes are expected to be delivered at each of the 
market towns and larger villages. 
 
Policy TH1: The Strategy for Thame
Overall 36 people commented on this policy: 

 Support 11
 Comment 14
 Object 11

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Development at Haddenham should be considered – residents will use 

Thame as service hub
2. Lack of infrastructure, in particular roads, parking and GP services
3. Need contingency policy to cover scenario if the Neighbourhood Plan does 

not deliver development with a specified timeframe  
4. The local plan should identify sites or broad locations for development
5. Need to prevent merging of outlying villages
6. Lack of reference to meeting employment needs

Oxfordshire County Council have commented that more information is needed 
to explain how parking in Thame needs to be improved as suggested in policy 
TH1. Public transport is also missing from the policy and should be included.

Historic England have requested some additional wording to strengthen policy 
TH1 in relation to the conservation of heritage assets.

Sports England have requested that an additional criteria be added to the policy 
to ensure that the sports pitches at Lord Williams School will be protected from 
development. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Policy CF4 of the Plan sets out the council’s position on existing sports facilities. 
This seeks to protect, enhance and maintain existing facilities. This would apply to 

Page 357

Agenda Item 6



34

the pitches at Lord William School so it is not necessary to add an additional 
criterion to policy TH1. 

Policy TRANS2 covers sustainable transport with criteria iv) dealing specifically 
with public transport. 
Thame has a made neighbourhood plan and this plan provides the detailed 
policies for the town.  

Aylesbury Vale District Council is currently reviewing its Local Plan and now has a 
lower number of homes to plan for. This may mean that a new settlement is no 
longer required to meet their housing needs, including any unmet needs from 
neighbouring districts.  Development at Haddenham is not proposed in their Local 
Plan. Notwithstanding this, the councils will continue to work together on cross 
boundary issues as part of the duty to cooperate. 
The next version of the Plan will set out how many homes are expected to be 
delivered at each of the market towns and larger villages. A contingency policy is 
proposed in the Local Plan that gives neighbourhood plans 12 months to review 
their plans to bring them in line with the Local Plan in terms of housing allocations.

Policy EMP5 sets out our policy for employment provision in Thame, to be 
delivered through a review of the neighbourhood plan. The evidence to support 
this policy is in the Employment Land Review.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Additional wording will be added to the policy that support schemes that enhance 
the quality of the town’s environment and conserve and enhance the town’s 
heritage assets

Policy WAL1: The Strategy for Wallingford
Overall 27 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 13
 Object 8 

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Wallingford could support additional growth beyond that envisaged in 

SOLP2033, and this would support the operation of bus services
2. Housing should be delivered through SOLP2033 not through the 

Neighbourhood Plan
3. Land at Winterbrook, Land off Wantage Road and Site B could all deliver 

housing 
4. Air quality is a concern and needs assessing 
5. Greater emphasis should be placed on the historic environment  

Oxfordshire County Council have stated that more information is needed to 
explain how parking needs to be improved. Public transport is also missing from 
the policy and should be included. 

Oxfordshire County Council stated that the existing proposal to build a new 
school on the strategic site west of Wallingford is likely to provide sufficient 

Page 358

Agenda Item 6



35

flexibility to also accommodate the suggested amount of increase in housing for 
the town.

Historic England have requested that the policy wording include reference to 
conserving and enhancing the town’s heritage assets. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We believe local communities should direct where development is located. 
Therefore, with the exception of strategic allocations at Oxford Brookes University 
Wheatley, Chalgrove Airfield, Berinsfield and Culham all other specific housing 
land allocations should be made through neighbourhood Plans wherever this is 
possible. This is supported by national policy. Wallingford is currently preparing a 
neighbourhood plan, and this will contain the detailed non-strategic policies for the 
town (for example boat moorings). 
Policy TRANS2 covers sustainable transport with criteria iv) dealing specifically 
with public transport.

Policy EP1 of the Plan deals with air quality and requires developments to comply 
with the council’s air quality action plan and the council’s developer guidance 
document. This document provides technical advice on how to deal with planning 
applications that could have an impact on air quality and human health.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Reference to the Old Waitrose site will be updated as this now has planning 
permission for conversion to apartments with two retail units on the ground floor. 

We will review the policy to include requirement to conserving and enhancing the 
town’s heritage assets. 

Page 359

Agenda Item 6



36

Delivering new homes

Overall 692 people commented on this chapter: 
 Support 166
 Comment 227
 Object 299

Policy H1: Delivering New Homes
Overall 55 people commented on this policy: 

 Support 29
 Comment 18
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Concerns were raised about an over reliance on Neighbourhood 

Development Plans, that do not require the same level of rigour as local 
plans.  It was also raised that they are composed by volunteers and that 
they are not a statutory obligation therefore their completion is not 
guaranteed.  

2. Comments were made that the policy was too restrictive, and does not 
allow for other sustainable locations to be considered. 

3. In contrast to point two, others thought the policy was too permissive and 
should include more specific caveats, particularly about infrastructure 
requirements.  

4. The was some confusion about the direction of the policy and specific 
numbers for towns and villages preparing NDP were requested.   

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council remains committed to supporting Neighbourhood Development Plans 
(NDP) and views them as a key component to ensuring the delivery of the overall 
spatial strategy.  NDP also provide the best opportunity for communities to 
manage growth and development in their own localities. 

The local plan needs to strike a balance between flexible positive policies for 
development in appropriate locations and restrictive policies to protect the most 
important environmental, historic and social assets. We also need to be sure that 
where development is built it will be supported by appropriate infrastructure.  

The housing monitoring statistics in the policy and supporting table will be 
reviewed. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy and added more detail for clarity.  This includes a 
development trajectory for the plan period.  We have also reviewed the housing 
requirements for each level of the settlement hierarchy and each settlement – 
these will be included in later specific polices for the towns and larger villages. 

Page 360

Agenda Item 6



37

Policy H2 (and H2i, H2ii & H2iii): New Housing in Didcot
Overall 21 people commented on this policy: 

 Support 6
 Comment 7 
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. A continued reliance on Didcot was inappropriate because of the poor 

delivery so far 
2. More sites should be allocated in and around Didcot, including those that 

had been turned down on appeal.  
3. The infrastructure required to support the level of growth in Didcot must be 

guaranteed.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We will review these responses alongside those submitted in response to the 
Garden Town delivery document.  The council will continue to develop specific 
planning policies for the Garden Town that have the potential to be adopted as a 
separate planning document. 

The council is committed to significant growth in Didcot, in partnership with the 
Vale of White Horse, that is supported by high quality infrastructure.  The Garden 
Town project will help to see this vision delivered.  

We do not propose to allocate additional land in Didcot above that proposed in the 
second preferred options consultation.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have added some detail to the policy about the location of development. 

Policy H3: Housing in the Market Towns 
Overall 73 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 20
 Object 46

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was a significant level of response seeking specific numbers for 

each of the towns listed.
2. Several objectors suggested that this policy demonstrated an over reliance 

on NDP.  Some suggested that the Local Plan should make allocations as 
a minimum and any additional sites could be identified through NDP.  

3. Objectors raised concerns that the numbers quoted for new homes were 
too high, and should take greater account of planning constraints and 
infrastructure capacities.  And other objectors suggested the numbers were 
too low, arbitrarily related to existing housing stock levels.  They argued 
that the number could be increased because there was additional land and 
infrastructure capacity across the towns.     

Page 361

Agenda Item 6



38

4. We also received comments suggesting that the capacity calculations for 
the towns should focus more closely on reusing previously developed land.   

Natural England raised concerns about the skill levels and resources available in 
NDP groups to survey site constraints and allocate appropriate locations for 
development.  

Oxfordshire County Council raised concerns about the proposed level of growth 
in Henley and its impact on the transport network.  They did note that the growth 
figures were indicative and work would continue to understand constraints.  The 
county council also noted that detailed site specific constraints and comments 
would need to be considered through NDP and planning applications.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council strongly advocates neighbourhood development planning and offers a 
range of support.  We firmly believe that NDP are an appropriate way to manage 
development at a local level.  There has been great success in the district with 
drafting NDP and we are confident that this will continue to support the overall 
spatial strategy of the local plan.  The numbers for individual settlements has 
been considered and we have drawn up some more detailed tables that take into 
account commitments and completions since 2011.  We have also made an 
assessment of the strategic planning constraints at each of the towns and 
identified a specific housing target for each of them to be met through their NDP.  

Our strategy is to allow proportional growth at each of the towns as a starting 
point and for the NDP to determine whether any more growth is acceptable or 
desirable to help them meet their development aspirations. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy and supporting text to include housing completions 
and commitments data and revised housing targets for each town.  This review 
has also included an assessment of the likely capacity of each settlement to 
support growth and therefore how the overall development need will be 
distributed. 

Policy H4: Housing in Larger Villages
Overall 88 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 14
 Comment 34
 Object 40

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Similarly to the responses we received for H3, there was a strong sense 

that this policy should include specific numbers for each settlement.  
2. Some respondents suggested that the numbers should better reflect 

planning constraints such as the AONB, Green Belt and flood risk areas.  
Generally, the reasoning was that this would reduce the housing target for 
certain settlements, but certainly a “one size” approach to growth was not 
supported.     

Page 362

Agenda Item 6



39

3. Again, objectors saw this policy as an over reliance on NDP and suggested 
that allocations should be made in the Local Plan with communities given 
the opportunity to identify additional sites.  We also received suggestions 
that sustainable sites that had not been allocated in NDP should also be 
considered through this policy.  

4. The ‘arbitrary’ nature of the 15% growth target and linking new growth to 
existing scale was objected to with several respondents citing settlements 
that could support growth that was greater than the suggested level of 
growth.   

5. We received a number of settlement specific infrastructure comments, 
suggesting that roads, schools and/or health services would not be able to 
cope with the increased demands that new development would bring. 
 

Natural England raised concerns about the skill levels and resources available in 
NDP groups to survey site constraints and allocate appropriate locations for 
development.  

Oxfordshire County Council noted that the growth figures were indicative and 
work would continue to understand constraints.  The county council also noted 
that detailed site specific constraints and comments would need to be considered 
through NDP and planning applications.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council strongly advocates neighbourhood development planning and offers a 
range of support.  We firmly believe that NDP are an appropriate way to manage 
development at a local level.  There has been great success in the district with 
drafting NDP and we are confident that this will continue to support the overall 
spatial strategy of the local plan.  The numbers for individual settlements has 
been considered and we have drawn up some more detailed tables that take into 
account commitments and completions since 2011.  We have also made an 
assessment of the strategic planning constraints at each of the larger villages and 
identified a specific housing target for each of them to be met through their NDP.  

Our strategy is to allow proportional growth at each of the larger villages as a 
starting point and for the NDP to determine whether any more growth is 
acceptable or desirable to help them meet their development aspirations. 

We have made this assessment for all the larger villages including Nettlebed 
where we continue to make allocations as no NDP is forthcoming.  In Nettlebed 
we have also reviewed the number and capacity of development site allocations.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy and supporting text to include housing completions 
and commitments data and revised housing targets for each larger village.  This 
review has also included an assessment of the likely capacity of each settlement 
to support growth and therefore how the overall development need will be 
distributed. 

Page 363

Agenda Item 6



40

Policy H5:  Contingency policy for larger villages  
Overall 38 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 8
 Object 21

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Responses to this policy focused on the need to expand it to cover all NDP 

not just those in ‘Larger Villages.’
2. Several people suggested that this would be a difficult policy to enforce, 

particularly without a housing target for settlements to aim for (as could be 
outlined in policies H3 and H4).   

3. Some respondents thought that this policy represented a threat to NDP and 
should be softened to allow more time or flexibility for NDP.  Others, 
however, suggested that the need for this policy demonstrated an 
acceptance that NDP would not deliver against housing targets, should not 
be relied upon and therefore allocations ought to be made in the local plan.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
This proposed policy is not intended to be a threat to NDP it is there as a 
contingency, if plans do not come forward, so planning applications can still be 
managed and decided upon in an appropriate way. 

As mentioned above we have reviewed the policies for the towns and larger 
villages and have included specific number with those policies.  This housing 
target will then relate to the contingency if NDP do not come forward. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have deleted this policy and placed the wording from it into the policies for 
towns and larger villages. 

Policy H6: Land west of Priest Close, Nettlebed 
Overall 29 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 3
 Comment 10
 Object 16

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was particular concern about the landscape impact of this proposed 

allocation especially within the AONB. 
2. Some respondents questioned the scale of this development (and the 

cumulative impacts when combined with H7) and the potential impacts 
upon infrastructure and services in the local area.  

3. Concerns were expressed about the green space and ecological value of 
the site. 

4. It was pointed out that the name of the road was incorrect. It is Priest Close 
not Priests.  

Page 364

Agenda Item 6



41

Oxfordshire County Council confirmed that there is capacity at the local primary 
to support development at the proposed scale. 

Natural England noted that the site is within the Chilterns AONB and as such 
development would be required to meet the provisions of NPPF paragraphs 115 
and 116.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We have reviewed the development potential of this site in light of the consultation 
responses and further information that we have gathered about ecology and 
landscape. 

We note the typographical error in the name of the location and apologise for it.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the site allocation policy and amended it to reflect the latest 
information.  We have corrected the name of the site’s location. 

Policy H7: Joyce Grove, Nettlebed
Overall 18 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 2
 Comment 10
 Object 6

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Respondents felt that there should be greater prominence given to the 

potential impact on the AONB in the policy.   
2. In a similar way to H6 the scale and cumulative scale of the site was 

questioned when considering the local infrastructure capacities.  
3. Some respondents questioned the availability of the site.  

Oxfordshire County Council confirmed that there is capacity at the local primary 
to support development at the proposed scale. 

Natural England noted that the site is within the Chilterns AONB and as such 
development would be required to meet the provisions of NPPF paragraphs 115 
and 116.  

Historic England noted the importance of preserving and enhancing the listed 
building and its setting, and also requested that the potential above and below 
ground archaeology is surveyed, preserved and/or recorded as appropriate.      

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council’s evidence indicates that the site is available and we continue to 
support the owners in exploring opportunities for relocation.  This development 
site, like any other, requires a planning application that would need to be 
considered against all the relevant policies of the local plan, so details that are 
contained in other policies will still be considered.   

Page 365

Agenda Item 6



42

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy and included reference to the AONB. 

Policy H8: Land east of Benson Lane, Crowmarsh Gifford 
Overall 44 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 8
 Object 31

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Objection focused on the proposed scale of this allocation and that it was 

inappropriate compared to the size of the existing village and its services 
and infrastructure.  

2. Concern was raised about the impact on the landscape (especially the 
AONB), on wildlife habitats and the loss of agricultural land. 

3. Several people pointed out that the site was refused at planning committee.  
4. It was also pointed out that the site is outside the AONB, and that this is 

especially relevant when compared to alternatives, and that the site could 
support the delivery of a sustainable extension to the village.   

Oxfordshire County Council commented that the cumulative scale of growth is 
likely to require and extension to the primary school. 

Historic England requested that the local listed buildings and teir seting are 
preserved as part of any scheme, and that potential above and below ground 
archaeology is surveyed, preserved and/or recorded as appropriate.      

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Crowmarsh Gifford parish council applied for NDP area designation, and this was 
granted, in May 2017.  We have therefore transferred the responsibility of 
allocating local scale sites at the village to the parish council and their NDP 
steering group. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have deleted the policy and it will be replaced by allocations in the NDP. 

Policy H9:  Land to the South of Newnham Manor, Crowmarsh Gifford
Overall 19 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 4
 Comment 8 
 Object 7

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Respondents commented that the site was in the AONB and could be 

considered to be major development therefore it might need to be 
demonstrated that there were very special circumstances for its 
development.  

Page 366

Agenda Item 6



43

2. Concern was raised about the scaled of this site and the ability of the local 
infrastructure and services to cope.  

3. The road network was also raised as a concern and some questioned 
whether safe access could be achieved. 

4. The potential to improve the school facilities was supported as was the 
opportunity to develop the brownfield elements of the site 

Oxfordshire County Council commented that the cumulative scale of growth is 
likely to require and extension to the primary school. 

Historic England requested specific screening to Newnham Manor as part of any 
scheme.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Crowmarsh Gifford parish council applied for NDP area designation, and this was 
granted, in May 2017.  We have therefore transferred the responsibility of 
allocating local scale sites at the village to the parish council and their NDP 
steering group. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have deleted the policy and it will be replaced by allocations in the NDP. 

Policy H10:  Housing in Smaller Villages 
Overall 86 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 16
 Comment 39
 Object 31

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Many respondents found this policy confusing and/or ambiguous in its 

intent.  
2. Respondents questioned the deliverability of the proposed houses, citing 

constraints such as AONB, Green Belt and the potential erosion of the 
character of smaller villages.  Others raised concerns about the certainty of 
delivery with without specific site allocations, and suggested the numbers 
were arbitrary.   

3. Several respondents suggested that the policy was too restrictive and 
should not limited to infill and sites of less than 10 homes. 

4. Some respondents asked how affordable housing would be delivered if 
development was restricted in the smaller villages to sites of less than 10 
given changes to government guidance on scale.   
 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council is committed to helping all scale of communities develop NDP should 
they wish to and the proposed policy will help that.  We also recognise that some 
communities would like small amounts of growth but do not have the resources to 

Page 367

Agenda Item 6



44

produce a plan.  This proposed policy allows for a balance to be met in each 
situation. 

The proposed policy wording was confusing and we have investigated ways of 
making clearer and more robust.
 
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy wording to make it clearer what our expectations are 
in smaller villages with NDP and those without. 

Policy H11: Affordable Housing 
Overall 60 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 20
 Comment 25
 Object 15

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support was received for the principle of delivering affordable housing and 

a number of respondents cited the rising prices of homes in Oxfordshire.
2. Several people questioned how enforceable the policy was and complained 

that the current 40% policy is not met on all sites that are permitted.
3. It was questioned how this policy would balance with the need for 

affordable housing coming from Oxford city and the unmet housing need 
that SODC are planning for. 

4. Changes were suggested that would introduce a minimum requirement, or 
that affordable home remain affordable in perpetuity, and also that there 
should be restrictions placed on the ability to extend such properties.   

5. Other suggestions were that more viability testing ought to be undertaken 
to test the policy and that it should be made more flexible to allow for 
greater delivery.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There is national guidance about what local authorities can and cannot require in 
affordable housing policy.  We have followed this to create what we believe to be 
a reasonable approach to managing the delivery of affordable homes.  It is 
necessary for the process to involve negotiations as the delivering of affordable 
homes is directly linked to viability and planning obligations, therefor we cannot 
change this element of the policy. 

We have undertaken viability testing and will also be reviewing our planning 
obligations and CIL strategies soon.  This information will be published online. 
  
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have made no significant changes to this policy. 

Policy H12:  Exception sites 
Overall 16 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9

Page 368

Agenda Item 6



45

 Comment 4
 Object 3

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Exception sites received support from respondents wishing to see more 

affordable homes in the district for local people. 
2. Concerns were raised about the impact of exception sites – at the edge of 

settlements – on landscape and character
3. A suggestion was made to change the ‘or’ between the criteria to an ‘and’ 

to ensure a robust policy. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council is keen to support communities wishing to identify exception sites.  
We will also pursue their delivery in locations where we identify a need. 

This type of development would be subject to the same planning assessment as 
any other when considering planning constraints such as landscape, flood risk 
and design etc. therefore this detail would be covered by other policies. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have not made any significant changes to the policy, but we have removed 
‘or’ from between the criteria. 

Policy H13: Meeting housing needs
Overall 30 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 10 
 Object 11

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. It was suggested that the council should be expecting more in terms of 

housing mix, size and adaptability.  Respondents requested that the 
council be more creative in its policy. 

2. Objectors suggested that this policy was too prescriptive and should be a 
guide rather than a requirement. 

3. More viability evidence was requested. 
4. Greater detail about the mix of dwelling sizes was also requested.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
One of the council’s key objectives is to provide houses that meet the needs of 
the community. The housing strategy evidence indicates that there is justification 
for seeking to use the nationally described housing standard and for seeking 
some specially adapted homes as well.

We are aware that these requirements need to be balanced against the viability of 
deliverability and will publish viability assessments on line.
 
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:

Page 369

Agenda Item 6



46

We have revised the policy and its supporting text to provide greater detail and 
clarity including guidance for market housing mix. 

Policy H14:  Self-build and custom-build housing
Overall 16 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 5
 Object 3

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The principle of custom and self-build was generally supported.
2. Some respondents suggested that the council ought to do more to support 

this form of development – advertise the register more and be more 
supportive in policy terms, identify more sites and provide specific design 
guidance.

3. There was some support for a higher percentage to be included in the 
policy.  

4. Objectors questioned the credibility of this mechanism for delivering 
affordable homes.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We need to balance this form of delivery with others that are available. Our 
evidence shows a relatively modest need for self and custom build homes.  We 
will continue to monitor this need and support NDP groups to identify appropriate 
sites and support them in other ways through the planning application process in 
appropriate locations.   

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No significant changes have been made to this policy.

Policy H15:  Specialist Housing for Older People
Overall 21 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 7
 Object 6

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The principle for providing homes for older people was generally supported 
2. The level of available evidence, particularly at neighbourhood level, was 

questioned.  
3. Objectors suggested that more detail should be provided about scale and 

sites for the provision of this type of housing.  
 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Our housing evidence, and the demographics for South Oxfordshire, show an 
increasing need for homes for older people.  We will continue to work with the 

Page 370

Agenda Item 6



47

county council and with NDP groups to identify localised needs and appropriate 
sits for appropriate homes for older people.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None. 

Policy H16:  Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople
Overall 18 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 3
 Object 9

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. This policy has been included in the Plan without prior notice and without 

consultation with the NDP group 
2. Chalgrove airfield does not meet the criteria of the policy 
3. How has the need been identified? 
4. Sites should be identified through neighbourhood plans 
5. There should be a policy on park homes
6. There was both support for and objection to sites in Kiln lane Garsington. 
7. There was support for the position of not allowing pitches and plots in the 

green belt, although there was also concern raised with a blanket ban on 
homes in the green belt and that this was inappropriate when compared to 
housing for the settled community.

Historic England have requested that an additional criterion be added to policy 
H16 regarding the conservation of heritage assets.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
National policy set out in Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (2015) states that 
pitches/plots in the green belt are deemed as inappropriate development. The 
councils approach is in line with this national policy. 
The number of pitches that we are required to plan for is evidenced through a 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation Assessment 
(GTAA). Our GTAA was updated in 2017 to consider the latest national guidance 
and this has reduced the number of pitches that we need to plan for to 10.   

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Policy H16 will be amended to take account of the number of pitches now needed. 
This reduces the number of pitches needed at each site to: 4 at Didcot North East, 
3 at Culham and 3 at Chalgrove.

Policy H17: Safeguarding Traveller Sites
Overall 8 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 2

Page 371

Agenda Item 6



48

 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Policy should be clear it only applies to authorised sites
2.  Policy should be clear it only applies to permanent sites, not temporary 

sites

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We agree that the policy should be clear on the sites that it applies too. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Policy H17 will be amended to make it clear that only authorised and permanent 
sites will be safeguarded.

Policy H18: Infill Development 
Overall 17 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 4
 Object 7

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Some respondents suggested the policy was too prescriptive  
2. Others suggested is should include more requirements about access, 

design and amenity 
3. More detail and guidance about acceptable infill was also requested.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
This proposed policy should be read in combination with others in the local plan 
that guide design, access and amenity.  It is noted that greater detail would help 
guide reasonable and appropriate infill. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy and supporting text to improve clarity and guidance, 
particularly, about where infill development will be most appropriate with reference 
to the settlement hierarchy. 

Policy H19: Sub-division and conversion to multiple occupation
Overall 5 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 4
 Comment
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. General support was received for this policy to help increase the housing 

stock and to provide smaller homes that are potentially more affordable.  
 

Page 372

Agenda Item 6



49

Historic England requested that ‘historical’ is added to public, environmental or 
ecological value in the policy

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Comments were noted in response to this policy, and it will remain part of the 
overall local plan to guide specific type of planning applications. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the wording as per Historic England’s comments. 

Policy H20: Replacement dwellings 
Overall 14 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 3 
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Respondents suggested that the policy should include more detail about 

issues such as design, access and amenity.  
2. It was questioned why the policy only related to development outside of 

settlements  
3. The citation about original size definition was also challenged.  

 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
This proposed policy should be read in combination with others in the local plan 
that guide design, access and amenity.  

The council is content that the description of what constitutes the original volume 
of a structure is reasonable and it has been retained in the policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy for its policy and not made and significant changes. 

Policy H21: Extensions to dwellings 
Overall 11 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 2 
 Object 3

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Respondents suggested that the policy should include more detail about 

issues such as design, access and amenity.  
2. The citation about original size definition was also challenged.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
This proposed policy should be read in combination with others in the local plan 
that guide design, access and amenity.  

Page 373

Agenda Item 6



50

The council is content that the description of what constitutes the original volume 
of a structure is reasonable and it has been retained in the policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have reviewed the policy for its policy and not made and significant changes. 

Policy H22: Loss of Existing Residential accommodation in Town centres
Overall 5 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 0 
 Object 0

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  There was general support for this policy 

 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The support for this policy is noted

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Page 374

Agenda Item 6



51

Employment

Overall Chapter 
Overall 158 people commented on this chapter: 

 Support 37
 Comment 58
 Object 63

Policy EMP1: The amount and distribution of new B-class employment land

Overall 32 people commented on this policy:
 7 Support
 13 Comment
 12 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Chalgrove too isolated for employment
2. Support Culham as this links to the Strategic Economic Plan (2014)
3. Too much/little employment land is being provided
4. The plan is not clear on how it is meeting current needs and demands
5. The plan doesn’t seem to consider losses of employment land and 

therefore not enough jobs will be provided for the housing proposed
6. Thame needs more/less employment land
7. Is the 5ha at Chalgrove in addition to Martin Baker ltd?

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council will continue to monitor the provision of employment land in line with 
the economic forecasts made in the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment. The council will seek to plan for the employment needs of the 
district. Planning applications received for employment uses will be considered 
against the relevant local and national policies.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Delete para 6.19

Policy EMP2: Range, Size and Mix of Employment Premises
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:

 3 Support
 1 Comment
 0 Object

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:

1. General support 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There is general support for this policy

Page 375

Agenda Item 6



52

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes

Policy EMP3: Retention of Employment Land
Overall 20 people commented on this policy:

 5 Support
 8 Comment
 7 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Need a stronger policy
2. Allocate more employment land
3. Should the criteria be “and” or “or”?
4. At odds with the NPPF
5. If unsuitable employment land is lost, new suitable sites should be 

added/mechanism to review 

OxLEP support

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There is general support for the policy. The NPPF is clear that the planning 
system should contribute to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation. Whilst the NPPF 
advises that planning policies should avoid the long-term protection of sites 
allocated for employment uses where there is no reasonable prospect of a site 
being used for that purpose, there is a high prospect of the allocated sites being 
developed within the plan period. The Government is committed to ensuring that 
the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic 
growth. The plan seeks to support the existing business sectors. The council is 
aware that house prices and residential land values are high in the district and this 
places employment sites under pressure to be developed for residential uses. 
Without protection of employment land, sites and uses, these pressures could 
lead to such sites being developed for residential uses, resulting in a loss of 
employment opportunities for local people and this would not represent 
sustainable development.

The council continues to monitor employment land and the effectiveness of 
planning policies. A review of these policies would be undertaken if required or 
additional sites allocated. Planning applications for employment land will be 
considered on their merits against local and national planning policies.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We will review the policy wording and amend as necessary for clarity and 
robustness.

Add the follow wording after the last paragraph:

Page 376

Agenda Item 6



53

Schemes that improve the stock of existing commercial buildings and the 
environment of existing employment areas will be supported. 

Policy EMP4: Employment Land in Didcot
Overall 6 people commented on this policy:

 2 Support
 2 Comment
 2 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Employment should be only for local people and not large distribution 

centres
2. Require solar panels on the roofs of new development
3. Will employment land displaced from the Garden Town Developments such 

as at Rich’s Sidings be relocated and will SODC assist? 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Comments advised that new employment should only be for local people. The 
council is unable to specify who works on employment sites and cannot restrict 
employment to local people only. The council however is seeking to provide 
enough employment land to meet the forecast economic growth identified in the 
Oxfordshire SHMA. Draft policy EMP2 seeks to ensure a range, size and mix of 
employment premises to meet a variety of demands whilst EMP3 seeks to protect 
existing employment sites from development pressures to achieve sustainable 
development.

The council would support solar panels on the roofs of new development 
providing the design is appropriate, however the council must conform to current 
legislation.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Policy EMP5: New Employment Land at Henley
Overall 2 people commented on this policy: 

 1 Support
 0 Comment
 1 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The phrase, “Schemes that improve the stock of existing commercial 

buildings and the environment of existing employment areas will be 
supported” should be in EMP3 rather than EMP5.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
This text will be moved to policy EMP3.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Add the above text to EMP3.

Page 377

Agenda Item 6



54

Policy EMP6: New Employment Land at Thame
Overall 8 people commented on this policy:

 1 Support
 2 Comment
 5 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for Neighbourhood Development Plans
2. Need to allocate addition of employment land at Thame as it is a 

sustainable location (a minimum of 7 hectares)
3. No need to allocate additional employment land at Thame due to past take 

up.
4. Council should plan proactively to meet the development needs of 

business and should reassess the existing stock of employment land and 
need throughout the district. It is unclear if changes in employment land at 
Thame have been monitored.

5. There is a shortage of office space in Thame
6. The boundary of the Thame NDP area is constrained to the west of the 

town. Relies on the Great Haseley parish area. This is limiting and 
undermining sustainable development.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council is seeking to provide enough employment land to meet the forecast 
economic growth identified in the Oxfordshire SHMA. The Thame NDP would be 
able to allocate additional employment land if the NDP group felt that this was 
appropriate. 

The council continues to monitor employment land and the effectiveness of 
planning policies. A review of these policies would be undertaken if required or 
additional sites allocated. Planning applications for employment land will be 
considered on their merits against local and national planning policies.

The NDP boundary follows that of the parish and that of the district. The boundary 
also follows the river Thame. South Oxfordshire will continue to exercise its Duty 
to Cooperate with our adjoining districts. It should also be noted that land to the 
north-west of Thame between the river and the A418 is located within flood zone 
3. To the west of Thame, the parish shares its boundary with Great Haseley 
Parish Council who are not currently preparing a NDP. In areas where no NDP is 
being made the council will allocate sites.

The Thame Neighbourhood Plan  allocates 3Ha of employment land to the east of 
the town. This allocation consists of 2ha to meet the Core Strategy requirement 
and an additional 1ha to compensate for the loss of employment land at the 
former Memec site, which the neighbourhood plan allocates for residential use. 

The 2015 Employment Land Review identifies 1.6ha of undeveloped land at 
Thame Industrial Cluster at land south-east of Howland Road Business Park. This 

Page 378

Agenda Item 6



55

1.6ha is in addition to the Thame NDP allocation of 3ha. The 2015 ELR 
recommends this site in policy R3 as a potential development site.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Policy EMP7: New Employment Land at Wallingford
Overall 14 people commented on this policy: 

 1 Support
 8 Comment
 5 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Additional infrastructure required with these allocations
2.  The whole of Hithercroft Industrial Estate should be safeguarded for 

employment use
3.  Care homes should not be considered as an employment use
4.  Concern that the Wallingford NDP will be made within the time period
5.  Allocated sites have not been previously allocated. Allocation should be 

left to the NDP.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Additional infrastructure is being planned for in the district wide Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. The Wallingford NDP can also plan for additional infrastructure. 
The council has an existing policy and an emerging policy for the retention of 
existing employment land and therefore the Hithercroft Industrial Estate site does 
not need to be allocated. 

The draft policy advises that the Wallingford NDP must be submitted to the 
Council within 12 months of adoption of this local plan. If the NDP is not 
adequately progressed in this time the local planning authority will allocate site(s) 
through a review of the local plan.

The sites to be allocated in the emerging local plan are currently allocated for 
employment use as per saved policy WAL5. Parts of the allocation of WAL5 have 
been developed whilst the sites that have potential for employment development 
have been carried forward. These sites are identified in the 2015 Employment 
Land Review. 

Planning permission has been granted for new employment development on land 
adjoining Lester Way. This will give an additional 3.1ha of employment land.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Delete the last paragraph as it will be added to EMP3

Policy EMP8:  New Employment Land at Crowmarsh Gifford
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:

 2 Support

Page 379

Agenda Item 6



56

 1 Comment
 1 Object

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:
1.  Good place for new businesses

Historic England noted the potential impact on the setting of a grade 2 listed 
building.

Defence Infrastructure Safeguarding requested to be consulted on any 
development exceeding 10.7m in height for the northern site and 45.7m in height 
on the southern site.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Crowmarsh Gifford are now preparing a NDP. Therefore, it will be the 
responsibility of the NDP group to allocate sites. The council expects to amend 
the policy to reflect policy EMP6 at Thame or EM10 at Chalgrove. The 2015 
Employment Land Review identifies that there are two undeveloped plots of land 
at Howberry Park in Crowmarsh Gifford measuring 1.9 hectares and 0.6 hectares.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Change EMP8 as follows:

At least 2.5 hectares of employment land will be delivered at Crowmarsh Gifford. 
These will be delivered through the Neighbourhood Development Plan.

The Neighbourhood Development Plan must be submitted to the Council within 12 
months of adoption of this local plan. If the Neighbourhood Development Plan is 
not adequately
progressed in this time the local planning authority will allocate site(s) through a 
review of the local plan.

This policy contributes towards achieving objectives 1, 2, 3 & 6.

Policy EMP9: Employment at Culham Science centre
Overall 13 people commented on this policy:

 3 Support
 10 Comment
 0 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support but infrastructure required for any new development.
2. The Culham River Crossing is required before additional development on 

this site
3. Insetting Culham Science Centre from the Green Belt means that more 

than 1,000 additional jobs could be provided on the site.

Defence Infrastructure Safeguarding would need to be consulted on any 
development exceeding 91.4m in height.

Page 380

Agenda Item 6



57

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Additional infrastructure is being planned for in the district wide Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. The policy. The policy advises that “about” 1,000 jobs will be 
supported and this is not a cap on development on this site. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Policy EMP10:  New Employment Land at Chalgrove
Overall 17 people commented on this policy:

 3 Support
 3 Comment
 11 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Monument Business Park is at capacity and the site owner does not wish 

to expand by more than 400 jobs. The site is isolated and does not have 
the necessary infrastructure to support the development proposed.

2. There is no justification to support additional employment land in this 
location 
 

Defence Infrastructure Safeguarding would need to be consulted on any 
development exceeding 15.2m in height.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Planning permission has been granted for the expansion of the site at Monument 
Business Park, to provide 2.25ha of B1a and 0.2ha of B8 employment land. There 
is an additional 2.5 ha of land between this site and the existing employment land.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Policy EMP11:  Development in the countryside and Rural areas
Overall 21 people commented on this policy:

 4 Support
 6 Comment
 11 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Development should be proportional to the existing development and 

existing facilities
2. There is no mention of agriculture or rural industries in the policy
3. The policy is too permissive and should state that development will only be 

permitted where it doesn’t conflict with other policies of the plan and 
respect the character of the countryside

4. Need clarity on sports venues
5. Need to retain existing local plan 2011 policies in relation to farm 

diversification, farm shops, sports, tourism, equestrian.

Page 381

Agenda Item 6



58

The council’s summary response to the main themes 
The NPPF criteria for supporting economic growth in rural areas is included in 
policy EMP11. This policy is supportive of the development and diversification of 
agricultural and other land-based rural businesses. The policy should be read with 
other policies in the local plan, NDPs and the NPPF which contain policies on 
design, access and amenities.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
None

Policy EMP12: Tourism
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:

 2 Support
 0 Comment
 2 Object

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:
1.  Inclusion to reference to Equestrian Developments is needed in the Plan, 

as the Vale of White Horse has done.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council believe that this is an important policy to retain within the local plan to 
manage specific types of planning application.  There was not a significant 
response to the consultation but we have reviewed the policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The policy has been revised to support appropriate tourism and visitor 
accommodation development in suitable and sustainable locations. The revised 
policy seeks to support farm diversification and equine related development 
provided it is in accordance with the relevant policies of the plan including relevant 
policies relating to transport, sustainable development and protecting our 
landscape and the amenity of visitors, residents and businesses.

Policy EMP13:  Caravan and camping sites
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:

 2 Support
 2 Comment
 0 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Policy should be subject to credible evidence of economic viability for new 

developments to prevent artificial efforts to subsequently show lack of 
viability linked to demands for change of use.

2.  Enhance wording for equalities
 

Historic England welcome the reference to historic characteristics

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 382

Agenda Item 6



59

The issue of the possibility of applicants attempting to use the policy as a staged 
process for alternative development was raised in the representations, however 
any application for a caravan and camping site would be considered on its merits 
and any proposals for a change of use of an existing caravan and camping site 
would be considered against adopted local and national policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No significant changes will be made as a result of the consultation. 

Policy EMP14:  Visitor accommodation
Overall 9 people commented on this policy:

 1 Support
 2 Comment
 6 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. New visitor accommodation should only be provided in locations where 

new homes are likely to be appropriate
2. Policy should be subject to credible evidence of economic viability for new 

developments to prevent artificial efforts to subsequently show lack of 
viability linked to demands for change of use.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council is keen to support tourist accommodation in appropriate locations to 
support this important part of the local economy.  The proposed policy would 
benefit from revision for clarity and robustness.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The policy has been revised to support appropriate tourism and visitor 
accommodation development in suitable and sustainable locations. The revised 
policy seeks to support farm diversification and equine related development 
provided it is in accordance with the relevant policies of the plan including relevant 
policies relating to transport, sustainable development and protecting our 
landscape and the amenity of visitors, residents and businesses.

Page 383

Agenda Item 6



60

Infrastructure

Overall 552 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 148
 Comment 202
 Object 202

Policy INF1: Infrastructure provision  
Overall 75 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 16
 Comment 48
 Object 11

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Infrastructure needs to be in place before housing 
2. Chalgrove airfield has insufficient infrastructure, Culham and Berinsfield 

have existing infrastructure
3. Concern over the impact of development on minor roads and existing local 

services
4. Lack of consideration of issues such as schools and GP services
5. Concern over the deliverability of infrastructure due to i) high cost ii) not 

within remit of SODC 

Clinical Commission Group (CCG) – commented that developer contributions 
will be needed to fund new GP practices and extend existing practices. 

Network Rail – have requested an additional policy in the Plan stating that 
developer contributions towards rail infrastructure will be required from significant 
housing developments near existing rail infrastructure

Thames Water – support the policy

Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) – support the policy and request 
the land is safeguarded for provision of new schools and to expand existing 
schools

Oxfordshire County Council – commented that SOCD should ensure that new 
strategic sites pay for their infrastructure needs and consider exempting strategic 
sites from CIL and instead require specific infrastructure to be funded
There will be pressure on waste and recycling facilities. These facilities are due to 
be reviewed in 2018/19
The policy should make reference that the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy 
Infrastructure funding will be subject to the regulatory tests and CIL requirements. 

Scottish and Southern Energy (SSE) – commented that contractual 
arrangements with SSE should be provided for any modifications before 
permission is granted.  

Page 384

Agenda Item 6



61

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is being prepared which looks at existing 
infrastructure provision and identifies new infrastructure needed to support new 
development. The IDP is an important element of the evidence for the Local Plan 
and will help inform and underpin strategic policies for growth and development. 
The policy as worded does not preclude contributions towards rail infrastructure 
should this be required as result of development and meet the regulatory and CIL 
tests. 

Where possible infrastructure will be phased in line with development to ensure 
that new developments have the services and facilities they need on site, or have 
access to facilities nearby. The council will collect funds through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy and these will be used to mitigate against the impacts of 
development and to provide new facilities e.g. schools, improvements to public 
transport links etc.  We will continue to work with stakeholders and external 
providers to achieve this.

In addition to the IDP, the Evaluation of Transport Impacts and Sustainable 
Transport Study will give more evidence for priorities for transport mitigation, 
which will input into the IDP. 

Mitigation will come forward that is relevant and related to the proposed 
development (as per CIL tests), depending on funding available from both 
development and match funding from government/other sources. 
The identification of safeguarded land across the District provides the opportunity 
for transport mitigation to take place if this is required in direct relation to 
development. The routes have been identified through working with Oxfordshire 
County Council and would provide improved, less congested access for transport. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Reference will be made to the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy 
Reference will be made to infrastructure funding being subject to the regulatory 
tests and CIL requirements. 

Policy INF2: Electronic communications
Overall 7 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 1
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was general support for this policy 
2.  Superfast broadband needs defining as it is measured differently by the 

government and Ofcom
3. There was some doubt that this policy could be delivered
4. The issue of phone coverage was raised 
5. There was suggested change to the wording of the policy regarding the 

installation of infrastructure to enable fibres to be laid in the development 

Page 385

Agenda Item 6



62

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We will consider specifying a minimum standard for superfast broadband. 
Phone coverage is addressed in policy INF3. 
We will consider changing the wording of the policy to strengthen the policy and 
ensure developments are served by good connections. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We will consider strengthening this policy by defining superfast and specifying 
what is required in new developments in terms of infrastructure

Policy INF3: Telecommunications Technology
Overall 7 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 1
 Object 

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There was general support for this policy 
2. The policy doesn’t mention mast sharing 

Historic England commented that they supported the reference to heritage 
considerations in this policy. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Support noted. Criteria iii) addresses mast sharing. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes required. 

Policy INF4:  Safeguarding of land for a reservoir
Overall 18 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 2
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. There is no mention of the AONB or Public Rights of Way
2. There was general support for this policy
3. There was support for including reference to biodiversity
4. The policy is not needed as Chinnor has been screened out as an option 

for a reservoir by Thames Water

Thames Water confirmed that the Chinnor reservoir site is no longer a preferred 
option to be included in the draft Water Management Plan 19. Therefore, the 
Chinnor reservoir site no longer needs to be safeguarded in the Local Plan and 
Policy INF4 and supporting text can be deleted.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 386

Agenda Item 6



63

The council note that this policy is no longer needed.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Delete policy 

Policy INF5:  Water Resources
Overall 13 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 4
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

1.  General support for policy given by most respondents as long as it is 
implemented

2.  Some concern about impact of strategic sites (Chalgrove and Culham) on 
water supply, as well as flooding and sewage capacity

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Strategic sites will need to show how adequate water and sewage capacity is 
provided as part of their planning applications, and in line with INF1 and STRAT 5.
 
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No significant changes to the policy as a result of the consultation. 

Policy TRANS1:  Supporting Strategic Transport Investment
Overall 122 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 21
 Comment 49
 Object 52

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

1. There is a need to ensure wider impacts understood- e.g. between Oxon & 
Bucks and on the A34- southbound and northbound 

2. General concerns about impacts of the proposed Ox- Cambridge 
Expressway in terms of impacts, but also that the implications for planning 
of development should be better understood

3. General concern about impacts of the proposed Third Thames Crossing on 
South Oxfordshire including AONB and need for appropriate mitigation in 
relation to traffic impacts

4. General point that development should better support public transport 
improvements

5. Local concerns about getting mitigation as and before development comes 
forward, with some support for the initial package of infrastructure identified 
 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 387

Agenda Item 6



64

 The Council is continuing to work with surrounding authorities on relevant 
cross-border matters, including on traffic modelling impacts in South Oxon 
from the proposed Thames Crossing with Wokingham and Reading, and to 
the east with Bucks on impacts of combined development

 The ETI and Sustainable Transport Study will give more evidence for 
priorities for transport mitigation, which will input to the IDP

 Mitigation will come forward that is relevant and related to the proposed 
development (as per CIL tests), depending on funding available from both 
development and match from government/ other sources

 The Council is working with others to better understand the impacts and 
benefits of any expressway options

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Replace text ‘Need to say more about expressway in text (following 

Cabinet briefings in August)’ with, further references to the potential Oxford 
to Cambridge expressway will be provided in the Plan

 Replace text of ‘May need to be clearer that we expect mitigation in South 
Oxfordshire if the 3rd Thames Crossing at Reading comes forward? 
(suggestion by resident that wording is changed to "Plan for improvements 
in the Reading area, including any proposal for a new River Thames 
crossing provided that such proposal delivers both demonstrable benefits 
for South Oxfordshire and which ensures that no community in South 
Oxfordshire suffers from adverse traffic and environmental impacts as a 
result.")’ with, ‘Further supporting text will be added to the plan to note 
where we are in terms of development of the crossing proposals and 
understanding potential impacts on South Oxfordshire.

 Replace text of, ‘Should we specifically reference DfT circular, 02/2013-
‘The Strategic road network and the delivery of sustainable development.’ 
with, ‘Reference to the Strategic Road Network and Delivery of Sustainable 
Development (DfT Circular 02/2013) will be given under policy TRANS 4.’

Policy TRANS2: Promoting Sustainable Transport and accessibility
Overall 51 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 17
 Comment 20
 Object 14

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Concern in general about parking, including enforcement of parking at 

Wallingford and policy for provision of parking in towns and villages
2.  Concern about LTP 4 P&R strategy and locations of sites in Green Belt
3.  Some general support for policy, but concern that location of certain sites- 

e.g. Chalgrove don’t fit with policy
4.  More information on links to Air Quality, control of emissions is needed
5.  Need to continue to work with others on managing relevant cross border 

impacts of growth- e.g. Bucks

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 388

Agenda Item 6



65

 Plans for parking need to be developed in partnership with the County 
Council as for example, they would have any powers to control on-street 
parking

 Sustainable transport study is looking at how new growth areas can best 
link to sustainable transport networks

 Need to consider stronger references and linkages to Air Quality matters 
and transport

 Will continue to work in partnership on cross border matters

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the proposed policy to positively encourage locating 
development close to existing and planned transport investment corridors, 
included investment in rail capacity for freight, Rapid Transit and Park & Ride and 
to refer to improving public transport links. 

We have also reviewed the approach to the provision and management of car 
parking aimed at improving the attraction of our town and village centres and 
clarified the text in particular in with reference to Air Quality Management Areas 
where car parking management techniques can encourage people to not drive 
through effected areas. 

Policy TRANS3: Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes
Overall 171 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 36
 Comment 42
 Object 93

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Mix of support and objection to safeguarded schemes
2. Concern about impact that safeguarded schemes will have on surrounding 

areas
3. Suggestions for additional safeguarded schemes (bypass for Little Milton, 

Wallingford northern bypass, Park & Ride at Lewknor, improvements at 
junction of the M40)

4. Concern that Watlington, Chalgrove and Goring are not included in the fully 
modelled area of the transport model

5. Alternative routes suggested for a number of safeguarded schemes

Oxfordshire County Council comment that:
 With regard to NPR3, it is essential that the proposed access to the 

development site does not prejudice the delivery of the NPR3 junction onto 
Hadden Hill.  Detailed design is ongoing and there may be changes to the 
safeguarded area. 

 Parcels of land proposed to be safeguarded for the Culham crossing and 
Benson bypass are within mineral safeguarding area - this should be 
considered.

 Flagging concern about funding for bypasses of villages which are 
receiving relatively little development.  

Page 389

Agenda Item 6



66

 Safeguarding needs to be wide enough to enable new routes to effectively 
provide for future traffic by diverting relevant A or B road. 

 Safeguarding for Southern Didcot spine road – will continue to work with 
district on whether the road is required. 

 Does the Culham allocation include the Rail Station and railway line?  
Further work is needed on whether necessary to specifically safeguard 
land to facilitate rail upgrade. 

Historic England have concerns that about the impact of an Abingdon southern 
bypass and Culham to Didcot crossing on scheduled monuments.  Either of the 
routes for the Culham to Didcot crossing would cause serious concern.

Sport England are concerned that part of safeguarded area for NPR3 runs 
through Hadden Hill Golf Club and would like land to be safeguarded to replace 
the area lost from the golf course.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The routes for safeguarding have been identified through working with 
Oxfordshire County Council as highway authority.  We will continue to work with 
the county council to consider the most suitable extent of safeguarding and impact 
on surrounding areas.

The schemes to be included for safeguarding are informed by the latest transport 
evidence available, including the schemes proposed within the latest County 
Council Local Transport Plan 

The ETI Stage 1: Network and Model Performance report published on our 
website gives further details on suitability of the model for testing the impacts of 
the proposed strategic planned development
The IDP will provide more detail on proposed schemes, including their latest 
funding position

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Some changes are proposed to the safeguarding maps in Appendix 3 to reflect 
County Council comments. Additional supporting text is also proposed to be 
added on the context for the safeguarding areas. 

Additional text is proposed in TRANS 3 to note that feasibility work including full 
environmental and archaeological assessments will be needed as schemes are 
progressed

Policy TRANS4: Transport assessments, Transport Statements and Travel 
Plans
Overall 29 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 19
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

Page 390

Agenda Item 6



67

1.  Concern over the combined impact of development at Culham and 
Berinsfield on the A4074

2. Roads should be delivered before housing
3. Need to consider cumulative impacts of developments, including those 

outside the district
4. Some clarity over some of the terms used in the policy would be useful 
5. Chalgrove airfield would not support sustainable transport choices 

Oxfordshire County Council – policy and supporting text should refer to 
Oxfordshire County Council guidance: Transport for new developments: Transport 
Assessments and Travel Plans (March 2014).

Highways England – support this policy, it is in line with the NPPF. Where 
appropriate, the scope of a transport assessment should be agreed with 
Highways England. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The policy and supporting text for this policy states that the scoping of transport 
assessments should be in line with the latest County Council guidance. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Add bullet: ‘Where appropriate, the scope of a transport assessment should be 
agreed with Highways England’ 

Policy TRANS5:  Consideration of development proposals
Overall 20 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 6
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Concern that the requirements of this policy could not be applied to 

development at Chalgrove airfield 
2. Strategic public transport projects should be included 
3. Bus company operators should be involved in the early stages of planning
4. Some comments related to specific infrastructure projects (eg Northern 

Didcot perimeter road)
5. It is unbalanced towards sustainable transport. 

No statutory consultees commented on this policy. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
TRANS5 as worded does not preclude strategic public transport projects coming 
forward. This would be done in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and 
other agencies. 

TRANS2 deals specifically with sustainable transport. 

Page 391

Agenda Item 6



68

References to the Oxford-Cambridge expressway are included in the publication 
version of the plan. 

We note the comments from Oxford Bus Company and reference to emerging 
CIHT guidance.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes. 

Policy TRANS6:  Rail
Overall 13 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 2
 Object 6

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Wish to see the Local plan promote increased car parking at Cholsey and 

Goring train stations
2.  The promotion of roads vs public transport/ walking and cycling is currently 

unbalanced to the detriment of sustainable transport
3.  Reduce speed limit in residential areas to 20mph
4.  Object to moving or extension to parking at Didcot railway station which 

would impact upon Ladygrove
5.  Rail improvements should not impact upon the AONB

Oxfordshire County Council requested that the text supporting this policy 
should refer to the opportunities offered by East West Rail in providing strategic 
connectivity from Didcot and Culham via Oxford and onward to Milton Keynes and 
Cambridge and more strongly support the case for upgrades to rail capacity 
between Didcot and Oxford, including for freight, and the need for an expansion 
and potential relocation of Culham station.  References to upgrades to smaller 
stations should be deleted, as the business case for rail improvements will only be 
justified on the back of planned significant housing and employment growth. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Local Plan does seek to promote more sustainable patterns of travel, but also 
recognises that this can be challenging in a rural District. The opportunity to 
increase car parking provision is supported. Rail travel is supported and it is 
accepted that there exist opportunities by increasing rail capacity.
The Local Plan does not have the ability to change speed limits.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We will seek opportunities to increase car parking where this is practicable to do 
so. Text will be added to the Plan to reflect the potential which exist in terms of rail 
capacity/facility upgrades and connections. 

Page 392

Agenda Item 6



69

Policy TRANS7:  Development generating new lorry movements
Overall 14 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 2
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1.  Wish to see freight and warehousing discouraged in the District. Limits 

should be placed upon operating/travel hours.
2.  The land included to be safeguarded as a route at Stadhampton is 

unsuitable because it would disrupt the rural way of life for residents to the 
north. It would harm views, disrupt wildlife, heritage assets, footpaths and 
create pollution.  

3. The promotion of roads vs public transport/ walking and cycling is currently 
unbalanced to the detriment of sustainable transport and wish to see 
inclusion of public transport schemes in the policy. 

4.  Traffic management schemes should be required for all but the smallest 
developments.

5. Those parish councils which responded generally supported the policy, 
though advised that consideration should be given to the impacts on 
residents and the environment.

Highways England is keen to work with SODC in regards to lorry movements. 
Where appropriate, the scope of the assessment should also be agreed with 
Highways England.  Highways England is supportive of this Policy which aligns 
with the principles of NPPF and Circular 02/2013. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The identification of safeguarded land across the District provides the opportunity 
for transport mitigation to take place if this is required in direct relation to 
development. The routes have been identified through working with the County 
Council and would provide improved, less congested access for transport. 
We will continue to work with Highways England in relation to the issue of lorry 
movements and assess the situation and any corresponding mitigation to be put 
in place.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No change

Policy TRANS8:  Community Facilities and Rural Transport
Overall 12 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 
 Object 6

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. This policy is too simplistic and there was concern it could not be 

implemented

Page 393

Agenda Item 6



70

2. Chalgrove village would lose existing services and facilities to the new 
development

3. There was general support for improving rural transport

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We note the support for the aims of this policy and will consider whether it can be 
strengthened.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No change

Oxford to Cambridge Expressway Comments:
Significant concern raised by parish councils and residents about the potential 
impact on Green Belt, the Thame Valley and rural communities if the Ox to 
Cambridge expressway routes through South Oxfordshire. Also, reference to the 
need for South Oxfordshire to consider impacts in their plan.

Page 394

Agenda Item 6



71

Natural and Historic Environment

Overall 310 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 130
 Comment 94
 Object 86

Paragraph 8.10 – Green Belt
Overall 33 people commented on this policy:  

 3 Support
 15 Comment
 15 Object 

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The council should change GB around Oxford to allow development. 

Locating development close to urban areas is more sustainable than 
remote areas in line with paragraph 84 of the NPPF (need to promote 
sustainable patterns of development). Channel development towards urban 
areas inside the Green Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset 
within the Green Belt or towards locations beyond the outer Green Belt 
boundary.

2. Support for the removal of GB around Wheatley and also concern of a lack 
of consistency with regard to the release/retention of GB around Wheatley.

3. Add additional GB to compensate for loss of GB
4. The council should protect the GB.

a. Need to keep Oxford City separate from surrounding villages. 
b. Character of the small villages of Culham, Clifton Hampden, Burcot 

and other villages would be destroyed due to GB release.
c. Brownfield sites should be considered before GB release

5. The exceptional circumstances to release GB have not been 
demonstrated. 

a. Removing GB around Berinsfield to support regeneration of a 
deprived area applies more strongly to deprived areas around 
Oxford such as Blackbird Leys which is more deprived than 
Berinsfield. Greater scope for regeneration benefits in this location. 

b. Council previously stated that the need to supply more housing is 
not considered to be an exceptional circumstance for a review of the 
Green Belt. 

c. It is not clear why the options for development outside of the GB and 
considered in previous consultations have now been discounted. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Green Belt is covered by paragraphs 79 to 92 of the NPPF and 
the Government advises that once established, Green Belt boundaries should 
only be altered in exceptional circumstances. When drawing up or reviewing 
Green Belt boundaries local planning authorities should take account of the need 
to promote sustainable patterns of development. Green Belt boundaries should be 
clearly defined, using physical features that are readily recognisable and likely to 
be permanent. This guidance has been used in preparing the emerging local plan.

Page 395

Agenda Item 6



72

Meeting housing need alone is not sufficient to justify the exceptional 
circumstances to remove land from the Green Belt. The unmet needs of Oxford 
City could be met anywhere within the district and it is not the case that this is tied 
to any one location or site. To attempt to do so could limit the flexibility of the plan. 

 An ‘Issues and Scope’ consultation took place in June 2014 where the council 
gathered opinions on the location of new development and the future of the 
Oxford Green Belt. As a result of this consultation there was strong support for the 
majority of growth to take place in the ‘Science Vale’ area. There were mixed 
views on whether the Green Belt should be altered or remain the same, however 
many respondents had strong views that the Green Belt around Oxford should be 
protected to prevent the sprawl of the city.

A ‘Preferred Options’ consultation took place in June 2016 and the issue of Green 
Belt proved to be important, with a mixture of views over whether Green Belt 
should remain the same or be changed. Some respondents favoured a release of 
Green Belt land around Oxford to allow the city’s expansion whilst others favoured 
a retention of the Green Belt around Oxford. Many respondents continued to 
support the strategy of focusing development within the Science Vale area and 
suggested further development around the Culham Science Centre. 

The second ‘Preferred Options’ consultation proposed Green Belt changes 
around Berinsfield, Culham Science Centre and Wheatley. Other strategic options 
both within and outside of the Green Belt have been assessed within the 
Sustainability Appraisal. The alternative sites within the Green Belt present less 
sustainable options than the strategic sites contained within the second preferred 
options. The council is opposed to alteration of the Green Belt on the edge of 
Oxford City as this would lead to further sprawl of the city and the sites in this 
location have not presented exceptional circumstances. The council supports the 
need to keep Oxford City separate from surrounding villages. The alternative 
strategic sites outside of the Green Belt also present their own sustainability 
issues.

The council considers that the need to supply more housing is not an exceptional 
circumstance for a review of the Green Belt. The council considers the area 
around Culham Science Centre to be a sustainable location with good links to 
employment at the science centre and at Didcot. This location is line with the 
support received for the focus of development within the Science Vale area and 
development in this location would support this objective. The site also has a 
direct train line to Oxford with potential for Culham train station to be improved. 
Therefore, there are sustainable transport links to employment opportunities and 
services in Oxford, Didcot and the Science Vale. The council believes that there 
are exceptional circumstances for the release of Green Belt land in this location.

The removal of land around Berinsfield is a policy requirement of the adopted 
Core Strategy and the proposal to remove land from the Green Belt in this 
location is a continuation of this policy. The exceptional circumstances for the 
release of this Green Belt land have already been demonstrated through the 
examination and adoption of the Core Strategy. In addition, Berinsfield has good 

Page 396

Agenda Item 6



73

links to the Science Vale area and the release of this land is to support the 
regeneration of Berinsfield.

The council recognises that there are also regeneration priorities within areas of 
Oxford. The retention of the Green Belt around Oxford will serve to meet the five 
purposes of the Green Belt as set out in the Framework.

The locations of land to be removed from the Green Belt are considered by the 
council to be at a sufficient distance to protect the special historic setting of the of 
Oxford and do not make a significant contribution towards the purposes of 
checking the unrestricted sprawl of Oxford.

The council is preparing a topic paper on the exceptional circumstances for the 
changes to the Oxford Green Belt and further explanation on the selection of the 
strategic allocations. 

It has been suggested that the council allocate ‘Brownfield’ sites before the 
release of Green Belt land. This is part of the reason for the proposed changes to 
the Green Belt. Due to the nature of the district there are few Brownfield options 
available. The council considers Oxford Brooks University at Wheatley to be a 
Brownfield site and will review its position on the release of Green Belt here. 
Culham Science Centre is also Brownfield. Chalgrove Airfield is classed as 
partially Brownfield.
It is not considered that additional land should necessarily be added to the Green 
Belt designation to simply ‘make up’ for land removed. The addition of additional 
Green Belt land would not serve the five purposes as set out in the Framework.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes as covered by other parts of the LP and the NPPF.

Policy ENV1: Landscape and countryside
Overall 72 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 20
 Comment 26
 Object 26

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Remove Chalgrove Airfield from the plan, impact of Chalgrove on rural 

area
2. Need more recognition of nature reserves and Green Infrastructure
3. Several comments on AONB including:

a. Monitor the amount of development in AONB
b. Should have a specific policy or model policy for the AONB, 
c. Policy should be clearer on when development will be permitted in 

AONB or NDP allocations within AONB
d. Local Plan should refer to AONB management plans

4. Strategic sites may lead to landscape harm
5. Policy should prevent coalescence of settlements unless all other options 

have been explored

Page 397

Agenda Item 6



74

6. Policy should mention the Green Belt
7. Several comments on point iii of the policy 

a. “Development will only be permitted where it protects or enhances:”, 
b. “Development will be permitted where it protects or where possible 

enhances:”, 
c. Point b should refer to the villages and towns as well as Oxford etc

8. Policy should mention impact of infrastructure on landscape and 
countryside

9. More reference to trees and forestry is required including a requirement for 
early planting of trees on developments, and add “Appropriate landscaping 
using a range of suitable native trees. “

10.No explicit reference to the NPPF provisions for local green space 
designation

Historic England suggested the policy could mention Oxfordshire Historic 
Landscape Character Assessment

Natural England noted that sites of Least Environmental Value - In accordance 
with the NPPF, the plan’s development strategy should seek to avoid areas of 
high environmental value. Natural England expects sufficient evidence to be 
provided, through the SA and HRA, to justify the site selection process and to 
ensure sites of least environmental value are selected, e.g. land allocations 
should avoid designated sites and landscapes and should consider the direct and 
indirect effects of development on land within the setting of designated 
landscapes. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The issues relating to any possible impact of development at the strategic sites 
are being assessed through the allocation process. Any planning application on 
the strategic sites and any other site, along with infrastructure proposals, would 
need to accord with local and national planning policy which seeks to protect the 
landscape of South Oxfordshire.

Policy ENV1 deals with landscape and countryside. Issues relating to nature 
reserves and green infrastructure are dealt with elsewhere in the emerging plan. 

References are made to the AONB throughout the Local Plan. It is covered by the 
NPPF, specifically paragraphs 115 and 116, so no specific AONB policy is 
required.

The Green Belt is also referenced throughout the Local Plan. It is also covered by 
the NPPF, paragraphs 79 to 92, so no specific Green Belt policy is required

The policy refers to the protection and enhancement of the attractive landscape 
setting of settlements or the special character and landscape setting of Oxford. 
Therefore, the policy seeks to protect the landscape setting of villages and towns. 
The policy refers to the protection of all types of landscapes which includes 
features such as trees against inappropriate development

Page 398

Agenda Item 6



75

The Local Plan is supported by an evidence base which includes a Sustainability 
Appraisal and Habitats Regulation Assessment to support the selection of sites of 
least environmental value. The plan is also supported by the Oxfordshire Historic 
Landscape Characterisation Project and a Landscape Character Assessment. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the wording of the policy and this includes a specific reference to 
“the Oxfordshire Historic Landscape Characterisation Project.” 

Policy ENV2: Biodiversity - Designated Sites, Priority Habitats and Species
Overall 22 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 9
 Comment 5
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Ecological value of Chalgrove Airfield (bats), Wick Farm is important
2. Ecological Baseline Surveys are required to inform the development of 

sites
3. Add “valued landscapes”
4. Impact of transport infrastructure on Special Areas of Conservation 
5. 'sites of international nature conservation importance' should not be limited 

to SAC
6. Remove 'Proposed Local Wildlife Sites' in the list of sites to be protected 

from direct or indirect effects 

Natural England advised that clarity is required about the requirements for 
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), Habitats Regulations, SSSIs and ancient 
woodland and veteran trees. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Comments questioned if the ecological value of potential development sites had 
been assessed. The council is continuing to build its evidence base and initial 
desk based surveys have been undertaken within the Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulation Assessment. Further information is being gathered. The 
ecological impacts of any development, including potential development at 
Chalgrove Airfield will be assessed during the planning process. 

The issue of “valued landscapes” was raised. The Framework advises that the 
planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological 
conservation interests and soils. Policy ENV2 relates to biodiversity rather than 
landscape which is dealt with in draft policy ENV1.

Comments asked after the impact of transport infrastructure on biodiversity and 
(Special Areas of Conservation). Proposals for transport infrastructure will be 
assessed against the policies of the adopted development plan and the 
Framework which seek to conserve and enhance the natural environment. Policy 

Page 399

Agenda Item 6



76

ENV2 advises that the highest level of protection will be given to sites of 
international nature conservation importance (Special Areas of Conservation).

Mention was made of including Special Protection Areas and Ramsar sites within 
the policy however neither of these types of areas are located within the district 
and nor are they nearby.

Natural England asked about the requirements of the Conservation and Habitats 
Regulations. These requirements are set out in the Habitats Regulations 
Assessment which forms part of the evidence base of the local plan. Other 
changes suggested by Natural England have been included in changes to the 
policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy and supporting text to clarify the different 
requirements of each type of habitat of designations as we have been advised. 

Policy ENV3: Biodiversity – non-designated sites, habitats and species
Overall 20 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 4
 Object 8

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Ecological value of Chalgrove Airfield (bats)
2. All development should make provision for green spaces that can act as 

wildlife corridors, to prevent populations on adjacent sites becoming 
fragmented.

3. Ecological Baseline Surveys required to inform the development of sites
4. Policy should seek a net gain in biodiversity. Major applications should 

demonstrate no net loss by using an accepted Biodiversity Impact 
Assessment Calculator unless otherwise agreed with the Council 

5. Policy should confirm the commitment to protect and enhance the 
Conservation Target Areas (CTA) 

6. Development in the Green Belt will cause environmental damage
7. Policy should state that development should result in an overall no net loss 

in biodiversity rather than a no net loss in biodiversity

Natural England welcomed the approach proposed in these policies. they advise 
that development should be seeking to achieve a net gain in biodiversity, and they 
welcomed the use of biodiversity accounting to ensure that this is achieved. We 
suggest that the onus could be placed on the developer to undertake the 
biodiversity accounting using a recognised biodiversity metric, in order to 
demonstrate that the application can achieve a net gain. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Comments questioned if the ecological value of potential development sites had 
been assessed. The council is continuing to build its evidence base and initial 

Page 400

Agenda Item 6



77

desk based surveys have been undertaken within the Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulation Assessment. Further information is being gathered. The 
ecological impacts of any development, including potential development at 
Chalgrove Airfield will be assessed during the planning process. 

Comments suggest that all development should make provision for green spaces 
that can act as wildlife corridors. The Local Plan is supported by a Green 
Infrastructure Strategy, a Sports and Leisure Strategy. Development should also 
be in accordance with the adopted Design Guide which requires green space.

Protection of Conservation Target Areas is included within policy ENV2.

The Green Belt is not designated to protect biodiversity and any development will 
need to accord with the policies of the adopted development plan and the 
Framework which seeks to conserve and enhancing the natural environment.

The policy will be revised to be in accordance with the Framework which seeks to 
attain a net gain in biodiversity.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy and support text following the advice received, in 
particular with reference to a net gain of biodiversity. 

Policy ENV4: Watercourses
Overall 22 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 10
 Comment 7
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Wording on buffer zones should be in the policy rather than the supporting 

text
2. SuDS should be a mandatory requirement
3. Policy needs to consider flood prevention work being undertaken in Oxford
4. Policy should consider impact of flooding downstream
5. Chalk streams should be added to the list of particularly valuable elements 

on which particular importance will be placed.
6. Policy should consider the impact of woodland on watercourses
7. Concern regarding proposed quarry at Clifton Hampden
8. Development at Wick Farm would cause flooding
9. Where there are significant benefits in new appropriately designed crossing 

points for watercourses (e.g. footbridges), these must be located within the 
buffer zone of a watercourse.

10.Buffer zone should be 8m rather than 10m as this is what is in Planning 
Practice Guidance (ref Paragraph: 068 Reference ID: 7-068-20140306)

Natural England welcomed the approach proposed in these policies. they advise 
that development should be seeking to achieve a net gain in biodiversity, and they 
welcomed the use of biodiversity accounting to ensure that this is achieved. We 

Page 401

Agenda Item 6



78

suggest that the onus could be placed on the developer to undertake the 
biodiversity accounting using a recognised biodiversity metric, in order to 
demonstrate that the application can achieve a net gain. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Several changes to the policy and the supporting text have been made following 
the consultation and through working with the Vale of White Horse District Council 
where watercourses are also important. However, many of the details raised 
during the consultation relate to issues of flood-risk which are covered elsewhere 
in the emerging local plan and also by the Framework. Details of flood prevention 
are also detailed in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment which forms part of the 
evidence base of the Local Plan. The requirement for a 10m buffer is required to 
give species and habitats protection from increased disturbance associated with 
development. It should be noted that in addition to any planning permission, 
consent is required from either the Environment Agency or the Lead Local Flood 
Authority to carry out any work within 8 metres of a watercourse.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy and supporting text as advised. 

Policy ENV5 Green Infrastructure in new developments
Overall 23 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 9
 Object 6

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Add reference to the Chilterns AONB Management Plan 
2. Policy should also include existing green infrastructure 
3. Set a target of 95% of the population having provision for ANGSt level 1 

(300m 2+ ha) met by the end of the Local Plan period, i.e. i.e. all new 
development must contribute to an increase in the provision of the ANGSt 
baseline – para 114 of NPPF, inclusion of a specific target that 95% of all 
SODC residents should live within 300m of an accessible natural 
greenspace of at least 2 ha in size

4. New development must enhance and contribute to Conservation Target 
Areas and Green Corridors

5. Remove the phrase “where possible” 
6. Add a mandatory requirement for SUDS and the concept of using natural 

flood management in rural areas
7. Should be an objective to encourage active lifestyles and tackle obesity
8. Set target to protect all existing green spaces from development within 

Didcot Garden Town. Ladygrove Loop should be marked as amenity green 
space

9. There are outstanding green infrastructure items that still require delivery, 
from the Core Strategy

Forestry Commission England: In the wider planning context the Forestry 
Commission encourages local authorities to consider the role of trees in delivering 

Page 402

Agenda Item 6



79

planning objectives as part of a wider integrated landscape approach.  For 
instance, through the inclusion of green infrastructure (including trees and 
woodland) in and around new development

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The AONB is referenced throughout the Local Plan. Comments were raised in 
relation to distances of new housing to green spaces and GI. The policy sets out 
quality standards and GI requirements within the Green Infrastructure Strategy 
which forms part of the evidence base of the local plan and also refers to good 
practice guidance and the adopted South Oxfordshire Design Guide. The Local 
Plan also contains a policy on Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new 
residential development which sets out standards on distances to open space. 
Protection of Conservation Target Areas is included within policy ENV2. 
Comments also advise that the authority should be encouraging active lifestyles 
and tackling obesity. Objective 6.3 of the emerging plan is to ensure all 
communities have access to the services and facilities they value, supporting the 
health and wellbeing of everyone.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy and supporting text for clarity and robustness. We 
have included references to the AONB management plan and the Didcot Garden 
Town

Policy ENV6:  Historic Environment
Overall 25 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 10
 Comment 6
 Object 9

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Conservation Area Appraisals should be undertaken 
2. Berinsfield allocation will impact archaeological remains
3. Development at Chalgrove Airfield will impact the historic battlefield site 
4. Need a policy to prevent the coalescence of villages 
5. Wick, Stowford and Bayswater Farms, as well as Lower Elsfield should be 

protected from development
6. Importance of a grade 1 listed building close to OBU, Wheatley
7. Need to mention of the setting of Oxford and the views towards the City 

and outwards from it. Reference be made to the Historic England study 
Assessment of the Oxford View Cones October 2015.

8. Policy not required, duplicates NPPF
9. Policy should be amended to make it clear, in accordance with the NPPF, 

that proposals for new development should conserve or enhance the 
significance of heritage assets.

10.As it is currently drafted, this Policy states that heritage assets will be 
conserved and enhanced. This approach does not allow for the balancing 
exercise set out in the NPPF where harm is considered against the benefits 
of a proposal to be taken into account.

Page 403

Agenda Item 6



80

Historic England do not consider that Policy ENV 6 delivers the conservation 
and enhancement of the historic environment and so have suggested 
amendments.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
 Local Plan policies relating to the historic environment are covered by paragraph 
126 of the NPPF.  Any potential impacts of development on the historic 
environment will be considered against local and national policies and the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed 
allocation sites will also be considered against any potential impact on the historic 
environment in line with these policies and the act. Policy ENV1 seeks to protect 
the attractive landscape setting of settlements or the special character and 
landscape setting of Oxford. Local and national policies and the act also seek to 
protect heritage assets and their settings.

The policy and the other policies relating to heritage assets have been revised 
following consultation comments and through work with the Vale of White Horse 
District Council. The revised policy sets out measures for achieving conservation 
and enhancement and presents clear policies on what will or will not be permitted 
and where and a clear indication of how a decision maker should react to a 
development proposal. The policies set out a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets 
most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have comprehensively redrafted the policy. 

Policy ENV7 Demolition of Listed Buildings
Overall 9 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 1
 Object 1

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:
1. Policy duplicates the NPPF and is superfluous 

Historic England suggest that Policy ENV7 would be better if it gave greater 
information on what exceptional circumstances might be.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
As above, the framework advises that local planning authorities should set out in 
their Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the 
historic environment. The policy relates to listed buildings and to ensure clarity the 
council has merged policies ENV7 and 8 to create a single policy on listed 
buildings.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The policy has been deleted and merged with ENV8

Page 404

Agenda Item 6



81

Policy ENV8 Alteration of and Extension to Listed Buildings
Overall 7 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 
 Object 1

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:
1. Policy duplicates the NPPF and is superfluous 

Historic England welcomed Policy ENV8 in principle, but cited that paragraphs 
133 and 134 of the NPPF make it clear that for benefits to outweigh harm to 
designated heritage assets, those benefits must be public, and to outweigh 
substantial harm to assets of the highest significance, they must be substantial 
public benefits.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The policy has been revised following consultation comments and through work 
with the Vale of White Horse District Council. The revised policy sets out 
measures for achieving conservation and enhancement and presents clear 
policies on what will or will not be permitted and where and a clear indication of 
how a decision maker should react to a development proposal.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have comprehensively rewritten the policy and combined it with ENV7 

Policy ENV9: Conservation Areas
Overall 13 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 3
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. It would be helpful if the word setting was more clearly defined to include 

site-lines and views of conservation areas.
2. The third paragraph should be amended to include Neighbourhood 

Development Plans which may include local design requirements.  
“Development should be in accordance with South Oxfordshire’s Design 
Guide and the relevant Neighbourhood Development Plan” 

3. Policy duplicates the NPPF and is superfluous 
 
 

Historic England: Welcomed Policy ENV9 in principle, but suggested it should 
refer to the special interest, character and appearance of Conservation Areas. 
Paragraphs 133 and 134 of the NPPF make it clear that for benefits to outweigh 
harm to designated heritage assets (such as Conservation Areas), those benefits 
must be public, not just demonstrable.

Page 405

Agenda Item 6



82

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The policy has been revised following consultation comments and through work 
with the Vale of White Horse District Council. The revised policy sets out 
measures for achieving conservation and enhancement and presents clear 
policies on what will or will not be permitted and where and a clear indication of 
how a decision maker should react to a development proposal.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have comprehensively revised the policy and also added the following text to 
the end of para 8.42

When undertaking conservation area appraisals the opportunity will be taken to 
produce and update lists of locally important non-designated heritage assets and 
a condition survey of listed buildings.

Policy ENV10: Archaeology
Overall 11 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 2
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Chalgrove is home to both Roman and Medieval archaeological remains 
2. The safeguarded land for the Stadhampton bypass crosses a site that 

according to a survey by Oxon County Council Archaeology Dept 
represents a significant bronze age and Neolithic ritual site centred on the 
bend of the R.Thame between Stadhampton and Chiselhampton.  

3. Effect of any change to the water table should be considered in any 
development due to the effect this can have on archaeological remains

4. Policy duplicates the NPPF and is superfluous

Historic England Welcomed Policy ENV10 in principle, including the reference to 
non-designated archaeological sites or deposits, but suggested that the Policy 
should make it clear that development proposals affecting the significance of non-
designated archaeological sites or deposits of significance equal to that of a 
nationally important monument will be assessed as though those sites or deposits 
are designated i.e. against the same criteria as for assessing development 
proposals affecting scheduled monuments.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Any potential impacts of development on the historic environment will be 
considered against local and national policies and the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed allocation sites will also be 
considered against any potential impact on the historic environment in line with 
these policies and the act.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:

Page 406

Agenda Item 6



83

We have comprehensively revised the policy and also added the following text to 
paragraph 8.43

A network of historic routes also exist as archaeological features in the district, 
ranging from pre-historic tracks, Roman roads, medieval coffin ways, salt roads, 
and droveways, to later turnpike roads. These routes are integrated into the 
district’s landscape and serve an important function in linking settlements and 
forming a unique setting for the district’s distinctive landscape features and will 
therefore be protected.

Policy ENV11:  Historic Battlefields, Registered Parks and Gardens and 
Historic Landscapes
Overall 13 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 5
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Very significant bridge at the end of the Burycroft where a very significant 

battle was fought in the English Civil War. See The Battle of Culham Bridge 
on 11/01/1645 

2. Impact of Chalgrove Airfield development on Historic Battlefield site 
3. Important views in the direction of Elsfield Village 
4. Policy duplicates the NPPF and is superfluous

 
Historic England welcomed Policy ENV11 in principle, but cited that paragraphs 
133 and 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework make it clear that for 
benefits to outweigh harm to designated heritage assets (such as Registered 
Battlefields, Parks and Gardens), those benefits must be public, and to outweigh 
substantial harm to assets of the highest significance, they must be substantial 
public benefits.   

Heritage at Risk: 
Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning 
authorities to set out in their Local Plans a positive strategy for the conservation 
and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk 
through neglect, decay or other threats (our underlining).    There are currently 12 
assets on the Historic England Heritage at Risk Register within South Oxfordshire 
District but as, outside London, the Register does not include grade II listed 
buildings, the number of assets at risk is likely to be greater. The number is also 
likely to fluctuate during the life of the Plan.   The 2nd Preferred Options does not 
address the issue of heritage assets at risk at all. It therefore fails to set out a 
positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment 
and consequently fails to be consistent with national Policy. To rectify this 
deficiency, we suggest the addition of wording to the Plan along the lines of:   The 
Authority will monitor buildings or other heritage assets at risk through neglect, 
decay or other threats, proactively seeking solutions for assets at risk through 
discussions with owners and willingness to consider positively development 

Page 407

Agenda Item 6



84

schemes that would ensure the repair and maintenance of the asset, and, as a 
last resort, using its statutory powers. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Any potential impacts of development on the historic environment will be 
considered against local and national policies and the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The proposed allocation sites will also be 
considered against any potential impact on the historic environment in line with 
these policies and the act. Policy ENV11 seeks to protect historic battlefield sites 
such as Chalgrove. The effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset will be considered in determining the application. In 
weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non-designated heritage 
assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any 
harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

The policy has been updated following consultation comments to ensure that 
development presents public benefits.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy and supporting text following the advice received and 
added new appendices to the local plan: 

 List of Scheduled Monuments, Parks and Gardens, Battlefield, 
Conservation Areas (with date of designation), CA appraisals and their 
date, 

 Link to Historic England’s list of listed buildings
 Link to Heritage at Risk register

Policy ENV12 Pollution - Impact from neighbouring and/or Previous Land 
Uses on new Development (potential receptors of pollution)

Overall 16 people commented on this policy:  
 Support 11
 Comment 2
 Object 3

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Hazardous substances on Chalgrove Airfield prevents its development 
2. New development should not lead to the loss of existing development or 

uses
3. Plan should support a dark skies policy 
4. Proposed bypass at Watlington would lead to pollution
5. Policy will protect Royal Mail operations 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The policy advises that development will not be permitted if it is likely to be 
adversely affected by existing pollution and advises that the occupiers of new 
development will not be subject to the effects of pollution. Therefore, potential 
development at the proposed allocations in the emerging plan such as at 

Page 408

Agenda Item 6



85

Chalgrove would be assessed against this policy. Existing uses would be 
protected from new development proposals nearby.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Update the title for clarification

Policy ENV13 Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the 
natural Environment and/or Local amenity (potential sources of pollution)

Overall 19 people commented on this policy:  
 Support 5
 Comment 9
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Development at Chalgrove Airfield, Wick Farm and Lower Elsfield would be 

a source of pollution
2. SODC is attempting to disperse Oxford City’s unmet need across the whole 

of the District.  This is unsustainable as it will lead to unnecessary private 
vehicle use and therefore have an effect upon the environment and public 
health that should be mitigated either by the selection of sites that are 
serviceable by rapid public transport or sites that are much closer to the 
area of housing need. 

3. Impact of noise from RAF Benson should be considered. Rule out new 
housing at Benson.

4. Stronger controls of noise from air source heat pumps needed
5. Protection of dark skies should be included
6. Pollution in Thame should be assessed

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Local Plan is subject to a Sustainability Appraisal to ensure that the plan 
achieves sustainable development. The policy seeks to promote sustainable 
development and locate new development in locations where pollution would be 
reduced. The policy considers planning applications in terms of potential impact of 
seeking to reduce pollution including noise and light pollution. Therefore, the 
impact of new development on dark skies is a consideration under this policy.

Development proposals close to existing sources of pollution such as potential 
noise from RAF Benson would be considered against policy ENV12 as new 
housing in this location could be a receptor of pollution.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Update the title for clarification

Page 409

Agenda Item 6



86

Policy EP1: Air Quality
Overall 22 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 10
 Object 7

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. SODC should, with OCC, provide workable Air Quality strategies for 

Watlington, Henley and Wallingford
2. Chalgrove Airfield is not a sustainable location and would lead to air 

pollution and worsen pollution in AQMAs 
3. Policy too vague and too weak. Need to monitor a wider range of 

pollutants, commit to the development and delivery of an Air Quality 
Strategy and Action Plan for the whole district, make green roofs 
mandatory on any new flat roofs in AQMA and to launch a programme of 
retrofitting green roofs and vegetation in AQMA.

4. There must be effective measures in place, funded by developers, to 
reduce the air pollution to acceptable and legal levels.

5. Council should measure the cumulative impact of pollution

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The policy seeks to protect air quality and minimise air pollution. The Air Quality 
Action Plan in addition to other guidance sets out how we will work with others, 
who have the power to make the necessary changes to tackle the air quality 
problems. Further information is available on the following website: 
https://oxfordshire.air-quality.info/local-air-quality-management/south-oxfordshire. 
The policy includes the cumulative impact of pollution.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No change to policy.

Policy EP2: Hazardous substances
Overall 7 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 4
 Comment 2
 Object 1

The following key theme was identified in response to this policy:
1. Hazardous substances at Chalgrove Airfield prevent development of the 

site. 
 

HM Specialist Inspector of Health and Safety (Risk Assessment) commented 
that they had no representation to make on this occasion. This is because the 
land allocated in your consultation document does not appear to encroach on the 
consultation zones of major hazard establishments or MAHPs. If there is no 
encroachment HSE does not need to be informed of the next stages in the 
adoption of the consultation document.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  

Page 410

Agenda Item 6

https://oxfordshire.air-quality.info/local-air-quality-management/south-oxfordshire


87

The policy seeks to control development within the vicinity of hazardous 
substances or activities. Any development proposals would be assessed against 
this policy.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes are required.

Policy EP3:  Minerals Safeguarding areas
Overall 9 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 4
 Comment 3
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Policy is too rigid and should consider sites within MSAs that are potentially 

unsuitable for minerals extraction.
2. Proposed development at Chalgrove Airfield would sterilise underlying san

d and gravel
3. Clarity required on priorities of development of MSAs  
4. This Policy is supported as it is consistent with and will help in the 

implementation of Policy M8 of the submitted Oxfordshire Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan

5. Minerals and Waste Comments Strategic Objectives 129. The strategic 
objectives do not explicitly include safeguarding of important mineral 
resources or re-use, recycling & recovery of waste, although the cross 
references to objectives in policies EP3, DES7 and DES8 suggest these 
matters are intended to be covered by the objectives.  It would be clearer if 
the objectives explicitly included these matters.  They were included as 
objectives in the documentation published in 2014 (see SA Scoping 
Report, Table 1, objectives 7 & 31).  These matters are covered by the SA 
objectives in the SA report, March 2017 (Table 3, SA objectives 8 and 12).

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Paragraph 143 of the NPPF sets out what local planning authorities should do 
when preparing local plans. Many of the requirements are set out in other policies 
in the Local Plan such as ENV12 and 13. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have made no significant changes to this proposed policy 

Page 411

Agenda Item 6



88

Built Environment

Overall 163 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 69
 Comment 65
 Object 29

Policy DES1: Delivering High Quality Development
Overall 24 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 10
 Comment 11
 Object 3

. The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for high quality development, in particular ensuring the 

development of neighbouring sites is integrated
2. Support for new development to meet the objectives and criteria set out in 

the South Oxfordshire Design Guide
3. The policy should refer to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide
4. The policy should ensure that the Secure By Design principles are fully 

adopted by all new residential developments 
5. The policy should refer to design policies within Neighbourhood 

Development Plans

There was also a request for the South Oxfordshire Design Guide to include more 
guidance on how to achieve high quality development within smaller villages and 
rural areas. 

Historic England welcomed this policy.

The Chiltern’s Conservation Board considered that the policy should refer to 
the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. This was also suggested by members of the 
public. 

Thames Valley Police highlighted the need to ensure that Secure by Design 
principles are fully adopted on all new residential developments and requested 
that the policy also acknowledge the impact of the fear of crime.  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
It is important to recognise that Policy DES1 cannot set out all the principles that 
would need to be followed in order to deliver high quality development. These 
requirements are set out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. The Design 
Guide makes reference to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. However, we 
recognise that it would be useful to signpost readers of this policy to the Chilterns 
Buildings Design Guide and will include reference to it within the supporting text. 
We agree that new development should meet the principles of Secure by Design 
and address the fear of crime as well as reducing the likelihood of crime. These 
principles are not set out in the Design Guide so we considered it important to 
refer to the Secure by Design principles within the supporting text and 
acknowledge the impact of the fear of crime within the policy. 

Page 412

Agenda Item 6



89

We agree that all new development should also meet the policies set out in made 
neighbourhood development plans. Made neighbourhood development plans form 
part of the district’s development plan. Planning legislation requires development 
to be in accordance with the development plan unless material consideration 
indicate otherwise. In response to this consultation we will be highlighting this 
requirement in policy STRAT1. Subsequently it does not need to be repeated 
within the policy. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Add reference to the Chilterns Building Design Guide within the supporting 

text – “New development within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty should meet the objectives and criteria set out in the Chilterns 
Buildings Design Guide.”  

 Add reference to the principle of Secure by Design within the supporting 
text – “It is important that the places that we create are safe. To ensure that 
the development we deliver is designed to reduce the opportunity for crime, 
as well as the fear of crime itself, proposals must fully adopt the principles 
set out in the Secured by Design, design guides.” 

 Acknowledge the impact of the fear of crime within the policy by adding – 
“…as well as the fear of crime itself.” to the end of the third paragraph. 
 

Policy DES2:  Enhancing Local Character
Overall 14 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 5
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for enhancing local character 
2. The policy should refer to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide
3. The policy should refer to Conservation Area Character Appraisals
4. The policy should include further detail regarding residential amenity and 

the height, scale and massing of new residential development

Historic England welcomed this policy. They considered it would be helpful for 
the policy to refer to Conservation Character Area Appraisals. 

The Chiltern’s Conservation Board considered that the policy should refer to 
the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. This was also suggested by members of the 
public. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
As with Policy DES1 it is important to recognise that Policy DES2 cannot set out 
all the features that could add positively to local character as these features and 
the importance of these features will change with each locality. For this reason, 
the policy requires the positive features to be identified in a character assessment 
either prepared by the community as part of a neighbourhood plan or by the 

Page 413

Agenda Item 6



90

applicant as part of the planning application. The absence of an amenity policy 
has been raised in relation to other parts of the plan and will be addressed. 
We recognise that it would be useful to signpost readers of this policy to the 
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide and will include reference to it within the 
supporting text. 

We agree that it would provide clarity if the policy referred to the need to consider 
Conservation Area Appraisals where a development has the potential to impact 
upon a conservation area or the setting of a conservation area. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Add reference to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide within the 

supporting text – “New development within the Chilterns Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty should demonstrate how the design has been 
informed by the Chilterns Building Design Guide.”

 Add to policy “Proposals that have the potential to impact upon a 
conservation area or the setting of a conservation area should also take 
account of the relevant Conservation Character Appraisal”. 

Policy DES3: Design and Access Statements
Overall 15 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 5
 Object 4

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Design and Access Statements vary in quality and can be misleading
2. The policy should refer to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide
3. The policy should include principles, measures and targets on tackling 

obesity
4. The current wording regarding consultation with existing communities is too 

vague and should also refer to consultation with communities in the 
surrounding area

5. Concerns regarding the implementation of this policy. The Local Planning 
Authority should refuse to accept applications where the Design and 
Access Statement does not meet the criteria set out in the policy. 

The Chiltern’s Conservation Board considered that the policy should refer to 
the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide. This was also suggested by members of the 
public. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We acknowledge that the quality of Design and Access Statements can vary and 
this is why we consider the requirements set out in Policy DES3 to be so 
important.

Page 414

Agenda Item 6



91

We recognise that it would be useful to signpost readers of this policy to the 
Chilterns Buildings Design Guide and will include reference to it within the 
supporting text.

The aim of this policy is to ensure that specific important information is included 
within a Design and Access Statement. It is important to recognise that Policy 
DES3 cannot set out all the information that should be included in a Design and 
Access Statement as this should be proportional to the proposal.  Additional 
guidance regarding the detailed content of a Design and Access Statement is set 
out in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. Given this, Policy DES3 is not the 
appropriate policy to tackle obesity. However, we recognise that there is limited 
reference to health and wellbeing within the plan and will be undertaking a Health 
Impact Assessment to ensure that these issues are addressed. 
We agree that consultation with local communities is an important part of the 
design process, including communities in the surrounding area. 
We agree that all new development should also meet the policies set out in made 
neighbourhood development plans. Made neighbourhood development plans form 
part of the district’s development plan. Planning legislation requires development 
to be in accordance with the development plan unless material consideration 
indicate otherwise. In response to this consultation we will be highlighting this 
requirement in policy STRAT1. Subsequently it does not need to be repeated 
within the policy. 

With regards to implementing the policy, the planning case officer is qualified to 
identify whether the requirements of Policy DES3 have been met. In order to 
ensure the timely processing of applications and unnecessary delay, this 
assessment would take place after the application has been registered. The case 
officer has the opportunity to require additional information once an application 
has been registered and Policy DES3 will support them in doing so with regards to 
the content and quality of the Design and Access Statement. The South 
Oxfordshire Design Guide provides clear guidance on what should be included 
within the detailed content of a Design and Access Statement and this link is 
clearly made within Policy DES3. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Add reference to the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide within the 

supporting text – “Proposals within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty should demonstrate, as part of the Design and Access 
Statement, how the design has been informed by the Chilterns Building 
Design Guide.”

 Amend policy to read “How consultation with the existing community and 
communities in the surrounding area has informed the design of the 
development.”

Policy DES4: Masterplans for allocated sites and major development
Overall 17 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 8
 Comment 6
 Object 3

Page 415

Agenda Item 6



92

.  The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for requiring allocated sites and major development to be 

accompanied by a Masterplan
2. The policy should clarify that a Masterplan is required with a formal 

planning application 
3. Suggestions were made regarding criteria and/or detail that should be 

added to the policy. This related to Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS), 
the historic environment, landscape screening, views and concerns of local 
residents and key stakeholders and health and wellbeing

4. Masterplans should be prepare for every site as part of the plan-making 
process to inform site selection

Historic England welcomed this policy.

Oxfordshire County Council recommended including the need for development 
to improve health and wellbeing as a requirement of the policy. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Masterplans are an important tool for communicating how an applicant intends to 
deliver a high quality development. They are useful throughout the design process 
and application process. Policy DES4 requires the Masterplans prepared to 
demonstrate a clear link to the more detailed design principles established in the 
South Oxfordshire Design Guide. These principles do not need to be repeated 
within the policy. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  

Policy DES5: Outdoor Amenity Space
Overall 12 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 5
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for the provision of outdoor amenity space for all new dwellings
2. The size of a private garden should reflect the size of the dwelling (number 

of people living in the property)
3. Flats and apartments should have access to some shared private green 

space
4. Suggestions were made regarding additional requirements that should be 

added to this policy, including a mandatory requirement for Sustainable 
Urban Drainage (SUDS), encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out how outdoor amenity space should 
be designed to ensure that it is of a high quality. This includes minimum sizes for 

Page 416

Agenda Item 6



93

different sized dwellings including flats and apartments. Applications are required 
to provide a robust justification if they are unable to meet these standards. 
 We recognise that there is limited reference to health and wellbeing within the 
plan and will be undertaking a Health Impact Assessment to ensure that these 
issues are addressed. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  

Policy DES6: Privacy and daylight
Overall 9 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 2
 Object 1

 The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for the protection of privacy and light
2. The policy should refer to the South Oxfordshire Design Guide
3. The policy should specify a minimum back-to-back separation of 25 metres 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out a series of principles that should be 
met to achieve high quality design including a minimum back-to-back separation 
of 25 metres. The supporting text at 9.16 signposts readers to the design guide for 
detailed guidance. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  
.  

Policy DES7: Efficient use of resources
Overall 22 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 12
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Consideration should be given to whether a new development would create 

an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
2. The policy should set a higher density requirement that 25 dwellings per 

hectare. The policy should clarify that the density requirement relates to 
‘net’ density and not gross density. 

3. Densities should be sympathetic to the local context/character 
4. The policy should encourage incorporating renewable energy micro-

generation as part of new development
5. The policy should encourage the reuse of buildings and land before new 

development
6. The policy should encourage recycling and composting

Page 417

Agenda Item 6



94

Oxfordshire County Council support this policy.
 
The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Development requirements in terms of air quality are set out in Policy EP1. This 
includes not permitting development that would lead to the creation of an Air 
Quality Management Area.

Historically planning policy in South Oxfordshire has required a minimum density 
of 25 dwellings per hectare, unless this would have an adverse effect on the 
character of the area. The Housing White Paper seeks to optimise the density of 
development and recognises that this needs to reflect local character and access 
to services and facilities. A range of respondents to the consultation have 
requested that the density requirement in South Oxfordshire be increased to 
ensure that land is used efficiently and subsequently less land is developed in 
overall terms. We agree that development within the district could in some cases 
achieve higher densities and will seek to raise the density requirement in line with 
the recommendations of the Housing White Paper. We agree that the policy 
should also clarify that this requirement refers to the net density of a site and not 
the gross density. 

The policy already encourages the redevelopment of previously developed land. 
However, we agree that this encouragement could be extended to include the re-
use of vacant buildings. 

The policy encourages minimising waste and the provision for the recycling of 
waste on site as well as using recycled materials. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Increase minimum density to 30 dwellings per hectare taking account of 

local character, and access to local facilities and services and clarify that 
the policy refers to net density rather than gross density. 

 Include encouragement to re-use vacant buildings. Amend policy as follows 
– “Re-using vacant buildings and redeveloping previously developed land, 
provided the land is not of a high environmental value.”

Policy DES8: Promoting sustainable design
Overall 17 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 9
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for the commitment to low carbon development
2. Water efficiency standard is unrealistic 
3. The policy should include a requirement for all commercial development to 

have photovoltaics fitted to the roofs
4. The policy should refer to the use of locally sourced wood in construction 

and as a sustainable, carbon lean fuel

Page 418

Agenda Item 6



95

5. The policy sets the target for sustainable development too low. It should 
include requirements for renewable energy systems.

Oxfordshire County Council supported the policy. They considered that the 
policy should be more encouraging with regards to waste recycling, composting 
and recovery. They recommended that the policy should require developers to 
provide space for waste and recycling bins in new residential developments and 
that it should explicitly state that adequate facilities for the sorting, storage and 
collection of waste in residential (including communal storage) and non-residential 
development should be provided. They also considered that the policy should 
include requirements that would allow the provision for home composting in new 
dwellings. 

Oxfordshire Forestry Commission England requested that the policy refer to 
the use of locally sourced wood in construction and as fuel. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Council’s Water Cycle Study supports the water efficiency standard being 
required. 

While we do not have the evidence to require all commercial development to have 
photovoltaics fitted to the roofs, we agree that referring to specific sustainability 
standards for commercial development would strengthen the policy. 
Requirements regarding the standard of new development in terms of sustainable 
design and construction have been subsumed into Building Regulations. 
We agree that the plan would benefit from a specific policy requiring adequate 
facilities for waste collection and recycling on all new developments. We also 
agree that this policy could be encouraging with regards to waste recycling, 
composting and recovery. 
We agree that it would be useful to highlight that there our different ways in which 
sustainable design can be promoted, for example using locally sourced wood. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Highlight in the supporting text that there are different ways in which 

sustainable design can be promoted, for example using locally sourced 
wood – “Consideration should also be given to using locally sourced, more 
sustainable building materials and fuel, for example, locally sourced wood.”

 Include specific policy dealing with waste collection and recycling. 
Add encouragement to policy regarding waste recycling, composting and 
recovery.

Policy DES9: Renewable Energy
Overall 11 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 3
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

Page 419

Agenda Item 6



96

1. Support for promoting renewable energy sources 
2. There needs to be a stronger commitment to low carbon development. The 

strategic site policies have missed the opportunity for low carbon on-site 
energy generation. 

3. The policy should encourage the development of heat networks 
 The policy should apply to systems for buildings as well as stand-alone 

schemes
 Support for recognising the impact of renewable energy schemes on the 

landscape. 

Historic England welcomed the references to the historic environment, both 
designated and non-designated assets. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Where appropriate the strategic site policies will encourage low carbon on-site 
energy generation. 
We agree that this policy could do more to encourage different types of renewable 
energy sources, particularly at the domestic scale. We will seek to strengthen the 
policy and supporting text to reflect this.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Highlight that there are different types of renewable energy that can be 

considered within supporting text – “There are many forms of renewable 
energy. The most prevalent being wind, solar, biomass, geothermal and 
hydro power and biofuels. The most appropriate form of renewable energy 
for a development will depend on the scale of the development and the 
opportunities and constraints presented by its location.”

 Add reference to domestic scale renewable energy schemes to policy – 
“The Council encourages schemes for renewable and low carbon energy 
generation at all scales including domestic schemes.” 

Policy DES10:  New buildings or structures in the countryside and rural 
areas
Overall 12 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 3
 Comment 5
 Object 4

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. The policy is too open/permissive, especially in the context of the AONB 
2. The policy requires more detail, for example, a definition of demonstrable 

need 
3. The policy should restrict new buildings to agricultural or forestry use
4. The policy needs to be linked to Policy H5
5. The policy should refer to design policies within Neighbourhood 

Development Plans

Page 420

Agenda Item 6



97

The Chilterns Conservation Board consider the policy to be too permissive and 
suggested that the policy should restrict new buildings or structures within the 
countryside and rural areas to agricultural or forestry use. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We agree that the policy as written is too permissive and that, taking into account 
the role and character of the open countryside and rural areas within South 
Oxfordshire, development should be restricted to dwellings for agricultural and/or 
forestry workers and rural diversification. 

We agree that this type of development should also meet the policies set out in 
made neighbourhood development plans. Made neighbourhood development 
plans form part of the district’s development plan. Planning legislation requires 
development to be in accordance with the development plan unless material 
consideration indicate otherwise. In response to this consultation we will be 
highlighting this requirement in policy STRAT1. Subsequently it does not need to 
be repeated within the policy. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Policy to be rewritten to restrict development in the countryside and rural 

areas to dwellings for agricultural and/or forestry workers and rural 
diversification. 

Policy DES11:  Re-use of rural buildings
Overall 10 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 1
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for the re-use of rural buildings as set out in the policy
2. The policy should refer to sites within the AONB
3. Concerns that the final paragraph of the policy regarding exploring other 

uses before permitting residential use does not reflect national policy and 
subsequently makes the policy unsound

4. Concern regarding the use of the word ‘enhance’. 

The Chilterns Conservation Board requested that the policy refer to the AONB 
in criteria (iv)

Historic England would welcome a specific criterion requiring the retention of any 
features of architectural or historic interest. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
There is no need to refer to the AONB in this policy. The protection of these areas 
is set out in national policy and at policies STRAT1 and ENV1 in the emerging 
Local Plan. It does not need to be repeated. 

Page 421

Agenda Item 6



98

The word ‘enhance’ is used frequently in planning policy, including the National 
Planning Policy Framework. We are required to use positive language in planning 
policies and the word ‘enhance’ has been used regularly to replace words such as 
‘sympathetic’, which are considered to be less positive and risk restricting 
contemporary design solutions from coming forward.  
We agree that the final paragraph of this policy may not be compliant with the 
National Planning Policy Framework and we look to amend or delete this 
requirement so that it is complaint with national policy. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
We have revised the policy to ensure it is consistent with national policy.

Page 422

Agenda Item 6



99

Town centres and retailing 

Overall 47 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 17
 Comment 14
 Object 16

Policy TC1: Retail and town and larger village centres
Overall 18 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 8
 Object 5

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Oppose requirement for an impact assessment to be submitted with 

proposals of more than 500 sq. m on sites outside town centres
2. Support retention of the existing town centre boundaries and designated 

primary retail frontages
3. Account should be taken of designated areas in Neighbourhood 

Development Plan policies for centres 
4. More shops and facilities should be built where the large housing 

developments are
5. Policy does not recognise that all larger villages are not the same
6. Wallingford needs a second supermarket to provide consumer choice
7. Chalgrove village already has sufficient retail facilities. Expanding 

Chalgrove significantly by creating a new town on the airfield would result 
in increased competition in a relatively small catchment area, leading to the 
loss of current retail facilities and a less active and vibrant service centre. 

8. Large out of town shopping centres should not be permitted
9. Not aware of Didcot being a tourist attraction unlike Henley, Thame and 

Wallingford because they are historic. Perhaps make the wording more 
precise.

Historic England welcome the Council’s intention, as set out in Policy TC1, of 
reinforcing the local distinctiveness of the towns in the district and improving their 
vitality and viability. Additional development or redevelopment in historic town 
centres should conserve and enhance their historic environment. Opportunities 
should be sought to support the economic viability of these town centres and/or 
bring heritage assets back into viable use through new development.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment published in 2016 identified that the 
market town centres in the district are relatively small, and therefore could 
potentially be adversely affected by out-of-centre development. The NPPF does 
indicate that a lower threshold can be set when requiring an impact statement for 
proposals outside of town centres instead of the default threshold (2,500 sq. m) if 
it is felt to be necessary.  It is recognised that not all villages are the same and 
development proposals will be assessed by the Plan as a whole. 

Page 423

Agenda Item 6



100

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Policy TC1 will be amended to make a distinction between the towns and larger 
villages. 
A criteria will be added to policy TC1 to address car parking and public transport 
in the towns to support retail. 
The conservation and enhancement of the towns’ heritage assets are covered in 
policies HEN1, TH1 and WAL1. 
Specific retail requirements to support the strategic sites will be set out in the 
policies for these sites (STRAT7, STRAT8, STRAT9 and STRAT10). 

Policy TC2: Amount and location of new retail floorspace
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 2
 Comment 0 
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Thame Retail Study and Impact Assessment dated November 2015 and 

prepared by Carter Jonas on behalf of Thame Town Council should be a 
material consideration and referenced 

2. The Carter Jonas Study indicates that local opposition regarding suitability 
of a food store on the Cattle Market site has not changed.  The assessment 
identifies that a foodstore of the scale identified located outside of the Town 
Centre would only have a small impact.

3. Account should be taken of designated areas in Neighbourhood 
Development Plan policies for centres

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council have commissioned GVA to update the Retail and Leisure Needs 
Assessment and the Policy will be based on the most up to date evidence 
available. This assessment is a shared piece of evidence that should also be used 
by neighbourhood planning groups to help in the preparation of their plans. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
The tables in Policy TC2 and paragraph 10.10 will be updated in line with the 
evidence from the latest retail study. 

Policy TC3: Retailing in Henley
Overall 3 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 2
 Comment 0 
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Object to a new foodstore unless it is occupies an existing building
2.  Agree that applications for new comparison goods floorspace outside 

Henley town centre should be resisted and be required to demonstrate 

Page 424

Agenda Item 6



101

compliance with the sequential test and a locally set retail impact threshold 
(500 sq. m)

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
An application for a new foodstore would have to comply with other relevant 
policies in the Plan and each application is treated on individual merits. The Retail 
and Leisure Needs Assessment published in 2016 identified that the market town 
centres in the district are relatively small, and therefore could potentially be 
adversely affected by out-of-centre development. The NPPF does indicate that a 
lower threshold can be set when requiring an impact statement for proposals 
outside of town centres instead of the default threshold (2,500 sq. m) if it is felt to 
be necessary, therefore a local threshold of 500 sq. m has been set.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Policy TC3 will be incorporated into policy TC2. 

Policy TC4: Retailing in Thame
Overall 10 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 4
 Comment 2
 Object 4

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. A small-median convenience/ foodstore up to 1,500 sq. m net will not be 

adequate given the amount of additional housing that is proposed.
2. Also need to also take account of the major new housing developments 

planned by Bucks County Council in areas which will closely border onto 
Thame in Oxfordshire, since these inhabitants will shop in their nearest 
Town - namely Thame.

3. Allow Neighbourhood Development Plans to allocate convenience / 
foodstore

4. Concerned that there is currently not enough parking spaces to support 
retail centres. This will only get worse with all of the development that is 
planned.

5. Unnecessary for the Local Plan to recommend that the Cattle Market site is 
reconsidered for a foodstore as part of the Neighbourhood Plan update.  
There would be a requirement to consider the Cattle Market site as part of 
a sequential assessment under the terms of Policy TM1.

6. Reword paragraph 10.14 – a review of the Neighbourhood Plan should 
consider the allocation of the Cattle Market site or other town centre sites in 
order to deliver a smaller format convenience store at an appropriate 
location in the town.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment is currently being updated and the 
most up to date evidence will be included in the Plan, including the convenience 
floorspace requirement for Thame. This evidence is a shared evidence base 
which the neighbourhood planning groups should also be using to inform their 

Page 425

Agenda Item 6



102

plan. It is expected that the policy in the Thame Neighbourhood Plan to exclude 
the use of the Cattle Market site for a food store should be reviewed, especially as 
the emerging evidence suggests that Thame is in need of a new small-median 
foodstore to be located within the town centre. 
Policy TC1 will include reference to car parking and public transport 
improvements to support retail in the towns.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Policy TC4 will be incorporated in to policy TC2. Paragraph 10.14 will be 
amended to indicate that the Neighbourhood Development Plan should consider 
the Cattle Market or other town centre sites to deliver a convenience store at an 
appropriate location in the town centre. 
Policy TC2 makes it clear that foodstores are expected to be delivered through 
neighbourhood plans. 

Policy TC5: Retailing in Wallingford
Overall 5 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 2
 Comment 2 
 Object 1

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Former Waitrose site has planning permission and is already being 

redeveloped. Policy TC5 is therefore out of date.
2. Support development of additional retail space in Wallingford but consider 

that the Policy is too restrictive insofar as it is reliant on proposals coming 
forward through the NDP. 

3. Wording of Policy should be revised such that retail development in 
Wallingford is not solely dependent on the adoption of the NDP, which 
could be subject to delay.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The council supports the allocation of additional retail provision being delivered 
through the Neighbourhood Plan but is aware that Policy TC5 needs to contain a 
contingency within it should the Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan not come 
forward in a timely manner. This should ensure that the appropriate amount of 
retail development can still be delivered.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
All reference to the “former Waitrose site” will be removed from Policy TC5 and 
paragraph 10.15 will be updated as the Lupton Road permission has lapsed.
Policy TC5 will be incorporated into policy TC2. 

Policy TC6: Primary Retail frontages
Overall 4 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 2
 Comment 2

Page 426

Agenda Item 6



103

 Object 3

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment concentrates on the local market 

towns. There is little focus and subsequently no evidence for the council to 
define primary frontages in the larger villages.

2. Ensure that a one size fits all approach is not adopted. Views of the NDPs 
in relation to local and strategic sites, and the mix of use, must be heard 
and given due consideration. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
The Retail and Leisure Needs Assessment does focus on Didcot and the market 
town centres as this is where a significant amount of retail provision will be 
directed. The council agrees that a one size fits all approach is not appropriate 
and that larger villages can identify primary (and secondary) frontages if they wish 
to and have the evidence to do so.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Reference will be removed to villages identifying shopping frontages. This does 
not prevent neighbourhood plans from doing so if they have the relevant 
evidence.  

Page 427

Agenda Item 6



104

Community and recreational facilities 

Overall 56 people commented on this chapter:  
 Support 29
 Comment 20
 Object 7

Policy CF1: Safeguarding Community Facilities
Overall 12 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 7
 Comment 3
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
7. Support for the retention of community facilities
8. Strengthen policy to require new residential development to provide or 

contribute towards new community facilities
9. Strengthen wording ‘locality’ 
10.Alternative site should be accessible in terms of pedestrian and cycle links 

and parking provision
11.The policy should include the retention and protection of Public Rights of 

Way, equestrian routes and indoor sports facilities 
12.The policy should define community facility. It would be unreasonable to 

include private facilities. 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
Infrastructure funding, including money to provide and improve community 
facilities, is collected from developers through the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
On larger development schemes it can be secured through a Section 106 legal 
agreement. The requirement for new development to provide appropriate 
infrastructure is set out at Policy INF1. The Local Leisure Strategy will identify 
where there is a need for improvements to and/or new local facilities such as 
community and village halls. A separate policy is not required. 
We acknowledge that the term ‘locality’ could be strengthen and that any 
replacement facility should be comparatively accessible. We will amend the policy 
to reflect this. 
We acknowledge that the plan lacks a policy to protect existing public rights of 
way, including equestrian routes, and will be addressing this. Policies CF4 and 
CF5 seek to protect, maintain and enhance existing sports facilities and requires 
new development to provide them or contribute towards their delivery. This 
includes indoor sports facilities. 
A definition of what we considered to be an essential community facility is set out 
in the final paragraph of the policy. As there are a wide variety of community 
facilities and services it would not be practical to try and identify each and every 
one. Paragraph 11.1 lists examples of these facilities and services but the list is 
not and can not be exhaustive.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:

Page 428

Agenda Item 6



105

 Amend first bullet to read “it would lead to the significant improvement of an 
existing facility or the replacement of an existing facility equally convenient 
to the local community it serves and with equivalent or improved facilities.”

 Add policy to retain and protect public rights of way

Policy CF2: Provision of Community Facilities and Services
Overall 8 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 2
 Object 1

 The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
  Support for the provision of community facilities and services
  The policy should refer to Neighbourhood Development Plans
 The local community should be involved in the planning of new facilities 

and services to ensure that they reflect their needs

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We agree that all new development should also meet the policies set out in made 
neighbourhood development plans. Made neighbourhood development plans form 
part of the district’s development plan. Planning legislation requires development 
to be in accordance with the development plan unless material consideration 
indicate otherwise. In response to this consultation we will be highlighting this 
requirement in policy STRAT1. Subsequently it does not need to be repeated 
within the policy. 

A number of opportunities are provided to local communities to be involved in the 
planning of new facilities and services.  The Local Leisure Strategy that looks at 
the provision of community/village halls includes consultation with the Parish 
Council to ensure that the information we hold on the use and condition of 
community/village halls is up to date. Parish Councils are also consulted on 
planning applications and the Council will work with them to ensure that any new 
or improved facilities and services meet their needs.  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  
  

Policy CF3: New Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities
Overall 11 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 5
 Object

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
 Support for the provision of open space, sport and recreation facilities 
 Add principles encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity
 Refer to Neighbourhood Development Plans
 Encourage facilities to be built in accordance with Sport England Guidance

Page 429

Agenda Item 6



106

 Concerns regarding impact of floodlighting and additional buildings and 
parking 

 Include similar policy to saved Policy R5 – Golf courses and driving ranges
 Existing deficits need to be addressed  

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We recognise that there is limited reference to health and wellbeing within the 
plan and will be undertaking a Health Impact Assessment to ensure that these 
issues, such as encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity, have been 
addressed. 

We agree that encouraging facilities to be built in accordance with Sport England 
Guidance would be positive and will add this to the supporting text.  

Policy ENV13 requires the adverse impact of artificial light to be considered when 
determining applications for planning permission. This would include floodlighting.  
The design of related buildings would need to meet the design policies set out in 
the local plan and the objectives and principles set out in the South Oxfordshire 
Design Guide. Policy TRANS5 requires proposals to meet Oxfordshire County 
Council parking standards. 

The Leisure Strategy takes account of existing deficiencies. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  

Policy CF4: Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 
Overall 11 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 5
 Comment 4
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
1. Support for protecting existing open space, sport and recreation facilities 
2. Add principles encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity
3. Existing deficits should be addressed  

Sport England recommended that bullet point (ii) of the policy is deleted and the 
text from the NPPF paragraph 74 is used which is clearer or the Sport England 
Playing Fields policy. They highlighted the importance of publishing the evidence 
base for sport so that the findings can be included in the Local Plan, including the 
policies for the main settlements. Sport England also recommended amending 
bullet point (iii) to reflect the text used in paragraph 74 of the NPPF.   

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We recognise that there is limited reference to health and wellbeing within the 
plan and will be undertaking a Health Impact Assessment to ensure that these 
issues, such as encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity, have been 
addressed. 
The Leisure Strategy takes account of existing deficiencies. 

Page 430

Agenda Item 6



107

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
 Amend bullet point (ii) to read “the development is for alternative sports and 

recreational provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss.”    
 Amend bullet point (iii) to read “an assessment has been undertaken which 

has clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to 
requirements.”

Policy CF5:  Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new residential 
development
Overall 14 people commented on this policy:  

 Support 6
 Comment 6
 Object 2

The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:
 Support the requirement for new development to provide or contribute 

towards open space, sport and recreation
 Add principles encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity
 Existing deficits should be addressed  
 The policy should encourage the provision of woodland as accessible 

public open space
  Concerns regarding impact of floodlighting and additional buildings and 

parking 

Sport England supports the Councils intention to provide new open space, sport 
and recreation facilities. They have concerns regarding a standard based 
approach and whether it would meet the test set out in CIL Regulation 122. They 
advise that the Council to continue preparing a robust evidence base which 
includes appropriate prioritised projects which can meet the needs generated by 
new developments in the area.  Without this level of evidence, they consider that 
the standards by themselves will not be able to inform the identification of 
projects, or justify them in the context of demonstrating that the CIL Regulation 
122 tests have been met.

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
We recognise that there is limited reference to health and wellbeing within the 
plan and will be undertaking a Health Impact Assessment to ensure that these 
issues, such as encouraging active lifestyles and tackling obesity, have been 
addressed. 
The Leisure Strategy takes account of existing deficiencies. 
We agree that woodlands provide a unique and beneficial type of open space. All 
types of open space are included within the requirement set out in this policy. 
However, it would be good to clarify this within the supporting text and encourage 
their maintance, protection and provision. 

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No specific changes to this policy arising from responses to the consultation.  

Page 431

Agenda Item 6



108

Monitoring and Review

There were eight comments on this chapter. These have all been reviewed and 
the following key themes identified. The council’s response to the main themes is 
below.
The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

2. Monitoring the effect of development on the way of life in rural communities
3. Use, maintenance & effectiveness of SuDS 
4. The inclusion of windfall sites
5.  Renewable & low carbon energy usage with reference to DES 9  

The council’s summary response to the main themes
1. We have considered this suggestion and have searched for national 

indicators for the effects of development on the way of life in rural 
communities, but have been unable to find any. The cause and effect of 
monitoring this is unclear, as it is subjective, but other indicators cover the 
possible effects of development. These are as follows:

a. Meet identified housing need
b. Affordable housing completions
c. Economically inactive persons aged 16-64
d. Number of homes provided with fibre broadband
e. Number of Air Quality Management Areas
f. Number of essential community facilities lost or gained through the 

development process
g. Access to green space
h. Change in areas of UK41 priority habitats
i. Change in number of UK41 priority species
j. Distribution and status of farmland birds
k. New developments incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems 

(SuDS)  

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
No changes made as there is no specific indicator for the effects of development 
on the way of life in rural communities.

2. The use, maintenance and effectiveness of Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS) is covered in indicator 8, Climate Change, but no target is set as 
there are no national ones, SuDS being a non-statutory requirement.  The 
technical standards issued by the Department for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs, ‘Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage 
systems’ March 2015 will be applied as part of Building Regulations.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
8.2 Climate change:

Indicator:
Target for new developments incorporating Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) development

Existing target: No target but monitoring progress

Page 432

Agenda Item 6



109

Change to:
Target: No target, but monitoring against the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs ‘Non-statutory technical standards for sustainable 
drainage systems’ March 2015.
3. Windfalls and NDP sites in smaller villages should be reported as separate 

rows.

There is currently no policy that differentiates windfall sites from other sites 
as there is no windfall allowance. However, these can be monitored as part 
of the monitoring and review indicators.
C2 Care Homes are also not currently monitored. They have now been 
added as an indicator.

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Additional housing indicators as follows:
Indicator Target Source Period
Strategic 
allocations (Local 
Plan)

To deliver 
against 5 Year 
Housing Land 
Supply Target

Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

Towns-allocations 
(NDP)

To deliver 
against the NDP 
allocation

Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

Larger Villages 
(NDP)

To deliver 
against the NDP 
allocation

Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

Smaller villages 
(NDP)

To deliver 
against the NDP 
allocation

Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

Smaller villages -
windfalls

Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

C2 Care Homes Annual housing 
monitoring

Annually

4. Watlington Parish Council rightly identified that the monitoring indicator for 
the energy demand from major sites derived from decentralised, renewable 
or low carbon sources should be 15% as stated in policy DES9 and in 
accordance with the target set by the Government.
Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
Climate Change 8.2
Indicator: 10% of energy demand from major sites derived from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon sources

Change to:
15% of energy demand from major sites derived from decentralised, 
renewable or low carbon sources

Page 433

Agenda Item 6



110

Glossary

There were only five comments on the Glossary. All comments have been 
considered and the key themes and the council’s response to them is below:
The following key themes were identified in response to this policy:

1. The definition of AONB Management Plan is not accurate
2. The definition of Employment site needs to be made clearer 

 

The council’s summary response to the main themes  
1. The existing definition of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management 

Plan does not refer to the Chilterns AONB Management Plan. This needs 
to be added.

a.  The definition of Major Development does not state that the 
definition for major development in the AONB is different (ref NPPF 
para 116)

2. The definition of Employment site would be made clearer if it referred to 
‘land’ rather than ‘site’ and stated that the defined boundaries should be as 
designated by the Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan

Policy/paragraph wording changes will be made as follows:
1. The definition of Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan will 

be amended to read:

The Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plans for the 
Chilterns and the North Wessex Downs contain comprehensive summaries 
of the key issues facing the areas and the management policies and 
actions needed to conserve the areas. For more information on the plans, 
please visit www.chilternsaonb.org/conservation-board/management-plan 
or www.northwessexdowns.org.uk/About-us/aonb-management-plan.html 

a. The definition of Major Development to be amended to refer to the 
definition for major development in the AONB as follows:

Market Towns are defined as settlements that have the ability to 
support the most sustainable patterns of living within South 
Oxfordshire through their current levels of facilities, services and 
employment opportunities.
The definition for major development in the AONB differs. Please 
refer to NPPF paragraph 116.

2. The definition of Employment site will be changed to read:

Employment Land
A designation that has defined boundaries and is used to safeguard areas 
in the District for employment uses, both existing and proposed, as 
designated by the Local Plan or a Neighbourhood Plan

Page 434

Agenda Item 6

http://www.chilternsaonb.org/conservation-board/management-plan
http://www.northwessexdowns.org.uk/About-us/aonb-management-plan.html


Memo HRA of South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Reg 19) and 
Neighbourhood Plans

Title Technical note: Local Plan HRA progress to 5th September 2017

LUC BRISTOL
12th Floor Colston 
Tower
Colston Street Bristol
BS1 4XE 
T +44 (0)117 929 
1997
bristol@landuse.co.uk 1 \\savvpspfil02.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk\modgov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\9\4\ai00007492\$humawbx2.docx

Project No 7161

Sender Katherine Sydney

Recipient(s) Hannah Guest, South Oxfordshire District Council 

Date 5th September 2017

This technical note sets out the current status of the Local Plan Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) 
work, any issues that have been resolved since the Second Preferred Options (Regulation 18) 
consultation and those issues that are still outstanding. 

Summary of HRA status

All aspects of the HRA have been concluded and no significant effects on European sites have been 
identified, with the exception of potential air pollution impacts. Conclusions on air pollution cannot yet be 
reached because we are awaiting traffic data from Atkins and responses from Natural England. There is 
still a risk that Natural England may require air quality assessment for one or more roads, which would 
impact upon the Local Plan timetable.

Issues relating to potential recreation impacts have been resolved since the Regulation 18 consultation, 
and all other issues were resolved prior to that. The HRA report is currently being updated to reflect 
changes to the Local Plan, responses to comments received during consultation, and to take into account 
any additional information available. Further explanation is provided below.

Air pollution

The previous draft of the HRA report was unable to conclude whether there would be potentially 
significant air pollution impacts as we lacked the traffic data necessary to screen impacts out. The HRA 
identified four European sites within 200m of a strategic road that are potentially sensitive to air pollution 
and for which traffic data is required: Aston Rowant SAC, Chiltern Beechwoods DAC, Windsor Great Park 
SAC, and Burnham Beeches SAC. In addition, Natural England suggested in response to the Regulation 
18 consultation that Oxford Meadows SAC should also be screened in to the assessment of potential air 
pollution effects. 

Page 435

Agenda Item 6



Memo HRA of South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Reg 19) and 
Neighbourhood Plans

Title Technical note: Local Plan HRA progress to 5th September 2017

LUC BRISTOL
12th Floor Colston 
Tower
Colston Street Bristol
BS1 4XE 
T +44 (0)117 929 
1997
bristol@landuse.co.uk 2 \\savvpspfil02.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk\modgov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\9\4\ai00007492\$humawbx2.docx

We believe that Oxford Meadows SAC can be screened out as the site’s qualifying (SAC) features are not 
particularly sensitive to airborne nitrogen and have prepared an explanation of this for Natural England’s 
comment. Natural England has not yet commented on this approach but has referred instead to the use 
of traffic data to screen potential air pollution effects. We will continue to seek a full response but in the 
meantime have requested traffic data from Atkins for the roads adjacent to Oxford Meadows SAC.

Traffic data has been provided by Atkins for the road adjacent to Aston Rowant SAC, but is still 
outstanding for the roads adjacent to the other four sites. The data for Aston Rowant SAC shows that 
traffic from the Local Plan alone will not have a significant impact on air pollution, but could in 
combination with traffic from other plans or projects. We expect the data for other sites to show similar 
results, but cannot confirm until data is available. 

Following the recent Wealden judgement, Natural England is in the process of revising its national 
guidance on how to assess the in-combination effects of more than one plan / project on air pollution. To 
date, the only guidance has been that increases in traffic flows of more than 1000 AADT from more than 
one plan / project should be considered to have a potentially significant effect. There is not yet any 
guidance on the appropriate approach in cases where the assessing authority contributes a very small 
proportion of an overall traffic increase.  

It may be possible to obtain agreement that South Oxfordshire will not need to assess (and potentially 
agree mitigation for) any in-combination air pollution effects, where the contribution from the Local Plan 
is very small. This might include agreeing to cooperate with any Natural England-led development of 
mitigation for specific sites. However, there is a possibility that Natural England will either request air 
quality assessments for one or more sites, or withhold advice until the national guidance is published, 
sometime in September; both of which would have an impact on the Local Plan timetable. We will 
continue to attempt to conclude this and will keep South Oxfordshire District Council informed of any 
progress or delays.

Recreation

The previous version of the HRA report was unable to conclude whether housing development in 
proximity to Little Wittenham SAC would significantly increase visitor numbers to the site and therefore 
have an adverse effect on its integrity. Since then, the Earth Trust has provided visitor survey data that 
demonstrates that they have planned for much of the increase in local population that would arise as a 
result of the Local Plan. The Local Plan would produce some additional visits to the site, however Natural 

Page 436

Agenda Item 6



Memo HRA of South Oxfordshire Local Plan (Reg 19) and 
Neighbourhood Plans

Title Technical note: Local Plan HRA progress to 5th September 2017

LUC BRISTOL
12th Floor Colston 
Tower
Colston Street Bristol
BS1 4XE 
T +44 (0)117 929 
1997
bristol@landuse.co.uk 3 \\savvpspfil02.capitacouncilspartnership.co.uk\modgov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\9\4\ai00007492\$humawbx2.docx

England has confirmed that they do not consider the site’s qualifying features (great crested newts) to be 
particularly sensitive, and they understand that the site is being responsibly managed by the Earth Trust. 
The Earth Trust is currently updating its woodland management plan, which will include measures to 
protect habitats surrounding the great crested newt ponds. We are currently awaiting details of these 
measures but will refer to them in the HRA report, as recommended by Natural England. The HRA report 
is also currently being updated to reflect the minor changes in housing supply figures set out in the Local 
Plan revisions.

Following consultation on the previous draft of the HRA report, Berks, Bucks & Oxon Wildlife Trust 
(BBOWT) provided comments recommending that potential recreation impact on Aston Rowant SAC and 
Cothill Fen SAC should also be considered. We have since spoken to the Natural England officers for the 
sites, who do not believe that the sites are sensitive to increases in recreation pressure. We are satisfied 
that these sites can remain screened out and will explain our reasoning in the HRA report. As a courtesy, 
we have offered BBOWT the opportunity to provide additional information but have not yet had a 
response.

Page 437

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

 

Technical note: 
South Oxfordshire Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 

 

 

1. Introduction 

1.1.1 South Oxfordshire District Council (the council) has appointed Amec Foster Wheeler Environment 

and Infrastructure UK Ltd (Amec Foster Wheeler) to provide assistance with the Sustainability 

Appraisal (SA), incorporating Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), of its Local Plan.   

1.1.2 The council as the local planning authority (LPA) is required to carry out a SA of the Local Plan to 

help guide the selection and development of policies and proposals in terms of their potential 

social, environmental and economic effects under Section 19(5) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Act 2004.  In undertaking this requirement, LPAs must also incorporate the requirements of 

European Union Directive 2001/42/EC on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and 

programmes on the environment, referred to as the SEA Directive, and its transposing regulations 

the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (statutory instrument 

2004 No. 1633).   

1.1.3 The SEA Directive and transposing regulations seek to provide a high level of protection of the 

environment by integrating environmental considerations into the process of preparing certain 

plans and programmes.  The aim of the Directive is: “to contribute to the integration of 

environmental considerations into the preparation and adoption of plans and programmes with a 

view to promoting sustainable development, by ensuing that, in accordance with this Directive, an 

environmental assessment is carried out of certain plans and programmes which are likely to have 

significant effects on the environment.” 

1.1.4 At paragraphs 150-151, the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out that local plans 

are key to delivering sustainable development and that they must be prepared with the objective of 

contributing to the achievement of sustainable development.  Paragraph 165 reiterates the 

requirement for SA/SEA as it relates to local plan preparation: 

“A sustainability appraisal which meets the requirements of the European Directive on strategic 

environmental assessment should be an integral part of the plan preparation process, and should 

consider all the likely significant effects on the environment, economic and social factors.” 

1.1.5 Planning Practice Guidance (Local Plans, paragraph 016) also makes clear that SA plays an 

important role in demonstrating that a local plan reflects sustainability objectives and has 

considered reasonable alternatives.  In this regard, SA will help to ensure that a local plan is 

“justified”, a key test of soundness that concerns the extent to which the plan is the most 

appropriate strategy, when considered against the reasonable alternatives and available and 

proportionate evidence. 

1.1.6 The initial work undertaken on the SA to date has focused on the SA that was prepared up to 

March 2017 and the resulting SA Report accompanying the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 

Second Preferred Options (March 2017) consultation document, which the council produced in-

house.  The next step of the Local Plan process is to prepare the Publication version of the Draft 

Local Plan. Amec Foster Wheeler have been commissioned to prepare the SA Report to 

accompany the Publication version of the Draft Local Plan, taking forward the SA work undertaken 

Page 439

Agenda Item 6



 2 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

by the council to date.  The purpose of this note is to provide interim feedback on the work 

undertaken to date.  The main SA Report is being finalised to reflect the latest changes to the Draft 

Local Plan. 

1.1.7 The remainder of this note is structured as follows: 

 Section 2 provides the context for the SA and summarises the key recommendations from a 

review of earlier SA work; 

 Section 3 provides initial comments on the policies in the Local Plan; it summarises an exercise 

to look at the extent to which the SA objectives are supported by policies and also summarises 

the results of a review of policies in the context of other plans and programmes.  These are 

useful in identifying potential policy gaps.  This section includes a set of recommendations 

which have been updated to reflect the latest version of the Local Plan; 

 Section 4 reviews the section in the Local Plan relating to monitoring – investigating the extent 

to which the proposed indicators will ensure compliance with monitoring requirements set out in 

the SEA Directive; and 

 Section 5 sets out conclusions and next steps. 

2. Ensuring compliance with the SEA Directive. 

2.1.1 Annex I of the SEA Directive sets out the information that is required for inclusion in an 

environmental report “in which the likely significant effects on the environment of implementing the 

plan or programme, and reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and 

geographical scope of the plan or programme, are identified, described and evaluated”.  SA reports 

(as the equivalent to Environmental Reports) should therefore comply with Annex I to be compliant 

with the SEA Directive. 

2.1.2 The requirements of the SEA Directive have provided the framework for the review of previous SA 

work.  The requirements of Annex I have been supplemented with references to Planning Practice 

Guidance, particularly in relation to the consideration of alternatives. 

2.1.3 In addition Articles 5.4 and 6.3 of the SEA Directive set out the requirement to consult on the scope 

of the assessment: 

“The authorities … which, by reason of their specific environmental responsibilities, are likely to be 

concerned by the environmental effects of implementing plans and programmes … shall be 

consulted when deciding on the scope and level of detail of the information which must be included 

in the environmental report”   

2.1.4 Consideration is also given to this requirement in Table 1.  Key recommendations from a review of 

the SA work undertaken up to and including the March 2017 SA Report are summarised in Table 1 

below.  The SA Report that accompanies the Proposed Submission Local Plan will address these 

matters. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 440

Agenda Item 6



 3 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Table 1  Recommendations from a Review of the Earlier SA Work 

SEA Directive requirements  Recommendations for the SA Report that accompanies the Proposed Submission Local 

Plan 

Consulting on the scope of the SA (article 5.4 and 6.3) Incorporate comments on Scoping Report and responses to it in the SA Report. 

a) An outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or programme, 

and relationship with other relevant plans and programmes 

SA Report to provide an overview of the scope and content of the Draft Local Plan. 

b) The relevant aspects of the current state of the environment and the 

likely evolution thereof without implementation of the plan or 

programme 

c) The environmental characteristics of areas likely to be significantly 

affected 

SA Report to provide an overview of the baseline environment and how it will evolve without 

implementation of the Plan. 

Baseline material to be appended to the SA Report. 

Baseline data to be reviewed / updated. 

Need to include mapped information in the SA Report.  

d) Any existing environmental problems which are relevant to the plan or 

programme including, in particular, those relating to any areas of a 

particular environmental importance, such as areas designated 

pursuant to Directives 79/409/EEC and 92/43/EEC.  

Baseline material to identify any relevant existing problems. 

e) The environmental protection objectives, established at international, 

Community or national level, which are relevant to the plan or 

programme and the way those objectives and any environmental, 

considerations have been taken into account during its preparation 

SA Report to include an overview of plans and programmes at the international, national, sub-

regional, County and local levels on a consistent basis – adopt Amec Foster Wheeler 

presentation format. 

f) The likely significant effects on the environment, including on issues 

such as biodiversity, population, human health, fauna, flora, soil, 

water, air, climatic factors, material assets, cultural heritage including 

architectural and archaeological heritage, landscape and the 

interrelationship between the above factors. (Footnote: These effects 

should include secondary, cumulative, synergistic, short, medium and 

long-term permanent and temporary, positive and negative effects) 

Provide additional commentary on SA of Vision. 

Incorporate SA of policies into next iteration of the SA and update as appropriate.   

Include text on the content of each section of the Local Plan and the likely significant effects 

associated with each chapter. 

Include an analysis of the potential for cumulative effects associated with all policies in the next 

iteration of the SA Report. 

P
age 441

A
genda Item

 6



 4 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

SEA Directive requirements  Recommendations for the SA Report that accompanies the Proposed Submission Local 

Plan 

In addition - Planning Practice Guidance states: 

“The sustainability appraisal should identify any likely significant 

adverse effects and measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and, as 

fully as possible, offset them. The sustainability appraisal must 

consider all reasonable alternatives and assess them in the same 

level of detail as the option the plan-maker proposes to take 

forward in the Local Plan (the preferred approach).” 

Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 11-018-20140306 

This section should also comment on the potential for cumulative effects associated with 

bringing forward several sites in the same settlement together and infrastructure safeguarded 

under TRANS3. 

The SA should also appraise and comment on the cumulative effects of the preferred option, 

which is to provide for @23,500 dwellings over the plan period (Table 5c of the Local Plan), 

noting that this provides additional flexibility to enable the management of housing land supply 

trajectory going forwards and to respond to changing circumstances. 

Include a conclusion in the SA Report. 

g) The measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and as fully as possible 

offset any significant adverse effects on the environment of 

implementing the plan or programme; 

SA Report to include a set of recommendations and update mitigation measures as 

appropriate. 

Clarify the status of Table 76 and other examples. 

Identify potential significant adverse effects and whether or not they can be mitigated. 

h) An outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt with, and a 

description of how the assessment was undertaken including any 

difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack of know-how) 

encountered in compiling the required information; 

In addition - Planning Practice Guidance states: 

“The sustainability appraisal should outline the reasons the 

alternatives were selected, the reasons the rejected options were 

not taken forward and the reasons for selecting the preferred 

approach in light of the alternatives. It should provide conclusions 

on the overall sustainability of the different alternatives, including those 

selected as the preferred approach in the Local Plan.” 

Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 11-018-20140306 

The approach to the selection of alternatives dealt with, the reasons rejected options were not 

taken forward and the reasons for selecting the preferred approach in light of alternatives is 

being reviewed for all options identified in previous iterations of the Local Plan. 

i) A description of measures envisaged concerning monitoring in 

accordance with Art. 10; 

SA Report to include a gap analysis to identify whether or not the proposed monitoring system 

for the Local Plan will satisfy the requirements of the SEA Directive (reported in this note). 

j) A non-technical summary of the information provided under the above 

headings 

Next iteration of the SA Report to include a NTS. P
age 442

A
genda Item

 6



 5 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

3. Preliminary Comments on Local Plan Policies 

3.1.1 The SA Report will provide an appraisal of all policies included within the Publication Version of the 

Draft Local Plan.  This is being finalised.  Table A1 in Appendix A of this note takes the SA 

objectives and indicates those policies that are judged to support them.  This demonstrates that 

there is a good coverage of policy topics in the Local Plan.  A previous iteration of this exercise 

noted a potential gap in relation to policy on flood risk (SA Objective 11).  It was suggested that the 

Council give consideration to including a policy on flood risk in the Local Plan and this has now 

been addressed. 

3.1.2 A review of other documents at the international, national, sub-regional, county and local level has 

been undertaken.  This is being finalised but also highlighted a number of instances where there 

are potential policy gaps, instances where policies may need amending to be compliant with higher 

tier policy and the need to strengthen the evidence base of the Local Plan (which the council is 

already addressing).  The recommendations are set out below, reflecting the structure of the Local 

Plan. 

General observations 

3.1.3 Whilst the expectation is that the SA Report needs to provide information on reasonable 

alternatives, why they were identified and why the preferred option was selected in preference to 

others it is recommended that the council’s Topic Paper on Sites continues to be strengthened as 

the main document for setting out the background to the scale of housing and employment 

provision required and the options considered.  This should include commentary on how all of the 

evidence (Green Belt, Landscape, Transport, Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulations 

Assessment etc) was taken into account in arriving at the preferred strategy, strategic sites and 

why other potential sites were rejected. 

3.1.4 The Local Plan Examination will consider a number of factors, including the extent to which policies 

are positively worded, e.g. ‘the council will support development that’…..rather than ‘Development 

will only be allowed if…’.  Addressing any instances where polices are not positively worded prior to 

submitting the Local Plan could help reduce the number of modifications that need to be made.  It 

was therefore previously recommended that policies be reviewed to ensure that they are positively 

worded.  

3.1.5 SA is an iterative process and it was previously suggested that the Council undertake a Heritage 

Impact Assessment1 to inform proposed allocations and the council has commissioned this work as 

part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. 

Policies 

3.1.6 An observation from a previous iteration of this work, common to all policies that include allocated 

sites, was that consideration could be given to making them more prescriptive about what needs to 

be delivered on site, in addition to housing.  For example the mix and type of employment to be 

provided for, required supporting infrastructure to be provided on site – including any pre-school, 

primary and secondary education provision, public transport provision, leisure and community 

facilities, transport requirements etc.  Making Local Plan policies more directive will provide greater 

clarity on the content of master plans required under Policy STRAT5 ‘Strategic Allocations’.  It will 

also reduce the need for caveats in the SA and remove potential uncertainties.  It is noted that the 

policies relating to the strategic allocations have been amended as suggested.   

3.1.7 STRAT5 states that proposals for development at Strategic Allocations must be accompanied by a 

health impact assessment (HIA).  It is suggested that the Local Plan provides additional guidance 

                                                           
1 Historic England (2015) The Historic Environment and Site Allocations in Local Plans – Historic England 
Advice Note 3.Available online at: 
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/historic-environment-and-site-allocations-in-local-
plans/ 

Page 443

Agenda Item 6



 6 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

on what would be required as there is no one prescribed form for undertaken HIAs or the content of 

reports. 

3.1.8 Policy HEN1 sets out the strategy for Henley.  An earlier observation on this policy was that it could 

include reference to the need to improve air quality in the town, as it has an Air Quality 

Management Area (AQMA).  The reference to air quality would be consistent with Policy WAL1 for 

Wallingford, which also includes an AQMA. This would improve the performance of Policy HEN1 

against SA Objective 5.  The policy has been amended as suggested. 

3.1.9 As noted above the Local Plan now includes a policy on flood risk, addressing an earlier 

observation that came through this exercise. 

3.1.10 Policy DES1 ‘Delivering High Quality Development could reference ‘Secured by Design.’2  This 

would encourage developments in the District, including strategic allocations to consider how the 

environment can contribute to reducing crime and the fear of crime. 

3.1.11 Policy DES8 ‘Promoting Sustainable Design’ could be strengthened by requiring commercial 

buildings to achieve a BREEAM rating, e.g. BREEAM Good or Excellent.  The BREEAM 

assessment process evaluates the procurement, design, construction and operation of a 

development against targets that are based on performance benchmarks.  Use of BREEAM could 

help ensure that commercial relate development contributes to a range of factors, including low 

impact design, carbon emissions reduction, design durability and resilience and ecological value 

and biodiversity protection.  The policy could caveat that this is subject to commercial viability. 

3.1.12 There is also opportunity for DES8 to encourage (rather than require) housing related development 

to use the Home Quality Mark on a voluntary basis.  The Home Quality Mark considers a range of 

factors, including transport, amenities, resilience to flooding, air quality, energy etc.  The council 

would not be in a position to require the use of the Home Quality Mark because that would be 

contrary to national policy.  The Home Quality Mark is a voluntary scheme developed by the 

Building Research Establishment to replace the Code for Sustainable Homes and considers a 

broader range of factors than those elements of the Code that were incorporated into the Building 

Regulations.   

3.1.13 Policy DES9 relates to Renewable Energy and states that planning applications for renewable and 

low carbon energy generation will be supported, provided they do not cause a significant adverse 

effect to a range of factors, including the historic environment.  It is recommended that the policy is 

amended to reflect the concepts in the NPPF relating to substantial harm and less than substantial 

harm to a designated heritage asset.   

3.1.14 Government policy also requires Local Plans (or Neighbourhood Development Plans) to identify 

suitable areas for onshore wind.  Planning Practice Guidance states: 

“In the case of wind turbines, a planning application should not be approved unless the proposed 

development site is an area identified as suitable for wind energy development in a Local or 

Neighbourhood Plan.” 

3.1.15 It is suggested that the council sets out a commitment to identify suitable areas in Policy DES9. 

3.2 Monitoring 

3.2.1 It is a requirement of the SEA Directive and associated Regulations to establish how the significant 

sustainability effects of implementing the Local Plan will be monitored.  However, as earlier 

government guidance on SEA (ODPM et al, 2005) notes, it is not necessary to monitor everything, 

or monitor an effect indefinitely. Instead, monitoring needs to be focused on significant 

sustainability effects, including unforeseen adverse effects. Monitoring the Local Plan for 

sustainability effects can help to answer questions such as: 

 Were the predictions of sustainability effects accurate? 

                                                           
2 http://www.securedbydesign.com/  

Page 444

Agenda Item 6

http://www.securedbydesign.com/


 7 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

 Is the Local Plan contributing to the achievement of desired SA objectives? 

 Are mitigation measures performing as well as expected? 

 Are there any adverse effects? Are these within acceptable limits, or is remedial action 

desirable? 

3.2.2 Monitoring should be focussed on: 

 Significant sustainability effects that may give rise to irreversible damage, with a view to 

identifying trends before such damage is caused; 

 Significant effects where there was uncertainty in the SA and where monitoring would enable 

preventative or mitigation measures to be undertaken; and 

 Where there is the potential for effects to occur on sensitive environmental receptors. 

3.2.3 The Local Plan includes a section on monitoring and this has been reviewed to see whether or not 

it would help meet the requirements for monitoring under the SEA Directive.  The extent to which 

the proposed monitoring indicators relate to the SA objectives has been examined in order to 

identify any potential gaps in monitoring.  The results of this work are set out in Table A2 in 

Appendix A.  From the review the only topics that are not covered are water and soils.  It is 

therefore recommended that an indicator for each of these topics is added to the proposed list of 

indicators.  It will be important that any monitoring regime associated with the SA is embedded 

within monitoring associated with the Local Plan and other council workstreams, so as to avoid 

duplication of effort. 

4. Conclusions and Next Steps 

4.1.1 Work is progressing to address issues highlighted in previous work relating to the SA Report.  

Recommendations to have come out of the work to date have been set out in this note.  

Opportunities to strengthen some policies have been identified.  Additional recommendations could 

arise once the work has been completed and the full SA report drafted.  There will be opportunity 

for the Council to consider any such recommendations prior to submission of the Local Plan. 

4.1.2 The SA Report will be provided in draft form for the council to comment on prior to it being finalised 

for publication alongside the Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan.   

  

Page 445

Agenda Item 6



 8 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Author 

 

 
 
…………………………………………………………….. 

Sean Nicholson 

Reviewer 

 
…………………………………………………………….. 

Pete Davis 

Copyright and non-disclosure notice 

The contents and layout of this report are subject to copyright owned by Amec Foster Wheeler (© Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & 
Infrastructure UK Limited 2017) save to the extent that copyright has been legally assigned by us to another party or is used by Amec 
Foster Wheeler under licence. To the extent that we own the copyright in this report, it may not be copied or used without our prior 
written agreement for any purpose other than the purpose indicated in this report. The methodology (if any) contained in this report is 
provided to you in confidence and must not be disclosed or copied to third parties without the prior written agreement of Amec Foster 
Wheeler. Disclosure of that information may constitute an actionable breach of confidence or may otherwise prejudice our commercial 
interests. Any third party who obtains access to this report by any means will, in any event, be subject to the Third Party Disclaimer set 
out below. 

Third party disclaimer  

Any disclosure of this report to a third party is subject to this disclaimer. The report was prepared by Amec Foster Wheeler at the 
instruction of, and for use by, our client named on the front of the report. It does not in any way constitute advice to any third party who 
is able to access it by any means. Amec Foster Wheeler excludes to the fullest extent lawfully permitted all liability whatsoever for any 
loss or damage howsoever arising from reliance on the contents of this report. We do not however exclude our liability (if any) for 
personal injury or death resulting from our negligence, for fraud or any other matter in relation to which we cannot legally exclude 
liability.   

Management systems 

This document has been produced by Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited in full compliance with the 
management systems, which have been certified to ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 by LRQA. 

  

Page 446

Agenda Item 6



 9 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Appendix A 

Table A.1: SA Objectives and Policies in the Draft Local Plan  

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

1. To help to provide 
existing and future 
residents with the 
opportunity to live in 
a decent home and 
in a decent 
environment 
supported by 
appropriate levels of 
infrastructure. 

STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy 

STRAT2 - The Need for New Development in South Oxfordshire 

STRAT3 - The unmet housing requirements from Oxford City 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for WallingfordPolicy H1 - Delivering New Homes 

Policy H2 - New Housing in Didcot 

Policy H3 – Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford 

Policy H4 – Housing in Larger Villages 

 

Policy H5 – Land to the west of Priests Close, Nettlebed 

Policy H6 – Joyce Grove, Nettlebed 

Policy H7 – Land to the South and West of Nettlebed Service Station 

Policy H8 – Housing in Smaller Villages 

Policy H9 – Affordable Housing 

Policy H10 – Exception Sites 

Policy H11 – Meeting Housing Needs 

Policy H12 – Self-Build and Custom Housing 

Policy H13 – Specialist Housing for Older People 

Policy H14 – Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

Policy H15 – Safeguarding Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople sites 

Policy H16 – Infill Development 

Policy H17 – Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation 

Policy H18 – Replacement Dwellings 

Policy H19 – Extensions to Dwellings 

Policy H20 – Loss of Existing Residential Accommodation in Town Centres 

Policy INF1 – Infrastructure Provision 

Policy DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 

Policy DES4 – Masterplans for allocated sites and major development 

Policy DES7 – Public Art 

Policy DES11 – Rural Workers’ Dwellings 

Policy EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling 

Policy CF2 – Provision of Community Facilities and Services 

2. To help to create 
safe places for 
people to use and for 
businesses to 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre 

Page 447

Agenda Item 6



 10 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

operate, to reduce 
anti-social behaviour 
and reduce crime 
and the fear of crime. 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy TH1 - The Strategy for Thame 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 

Policy DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 

Policy DES3 – Design and Access Statements 

Policy DES4 – Masterplans for allocated sites and major development 

Policy DES6 – Residential Amenity 

Policy DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 

3. To improve 
accessibility for 
everyone to health, 
education, 
recreation, cultural, 
and community 
facilities and 
services. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-ThamesPolicy TH1 - The Strategy for Thame 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy EMP11 – Development in the Countryside and Rural Areas 

Policy ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 

 

Policy CF1 – Safeguarding Community Facilities 

Policy CF2 – Provision of Community Facilities and Services 

Policy CF3 – New Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities 

Policy CF4 – Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 

Policy CF5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new residential development 

4. To maintain and 
improve people’s 
health, well-being, 
and community 
cohesion and support 
voluntary, 
community, and faith 
groups. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy EMP11 – Development in the Countryside and Rural Areas 

Policy TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

Policy TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 

Policy TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals 

Policy TRANS7 – Development generating new lorry movements 

Policy ENV12 – Pollution – Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (potential sources of pollution) 

Policy CF2 – Provision of community facilities and services 

Policy CF3 – New Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities 

Policy CF4 – Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 

Policy CF5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new residential development 

Policy DES5 – Outdoor Amenity Space 

Policy DES6 – Residential Amenity 

Page 448

Agenda Item 6



 11 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

Policy DES10 – Renewable Energy 

Policy EP1 – Air Quality 

5. To reduce harm to 
the environment by 
seeking to minimise 
pollution of all kinds 
especially water, air, 
soil and noise 
pollution. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

Policy TRANS3 – Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes 

Policy TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals 

Policy TRANS7 – Development generating new lorry movements 

Policy INF3 – Telecommunications Technology 

Policy ENV11 – Pollution – Impact from Neighbouring and/or Previous Land Uses on New 
Development (potential receptors of pollution) 

Policy ENV12 – Pollution – Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural 
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Sources) 

Policy EP1 – Air Quality 

Policy EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling 

Policy EP5 – Mineral Safeguarding Areas 

Policy DES6 – Residential Amenity 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

6. To improve travel 
choice and 
accessibility, reduce 
the need to travel by 
car and shorten the 
length and duration 
of journeys. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy TRANS1 – Supporting Strategic Transport Investment 

Policy TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

Policy TRANS3 – Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes 

Policy TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 

Policy TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals 

Policy TRANS6 – Rail 

Policy TRANS7 – Development generating new lorry movements 

 

7. To conserve and 
enhance biodiversity 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfield 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy H20 – Replacement Dwellings 

Policy EMP13 – Caravan and camping sites 

Policy ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 

Policy ENV2 – Biodiversity – Designated Sites, Priority Habitats and Species 

Policy ENV3 – Biodiversity – Non designated sites, habitats and species 

Page 449

Agenda Item 6



 12 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

Policy ENV4 – Watercourses 

Policy ENV5 – Green Infrastructure in new developments 

Policy INF3 – Telecommunications Technology 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

Policy DES10 – Renewable Energy 

8. To improve efficiency 
in land use and to 
conserve and 
enhance the district’s 
open spaces and 
countryside in 
particular, those 
areas designated for 
their landscape 
importance, minerals, 
biodiversity and soil 
quality. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT8 - Land at Berinsfield 

STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfield 

STRAT 10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy H5 – Land to the west of Priests Close, Nettlebed 

Policy H14 – Provision for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 

Policy EMP13 – Caravan and camping sites 

Policy ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 

Policy ENV8 – Conservation Areas 

Policy CF3 – New Open Space, Sport and Recreation facilities 

Policy CF4 – Existing Open Space, Sport and Recreation Facilities 

Policy CF5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation in new residential development 

Policy DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

Policy DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 

Policy DES10 – Renewable Energy 

Policy INF3 – Telecommunications Technology 

9. To conserve and 
enhance the district’s 
historic environment 
including 
archaeological 
resources and to 
ensure that new 
development is of a 
high quality design 
and reinforces local 
distinctiveness. 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT7 - Land adjacent to Culham Science Centre 

STRAT9 - Land at Chalgrove Airfield 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy H6 – Joyce Grove, Nettlebed 

Policy EMP13 – Caravan and camping sites 

Policy TRANS3 – Safeguarding of Land for Strategic Transport Schemes 

Policy ENV6 – Historic Environment 

Policy ENV7 – Alteration of and Extension to Listed Buildings 

Policy ENV8 – Conservation Areas 

Policy DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design 

Policy ENV9 – Archaeology 

Policy ENV10 – Historic Battlefields, Registered Parks and Gardens and Historic 
Landscapes 

Policy DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development 

Policy DES2 – Enhancing Local Character 

Policy DES3 – Design and Access Statements 

Policy DES4 – Masterplans for allocated sites and major development 

Policy DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 

Page 450

Agenda Item 6



 13 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

Policy DES10 – Renewable Energy 

Policy INF3 – Telecommunications Technology 

 

10. To seek to address 
the causes and 
effects of climate 
change. 

Policy TRANS2 – Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility 

Policy TRANS4 – Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans 

Policy TRANS5 – Consideration of development proposals 

Policy TRANS6 – Rail 

Policy TRANS7 – Development generating new lorry movements 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

Policy DES10 – Renewable Energy 

Policy INF4 – Water Resources 

11. To reduce the risk of, 
and damage from, 
flooding. 

Policy H20 – Replacement Dwellings 

Policy EMP4 – Employment Land in Didcot 

Policy EMP13 – Caravan and Camping Sites 

Policy EP4 – Flood Risk 

12. To seek to minimise 
waste generation and 
encourage the reuse 
of waste through 
recycling, compost, 
or energy recovery. 

Policy DES8 – Efficient use of resources 

Policy DES9 – Promoting sustainable design 

 

Policy EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling  

13. To assist in the 
development of: 

a) high and stable 
levels of 
employment and 
facilitating inward 
investment; 

b) a strong, innovative 
and knowledge-
based economy 
that deliver high-
value-added, 
sustainable, low-
impact activities; 

c) small firms, 
particularly those 
that maintain and 
enhance the rural 
economy; and 

d) thriving economies 
in our towns and 
villages. 

STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy EMP10 – Community Employment Plans 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy TH1 - The Strategy for Thame 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy EMP1 - The amount and distribution of new B-class employment 

Policy EMP2 – Range, Size and Mix of Employment Premises 

Policy EMP3 – Retention of Employment Land 

Policy EMP4 – Employment Land in Didcot 

Policy EMP5 – New Employment Land at Henley 

Policy EMP6 – New Employment Land at Thame 

Policy EMP7 – New Employment Land at Wallingford 

Policy EMP8 – New Employment Land at Crowmarsh Gifford 

 

Policy EMP9 – New Employment Land at Chalgrove 

Policy EMP11 – Development in the Countryside and Rural Areas 

Policy TC1 - Retail in towns and village  

Policy TC2 - Amount and location of new retail floorspace 

Policy ENV1 – Landscape and Countryside 

14. To support the 
development of 

STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy 

Page 451

Agenda Item 6



 14 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Sustainability 
Objective 

Supporting Policy 

Science Vale as an 
internationally 
recognised 
innovation and 
enterprise zone 

STRAT2 - The Need for New Development in South Oxfordshire 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

15. To assist in the 
development of a 
skilled workforce to 
support the long term 
competitiveness of 
the district by raising 
education 
achievement levels 
and encouraging the 
development of the 
skills needed for 
everyone to find and 
remain in work. 

STRAT4 - Didcot Garden Town 

STRAT5 - Strategic Allocations 

STRAT10 - Land at Wheatley Campus, Oxford Brookes University 

Policy EMP10 – Community Employment Plans 

16. To encourage the 
development of a 
buoyant, sustainable 
tourism sector. 

Policy EMP6 – New Employment Land at Thame 

Policy EMP12 – Tourism 

Policy EMP13 – Caravan and Camping Sites 

Policy EMP14 – Visitor Accommodation 

17. Support community 
involvement in 
decisions affecting 
them and enable 
communities to 
provide local services 
and solutions. 

Policy H1 - Delivering New Homes 

Policy H3 – Housing in the towns of Henley-on-Thames, Thame and Wallingford 

Policy H4 – Housing in Larger Villages 

Policy H8 – Housing in Smaller Villages 

Policy H12 – Self-Build and Custom Housing 

Policy H13 – Specialist Housing for Older People 

Policy HEN1 - The Strategy for Henley-on-Thames 

Policy TH1 - The Strategy for Thame 

Policy WAL1 - The Strategy for Wallingford 

Policy EMP5 – New Employment Land at Henley 

Policy EMP6 – New Employment Land at Thame 

Policy EMP7 – New Employment Land at Wallingford 

Policy EMP8 – New Employment Land at Crowmarsh Gifford 

Policy EMP9 - New Employment Land at Chalgrove 

Policy INF1 – Infrastructure Provision 

Policy INF2 – Electronic Communications 

Policy INF3 – Telecommunications Technology 

Policy ENV1 - Landscape and countryside 

Policy ENV5: Green Infrastructure in new developments 

Policy DES2 – Enhancing Local character 

Policy DES4 - Masterplans for allocated sites and major 

Development 

Policy TC3 - Primary Retail frontages 

 

 

  

Page 452

Agenda Item 6



 15 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Table A.2 Monitoring 

Topic and Indicators from the Local Plan Sustainability Objective  SEA Topic 

Settlements 

 Meet identified housing need. 

 Net dwelling completions, based on the set 

housing requirements and 5YHLS. 

 A coordinated approach to new development 

in Science Vale through an urban design 

framework. 

1. To help to provide existing and future residents with the opportunity to live in a decent home 
and in a decent environment supported by appropriate levels of infrastructure. 

14. To support the development of Science Vale as an internationally recognised innovation and 
enterprise zone. 

Population 

 

 

Housing 

 Net dwelling completions, based on the set 

housing requirements and 5YHLS 

 Net completions of Gypsy, Traveller and 

Travelling showpeople accommodation against 

requirements, based on the set target. 

 Net affordable housing completions against 

annual requirements. 

1. To help to provide existing and future residents with the opportunity to live in a decent home 
and in a decent environment supported by appropriate levels of infrastructure. 

Population 

Economy 

 Economically inactive persons aged 16-64. 

 Net amount of employment floorspace 

created by use class (employment-generating 

uses). 

 Number of new business ‘births’. 

 Amount of employment land lost to other non-

employment-generating uses. 

 Gross weekly earnings of full-time workers. 

 Percentage of residents with NVQ Level 4 

qualification and above. 

13. To assist in the development of: 

e) high and stable levels of employment and facilitating inward investment; 

f) a strong, innovative and knowledge-based economy that deliver high-value-added, 
sustainable, low-impact activities; 

g) small firms, particularly those that maintain and enhance the rural economy; and 

h) thriving economies in our towns and villages. 

14. To support the development of Science Vale as an internationally recognised innovation and 
enterprise zone. 

15. To assist in the development of a skilled workforce to support the long term competitiveness 
of the district by raising education achievement levels and encouraging the development of the 
skills needed for everyone to find and remain in work. 

16. To encourage the development of a buoyant, sustainable tourism sector. 

Population 

Infrastructure. 13. To assist in the development of: 

a) high and stable levels of employment and facilitating inward investment; 

Population P
age 453

A
genda Item

 6



 16 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Topic and Indicators from the Local Plan Sustainability Objective  SEA Topic 

 Net additional floorspace from retail, leisure, 

office and other main town centre uses created 

within defined town centres. 

 Net additional floorspace from retail, leisure, 

office and other main town centre uses outside 

designated centres/contrary to policy. 

b) a strong, innovative and knowledge-based economy that deliver high-value-added, 
sustainable, low-impact activities; 

c) small firms, particularly those that maintain and enhance the rural economy; and 

d) thriving economies in our towns and villages. 

Design 

 Proportion of strategic sites with 

comprehensive masterplans completed and 

agreed with the local planning authority. 

9. To conserve and enhance the district’s historic environment including archaeological 
resources and to ensure that new development is of a high quality design and reinforces local 
distinctiveness. 

Cultural heritage 

Material assets  

Community 

 Number of homes provided with fibre 

broadband by milestone area against set target. 

 Net additional employment floorspace 

created within the rural area by use class per 

annum. 

 Net retail floorspace in rural areas (Change of 

use from A1). 

 Number of Air Quality Management Areas. 

 Amount of public open space provided in new 

developments. 

 Number of Lower Super Output Areas in the 

40% most deprived areas in England. 

 Number of essential community facilities lost 

or gained through the development process. 

 Provision of sporting facilities. 

 Access to green space - % of dwellings 

having access to: 

 Well-maintained, high-quality and 

versatile green space within 300 metres; 

 20ha green space site within 2km; 

 100ha green space within 5km; 

 500ha green space within 10km. 

17. Support community involvement in decisions affecting them and enable communities to 
provide local services and solutions. 

3. To improve accessibility for everyone to health, education, recreation, cultural, and community 
facilities and services. 

5. To reduce harm to the environment by seeking to minimise pollution of all kinds especially 
water, air, soil and noise pollution. 

 

Population 

Material assets 

Human health 

Air 

P
age 454

A
genda Item

 6



 17 © Amec Foster Wheeler Environment & Infrastructure UK Limited 

 

   

September 2017 
Doc Ref: 39402R003i1 

Topic and Indicators from the Local Plan Sustainability Objective  SEA Topic 

Natural and Built Environment 

 Priority habitats: 

 Change in areas of UK41 priority 

habitats; 

 Change in number of UK41 priority 

species; 

 Distribution & status of water voles; 

 Changes in areas of non agri-

environmental biodiversity gains. 

 Condition of SSSIs and other areas of 

landscape and biodiversity importance. 

 Type of development granted permission in 

the Green Belt. 

 Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas and 

Scheduled Monuments on the ‘at risk register’. 

 Net changes in the number of Listed 

Buildings, Registered Parks and Gardens, 

Conservation Areas, Battlefield and sites of 

archaeological importance including Scheduled 

Monuments. 

7. To conserve and enhance biodiversity. 

8. To improve efficiency in land use and to conserve and enhance the district’s open spaces and 
countryside in particular, those areas designated for their landscape importance 

9. To conserve and enhance the district’s historic environment including archaeological 
resources and to ensure that new development is of a high quality design and reinforces local 
distinctiveness. 

Biodiversity Flora, 
Fauna,  

Climate change 

 Per capita reduction in CO2 emissions by 

local authority area. 

 New developments incorporating Sustainable 

Drainage Systems (SuDS) development. 

 Installed Renewable Capacity for South 

Oxfordshire. 

 10% of energy demand from major sites 

derived from decentralised, renewable or low 

carbon sources. 

 Progress of delivery of schemes included in 

updated IDP. 

10. To seek to address the causes and effects of climate change. 

11. To reduce the risk of, and damage from, flooding. 

Climatic factors 

 

   

P
age 455

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1
25 August 2017

Schedule for Scrutiny Committees 2017/18

(further items to be added to schedule as required)

Meeting 
date

Council Agenda items Purpose of Report Cabinet members Lead Officer Head of Service

Wed 20 
Sept

Vale Local Plan Part 2 To consider and comment on 
the Local Plan Part 2 pre-
submission document

Roger Cox Andrew Maxted Adrian Duffield

Tues 26 
Sept

South Financial Outturn 2016/17 To consider the overall 
outturn position of the 
council as well as the outturn 
of individual service areas

Jane Murphy Simon Hewings William Jacobs

Thurs 28 
Sept

Vale The Beacon, Annual Review

Financial Outturn 2016/17

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
Review

To consider the performance 
of The Beacon during 2016 
and to make comments to 
the Cabinet Member for 
leisure on future 
improvements

To consider the overall 
outturn position of the 
council as well as the outturn 
of individual service areas

Annual review of the effect 
of the scheme on council 
taxpayers.

Charlotte Dickson

Robert Sharp

Robert Sharp

Jo Paterson

Simon Hewings 

Paul Howden

Ian Matten

William Jacobs

William Jacobs

Mon 2 
Oct

Joint 5 Councils’ Partnership To review the 
implementation of the 
contracts

David Nimmo-
Smith/Robert Sharp

Mark Stone Mark Stone

P
age 457

A
genda Item

 7



2
25 August 2017

Thurs 26 
Oct

Vale Wantage and Grove Leisure 
Facility

To consider the outcome and 
analysis from the public 
consultation on the Wantage 
and Grove leisure facility and 
the proposed final facility 
mix.

Charlotte Dickson Ben Border Ian Matten

Tues 28 
Nov

South Corporate Delivery Plan – 
progress review

CIL

CIL Regulation 123 List and S106 
Supplementary Planning 
Document

To scrutinise progress against 
the Corporate Delivery Plan

To consider the draft strategy 
and comment on/make 
recommendations to Cabinet

To consider and comment on 
the consultation on proposed 
amendments

John Cotton

John Cotton

John Cotton

Sally Truman

Cathie Scotting

Heike Wetzstein

Adrianna Partridge 

Adrian Duffield

Adrian Duffield

Thurs 30 
Nov

Vale Corporate Delivery Plan – 
progress review

To scrutinise progress against 
the Corporate Delivery Plan

Matthew Barber Sally Truman Adrianna Partridge

Tues 5 
Dec

Joint

Tues 23 
Jan

South

Thurs 25 
Jan

Vale

Tues 6 
Feb 

South Review of Final Draft Budget To consider and comment on 
the draft budget prior to its 
consideration by Council

Jane Murphy William Jacobs William Jacobs

Thurs 8 
Feb

Vale Review of Final Draft Budget To consider and comment on 
the draft budget prior to its 
consideration by Council

Robert Sharp William Jacobs William Jacobs

P
age 458

A
genda Item

 7



3
25 August 2017

Tues 6 
March

Joint Community Safety Partnership 
Annual Report

Spend on commuted housing 
sums

To update the committee on 
the progress that the South 
and Vale Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) is making 
to reduce crime and the fear 
of crime

To receive an annual report 
on the status of commuted 
sum payments received and 
expenditure to date, 
including measurable Key 
Performance Indicators.

Elizabeth 
Gillespie/Eric Batts

Lynn Lloyd/ Elaine 
Ware

Liz Hayden

Helen Novelle

Margaret Reed 

Gerry Brough

Tues 27 
March

South

Thurs 29 
March

Vale

Tues 29 
May

South

Thurs 31 
May

Vale Science Vale marketing 
campaign

To receive an annual 
monitoring report on the 
success of the campaign

Mike Murray Joy Kellaway Gerry Brough

P
age 459

A
genda Item

 7



4
25 August 2017

Potential items for future meetings (date to be determined):
For Joint Scrutiny

 Unitary process  
 Budget process
 Review of communications strategy
 Review of planning procedures

For Vale Scrutiny
 Oxford-Cambridge Expressway
 Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan
 Housing build rate
 Houses that people can afford
 Partnership grants
 An annual “Ask the Leader” item for the Leader of the Council to answer the committee’s and the public’s questions.

Items for future South Scrutiny Committee (date to be determined):
 Oxford-Cambridge Expressway
 Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan
 Staffing matters

The Cabinet work programmes can be accessed via the following links:
South
http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=121&RD=0
Vale
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=507&RD=0

Meeting Start times: Joint: 6:30; South: 6:30; Vale: 7.00; 5CP: tbc

P
age 460

A
genda Item

 7

http://democratic.southoxon.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=121&RD=0
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=507&RD=0

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Local Plan
	Appendix 1a Local Plan Publication draft (first section)
	Appendix 1b Local Plan Publication draft (second section)
	Appendix 2 Key proposed changes changes to Second Preferred Options Document
	Appendix 3 Consultation report September 2017
	Appendix 4 (was 5) Technical note Local Plan HRA Progress
	Appendix 5 (was 6) Technical note: Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal

	7 Work schedule and dates for all South and Vale scrutiny meetings



